
 
 

 
 
 
1 December 2023 
 
 
To: Councillors Benson, N Brookes, Burdess, Farrell, Hobson, Hugo, Hurst, M Smith, Taylor 

and Williams  
 

The above members are requested to attend the:  
 

EXECUTIVE 
 

Monday, 11 December 2023 at 6.00 pm 
in Committee Room A, Town Hall, Blackpool 

 

A G E N D A 
 

ADMISSION OF THE PUBLIC TO COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
 

The Head of Democratic Governance has marked with an asterisk (*) those items where the 
Committee may need to consider whether the public should be excluded from the meeting as 

the items are likely to disclose exempt information. 
The nature of the exempt information is shown in brackets after the item. 

 
 

 1  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

  Members are asked to declare any interests in the items under consideration and in 
doing so state:  
 
(1) the type of interest concerned either a 
 

(a) personal interest 
(b) prejudicial interest  
(c) disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI) 

 
and 
 
(2) the nature of the interest concerned 
 
If any member requires advice on declarations of interests, they are advised to contact 
the Head of Democratic Governance in advance of the meeting. 

 
 2  FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MONITORING AS AT MONTH 7 2023/24 AND MEDIUM 

TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2024/25 - 2026/27  (Pages 1 - 66) 

Public Document Pack



 
  To report the level of spending and exposure against the Council’s Revenue budgets and 

reserves and balances for the first 7 months to 31 October 2023.  The report also 
includes an update on the Medium Term Financial Plan 2024/25 – 2026/27. 

 
 3  COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2024/2025  (Pages 67 - 258) 

 
  To provide an update on the impact of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme since the introduction 

in 2013/14 and to seek approval to recommend to the Council the proposals for the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2024/25. 

 
 4  BLACKPOOL YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN  (Pages 259 - 328) 

 
  To provide the Executive with an update regarding Blackpool’s Youth Justice Service and 

seek approval by the Council of the Youth Justice Service Annual Plan.  
 

 5  EXPANSION OF HIGHFURLONG SPECIAL SCHOOL PHASE TWO  (Pages 329 - 338) 
 

  To seek approval to proceed with the further development of The Meadow site at 
Highfurlong School - subject to Planning consent - to accommodate a single-storey 
hydrotherapy centre extension to the previously approved two-storey extension and 
associated facilities to ensure sufficient local provision for children and young people 
with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). 

 
 6  CONSTRUCTION OF TWO ADDITIONAL COUNCIL HOMES AT GRANGE PARK (PHASE 2 

HOUSING SITE), BLACKPOOL  (Pages 339 - 350) 
 

  This report outlines the proposal and level of investment required to deliver two 
additional  two-bedroom bungalows at Grange Park scheme (Phase Two site). These 
additional units will replace the existing Blackpool Coastal Housing neighbourhood office 
on Sidford Court, Grange Park. The report seeks formal approval for the units to be 
delivered as an addition to the existing build programme (EX34/2021). The report also 
updates Executive on the additional costs incurred by the scheme. 

 
 7  BLACKPOOL AIRPORT ENTERPRISE ZONE: ANNUAL REVIEW  (Pages 351 - 396) 

 
  This report sets out for review and approval: 

a) The further progress on the delivery of the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone and 
related activity at Blackpool Airport since the Executive of 5 December 2022 

b) Outlines activity planned for the next fifteen months to the end of financial year 
(FY) 2024/25; and, 

c) Seeks authority to proceed with planned activities, related investment 
expenditure and required prudential borrowing in relation to:   

 Continued progression with work to undertake Phase 1 - highway and utility 
provision at Eastern Gateway and Airport East.;  

 Advance preparatory work and property acquisition to facilitate delivery of 
phase 2 at Silicon Sands, together with approval in principle to progress 
developments for a technology demonstrator data centre, solar farm and 



battery storage.  

 Confirmation of relevant delegated authorities including the letting of larger 
construction contracts and formal expenditure approvals in respect of match 
funding under the Town Deal.  

 To confirm amended governance arrangements  
 

 8  BLACKPOOL TOWN DEAL: UPDATE  (Pages 397 - 446) 
 

  To provide an update on progress with the delivery of the Town Deal Programme.  
 

 9  TOWN CENTRE ACCESS SCHEME: LEVELLING UP FUND  (Pages 447 - 454) 
 

  To  provide an update on the Town Centre Access Scheme (TCAS) which was originally 
submitted as a Levelling Up Round 2 Bid in July 2022, authorised by the Executive in April 
2022 (EX19/2022), its eventual approval in November 2023 and seeks authorisation for 
the proposed way forward. 

 
* 10  INVESTMENT IN FYLDE COAST ECONOMY  (Pages 455 - 492) 

 
  This report and Appendices are currently exempt from publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. It is considered on balance that the 
public interest would not be served by publishing information at this stage as this information 
would undermine the Council’s position in future negotiations and could risk the scheme not 
being able to proceed. 
 

 
 

Venue information: 
 
First floor meeting room (lift available), accessible toilets (ground floor), no-smoking building. 
 

Other information: 
 

For queries regarding this agenda please contact Lennox Beattie, Executive and Regulatory 
Manager, Tel: (01253) 477157, e-mail lennox.beattie@blackpool.gov.uk 
 

Copies of agendas and minutes of Council and committee meetings are available on the 
Council’s website at www.blackpool.gov.uk. 

 

http://www.blackpool.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: 
 

EXECUTIVE 
 

Relevant Officer: Steve Thompson, Director of Resources 

Relevant Cabinet Member: Councillor Lynn Williams, Leader of the Council 

Date of Meeting: 11 December 2023 

 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MONITORING AS AT MONTH 7 2023/24 
AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2024/25 – 2026/27 
 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 To report the level of spending and exposure against the Council’s Revenue budgets 
and reserves and balances for the first 7 months to 31 October 2023.  The report also 
includes an update on the Medium Term Financial Plan 2024/25 – 2026/27. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
2.3 
 
 
2.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5 
 
 
 

To note the report.    
 
To require the respective directors, Chief Executive and Director of Resources to 
continue to closely monitor and manage service financial and operational 
performances, specifically the social care services. 
 
To prompt the Scrutiny Leadership Board to continue to independently review the 
financial and operational performances of Council services. 
 
To continue to lobby central government (Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities, Department for Health and Social Care and Department for Education 
in particular) along with local authority peers and networks and the Local 
Government Association for the funding necessary to cope with the burdens and 
demands presenting as a result of exceptional inflationary pressures and 
demographic demands upon statutory services.  
 
To continue to work towards target working balances of £6m by 31 March 2024 rising 
to £8m by 31 March 2025.  
 
 
 
 

  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

To ensure financial performance against the Council’s Revenue Budget and its 
reserves and balances is kept under timely review by members. 
 

3.2 Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.3 Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0 Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 None. 
 

5.0 Council Priority: 
 

5.1 The relevant Council Priority is: “The economy: Maximising growth and opportunity 
across Blackpool”. 
 

6.0 Background Information 
 

6.1 Introduction and Context 
 
Over the 13-year period 2011/12 – 2023/24 cumulative Revenue Budget savings 
amounting to £218.0m have been required to be made by Blackpool Council in order 
to balance its Revenue Budget each year.  This is greater than the Council’s current 
annual Net Requirement Budget of £176.2m and even more starkly the compound 
effect over the same period amounts to nearly £1.6bn of resource that has been 
removed from the Blackpool economy.  This reflects one of the highest reductions 
per head of population across local authorities in England and in an environment of 
growing demand upon services as befalling an authority with such recognised 
pockets of significant deprivation. 
 
The principles of the Medium-Term Financial Sustainability Strategies 2016/17 - 
2021/22 and 2021/22 - 2026/27 have been used to successfully keep pace with and 
deliver budget savings plans year after year.  However, in tandem the soaring 
demand for child protection services and adult social care provision plus the rising 
costs of providing such care are still creating a burden that current levels of local 
taxation and Government funding struggle to meet.  In addition, the financial 
consequences of Covid have been material (£3.16m in 2020/21 and £2.59m in 
2021/22 both net of Government grants) with little prospect now of any further 
Government financial support. 
  

Page 2



The last 13 years have seen unprecedented volatility within local government 
finance: 9 years of successive central government funding cuts between 2011/12 – 
2019/20 were followed by the United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union, 2 
years of a global pandemic with legacy consequences and a war within the European 
continent whilst a promised Fair Funding Review has now been delayed by a decade. 
Indeed the most favourable social care grants currently receivable are based on a 
relative needs formula of 2013 which themselves are based on 2001 census data. 
This has all conspired to produce a perfect storm of labour and supply shortages, pay 
demands, excessive inflation, continually rising interest rates in the Bank of England’s 
attempt to stem the pressure and a central government funding system that is 
decades out of synchronisation.  During this period the Council has strived to i) 
deliver its annual budget in line with statutory requirements; ii) maintain its reserves 
and balances at stable and appropriate levels that reflect the risk environment; iii) 
consistently fund and deliver the ambitions of successive administrations; and iv) 
deliver for the people of Blackpool.  However, here in the present, sector experts and 
economic commentators cannot agree how and when these key drivers of the 
economy will land, which makes medium-term financial planning and financial 
management extremely challenging. 
 
When the Revenue Budget for 2023/24 was approved by Council on 22 February 
2023, realistic service budgets had been agreed and set, an achievable budget 
savings plan was in place, reasonable levels of working balances and earmarked 
reserves were available and the medium-term outlook was as favourable as it had 
been for some time with additional Government support for social care funding 
having been announced.  However, within weeks local government employers had 
made a pay offer at nearly three times that provided within the Budget, non-pay 
inflation remained stubbornly high with June CPI at 7.9% and RPI at 10.7% though 
welcome reductions being seen in electricity and gas costs, the more costlier social 
care cases experiencing growing demand, the base rate increasing (for the 14th 
consecutive time in August) and inevitable consequential pressures emerging from 
some of the Council’s capital schemes. 

  
6.2 This report sets out the summary revenue budget position for the Council and its 

individual directorates for the first 7 months of 2023/24, i.e. the period to 31 October 
2023, together with an outlook for the remainder of the year.  The report is 
complemented with an assessment of performance to date of balances and reserves, 
income collection, the Council’s latest Capital Programme and statements relating to 
Cash Flow Summary and Balance Sheet Summary.  It also incorporates the impact of 
the Council’s wholly-owned companies for which the Council is parent company and 
underwriter.   
 
Separate reports have been prepared for each of the Council’s core areas of 
responsibility: 
            

Page 3



• Appendix 2b  - Chief Executive 
• Appendix 2c  - Governance and Partnership Services            
• Appendices 2c/d - Ward Budgets 
• Appendix 2e - Resources 
• Appendix 2f  - Communications and Regeneration 
• Appendix 2g  - Strategic Leisure Assets 
• Appendix 2h - Growth and Prosperity 
• Appendix 2i  - Community and Environmental Services 
• Appendix 2j  - Adult Services 
• Appendix 2k - Children’s Services 
• Appendix 2l  - Public Health 
• Appendix 2m - Budgets Outside the Cash Limit 
• Appendix 2n - Housing Revenue Account 
• Appendix 2o - Wholly-owned Companies  
 
These incorporate summary financial statements which continue to be prepared on a 
full accruals basis and focus on the forecast revenue outturns for 2023/24.  There is 
an accompanying narrative to explain any areas of significant variance from budget 
and to highlight any areas of potential pressure along with action plans agreed with 
service managers to address them. 
 
The combined effect of the directorates’ financial performances is aggregated in a 
summary financial statement at Appendix 2a which mirrors the Council’s Revenue 
Budget Book.  This summary allows proactive month-on-month monitoring of the 
Council’s forecast working balances to be undertaken to ensure appropriate and 
prudent levels are maintained. 
 

6.3 Budget Performance 
 
At its meeting on 8 November 2021 the Executive approved the Medium-Term 
Financial Sustainability Strategy for 2021/22 to 2026/27.  As part of the Strategy it 
was agreed that due to the current level of financial risk and volatility the roll forward 
of service budget under and overspends is suspended in order that finances can be 
managed more strategically at corporate level.  The exception to this related to any 
underspend in respect of the scheme commitments on Ward Budgets, however 
because 2023/24 is an election year there will be no carry-forward in accordance 
with an earlier overriding Executive decision. 
 
The full-year forecast position at this stage of 2023/24 shows an improvement in the 
Council’s financial standing when compared with the estimated draft unaudited 
position as at the close of 2022/23 which showed working balances of £2,459k.  
Working balances are expected to increase to a balance of £5,647k by the end of 
2023/24 after taking account of the budgeted transfer of £4,335k to working 
balances.  Plans are being developed to address the in-year pressures identified in 

Page 4



this report with fortnightly meetings held between the Chief Executive, Director of 
Resources and respective directors of the more pressured services. 
 
The Council’s Revenue Budget for 2023/24 set a target level of General Fund working 
balances of around £6m.  It is deemed appropriate to maintain this target level of 
£6m for working balances for the medium term and to continue to work towards 
target working balances of £6m by 31 March 2024 rising to £8m by 31 March 2025. 
 
The impacts of directorates’ revenue budget performance and progress in achieving 
planned savings fall upon the Council’s working balances.  The main areas accounting 
for the month 7 forecast overspend of £1,147k for 2023/24 are summarised below: 

  

Directorate Service Forecast 
Variance 

£000 

Children’s 
Services 

An overspend of £6,447k is forecast.  The full-year impact 
of the Children’s Social Care pressures as at M7 2022/23 
has been rightsized as part of the Corporate Medium 
Term Financial Plan, equating to an additional budget of 
£5,221k allocated in 2023/24.  However, Children’s Social 
Care Placements is forecasting an overspend against this 
increased budget of £5,685k, mainly due to new-to-care 
placements being higher than those exiting care and the 
additional support required following the breakdown of 
high-cost placements.  The actual number of residential 
placements as at 31 October 2023 is 70 with this forecast 
to reduce to 68 by 31 March 2024, whereas the plan 
suggested there would be 66 as at 31 October 2023 
reducing to 60 by the end of March 2024.  There was also 
an additional savings target of £1,924k, of which only 
£1,165k is anticipated to be met this financial year, 
leaving a budget gap of £759k.  There is expected to be a 
£20k overspend on staffing. 
 
However, the number of Children in Care continues to 
reduce and currently sits at 541 children.  This brings 
Blackpool from a rate of 218 per 0-17 10,000 population 
to 194.  The ambition is to bring ourselves in line with 
comparator Local Authorities over the next couple of 
years and we are confident that this ambition will be 
realised.  Officers have seen this reduction as a result of  
reduced entry into care, and increased numbers exiting 
our care system.  Within the cohort of Children Looked 
After, the Council has had a higher than national average 

6,447 

Page 5



of children in residential placements.  Residential 
settings, for most children, are not the optimum 
placement and these children do not usually have the 
same degree of positive outcomes as children in foster 
placements, or family placements for example.  
Residential placements are costly, with unit costs rising 
year on year by 14.1%.  We have seen movement in the 
numbers of residential placements, from 84 to 74 
because of a focused, ongoing piece of work led by our 
newly recruited Head of Service for Supporting our 
Children.  We have reviewed a number of care plans and 
as a result children have been moved from residential 
settings to settings that better meet their needs, always 
ensuring their safety and individual needs are at the 
forefront when planning. 
 
The service has additionally seen a reduction in agency 
social work staff during the last 12-18 months.  In 
2021/22 the service had rates of up to 40% agency staff 
in some teams.  A refreshed Workforce Strategy, 
overseen by a Workforce Board, chaired monthly by the 
Director of Childrens Services, has seen a reduction of 
agency staff to under 15% across the social care teams.  
The national average is now 17% and regionally the rate 
is much higher.  The last set of regional data put 
Blackpool at the lowest for agency rates.  Officers 
continue to monitor this closely in a challenging and 
competitive market. 

Adult Services  An overspend of £2,422k is forecast.  Adult 
Commissioning Placements is forecasting an overspend of 
£2,563k.  There are savings shortfalls of £1,012k from the 
proposal in which the Integrated Care Board (ICB) were 
expected to provide additional income of £1.6m into the 
Better Care Fund (BCF) and a further shortfall on 
additional funding streams of £337K.  There is a pressure 
of £1,530k in Supported Living due to additional packages 
of care including children’s transitions, along with £589k 
of pressures due to additional packages of short-term 
care linked to hospital discharge.  £439k pressures relates 
to Out of Area Residential and Nursing Placements fee 
uplifts being significantly greater than forecast in addition 
to a further £758k of pressures across this area of service 
offset by £2,000k additional client contributions.  There is 
a £71k pressure on Homecare whereby the current 

2,422 

Page 6



commissioned hours exceeds budget along with £77k of 
pressure in Daycare.  Direct payment pressures of £509k 
are resulting from a forecasted reduction in claw-backs 
based on year-to-date actuals and a number of ad-hoc 
payments being made outside of the Mosaic Interface.  
There is £602k in the forecast relating to the recently 
announced Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund 
which is being used to offset the residential/nursing top-
ups and Out of Area fee rates.  Savings of £58k have 
arisen within Supporting People due to additional grant 
contributions along with a further saving of £99k in 
Service Management.   Adult Social Care and Care and 
Support are forecasting an underspend of £141k due to a 
high volume of vacant positions. 

Community and 
Environmental 
Services 

An overspend of £500k is forecast.  Children’s Transport 
Services is reporting an overspend of £500k due to a 
combination of increased demand pressures and historic 
savings targets which have not been able to be achieved.  
Waste Services are reporting a break-even position.  
There are forecast pressures within Street Cleansing and 
within Public Conveniences, where an inflationary uplift 
has been applied to the contract.  Trade Waste income, 
however, is forecasting an increase against budget to 
offset these pressures.  There are pressures in other 
services of the Directorate but these are expected to be 
covered by other savings and income generation.   

500 

Communications 
and Regeneration 

An overspend of £10k is forecast.  Tourism and 
Communications is forecasting a pressure of £50k due to 
increased costs in Visit Blackpool.  There are also risks 
around income generation as a result of the cost of living 
crisis and increased costs in relation to the Illuminations 
extension that will be quantified later in the year.  
Economic Development and Cultural Services is currently 
forecasting an underspend of £40k due to vacant posts. 

10 
 

Strategic Leisure 
Assets 

Strategic Leisure Assets is forecasting an underspend of 
£854k due to a reduction in the forecast repair spend and 
a release from reserves no longer expected to be 
required.  In accordance with the original decision for this 
programme by the Executive on 7 February 2011 any 
under or overspend on Strategic Leisure Assets will be 
transferred to an Earmarked Reserve.  The cumulative 
deficit as at March 2022/23 was £10,690k.  In 2023/24 a 
transfer of £1,420k has been made to Contributions to 
Reserves reducing this deficit balance to £9,270k.  This 

Nil 

Page 7



transfer is in line with the budget.  The above underspend 
will further reduce this deficit to £8,416k.  The latest 
Leisure Assets medium-term financial plan currently 
expects the service to break-even, in-year, from 2023/24 
and cumulatively by 2034/35.  

Growth and 
Prosperity 

An underspend of £2,500k is forecast.  This is due to the 
expectation of proceeds raised from the current work 
programme exceeding costs including prudential 
borrowing. This figure has reduced from period 6 due to a 
revised forecast relating to costs of regeneration projects.   
The Executive at its meeting on 8 November 2021 agreed 
to the approach to transition out the Growth and 
Prosperity net revenue budget target over a 2-year 
period, 2022/23-2023/24, with any proceeds 
subsequently realised from the existing work programme 
being directed to bolstering reserves and any new 
proceeds being retained by Growth and Prosperity for re-
investment.  This surplus will be transferred to Earmarked 
Reserves to go against the current balance.  The 
cumulative deficit as at March 2022/23 was £10,125k and 
it is therefore expected that the balance at the end of 
2023/24 will be £7,625k. 

Nil 

Public Health A break-even position is forecast.  The Public Health 
Directorate is forecasting spending the full grant of 
£19,858,394 in the financial year to March 2024. 

Nil 

Governance and 
Partnership 
Services 
 

An underspend of £32k is forecast.  Corporate Legal 
Services is forecasting a £50k overspend due to additional 
staffing costs.  Information Governance is forecasting an 
underspend of £37k due to increased income and a 
release of reserves that is now deemed as no longer 
required.  Life Events and Democratic Governance are 
forecasting an underspend of £45k due to staff turnover. 

(32) 

Chief Executive An underspend of £200k is forecast due to a release of a 
reserve now deemed as no longer required. 

(200) 

Resources An underspend of £210k is forecast.  Savings across the 
Directorate relate to staff vacancies, dis-establishment of 
posts, additional income from HMRC, other income 
generation opportunities and the receipt of New Burdens 
funding for the Covid-19 business support grant post-
assurance work.  

(210) 

Budgets Outside 
the Cash Limit 
 

An underspend of £1,451k is forecast.  Parking Services is 
currently forecasting a £300k overspend due to lower 
than budgeted income. The ability to maintain this 

(1,451) 

Page 8



 
 
 

position depends on the impact of the cost of living crisis, 
the quality of the Easter holiday season, the impact of 
dynamic parking and the availability of parking due to 
regenerational projects within the town.  Treasury 
Management is forecasting an underspend of £1,668k, 
which includes £2,184k of prudential recharges to 
services and means that the £150k savings target will be 
met in 2023/24 and an increase in interest received from 
investments providing additional income of £406k.  Offset 
against this is £892k pressure relating to higher interest 
rates on temporary borrowing and a reduction in the 
interest charge to the Housing Revenue Account as less 
borrowing is required in 2023/24 than originally 
budgeted.   However, interest rates are predicted to 
increase over the duration of the financial year and these 
increases are likely to have a negative impact on the 
current position of the service.  The Council is currently 
using 50:50 temporary and long-term borrowing to 
finance prudentially-funded capital expenditure and this 
gearing is under continual review by the Treasury 
Management Panel.  The Business Loans Fund has a 
savings target of £154k and is forecasting a deficit of £82k 
as new business loans have been awarded at higher 
repayment rates than originally forecast for 2023/24.  
The position has worsened since M5 as interest rates 
have been increased from 4.5% to 5% in the forecast and 
there have been changes in drawdown amounts and 
dates for certain loans which has resulted in a deficit in 
year.  Following a review of the Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP), which was approved by the Executive on 
8 February 2021, a saving of £5,158k is forecast to be 
achieved in 2023/24.  Subsidiary Companies is forecasting 
a £35k saving due to a reduction in charges, mainly 
relating to debt management.  Concessionary Fares is 
forecasting a £130k saving due to concessionary 
passenger numbers being 42% lower than pre-Covid 
levels, though the Council remains committed to paying 
at a minimum of a 70% safety net level in line with 
Department for Transport guidance until March 2024.  All 
other services within Budgets Outside the Cash Limit are 
forecasting no in-year pressures in 2023/24.   

Contingencies 
and Reserves 

The original Contingencies Cash Limited Budget was 
£7,722k.  Movements out of Contingencies since the 
beginning of the financial year have been reflected in 

(6,339) 

Page 9



services’ Cash Limited Budgets.  Services will be 
experiencing both pay and non-pay pressures during the 
year.  The cost of the pay award is estimated at £4,829k 
compared to the provision in Contingencies for a 2% pay 
award of £1,686k resulting in an initial pressure of 
£3,143k.  However, energy is currently forecast to cost 
£5,110k compared to the provision in Contingences of 
£8,699k resulting in a saving of £3,589k.  Adult Services 
have updated the Adults Reserve forecast and this is 
reflected in the Reserve tables below.  This has also 
improved the Contingencies position by £1,000k.   
There is an additional Public Health saving of £200k and a 
Business Rate refund relating to Central Car Park of 
£505k.  A further improvement of £1,076k is due to 
budgeted Transfers to Reserves that are no longer 
required.  The overall net impact is therefore an 
underspend of £3,227k for Contingencies. 
The £3,112k underspend against Contributions To/From 
Reserves relates to the application of a non-earmarked 
revenue reserve. 

Total  1,147 

  
The graph below shows the stark impact on the level of Council working balances  
in year together with the last 10 years’ year-end balances for comparison:   
 

 
 
 

 
Whilst the Council maintains working balances to address any in-year volatilities, it  
also maintains a number of Earmarked Revenue Reserves (ERR) for such 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

£000

Year ending 31st March

Working Balances

Page 10



 longer-term commitments as future Private Finance Initiative payments,  
uncertainties within the Localised Business Rate system and self-insured risks  
and insurance excesses.  In order to present a complete picture of the  
Council’s financial standing an equivalent graph to that of working balances,  
including a projection to 31 March 2024, is shown below: 

  
 

 
  
  
 
 

Provisional Available Earmarked Reserves                                                                    £m             
                                                                                                                                                                
Provisional Balance at 1 April 2023                                                                             44.511 
Less: Savings target                                                                                                        (9.946) 
Add: Growth and Prosperity Reserve                                                                           2.500 
Add: Strategic Leisure Assets Underspend                                                                  0.854 
Less: Savings targets in services to be transferred from reserves                          (0.440) 
Less: Estimated other movements in 2023/24                                   (9.093) 
Forecast Available Earmarked Revenue Reserves as at 31 March 2024              28.386 
 

6.4 
 
 
 
 
 

Budget Savings 
 
Appendix 2p comprises a summary schedule showing the progress made by 
directorates in achieving their revenue budget savings targets for 2023/24 which 
total £23,395k.  As at 31 October 2023 69% of the 2023/24 recurrent savings target 
has been delivered.  The full-year forecast predicts that 91% will be achieved by the 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

£m

Year ending 31st March

Earmarked Revenue Reserves

Page 11



 
 
6.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

year-end.  Currently 46% of the saving has been found recurrently.  
 
Collection Rates  

 
Council Tax 
   
Being the most deprived local authority in England per the Office for National Statistics, 
collection of Council Tax is a challenge but 2022/23 saw an improvement in  
collection rate to 5th lowest and this progress has continued with the amount  
collected for Council Tax (excluding Police and Fire precepts) being £41.0m  
and the collection rate 58.9% at the end of month 7.  This compares to £38.3m 
 and 58.9% at the same point in 2022/23.  The amount collected has risen by  
£2.7m, which is mainly due to increases in both the Council Tax rate and base. 
    
In the light of the reductions in discount and the introduction of the Local Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme the target collection rate is still 97.5% over a 4-year  
collection period as approved on 31 January 2023 as part of the setting of the  
Council Tax Base for 2023/24. 
 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS)  

   
The Council Tax Reduction Scheme was introduced on 1 April 2013.  It is approved 
annually to ensure that a local Council Tax Reduction Scheme is in place by the start of 
the following financial year thereby avoiding the financial risks associated with the 
Government imposing a default scheme.  The current 2023/24 Scheme was approved 
by the Executive on 23 January 2023 to ensure that Council Tax support is available to 
pensioners and the working aged based upon a means test. 
  

At the end of month 7 the amount collected (excluding Police and Fire precepts) in  
respect of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme and Council Tax for those who have to 
pay CTRS either for the first time or in addition to a proportion of their Council Tax was 
£1.5m and the collection rate was 43.5%.  This compares to £1.9m and 45.5% at the 
same point in 2022/23. 
   
The likely impact for 2023/24 is that the underlying rate of collection of Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme will be under similar pressure to 2022/23 due to accumulated 
arrears, limits on the amount that can be recovered from Attachment of Benefits and 
the impact of the cost of living crisis on disposable household income. 
 
Business Rates  
  
Prior to 1 April 2013 Business Rate income was collected by billing authorities  
on behalf of central government and then redistributed among all local authorities  
and police authorities as part of Formula Grant.  Since then the income relating to  

Page 12



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.6 

Blackpool is shared between central government (50%), the Council (49%) and the Fire  
Authority (1%) other than for an intermittent period when Blackpool Council  
participated in a Lancashire-wide pooling arrangement. 
  
During 2022/23 Blackpool’s collection rate rose significantly from 21st lowest  
in England to 32nd lowest and this progress has continued with the amount collected  
for Business Rates being £23.3m and the collection rate 62.3% at the end of month 7.  
This compares to £26.3m and 61.2% at the same point in 2022/23.  2022/23 excludes  
the s31 Extended Retail/Nurseries, etc. relief provided by central government which  
reduced to 50% in 2022/23.  This will have a slight impact on future collection rates.  
  
From April 2014 Business Ratepayers have been entitled to elect to pay by 12 monthly 
instalments instead of over 10 months which has allowed businesses more time  
to pay. 
  
In the 7 months to the end of October 2023 - 845 business rate summonses were 
issued. 
 
Capital Monitoring Performance 
 
All active capital schemes have been included within Appendix 2q.  The purpose is to 
present the overall position of capital spend.  The schemes are shown individually 
where total scheme budget is greater than £500k and grouped as “other schemes” 
otherwise.  As in previous financial years, the emphasis regarding capital monitoring 
will be on scheme variance rather than in-year progress since many schemes cross 
financial years such as the major housing developments.  Therefore, some degree of 
flexibility for the management of slippage is necessary in order to balance the overall 
capital programme each year to the funding allocations available. 
 
The report includes the capital programme as approved by the Executive on 6 
February 2023.  The month 7 report includes this data for comparative purposes.  
Future reports may show further changes in the Capital Programme, representing 
schemes that were approved after submission of the 2023/24 capital programme.
  
The economic climate remains challenging.  High inflation, rising interest rates, 
supply chain issues (particularly in relation to steel) and a lack of labour are leading 
to increased costs, primarily on capital schemes that are likely to span a number of 
years.  An ongoing review of capital schemes is therefore being undertaken to 
establish any schemes where approved budgets may become insufficient and 
potential overspendings identified.  Therefore, in tandem an asset disposal plan is 
being developed to generate capital receipts that may be applied to offset any such 
pressures.  In some cases where appropriate, legal challenge/adjudication will be 
considered to redress the position.  Where uncertainties of outcomes (adverse or 
favourable) still exist, scheme forecast variances are shown as break-even but 

Page 13



highlighted as amber. 
  
6.7 Summary Cash Flow Statement 

 
As part of the reporting format for this financial year a summary cash flow statement 
is included at Appendix 2r.  This provides a comparison of the actual cash receipts 
and payments compared to forecast for 2023/24.  
 
During the first 7 months of the year the Council’s net cashflow has resulted in 
fluctuations in short-term net investment/borrowing balances due to the receipt of 
up-front grant income in this financial year.  The Council fixed £125m of temporary 
loans in August 2022 at around 3.0%, which resulted in an increase in investment 
balances and over the next few months short-term borrowing will be repaid using the 
fixed-term borrowing taken. 
 
The graph below demonstrates the changes in the profile of the Council’s borrowings 
over the last 6 years.  It shows that Council borrowing has increased from less than 
£250m at the end of 2017/18 to nearly £400m at the end of 2022/23.  The profile of 
this borrowing has also changed as we now have a 50:50 split between long-term and 
short-term borrowing as interest rates have rapidly risen with uncertainties on where 
they will land and with consequences of increased borrowing costs. 
 

 

 
  
  
6.8 Summary Balance Sheet 

 
In order to provide a complete picture of the Council’s financial performance 

Page 14



Appendix 2s provides a snapshot of the General Fund balance sheet as at the end of 
month 7.  The key areas of focus are any significant movements in debtors, cash and 
cash equivalents, bank overdraft and creditors as these impact upon the Council’s 
performance in the critical areas of debt recovery, treasury management and Public 
Sector Payment Policy. 
 
The balance sheet has been prepared under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS/IASs).  Each year an accounting adjustment under IAS 19 is made for 
the value of the pension fund at year-end.  In 2022/23, for the first time, this 
produced a pension asset rather than a pension liability.  Based on the latest advice 
from the Pension Fund the Council has not recognised the pension asset.  However 
this is currently under review and therefore the figure is subject to change.  Any 
change will also affect the unusable reserves.  Usable reserves include unallocated 
General Fund reserves and revenue reserves.  Unusable reserves are those that the 
Council is not able to use to provide services.  This category includes reserves that 
hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve), where 
amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets were sold.  
 
Due to statutory changes regarding the accounting treatment of infrastructure assets 
which were approved in Parliament in late November 2022, the 2020/21 were not 
signed off until November 2023.  This has meant that the completion of the audits for 
the 2021/22 and 2022/23 accounts have been delayed.  As the audits are still 
ongoing the balance sheet as at 31 March 2023 may require amendment, therefore 
the figures should be treated as draft.  
 
Over the 7-month period there has been an increase in Property, Plant and 
Equipment of £53.3m due to capital expenditure which is in line with the Council’s 
approved capital programme for 2023/24.  Long-term debtors has increased by 
£8.7m due to new approved business loans.  Cash and cash equivalents have reduced 
by £7.6m and short-term borrowing has increased by £4.2m due to the timing of 
capital and revenue grants. 
 
 

6.9 Medium-Term Financial Plan Update and Earmarked Reserves Forecast 
 
The 6-year Medium-Term Financial Sustainability Strategy (MTFSS) covering 2021/22 
– 2026/27 was approved by the Executive on 8 November 2021 and whilst the 
principles still stand the current economic climate has had a significant impact on the 
supporting Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 
 
Officers are meeting regularly to review and continuously update the Medium Term 
Financial Plan and the Corporate Leadership Team were meeting on 26 September 
2023 and fortnightly thereafter as part of the budget planning process for 2024/25.  
An updated position will be reported to a future Executive as part of the financial 

Page 15



monitoring, but a latest indication of future Budget gaps based on current 
information including the announcements in the Autumn Statement and the Office of 
Budgetary Responsibility (OBR) cpi forecasts is given below: 

  
  

Medium Term Financial Plan v1.6 
   

Budget Gap 
2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

£m £m £m 

18.7 12.2 8.4 
 

  
As part of this budget planning process which consolidates the individual MTFPs of 
the Children’s, Adult and Growth and Prosperity services, a detailed exercise has also 
been undertaken on their consequences upon Earmarked Revenue Reserves to check 
the validity of amounts held and a forecast of when funds will be drawn down over 
the same period as the latest MTFSS.  A summary table is shown below: 
 
 

  
  
  
  

In addition to General Fund Earmarked Revenue Reserves the Council  
holds a Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Reserve to manage the Schools, High Needs 
and Early Years Blocks of grant.  Under a Statutory Override to 2025/26 this reserve  
is maintained separately from the Council’s portfolio of revenue reserves as  
many local authorities are in significant deficit and their consolidation could tip  
their overall financial standing into deficit.  In Blackpool’s case the DSG Reserve  
stood at a deficit of £2,784k as at 31 March 2023 but with the support of the  
Department for Education’s Safety Valve Programme this reserve is planned to  
return to surplus in 2024/25. 
 
A further reserve to note is the Council’s Housing Revenue Account (Appendix 2n), a 
ringfenced account for the management and maintenance of the Council’s housing 
stock.  As at 31 March 2023 this reserve was at a level of £1,721k and is forecast to 
be £1,298k at the end of the financial year; still ahead of its minimum agreed level of 
£1m. 
 
 

6.10 Central Government Monitoring and Oversight 
 
 Local government finance is clearly in a fragile and precarious position. There are at 
least 33 local authorities who have been outed in the media recently for challenges 

Directorate Draft 31/03/22 Est Balance 31/03/23 Est Balance 31/03/24 Est Balance 31/03/25 Est Balance 31/03/26 Est Balance 31/03/27 
£m £m £m £m £m £m 

Total (65.4) (44.5) (28.4) (24.7) (26.0) (28.4) 

Reserves Summary 

Page 16



with their financial standing and there are many others who are known to be 
struggling.  In addition, 8 have already filed Section 114 (s114) Notices.  Councils are 
required by law to have balanced budgets.  The issuing of a s114 notice stops all but 
essential spending, making sure that vital services can continue to be provided to the 
most vulnerable residents.  External oversight exists via periodic Local Government 
Association peer reviews and CIPFA financial healthchecks but local public audit has 
been unable to keep up the pace with 504 external audits outstanding in England 
between 2015/16-2021/22 at the last count.  On top of this central government does 
require 29 financial monitoring returns from local authorities each year. 
  
As a result of this perilous climate the Department for Levelling Up, Housing  
and Communities launched the Office for Local Government (Oflog) in July this year,  
whose purpose is to increase transparency, foster accountability and use data to  
further improve performance and help identify problems at an earlier stage.  Using 
most recent financial data from the 2021/22 Revenue Outturn (RO) returns, Oflog 
has published benchmarking data for local authorities against others and particularly  
nearest neighbours.  These can be found within the following link: 
 
 Local Authority Data Explorer - DLUHC Data Dashboards 
 
As an example of what is available and relevant, the following dashboard shows 
Blackpool’s social care spend as a percentage of its core spending power which 
unsurprisingly is in the highest quartile as would be expected for a local authority 
with such deprivation and demand.  The blue circle is Blackpool, blue squares are 
Blackpool’s statistical neighbours and the grey circles are all other local authorities: 
                                                                                       England Median 
                           ----------------> Higher 

  
        

  
     

Again, unsurprisingly the level of debt reflecting the magnitude of the  
regenerational programme of capital investment is above the median though 
 not significantly, whilst the debt financing is below the median illustrating  
effective treasury management: 
 

Page 17

https://oflog.data.gov.uk/finance?local_authority=Blackpool


 
Officers will endeavour to employ this tool in future monthly financial monitoring  
reports. 
 

6.11 Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

The Council’s Revenue Budget for 2023/24 set a target level of General Fund working 
balances of around £6m.  However, given the current economic climate it is  
recommended that work continues towards target working balances of £6m by 31  
March 2024 rising to £8m by 31 March 2025.  Earmarked revenue reserves at the 
start of the financial year stood at £44.5m, though with known in-year commitments  
against this the balance will fall to an estimated £28.4m by the end of the year.  This  
should still be sufficient to underwrite the current year’s financial risks with a   
financial plan in place for the Council’s wholly-owned companies (ref. Appendix 2o). 
 
If the 2023/24 forecast position became the actual outturn, then in accordance  
with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules within its Constitution the  
forecast revenue outturn 2023/24 within this report contravenes neither of the  
two specific conditions that excess spending does not: 
 

1. exceed 1% (= £5m) of the authority’s total gross revenue expenditure; or 
 

2. have the effect of reducing the authority’s Working Balances below 50% 
of their normal target level (= £3m). 

 
However, these are still unprecedented times for the whole of the local government 
sector and in the context of relatively healthy levels of Earmarked Revenue Reserves 
and with 5 months of the financial year still remaining officers are working 
continuously to improve the position - revised service and financial plans are being 
developed including the review of technical accounting treatments, a continuing 
policy of freezing non-essential spend,  a robust approach at weekly Resourcing Panel 
meetings to only allow the filling of critical vacant posts and the prospective 
redesignation of earmarked reserves should they need to be used. 

  
6.12 
 
 

Does the information submitted include any exempt information? No 

   

Page 18



 
7.0 

 
List of Appendices: 
 

 Appendix 2a - Revenue Summary 
Appendix 2b - Chief Executive 
Appendix 2c - Governance and Partnership Services 
Appendices 2c/d - Ward Budgets 
Appendix 2e - Resources 
Appendix 2f - Communications and Regeneration 
Appendix 2g - Strategic Leisure Assets 
Appendix 2h - Growth and Prosperity 
Appendix 2i - Community and Environmental Services 
Appendix 2j - Adult Services 
Appendix 2k - Children’s Services 
Appendix 2l - Public Health 
Appendix 2m - Budgets Outside the Cash Limit 
Appendix 2n - Housing Revenue Account 
Appendix 2o - Wholly-owned companies 
Appendix 2p - Budget Savings performance  
Appendix 2q - Capital Monitoring  
Appendix 2r - Cash Flow Summary 
Appendix 2s - General Fund Balance Sheet Summary  
 

 

8.0 Financial considerations: 
 

 

8.1 
 

As outlined in this report and appendices. 

9.0 Legal considerations:  
 

9.1 
 

None. 
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 Impact of financial performance against approved Revenue budgets and upon 
Council reserves and balances. 

  
 
11.0 Equalities considerations and the impact of this decision for our children and young 

people: 
 

11.1 
 

An Equalities Impact Assessment was produced as a part of the budget-setting 
process and remains relevant. 
 

Page 19



12.0 Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1 
 

None directly from this report. 

13.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1 
 

None. 
 

14.0 Background papers: 
 

14.1 
 

None. 
 

15.0 Key decision information: 
 

15.1 Is this a key decision? 
 

No 

15.2 If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

 

15.3 If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

N/A 

15.4 If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
 

16.0 Call-in information: 
 

16.1 Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to 
be exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

16.2 If yes, please give reason: 
 

  

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 
 

17.0 Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed:  Date approved: 
 

 

18.0 Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

18.1  
 
 
 

Page 20



19.0 
 
19.1 
 

Summary of Discussion: 
 

20.0 Executive decision: 
 

20.1  
 

21.0 Date of Decision:    
 

21.1 
 

 
 
 

22.0 
 
22.1 

Reason(s) for decision: 
 

  
23.0 Date Decision published: 

 
23.1  
 

 

24.0  
 
24.1  
 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 

25.0 Executive Members present:   
 

25.1  
 

26.0 Call-in:   
 

26.1  
 

27.0 Notes:   
 

27.1  
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 (a) 

   

 Blackpool Council 
 

Revenue summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 
 

 

BLACKPOOL COUNCIL

FORECAST GENERAL FUND POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2024

SUMMARY

BUDGET VARIANCE

2022/23

APP.  GENERAL FUND ADJUSTED EXPENDITURE PROJECTED FORECAST F/CAST FULL (UNDER)/OVER

 NET REQUIREMENTS CASH LIMITED APR - OCT SPEND OUTTURN YEAR VAR. SPEND B/FWD

BUDGET (UNDER) / OVER

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2(b)  CHIEF EXECUTIVE 1,532 (1,302) 2,634 1,332 (200) -  

2(c)  GOVERNANCE & PARTNERSHIP SERVICES 2,008 1,205 771 1,976 (32) -  

2(c/d)  WARD BUDGETS 269 (58) 327 269 -  -  

2(e)  RESOURCES 2,627 (2,186) 4,603 2,417 (210) -  

2(f)  COMMUNICATIONS AND REGENERATION 3,949 891 3,068 3,959 10 -  

2(g)  STRATEGIC LEISURE ASSETS 2,625 1,169 602 1,771 (854) -  

 STRATEGIC LEISURE ASSETS - TRANSFER TO/(FROM) RESERVES -  -  854 854 854 -  

2(h)  GROWTH & PROSPERITY (5,877) 1,300 (9,677) (8,377) (2,500) -  

 GROWTH & PROSPERITY - TRANSFER TO/(FROM) RESERVES -  -  2,500 2,500 2,500 -  

2(i)  COMMUNITY & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 53,256 12,541 41,215 53,756 500 -  

2(j)  ADULT SERVICES 63,872 34,191 32,103 66,294 2,422 -  

2(k)  CHILDREN'S SERVICES 68,148 31,884 42,711 74,595 6,447 -  

2(l)  PUBLIC HEALTH 3 3 -  3 -  -  

2(m)  BUDGETS OUTSIDE THE CASH LIMIT 14,392 (223) 13,164 12,941 (1,451) -  

 CAPITAL CHARGES (30,008) (17,505) (12,503) (30,008) -  -  

 NET COST OF SERVICES: 176,796 61,910 122,372 184,282 7,486 -  

 CONTRIBUTIONS:

 - TO / (FROM) RESERVES (13,102) (11,638) (4,576) (16,214) (3,112)

 - 2022/23 SERVICE OVER/(UNDERSPENDS) -  -  -  -  -  

 - REVENUE CONSEQUENCES OF CAPITAL OUTLAY 500 -  500 500 -  

 CONTINGENCIES 7,232 (442) 4,447 4,005 (3,227)

 LEVIES 457 74 383 457 -  

 CONTRIBUTIONS, etc. (4,913) (12,006) 754 (11,252) (6,339)

 TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE TO BE

  MET FROM PUBLIC FUNDS 171,883 49,904 123,126 173,030 1,147

 ADDED TO/(TAKEN FROM) BALANCES 4,335 -  3,188 3,188 (1,147)

 NET REQUIREMENT AFTER

  WORKING BALANCES 176,218 49,904 126,314 176,218 -  

GENERAL BALANCES AS AT 1st APRIL 2023 PER UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2022/23 2,459

Budgeted In-year (reduction in) / addition to General Fund Working Balances 4,335

6,794

Forecast In-year (reduction in) / addition to General Fund Working Balances (1,147)

ESTIMATED UNEARMARKED WORKING BALANCES AS AT 31st MARCH 2024 5,647

EXPENDITURE

2023/24

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 (b) 
 

   

Blackpool Council - Chief Executive 
 

Revenue summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 

 
 

Commentary on the key issues:  
 
Directorate Summary - basis 
 

The Revenue summary (above) lists the outturn projection for each individual service within the Chief 
Executive’s Directorate against their respective, currently approved, revenue budget.  Forecast 
outturns are based upon actual financial performance for the first 7 months of 2023/24 together with 
predictions of performance, anticipated pressures and efficiencies in the remainder of the financial 
year.  
 

Chief Executive  
 

This service is currently forecasting a break-even position. 
 

Human Resources, Organisation and Workforce Development 
 

This service is currently forecasting a break-even position. 
 

Corporate Delivery Unit 
 

This service is currently forecasting a £200k underspend due to the release of a reserve now deemed 
as no longer required. 
 

Housing 
 

This service is currently forecasting a break-even position. 
 
 
 

Budget Holder – Mr N Jack, Chief Executive 
 

` BUDGET VARIANCE

2022/23

FUNCTIONS OF THE SERVICE ADJUSTED EXPENDITURE PROJECTED FORECAST F/CAST FULL (UNDER)/OVER

CASH LIMITED APR - OCT SPEND OUTTURN YEAR VAR. SPEND B/FWD

BUDGET (UNDER) / OVER

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

NET EXPENDITURE

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 621 431 190 621 -  -  

HUMAN RESOURCES, ORGANISATION 

AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT (7) (681) 674 (7) -  -  

CHIEF EXECUTIVE TOTAL 614 (250) 864 614 -  -  

CORPORATE DELIVERY UNIT (15) (1,944) 1,729 (215) (200) -  

HOUSING 933 892 41 933 -  -  

ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 918 (1,052) 1,770 718 (200) -  

TOTALS 1,532 (1,302) 2,634 1,332 (200) -  

2023/24
EXPENDITURE

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 (c) 
 

   

Blackpool Council – Governance and Partnership Services 
 
Revenue summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 

 
 

Commentary on the key issues:  
 
Directorate Summary - basis 
 

The Revenue summary (above) lists the outturn projection for each individual service within Governance 
and Partnership Services against their respective, currently approved, revenue budget.  Forecast 
outturns are based upon actual financial performance for the first 7 months of 2023/24 together with 
predictions of performance, anticipated pressures and efficiencies in the remainder of the financial year, 
all of which have been agreed with the head of service.   
 

Democratic Governance Service 
 

The Democratic Governance Service is now forecasting an underspend of £20k due to staff turnover. 
 
Corporate Legal Services 
 

This service is forecasting a £50k overspend due to increasing additional staffing costs. 
 

Information Governance 
 

This service is forecasting an underspend of £37k due to increased income and a release of reserves that 
is now deemed as no longer required. 

 
Life Events  
 

This service is forecasting an underspend of £25k due to staff turnover. 
 

Ward Budgets 
  

Ward budgets are expected to break-even in 2023/24.  
 

` BUDGET VARIANCE

2022/23

FUNCTIONS OF THE SERVICE ADJUSTED EXPENDITURE PROJECTED FORECAST F/CAST FULL (UNDER)/OVER

CASH LIMITED APR - OCT SPEND OUTTURN YEAR VAR. SPEND B/FWD

BUDGET (UNDER) / OVER

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

GOVERNANCE & PARTNERSHIP SERVICES

NET EXPENDITURE

DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 2,354 1,896 438 2,334 (20) -  

CORPORATE LEGAL SERVICES (57) (770) 763 (7) 50 -  

INFORMATION GOVERNANCE 79 (117) 159 42 (37) -  

LIFE EVENTS (368) 196 (589) (393) (25) -  

GOVERNANCE & PARTNERSHIP SERVICES 2,008 1,205 771 1,976 (32) -  

WARDS 269 (58) 327 269 -  -  

TOTALS 2,277 1,147 1,098 2,245 (32) -  

EXPENDITURE
2023/24

Page 27



Appendix 2 (c) 
 

   

Budget Holder - Mr M Towers, Director of Governance and Partnership Services. 

Page 28



Wards

Anchorsholme Ward Cllr. Galley 1 1 0 0 £7,000.00 £282.00 £6,718.00

61008/61030 Cllr. Cooper 1 1 0 0 £7,000.00 £282.00 £6,718.00

Bispham Ward Cllr. Warne 0 0 0 0 £7,000.00 £0.00 £7,000.00

61009/61031 Cllr. Wilshaw 1 1 0 0 £7,000.00 £449.00 £6,551.00

Bloomfield Ward Cllr. Fenlon 6 6 0 0 £7,000.00 £746.41 £6,253.59

61010/61032 Cllr. Hobson 10 10 0 3 £7,000.00 £2,011.09 £4,988.91

Brunswick Ward Cllr. Marshall 4 4 0 0 £7,000.00 £2,625.42 £4,374.58

61011/61033 Cllr. Thomas 4 4 0 0 £7,000.00 £2,692.35 £4,307.65

Claremont Ward Cllr. Taylor 4 4 0 2 £7,000.00 £3,842.43 £3,157.57

61012/61034 Cllr. L Williams 4 4 0 2 £7,000.00 £3,842.43 £3,157.57

Clifton Ward Cllr. Burdess 6 6 0 2 £7,000.00 £4,364.17 £2,635.83

61013/61035 Cllr. Humphries 6 6 0 2 £7,000.00 £4,384.16 £2,615.84

Greenlands Ward Cllr. Flanagan 0 0 0 0 £7,000.00 £0.00 £7,000.00

61014/61036 Cllr. Jones 0 0 0 0 £7,000.00 £0.00 £7,000.00

Hawes Side Ward Cllr. N Brookes 3 3 0 0 £7,000.00 £1,384.00 £5,616.00

61015/61037 Cllr. Critchley 3 3 0 0 £7,000.00 £1,383.00 £5,617.00

Highfield Ward Cllr. Hunter 1 1 0 0 £7,000.00 £144.00 £6,856.00

61016/61038 Cllr. B Mitchell 0 0 0 0 £7,000.00 £0.00 £7,000.00

Ingthorpe Ward Cllr. Bamborough MBE 2 2 0 0 £7,000.00 £1,639.00 £5,361.00

61017/61039 Cllr. Farrell 4 4 0 1 £7,000.00 £1,789.00 £5,211.00

Layton Ward Cllr. Benson 11 11 0 2 £7,000.00 £3,416.06 £3,583.94

61018/61040 Cllr. Boughton 10 10 0 1 £7,000.00 £3,398.05 £3,601.95

Marton Ward Cllr. S Brookes 1 1 0 0 £7,000.00 £321.00 £6,679.00

61019/61041 Cllr. S Smith 1 1 0 0 £7,000.00 £321.00 £6,679.00

Norbreck Ward Cllr. Ellison 2 2 0 0 £7,000.00 £801.00 £6,199.00

61020/61043 Cllr. Sloman 0 0 0 0 £7,000.00 £0.00 £7,000.00

Park Ward Cllr. Campbell 2 2 0 0 £7,000.00 £2,426.00 £4,574.00

61021/61044 Cllr. Hoyle 1 1 0 0 £7,000.00 £1,176.00 £5,824.00

Squires Gate Ward Cllr. C Mitchell MBE 0 0 0 0 £7,000.00 £0.00 £7,000.00

61022/61045 Cllr. Walsh 0 0 0 0 £7,000.00 £0.00 £7,000.00

Stanley Ward Cllr. Baker 0 0 0 0 £7,000.00 £0.00 £7,000.00

61023/61046 Cllr. Roberts 1 1 0 0 £7,000.00 £1,926.00 £5,074.00

Talbot Ward Cllr. Hugo 9 9 0 2 £7,000.00 £3,694.38 £3,305.62

61024/61046 Cllr. M Smith 9 9 0 2 £7,000.00 £3,694.37 £3,305.63

Tyldesley Ward Cllr. Webb 4 4 0 0 £7,000.00 £690.50 £6,309.50

61025/61047 Cllr. Roe 4 4 0 0 £7,000.00 £690.50 £6,309.50

Victoria Ward Cllr. Jackson 3 3 0 0 £7,000.00 £369.50 £6,630.50

61026/61048 Cllr. P Brookes 3 3 0 0 £7,000.00 £369.50 £6,630.50

Warbreck Ward Cllr. D Scott 5 5 0 3 £7,000.00 £1,752.99 £5,247.01

61027/61049 Cllr. Mrs M Scott 5 5 0 3 £7,000.00 £1,752.99 £5,247.01

Waterloo Ward Cllr. Cartmell 0 0 0 0 £7,000.00 £0.00 £7,000.00

61028/61050 Cllr. D Mitchell MBE 0 0 0 0 £7,000.00 £0.00 £7,000.00

Total No. of 

Requisitions 

Submitted

No. of 

Requisitions 

Approved

Total No. of 

Requisitions 

Completed

Appendix 2 (d)

Blackpool Council

Ward Budgets

2023/24

Remaining          

2023-24 Budget

Total 2023-24 

Budget

2023-24 Budget 

Committed to 

Approved 

Schemes

No. Awaiting 

Approval
Ward Councillors

£58,660.30 £235,339.70Ward Totals 131 131 0 25 £294,000.00

£269,000.00 £58,660.30 £210,339.70

Income Budget                     -                     -                     -                     - £0.00

£0.00 (£25,000.00) 

Month 7

£0.00 £0.00

Area Ward Totals 131 131 0 25

Unallocated Budget                     -                     -                     -                     - (£25,000.00) 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 (e) 
 

   

Blackpool Council - Resources 
 

Revenue summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 

 
 

 
Commentary on the key issues: 
  
Directorate Summary - basis 
 

The Revenue summary (above) lists the outturn projection for each individual service within Resources 
against their respective, currently approved, revenue budget.  Forecast outturns are based upon actual 
financial performance for the first 7 months of 2023/24 together with predictions of performance, 
anticipated pressures and efficiencies in the remainder of the financial year, all of which have been 
agreed with each head of service. 

 
Procurement and Exchequer Services 
 

Procurement and Exchequer Services are forecasting an underspend of £68k. This position has been 
achieved as a result of measures to deliver savings through dis-establishment of posts and increased 
income opportunities.  Additional one-off, ad-hoc income has been secured in year and there is currently 
a vacant post within the Procurement team. 
 

Benefits 
 

The Benefits Service is forecasting a break-even position.  The cumulative Housing Benefit new claims 
processing outturn figure for October was 25 days.  The cumulative processing time to-date for new 
claims for Housing Benefit, new claims for Council Tax Reduction and changes in circumstances 
notifications was 9 days. 
 

Revenue Services 
 

Revenue Services are forecasting a break-even position on a gross budget of £2.64m.   
 
 
 

BUDGET VARIANCE

2022/23

FUNCTIONS OF THE SERVICE ADJUSTED EXPENDITURE PROJECTED FORECAST F/CAST FULL (UNDER)/OVER

CASH LIMITED APR - OCT SPEND OUTTURN YEAR VAR. SPEND B/FWD

BUDGET (UNDER) / OVER

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

RESOURCES

NET EXPENDITURE

PROCUREMENT & EXCHEQUER SERVICES (8) 33 (109) (76) (68) -  

BENEFITS (1,612) 1,699 (3,311) (1,612) -  -  

REVENUES SERVICES 1,765 1,922 (157) 1,765 -  -  

CUSTOMER FIRST 18 (241) 260 19 1 -  

ICT SERVICES (9) (1,779) 1,769 (10) (1) -  

ACCOUNTANCY 23 (691) 621 (70) (93) -  

RISK SERVICES (4) (304) 289 (15) (11) -  

PROPERTY SERVICES (Incl. INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO) 2,460 (2,764) 5,186 2,422 (38) -  

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY (6) (61) 55 (6) -  -  

TOTALS 2,627 (2,186) 4,603 2,417 (210) -  

EXPENDITURE

2023/24

Page 31



Appendix 2 (e) 
 

   

 
Customer First 
 

Customer First is forecasting an overspend of £1k against a gross budget of £1.19m.  This is due to an 
unachieved savings target but the position is expected to improve through the year.  Additional SLA has 
been achieved in year. 

 
ICT Services 
 

ICT is forecasting an underspend of £1K position on a gross budget of £5.95m.  The budget is currently 
under pressure from inflationary increases in software licences and the hardware supply chain.  The 
budget is currently being balanced from additional income generation and staff turnover. 

 
Accountancy 
 

Accountancy is forecasting an underspend of £93k due to freezing of vacant posts and additional income 
from HMRC.   
 

Risk Services 
 

Risk Services are forecasting an underspend of £11k against a gross budget of £1.07m.  This is due to a 
number of factors including staff vacancies, additional income opportunities and also through receipt of 
new burden funding for the Covid-19 business support grant post assurance work. 
 

Property Services (incl. Investment Portfolio) 
 

Property Services are forecasting an underspend of £38k against a gross budget of £14.28m, savings 
arising from staff vacancies across the service. 
 

Equality and Diversity 
 

Equality and Diversity are forecasting a break-even position on a gross budget of £198k.  
 
Summary of the revenue forecast 
 

After 7 months of the financial year Resources are forecasting a £210k underspend.  The Directorate 
continues to operate on the basis of not filling staff vacancies other than in exceptional circumstances. 

 
 
Budget Holder - Mr S Thompson, Director of Resources 
 

Page 32



Appendix 2 (f) 

   

Blackpool Council – Communications & Regeneration 
 

Revenue summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 

BUDGET VARIANCE

2022/23

FUNCTIONS OF THE SERVICE ADJUSTED EXPENDITURE PROJECTED FORECAST F/CAST FULL (UNDER)/OVER

CASH LIMITED APR - OCT SPEND OUTTURN YEAR VAR. SPEND

BUDGET (UNDER) / OVER

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

COMMUNICATIONS & REGENERATION

NET EXPENDITURE

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & CULTURAL 

SERVICES 672 (467) 1,099 632 (40) -  

PLANNING 517 (318) 835 517 -  -  

TOURISM AND COMMUNICATIONS 2,760 1,676 1,134 2,810 50 -  

TOTALS 3,949 891 3,068 3,959 10 -  

2023/24

EXPENDITURE

 
 
Commentary on the key issues: 
 

Directorate Summary – basis 
 

The Revenue summary (above) lists the outturn projection for each individual service area within the 
Directorate against their respective, currently approved, revenue budget.  The forecast outturn is 
based upon actual financial performance for the first 7 months of 2023/24 together with predictions of 
performance, anticipated pressures and efficiencies in the remainder of the financial year, all of which 
have been agreed with each head of service.   
 

Economic Development and Cultural Services 
 

This service is currently forecasting an underspend of £40k due to vacant posts. 
 

Planning 
 

This service is currently forecasting a break-even position. 
 

Tourism & Communications 
 

This service is forecasting a £50k pressure.  This is due to some increased costs in Visit Blackpool.  There 
are also risks around income generation in the Directorate as a result of the cost of living crisis and 
increased costs in relation to the Illuminations extension that will be quantified later in the year. 

 
Budget Holder – Mr A Cavill, Director of Communications & Regeneration  

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 (g) 

   

Blackpool Council – Strategic Leisure Assets 
 

Revenue summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 

 
 

Commentary on the key issues: 
 
Directorate Summary - basis 
 

The Revenue summary (above) lists the outturn projection for the Service against its respective, 
currently approved, revenue budget.  The forecast outturn is based upon actual financial performance 
for the first 7 months of 2023/24 together with predictions of performance, anticipated pressures and 
efficiencies in the remainder of the financial year, all of which have been agreed with the head of 
service. 

 
Key Issues 

 
In month 7, Strategic Leisure Assets are reporting an underspend of £854k.  This is due to a reduction in 
the forecast repair spend and a release from reserves no longer expected to be required.  
 

In accordance with the original decision for this programme by the Executive on 7th February 2011, any 
under or overspend on Strategic Leisure Assets will be transferred to Earmarked Reserves to go against 
the current balance.  The cumulative deficit as at March 2022/23 was £10,690k.  In 2023/24, a transfer 
of £1,420k has been made to Contributions to Reserves reducing this deficit balance to £9,270k.  This 
transfer is in line with the budget.  The above underspend will further reduce this deficit to £8,416k. 

 
The latest Leisure Assets medium-term financial plan currently expects the service to break-even, in-
year, from 2023/24 and cumulatively by 2034/35. 

   
 
 
Budget Holder – Mr A Cavill, Director of Communications & Regeneration 

BUDGET VARIANCE

2022/23

FUNCTIONS OF THE SERVICE ADJUSTED EXPENDITURE PROJECTED FORECAST F/CAST FULL (UNDER)/OVER

CASH LIMITED APR - OCT SPEND OUTTURN YEAR VAR. SPEND B/FWD

BUDGET (UNDER) / OVER

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

STRATEGIC LEISURE ASSETS

NET EXPENDITURE

STRATEGIC LEISURE ASSETS 2,625 1,169 602 1,771 (854) -  

TOTALS 2,625 1,169 602 1,771 (854) -  

2023/24

EXPENDITURE

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 (h) 

   

Blackpool Council – Growth & Prosperity 
 

Revenue summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 

 
 
Commentary on the key issues: 
 
Directorate Summary - basis 
 

The Revenue summary (above) lists the outturn projection for the Service against its respective, 
currently approved, revenue budget.  The forecast outturn is based upon actual financial performance 
for the first 7 months of 2023/24 together with predictions of performance, anticipated pressures and 
efficiencies in the remainder of the financial year, all of which have been agreed with the head of service.  

 
Key Issues 
 

As at month 7, the service is forecasting a surplus of £2,500k.  This is due to the expectation of proceeds 
raised from the current work programme exceeding costs including prudential borrowing.  This figure 
has reduced from period 6 due to a revised forecast relating to costs of regeneration projects.  

 
The Executive, at its meeting on 8 November 2021, agreed to the approach to transition out the Growth 
and Prosperity net revenue budget target over a 2-year period, 2022/23-2023/24, with any proceeds 
subsequently realised from the existing work programme being directed to bolstering reserves and any 
new proceeds being retained by Growth and Prosperity for their re-investment.  It is therefore assumed 
that this surplus will be transferred to Earmarked Reserves to go against the current balance.  The 
cumulative deficit as at March 2022/23 was £10,125k.  It is therefore expected that the balance at the 
end of 2023/24 will be £7,625k. 

 
 
 
 
 

Budget Holder – Mr A Cavill, Director of Communications & Regeneration 
 
 

BUDGET VARIANCE

2022/23

FUNCTIONS OF THE SERVICE ADJUSTED EXPENDITURE PROJECTED FORECAST F/CAST FULL (UNDER)/OVER

CASH LIMITED APR - OCT SPEND OUTTURN YEAR VAR. SPEND B/FWD

BUDGET (UNDER) / OVER

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

GROWTH & PROSPERITY

NET EXPENDITURE

GROWTH & PROSPERITY (5,877) 1,300 (9,677) (8,377) (2,500) -  

TOTALS (5,877) 1,300 (9,677) (8,377) (2,500) -  

2023/24

EXPENDITURE

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 (i) 
 

   

Blackpool Council – Community and Environmental Services  
 

Revenue summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 

 
 

 

Commentary on the key issues:  
 
Directorate Summary - basis 
 

The Revenue summary (above) lists the outturn projection for each individual service area within the 
Directorate against their respective, currently approved, revenue budget.  The forecast outturn overspend 
of £500k is based upon actual financial performance for the first 7 months of 2023/24 together with 
predictions of performance, anticipated pressures and efficiencies in the remainder of the financial year, 
all of which have been agreed with each head of service. 
 

Business Services 
 

This service is currently forecasting a break-even position. 
 
Leisure and Catering 
 

Leisure and Catering is currently forecasting a break-even position.  Leisure income is in line with budget 
and there are savings within staffing, due to vacancies.  Catering is facing a pressure due to the increased 
cost of provisions, but this is expected to be covered by other savings within the service. 

 
Public Protection 

 
The service is currently forecasting a break-even position.  There are pressures within Licencing, where 
the income forecast is currently under budget.  However, there have been savings identified within other 
areas of Public Protection to mitigate this. 

 
Highways and Traffic Management Services 
 

This service is currently forecasting a break-even position. 
 
 
 
 

BUDGET VARIANCE

2022/23

FUNCTIONS OF THE SERVICE ADJUSTED EXPENDITURE PROJECTED FORECAST F/CAST FULL (UNDER)/OVER

CASH LIMITED APR - OCT SPEND OUTTURN YEAR VAR. SPEND B/FWD
BUDGET (UNDER) / OVER

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

COMMUNITY & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

NET EXPENDITURE

BUSINESS SERVICES (876) 883 (1,759) (876) -  -  

LEISURE AND CATERING 5,362 2,861 2,501 5,362 -  -  

PUBLIC PROTECTION 1,457 (131) 1,588 1,457 -  -  

HIGHWAYS AND TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SERVICES 18,001 (979) 18,980 18,001 -  -  

STREET CLEANSING AND WASTE 20,007 5,014 14,993 20,007 -  -  

COASTAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL PARTNERSHIPS 6,501 2,552 3,949 6,501 -  -  

INTEGRATED TRANSPORT 2,804 2,341 963 3,304 500 -  

TOTALS 53,256 12,541 41,215 53,756 500 -  

2023/24
EXPENDITURE

Page 39



Appendix 2 (i) 
 

   

Street Cleansing and Waste 
 

Waste Services are reporting a break-even position.  There are forecast pressures within Street Cleansing 
and within Public Conveniences, where an inflationary uplift has been applied to the contract.  Trade 
Waste income, however, is forecasting an increase against budget to off-set these pressures. 

 
Coastal and Environmental Partnerships 
 

This service is currently forecasting a break-even position. 
 

Integrated Transport 
 

This service is currently forecasting an overspend of £500k.  Childrens Transport Services is reporting an 
overspend of £500k, due to a combination of increased demand pressures and historic savings targets 
which have not been able to be achieved. 

 
 
Conclusion – Community and Environmental Services financial position 
 

At the end of October 2023, the Community and Environmental Services Directorate is forecasting an 
overspend of £500k.  The major pressure is within Integrated Transport where the Childrens Transport 
Service is forecasting a pressure of £500k.  There are other pressures within the Directorate, but these are 
expected to be covered through other means. 

 
 
Budget Holder - Mr J Blackledge, Director of Community and Environmental Services  
 

Page 40



Appendix 2 (j) 
 

   

Blackpool Council - Adult Services  
   

Revenue summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 

 
 

Commentary on the key issues:    
    
Directorate Summary – basis 
 

The Revenue summary (above) lists the latest outturn projection for each individual service within the 
Adult Services Directorate against their respective, currently approved, revenue budget.  Forecast 
outturns are based upon actual financial performance for the first 7 months of 2023/24 together with 
predictions of performance, anticipated pressures and efficiencies in the remainder of the financial year, 
all of which have been agreed with each head of service. 
 

Adult Social Care 
 

Adult Social Care is forecasting an underspend of £85k at month 7 due to a high volume of vacant 
positions.  

 
Adult Commissioning Placements (Social Care Packages)  
 

The Adult Commissioning Placements budget is forecasting an overspend of £2,563k.  There are savings 
shortfalls of £1,012k from the proposal in which the Integrated Care Board (ICB) were expected to 
provide additional income of £1.6m into the Better Care Fund (BCF) and a further shortfall on additional 
funding streams of £337k.  There is a pressure of £1,530k in Supported Living due to additional 
packages of care including children’s transitions, along with £589k of pressures due to additional 
packages of short-term care linked to hospital discharge.  £439k pressures relates to Out of Area 
Residential and Nursing Placements fee uplifts being significantly greater than forecast in addition to a 
further £758k of pressures across this area of service offset by £2,000k additional client contributions.  
There is a £71k pressure on Homecare whereby the current commissioned hours exceeds budget along 
with £77k of pressure in Daycare.  Direct payment pressures of £509k are resulting from a forecasted 
reduction in claw-backs based on year-to-date actuals and a number of ad-hoc payments being made 
outside of the Mosaic Interface.  There is £602k in the forecast relating to the recently announced 
Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund which is being used to offset the residential/nursing top-
ups and Out of Area fee rates.  Savings of £58k have arisen within Supporting People due to additional 
grant contributions along with a further saving of £99k in Service Management. 
 
 
 
 

BUDGET VARIANCE

2022/23

FUNCTIONS OF THE SERVICE ADJUSTED EXPENDITURE PROJECTED FORECAST F/CAST FULL (UNDER)/OVER

CASH LIMITED APR - OCT SPEND OUTTURN YEAR VAR. SPEND B/FWD

BUDGET (UNDER) / OVER

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

ADULT SERVICES

NET EXPENDITURE

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 9,328 6,777 2,466 9,243 (85) -  

CARE & SUPPORT 4,447 2,649 1,742 4,391 (56) -  

ADULT COMMISSIONING PLACEMENTS 50,021 24,762 27,822 52,584 2,563 -  

ADULT SAFEGUARDING 76 3 73 76 -  -  

TOTALS 63,872 34,191 32,103 66,294 2,422 -  

EXPENDITURE
2023/24

Page 41



Appendix 2 (j) 
 

   

Care and Support 
 

Care and Support is forecasting an underspend of £56k at month 7 due to slippage on vacant 
positions.   

 
Adults Safeguarding 
 

Adults safeguarding is forecasting a break-even position at month 7.  
 
 
Summary of the Adult Services financial position 
 

As at the end of October 2023 the Adult Services Directorate is forecasting an overall overspend of 
£2,422k for the financial year to March 2024 on a net budget of £64m. 
 

Budget Holder – K Smith, Director of Adult Services 

Page 42



Appendix 2 (k) 
 

   

Blackpool Council – Children’s Services 
 
Revenue summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 

 
         

Commentary on the key issues:  
 
Directorate Summary – basis 
 

The Revenue summary (above) lists the latest outturn projection for each individual service within the 
Children’s Services Directorate against their respective, currently approved, revenue budget.  Forecast 
outturns are based upon actual financial performance for the first 7 months of 2023/24 together with 
predictions of performance, anticipated pressures and efficiencies in the remainder of the financial year, 
all of which have been agreed with each Head of Service. 

 
Children’s Social Care 
 

The full-year impact of the Children’s Social Care pressures as at M7 2022/23 has been rightsized as part 

of the Corporate Medium Term Financial Plan, equating to an additional budget of £5,221k allocated in 

2023/24.  However, Children’s Social Care Placements is forecasting an overspend against this increased 

budget of £5,685k, mainly due to new-to-care placements being higher than those exiting care and the 

additional support required following the breakdown of high-cost placements.  The actual number of 

residential placements as at 31 October 2023 is 70 with this forecast to reduce to 68 by 31 March 2024, 

whereas the plan suggested there would be 66 as at 31 October 2023 reducing to 60 by the end of 

March 2024. 

However, the number of Children in Care continues to reduce and currently sits at 541 children.  This 
brings Blackpool from a rate of 218 per 0-17 10,000 population to 194.  The ambition is to bring 
ourselves in line with comparator Local Authorities over the next couple of years and we are confident 
that this ambition will be realised.  Officers have seen this reduction as a result of reduced entry into 

Page 43



Appendix 2 (k) 
 

   

care, and increased numbers exiting our care system.  Within the cohort of Children Looked After, the 
Council has had a higher than national average of children in residential placements.  Residential 
settings, for most children, are not the optimum placement and these children do not usually have the 
same degree of positive outcomes as children in foster placements, or family placements for example.  
Residential placements are costly, with unit costs rising year on year by 14.1%.  We have seen 
movement in the numbers of residential placements, from 84 to 74 as a result of a focussed, ongoing 
piece of work led by our newly recruited Head of Service for Supporting our Children.  We have 
reviewed a number of care plans and as a result children have been moved from residential settings to 
settings that better meet their needs, always ensuring their safety and individual needs are at the 
forefront when planning. 

 
The service has additionally seen a reduction in agency social work staff during the last 12-18 months.  
In 2021/2022 the service had rates of up to 40% agency staff in some teams.  A refreshed Workforce 
Strategy, overseen by a Workforce Board, chaired monthly by the Director of Childrens Services, has 
seen a reduction of agency staff to under 15% across the social care teams.  The national average is now 
17% and regionally the rate is much higher.  The last set of regional data put Blackpool at the lowest for 
agency rates.  Officers continue to monitor this closely in a challenging and competitive market. 

 
 
Dedicated Schools Grant Funded Services 
 

The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is the funding stream that supports the Schools Budget, which 
includes amounts that are devolved through the Individual School Budget (ISB), together with centrally-
retained pupil-related services as listed in the revenue summary.  Any under or overspends against 
services funded by the DSG will be carried forward to 2024/25 and, in the case of overspends, become 
the first call on the grant in that year. 
 

Business Support and Resources 
 

Business Support and Resources is forecasting an overspend of £779k.  There was an additional 
Children’s Services savings target of £1,924k, of which, only £1,165k is anticipated to be met this 
financial year, leaving a budget gap of £759k.  There is expected to be a £20k overspend on staffing. 

 
 
Summary of the Children’s Services financial position 
 

As at the end of October 2023 the Children’s Services Directorate is forecasting an overspend of £6,447k 
for the financial year to March 2024.   
 

 
 
 
Budget Holder – Victoria Gent, Director of Children’s Services 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



Appendix 2 (k) 
 

   

 
 
 

Page 45



Appendix 2 (k) 
 

   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Page 46



Appendix 2 (k) 
 

   

 
  

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 (l) 
 

   

Blackpool Council – Public Health 
 
Revenue summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 

 
  
          
Commentary on the key issues: 
 
Directorate Summary – basis 
 

The Revenue summary (above) lists the latest outturn projection for each individual scheme against 
their respective, currently approved, revenue budget.  Forecast outturns are based upon actual financial 
performance for the first 7 months of 2023/24 together with predictions of performance, anticipated 
pressures and efficiencies in the remainder of the financial year, all of which have been agreed with the 
service leads. 

 
Public Health Grant 
 

The Public Health Grant is a central government grant which is ring-fenced.   
 
The grant conditions require quarterly financial reporting of spend against a prescribed set of headings 
and spend of the grant must link explicitly to the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Public Health Outcomes 
Framework and Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. 
 
The Public Health Directorate are forecasting an overall spend of the full grant, £19,858,394, for the 
financial year to March 2024.  

 
Payment by Results (PbR)/ Activity-based Commissioning 
 

A number of Public Health schemes’ payments are linked to activity.  The aim of Payment by Results 
(PbR) is to provide a transparent, rules-based system for payment.  It rewards outputs, outcomes and 
supports patient choice and diversity.  Payment will be linked to activity.  This does, however, raise a 
number of challenges when determining accurate budgetary spend/forecast spend.  

 
 
 
 

BUDGET VARIANCE

2022/23

FUNCTIONS OF THE SERVICE ADJUSTED EXPENDITURE PROJECTED FORECAST F/CAST FULL (UNDER)/OVER

CASH LIMITED APR - OCT SPEND OUTTURN YEAR VAR. SPEND B/FWD

BUDGET (UNDER) / OVER

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

PUBLIC HEALTH

NET EXPENDITURE

PUBLIC HEALTH DIRECTORATE & CORPORATE SUPPORT 898 (1,392) 2,290 898 -  -  

NHS HEALTH CHECKS - MANDATED 100 58 42 100 -  -  

CHILDREN (5-19) - PUBLIC HEALTH PROGRAMMES 606 360 246 606 -  -  

CHILDREN'S 0-5 SERVICES 2,395 1,451 944 2,395 -  -  

TOBACCO CONTROL 385 218 167 385 -  -  

MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING 15 9 6 15 -  -  

SEXUAL HEALTH SERVICES - MANDATED 1,785 1,041 744 1,785 -  -  

SUBSTANCE MISUSE (DRUGS AND ALCOHOL) 2,699 1,601 1,098 2,699 -  -  

HARM REDUCTION (SEXUAL HEALTH, DRUGS AND ALCOHOL) 776 453 323 776 -  -  

HEALTHY WEIGHT/WEIGHT MANAGEMENT 117 69 48 117 -  -  

MISCELLANEOUS PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES 10,085 6,064 4,021 10,085 -  -  

GRANT (19,858) (9,929) (9,929) (19,858) -  -  

TOTALS 3 3 -  3   - -  

2023/24

EXPENDITURE

Page 49



Appendix 2 (l) 
 

   

 
 
Summary of the Public Health Directorate financial position 
 

As at the end of October 2023, the Public Health Directorate are forecasting a break-even position for 
the financial year to March 2024.  
 

 
Budget Holder – Dr Arif Rajpura, Director of Public Health 

Page 50



Appendix 2 (m) 
 

   

Blackpool Council – Budgets Outside the Cash Limit 
 

Revenue summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 

 
 

Commentary on the key issues:  
 
Directorate Summary - basis 
 

The Revenue summary (above) lists the latest outturn projection for each individual service categorised 
as falling ‘outside the cash limit’ and thereby exempt from the cash limited budget regime.  Forecast 
outturns are based upon actual financial performance for the first 7 months of 2023/24 together with 
predictions of performance, anticipated pressures and savings in the remainder of the financial year, 
which have been agreed by each designated budget manager. 

 
 
Treasury Management  
 

Treasury Management is forecasting an underspend of £1,668k. This figure includes £2,184k of 
prudential recharges to services and means that the £150k savings target will be met in 2023/24 and 
an increase in interest received from investments providing additional income of £406k.  Offset 
against this is £892k pressure relating to higher interest rates on temporary borrowing and a reduction 
in the interest charge to the Housing Revenue Account as less borrowing is required in 2023/24 than 
originally budgeted.  However, interest rates are predicted to increase over the duration of the 
financial year and these increases are likely to have a negative impact on the current position of the 
service.  The Council is currently using 50:50 temporary and long-term borrowing to finance 
prudentially-funded capital expenditure and this gearing is under continual review by the Treasury 
Management Panel.  
  
The Business Loans Fund has a savings target of £154k and is forecasting a deficit of £82k as new 
business loans have been awarded at higher repayment rates than originally forecast for 
2023/24.  The position has worsened since M5 as interest rates have been increased from 4.5% to 5% 
in the forecast and there have been changes in drawdown amounts and dates for certain loans which 
has resulted in a deficit in year.   
 

BUDGET VARIANCE

2022/23

FUNCTIONS OF THE SERVICE ADJUSTED EXPENDITURE PROJECTED FORECAST F/CAST FULL (UNDER)/OVER

CASH LIMITED APR - OCT SPEND OUTTURN YEAR VAR. SPEND B/FWD

BUDGET (UNDER) / OVER

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

BUDGETS OUTSIDE THE CASH LIMIT

NET EXPENDITURE

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 13,254 976 10,692 11,668 (1,586) -  

PARKING SERVICES (5,473) (3,114) (2,059) (5,173) 300 -  

CORPORATE SUBSCRIPTIONS 135 88 47 135 -  -  

HOUSING BENEFITS 1,850 1,079 771 1,850 -  -  

COUNCIL TAX & NNDR COST OF 

COLLECTION 1,894 1,105 789 1,894 -  -  

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (929) (1,235) 271 (964) (35) -  

LAND CHARGES (50) (39) (11) (50) -  -  

CONCESSIONARY FARES 4,064 1,127 2,807 3,934 (130) -  

EMPLOYERS PREVIOUS YEARS' PENSION 

LIABILITY (331) (193) (138) (331) -  -  

NEW HOMES BONUS (22) (17) (5) (22) -  -  

TOTALS 14,392 (223) 13,164 12,941 (1,451) -  

2023/24
EXPENDITURE

Page 51



Appendix 2 (m) 
 

   

Following a review of the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), which was approved by the Executive on 
8th February 2021, a total of £5,158k of saving has been forecast to be achieved in 2023/24.   

 
Parking Services 

  
Parking Services is forecasting a £300k overspend position for 2023/24.  This pressure is due to lower 
than budgeted income.  The service’s ability to hold this position will depend on the impact of the cost 
of living crisis, the quality of the Easter holiday season, the impact of dynamic parking and the 
availability of parking due to regeneration projects within the town. 

As at Week 34 (w/e 19th November) parking income is at £4.5m with patronage at 860,092.  Car Park 
patronage is down by 14,431 and income up by £23k on 2022/23.  On-Street Pay and Display 
patronage is down by 5,938 and income up by £4k.    

The graphs below show, for comparison, the patronage and income figures for 2022/23 and 2023/24.    

 
Housing Benefit 
 

This service is forecasting a break-even position. 
  
Council Tax and NNDR Cost of Collection 
 

This service is forecasting a break-even position. 
 
Subsidiary Companies  
 

This service is forecasting a £35k saving due to a reduction in charges, mainly relating to debt 
management.   

 
Land Charges 
 

This service is forecasting a break-even position. 
 

Concessionary Fares 
 

 The Concessionary Fares Service is currently forecasting a saving of £130k.  This is due to concessionary 
passenger numbers being 42% lower than pre-Covid levels, though the Council remains committed to 
paying at a minimum of a 70% safety net level in line with Department for Transport guidance until 
March 2024. 

  
New Homes Bonus 
 
        This service is forecasting break-even position. 

 
 

Summary of the revenue forecasts 
 

After 7 months of the financial year, the Budgets Outside the Cash Limit services are forecasting a 
£1,451k underspend. 
 
 
 

Page 52



Appendix 2 (m) 
 

   

Car Parking Trends 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

£0.00

£1,000,000.00

£2,000,000.00

£3,000,000.00

£4,000,000.00

£5,000,000.00

£6,000,000.00

1 5 9 13 17 21 25 29 33 37 41 45 49 53

Off-Street Income

22-23 23-24 23-24 Target Tracker

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1 5 9 13 17 21 25 29 33 37 41 45 49 53

Off-Street Patronage

22-23 23-24

£0.00

£200,000.00

£400,000.00

£600,000.00

£800,000.00

£1,000,000.00

£1,200,000.00

1 5 9 13 17 21 25 29 33 37 41 45 49 53

On-Street Pay & Display Income

22-23 23-24 23-24 Target Tracker

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

1 5 9 13 17 21 25 29 33 37 41 45 49 53

On-Street Pay & Display  Patronage

22-23 23-24

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 (o) 
 

 1 

Blackpool Council 
 
Wholly-Owned Companies  
 

Covid Support to Council Wholly-Owned Companies 

The Coronavirus pandemic led to a number of Council Wholly-Owned Companies (WOCs) facing significant 

income losses as a result of lockdown and subsequent social distancing restrictions.  This impacted both 

company profitability and cashflow.  It looked likely that without Council support some would not be able 

to recover within a reasonable timeframe, which could leave the Council without an operator for assets of 

significant financial value and importance to the town and its tourist economy. 

In November 2020 the Executive approved the establishment of a £24m Covid Recovery Fund  

(PH46/2020), £20m plus a 20% contingency,  ringfenced for WOCs only, from within the existing Business 

Loans Fund.   

 

To be eligible to access the Covid Recovery Fund facility companies needed to produce a 5-year Covid 

recovery plan (2020/21 year + 4) and to demonstrate a cumulative break-even income and expenditure 

position by the end of year 5 of their recovery plan, or as close as possible to this term. 

Loans were offered at a fixed rate over 5 years, thereby providing the WOCs with certainty over future 

repayments requirements and were tailored to the individual circumstances of the company and its 

recovery plan, offers being made on either an interest-only basis with balloon principal repayment or with 

monthly repayments of interest and principal. 

 

To date there have been loan approvals of £16.11m against that facility of which £9.52m has been drawn 

down.  £2.26m of this has subsequently been repaid.  The Council’s Business Loans Fund Panel monitors 

progress against the WOCs’ respective recovery plans on a regular basis. 

 

Non Covid-related loan support to WOCs 

The Council also supports its WOCs’ capital spending (capex) requirements where there is a robust 

business case demonstrating either a valid ‘Spend to Save’ initiative or an opportunity to spend to 

generate income.   The Council’s exposure to principal and capitalised interest in respect of such WOC 

capex loans is currently £46.63m.   

There are currently no short-term cash flow loans outstanding in respect of Council Wholly-owned 

companies. 

 

Wholly-owned companies financial performance as at Month 7 2023/24 

The consolidated forecast financial position of the Council’s wholly-owned subsidiary companies is a profit 

of £16k based on their Month 7 financial monitoring reports.  This represents an improvement of £209k 

from the position reported at Month 6.  This comprises improvements in forecast income from customers 

coupled with emerging energy savings against budget.   

 

Page 55



Appendix 2 (o) 
 

 2 

 

 

 
 
The Council has taken advice from CIPFA regarding the proper accounting treatment in respect of company 
forecast losses.  CIPFA has advised that the Council does not need to include the forecast losses in its forecast 
revenue outturn; the company losses will be included in the Council’s consolidated financial position.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-600

-500

-400

-300

-200

-100

0

100

200

M0 M1 M2 M3 M4 M5 M6 M7 M8 M9 M10 M11 M12

Fo
re

ca
st

 o
u

tt
u

rn
 £

'0
0

0

Month

Companies' Forecast Outturn 2023-24

Page 56



Appendix 2 (p) 

Blackpool Council 
 
Budget Savings Target 2023/24 

 
Summary of progress as at 31 October 2023.  

 

  
Target 

 
Achieved 

 
Not yet 

achieved 

 
To be 

achieved 
before year-

end 

 
Not able 

to be  
achieved 

 
Amount of 
saving not 
yet found 

recurrently 
 
 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Recurrent Savings 
 

      

Corporate Services 12,975 
 

(11,904) 
 

1,071 (1,071) 0 9,946 

 
Adult Services 

 
3,337 

 
(2,245) 

 
1,092 

 
0 

 
1,092 

 
1,092 

 
Chief Executive 

 
159 

 
 

(159) 
 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

       
Children’s Services 2,044 0 2,044 (1,278) 766 1,494 
       
Governance & 
Partnership Services 

507 (104) 403 (353) 50 0 

       
Community & 
Environmental 
Services 

367 0 367 (367) 0 0 

         
Outside Cash Limit 1,349 (799) 550 (250) 300 0 
       
Public Health  0 0 0 0 0 0 
       
Communications & 
Regeneration 

497 (282) 215 (215) 0 0 

       
Growth & Prosperity 1,510 0 1,510 (1,510) 0 0 
       
       
Resources 650 (583) 67 (67) 0 0 
       

 
Recurrent Saving 
 

23,395 (16,076) 7,319 (5,111) 2,208 12,532 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



1  2023/24 CAPITAL MONITORING

MONTH 7

Key:

Forecast scheme variance undeterminable at this stage

Total Scheme 

Budget

Spend as at 

31/3/23

Budget Brought 

Forward 2022/23

Capital Programme 

2023/24

Total Available Budget 

2023/24

Spend to Date                         

April - October

Forecast to Year 

End

Forecast 

Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Director Responsible for Resources

Property and Asset Management 
Central Business District Phase 1 40,432 38,142 2,290 - 2,290 - 2,290 -

ICT Refresh 924 - - 924 924 307 617 -

Core CCTV Replacement 2,000 1,179 821 - 821 85 736 -

Finance, HR, Payroll System 3,225 2,535 187 503 690 468 222 -

Central Library/ Grundy Gallery Roof 525 188 337 - 337 370 (33) -

South King Street 597 320 277 - 277 276 1 -

Other Resources Schemes 828 - 208 620 828 142 686 -

Total Resources 48,531                  42,364 4,120 2,047 6,167 1,648 4,519 -

Director Responsible for Adult Services

Support to Vulnerable Adults - Grants 2,384 - 398 1,986 2,384 1,032 1,352 -

I-Switch - - - - - - - -

Other Adult Services Schemes 2,561 1,233 770 558 1,328 583 745 -

Total Adult Services 4,945 1,233 1,168 2,544 3,712 1,615 2,097 -

Director Responsible for Community and

Environmental Services

Anchorsholme Seawall 30,966 26,632 4,334 - 4,334 8 4,326 -

Coastal Protection Strategy 2021-2025 61,265 1,206 94 7,790 7,884 3 7,881 -

Coastal Protection Studies 4,520 3,562 958 - 958 115 843 -

Beach Nourishment 57,010 - - 500 500 17 483 -

Others 1,101 498 396 207 603 595 8 -

Total Community and Environmental Services 154,862                31,898              5,782                       8,497                          14,279                       738                       13,541               -

Blackpool Council - Capital Appendix 2 (q)

P
age 59



2  2023/24 CAPITAL MONITORING

MONTH 7

Total Scheme 

Budget

Spend as at 

31/3/23

Budget Brought 

Forward 2022/23

Capital Programme 

2023/24

Total Available Budget 

2023/24

Spend to Date                         

April - October

Forecast to Year 

End

Forecast 

Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chief Executive

Housing
Foxhall Village 12,797 13,471 (674) - (674) 3 (677) -

Work towards Decent Homes Standard 3,985 - - 3,985 3,985 2,515 1,470 -

Queens Park Redevelopment Ph2 13,453 13,453 - - - (386) 386 -

Troutbeck Redevelopment 11,970 11,675 295 - 295 (31) 326 -

Grange Park 24,206 11,776 190 12,240 12,430 6,646 5,784 -

Dunsop Court 1,233 1,227 6 - 6 80 (74) -

Feasibility/ Infill site 2,750 231 2,389 130 2,519 - 2,519 -

Haweside Masterplan 562 82 480 - 480 - 480 -

Garstang Road West 3,495 3,495 - - - (79) 79 -

Acquisition and Refurbishment 4,871 1,775 3,096 - 3,096 4 3,092 -

Argosy Avenue - - - 477 477 308 169

Hornby Road - - - 233 233 1 232

Clare Street - - - 318 318 1 317

Others 7,101 - - 6,073 6,073 118 5,955 -

Total  Chief Executive 86,423                  57,185              5,782 23,456 29,238 9,180 20,058 -

Director Responsible for Communications and Regeneration

Regeneration

College Relocation/Illumination Depot 13,505 13,924 (519) 100 (419) - (419) -

Leisure Assets 68,579 66,346 2,233 - 2,233 806 1,427 -

Conference Centre 30,562 31,025 (463) - (463) 13 (476) -

CBD Phase 2 - Hotel 24,500 24,213 287 - 287 4,900 (4,613) -

CBD Phase 3 99,750 14,631 85,119 - 85,119 19,273 65,846 -

Land Release Fund 3,204 845 2,359 - 2,359 701 1,658 -

Enterprise Zone 29,720 15,123 14,597 - 14,597 702 13,895 -

Town Centre Parking Strategy 16,000 1,889 14,111 - 14,111 362 13,749 -

Museum 9,653 8,016 1,637 - 1,637 1,673 (36) -

Abingdon Street Market 3,634 4,067 (433) - (433) 321 (754) -

HoundsHill Ph2 20,190 13,879 6,311 - 6,311 3,481 2,830 -

Heritage Action Zone 1,566 1,179 387 - 387 87 300 -

Devonshire Road Hospital Land 1,447 1,447 - - - - - -

Town Deal 57,190 5,888 51,302 - 51,302 4,129 47,173 -

Land Acqn Alfred, Leopold & Adelaide Streets 1,790 1,787 3 - 3 4 (1) -

Marks and Spencers Acquisition 4,800 4,687 113 - 113 - 113 -

Town Centre Investments 57,100 51,208 5,892 - 5,892 (100) 5,992 -

Multi-Storey Car Park 1,782 - - 1,782 1,782 950 832 -

Transport
Local Transport Plan 2021/22 2,630 2,630 - - - - - -

Local Transport Plan Project 30 2021/22 283 283 - - - - - -

Local Transport Plan 2022/23 2,690 413 2,277 - 2,277 895 1,382 -

Local Transport Plan Project 30 2022/23 223 223 - - - - - -

Local Transport Plan 2023/24 2,690 - - 2,690 2,690 - 2,690 -

Local Transport Plan Project 30 2023/24 223 - - 223 223 - 223 -

Blackpool/Fleetwood Tramway 99,990 99,990 - - - - - -

Tramway Extension 17,054 16,780 274 - 274 551 (277) -

Tramway Refurbishment 1,053 713 340 - 340 - 340 -

Total Communications and Regeneration 571,808                381,186            185,827                  4,795                          190,622                     38,748                 151,874             -

Blackpool Council - Capital Appendix 2 (q)

P
age 60



3  2023/24 CAPITAL MONITORING

MONTH 7

Total Scheme 

Budget

Spend as at 

31/3/23

Budget Brought 

Forward 2022/23

Capital Programme 

2023/24

Total Available Budget 

2023/24

Spend to Date                         

April - October

Forecast to Year 

End

Forecast 

Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Director Responsible for Children's Services

Devolved Capital to Schools 846 711 135 - 135 44 91 -

Park Expansion 610 412 198 - 198 - 198 -

Basic Need 1,309 3 933 373 1,306 - 1,306 -

Condition 1,878 527 845 506 1,351 397 954 -

Highfurlong Expansion 4,800 - - 4,800 4,800 726 4,074 -

Pegasus Expansion 800 9 791 - 791 - 791 -

Others 1,852 152 611 1,089 1,700 162 1,538 -

Total Children's Services 12,095                     1,814                   3,513 6,768                             10,281                          1,329                      8,952                    -

CAPITAL TOTAL 878,664 515,680 206,192 48,107 254,299 53,258 201,041 -

Blackpool Council - Capital Appendix 2 (q)

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 (r) 

   

Blackpool Council 
 

Cash summary - budget, actual and forecast: 
 

 
 
Cash - short-term net investments/(borrowing) balances:  
 

 
 
 

FULL YEAR APR-OCT APR-OCT NOV-MAR APR-OCT NOV-MAR FULL YEAR

CASH FLOW CASH FLOW CASH FLOW CASH FLOW MORE / (LESS) MORE / (LESS) MORE / (LESS)

ORIGINAL ORIGINAL ACTUAL FORECAST CASH CASH AS NOW

BUDGET (*) BUDGET (*) ACTUAL FORECAST FORECAST

vs ORIGINAL vs ORIGINAL vs ORIGINAL

BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

£M £M £M £M £M £M £M

RECEIPTS

42 24 27 18 Housing Benefit & Subsidy 3 -  3

118 74 62 43 Council tax and NNDR (12) (1) (13)

22 13 13 11 VAT -  2 2

46 27 68 17 RSG & BRR 41 (2) 39

136 79 114 72 Other Grants 35 15 50

149 87 95 63 Other Income 8 1 9

-  -  -  -  Money Market Transactions Received -  -  -  

25 25 439 49 Receipt of Loans 414 49 463

538 329 818 273 RECEIPTS - NORMAL ACTIVITIES 489 64 553

PAYMENTS

13 8 8 7 Police & Fire -  (2) (2)

421 242 280 204 General Creditors (38) (25) (63)

-  -  -  -  RSG & BRR -  -  -  

127 74 72 52 Salaries & wages 2 1 3

37 21 20 15 Housing Benefits 1 1 2

215 115 437 237 Money Market Transactions Paid Out (322) (137) (459)

813 460 817 515 PAYMENTS - NORMAL ACTIVITIES (357) (162) (519)

(275) (131) 1 (242) NET CASH FLOW IN/(OUT) 132 (98) 34

A B C D = C less B = D less (A-B)

CASH FLOW - SUMMARY - 23/24

(*) THE CASH FLOW BUDGET IS CONSISTENT 

WITH THE REVENUE BUDGET AND THE 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME IN TOTAL. THE 

BUDGETED CASH FLOW PHASING IS BASED 

ON DETAILED EXPECTATIONS AND PAST 

EXPERIENCE

(390)

(365)

(340)

(315)

(290)

(265)

(240)

(215)

(190)

(165)

(140)

(115)

(90)

(65)

(40)

(15)

10

A'22 M J J A S O N D J '23 F M A M J J A S O N D J '24 F M

C
a
s
h

 b
a
la

n
c
e
s
 £

M

Short-term net investments/(borrowing) balances - The black bars show the recent actual balances 
by month. The white bars show the most up-to-date forecasts by month.

Recent Actual balances Forecasts by month

Page 63



Appendix 2 (r) 

   

 
Commentary on Cash Movements during the year: 
 
The summary on the previous page provides a comparison of the actual cash receipts and payments 
compared to the forecasted cash receipts and payments. 
 
During the first seven months of the year, the Council’s net cashflow resulted in fluctuations in short-term 
net investment/borrowing balances due to the receipt of up-front grant income in this financial year.  The 
Council fixed £125m of temporary loans in August 2022 at around 3.0%, which resulted in an increase in 
investment balances and over the next few months, short-term borrowing will be repaid using the fixed-
term borrowing taken.  
 
The chart of actual and forecast month-end balances shows temporary investment and borrowing levels 
throughout the year.  The forecast shows the level of borrowing that may be required to cover planned 
and approved capital expenditure up to 31 March 2024.  However, it is likely that the council will take out 
some long-term borrowing to cover some of this expenditure part way through 2023/24.  
 
 

Page 64



Appendix 2 (s) 

   

Blackpool Council 
 

Balance Sheet / Working Capital: 
 

 
 
 

Commentary on the key issues: 
 
In order to provide a complete picture of the Council’s financial performance, the above table provides a 
snapshot of the General Fund balance sheet as at the end of month 7.  The key areas of focus are any significant 
movements in debtors, cash and cash equivalents, bank overdraft and creditors as these impact upon the 
Council’s performance in the critical areas of debt recovery, treasury management and Public Sector Payment 
Policy. 
 
The balance sheet has been prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS/IAS’s).  Each year 
an accounting adjustment under IAS 19 is made for the value of the pension fund at year-end.  In 2022/23, for 
the first time, this produced a pension asset rather than a pension liability.  Based on the latest advice from the 
Pension Fund the Council has not recognised the pension asset.  However this is currently under review and 
therefore the figure is subject to change.  Any change will also affect the unusable reserves.  Usable reserves 
include unallocated General Fund reserves and revenue reserves.  Unusable reserves are those that the Council 
is not able to use to provide services.  This category includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for 
example the Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only become available to provide services if the 
assets were sold.  

LAST Y/END CURRENT CHANGE NEXT Y/END

Draft Unaudited

31 Mar 23 31 Oct 23 Movement since 31 Mar 24

Actual 31 Mar 23 Forecast

£000s £000s £000s £000s

588,719 Property, Plant and Equipment 641,977 53,258 830,718

279,731 Infrastructure Assets 280,756 1,025 266,910

8,540 Heritage Assets 8,540 -  8,600

2,401 Intangible Assets 2,344 (57) 2,171

27,399 Long-term Investments 28,649 1,250 29,650

77,306 Long-term Debtors 86,005 8,699  87,000

Current Assets

76,409 Debtors 82,450 6,041 78,000

836 Inventories 931 95 850

14,284 Cash and cash equivalents 6,678 (7,606) 15,000

1,075,625 Total Assets 1,138,330 62,705 1,318,899

Current Liabilities

(200,475) Borrowing Repayable within 12 months (204,664) (4,189) (203,256)

(81,773) Creditors (83,250) (1,477) (82,000)

Long-term Liabilities

(196,052) Borrowing Repayable in excess of 12 months (196,052) -  (192,796)

(90,961) Long-term Creditors (90,961) -  (88,131)

(50,576) Capital Grants in Advance (50,576) -  (40,000)

(6,106) Provisions (6,152) (46) (6,100)

(2,486) Other Long-term Liabilities (2,486) -  (62)

447,196 Total Assets less Liabilities 504,189 56,993 706,554

(83,694) Usable Reserves (67,644) 16,050 (72,335)

(363,502) Unusable Reserves (436,545) (73,043) (634,219)

(447,196) Total Reserves (504,189) (56,993) (706,554)

`

BALANCE SHEET 2023/24

Page 65



Appendix 2 (s) 

   

 
Due to statutory changes regarding the accounting treatment of infrastructure assets which were approved in 
Parliament in late November 2022, the 2020/21 accounts were not signed off until November 2023.  This has 
meant that the completion of the audits for the 2021/22 and 2022/23 accounts have been delayed.  As the 
audits are still ongoing the balance sheet as at 31 March 2023 may require amendment, therefore the above 
figures should be treated as draft. 
 
Over the 7-month period there has been an increase in Property, Plant and Equipment of £53.3m due to 
capital expenditure which is in line with the Council’s approved capital programme for 2023/24.  Long-
term debtors has increased by £8.7m due to new approved business loans.  Cash and cash equivalents 
have reduced by £7.6m and short-term borrowing has increased by £4.2m due to the timing of capital and 
revenue grants. 
 
 

  

 

 

  

Page 66



Report to: EXECUTIVE 
 

Relevant Officer: Steve Thompson, Director of Resources 

Relevant Cabinet Member: Councillor Jo Farrell, Cabinet Member for Levelling Up 

People 

Date of Meeting: 11 December 2023  

 

COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2024/2025 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To provide an update on the impact of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme since the introduction in 
2013/14 and to seek approval to recommend to the Council the proposals for the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2024/25. 

 
2.0  Recommendation(s): 

 
2.1  To note the impact of the Scheme to date as set out in paragraphs 6.7 and 6.8 of the 

Executive report. 
 

2.2  
 

To recommend Council to agree the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2024/25 as set out in 
Appendix 3c.  
 

2.3  To recommend to Council that the reduction applied to working age claimants remains the 
same as the 2023/24 Scheme agreed by Council on 1 February 2023 and that the main 
elements and method of calculating awards will be the same. 
 

2.4  To recommend that the Council agrees to continue to operate a Discretionary Discount Policy 
to be awarded in cases of exceptional hardship as set out at Appendix 3a.   
 

2.5  To note at this point in time the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities may 
still issue changes to the known position for the Pensioner National Scheme. Required 
changes would be incorporated into the final Scheme presented for adoption at Council on 
31 January 2024. 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

To ensure a local Council Tax Reduction Scheme is approved by 11 March 2024 and in place 
by 1 April 2024 avoiding the financial risks associated with the Government imposed default 
Scheme.  
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 3



 
3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 

Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  None, a Council Tax Reduction Scheme must be approved by the Council each year. 
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is: “Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing 
resilience”. 
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1  The Welfare Reform Act 2012 abolished Council Tax Benefit (CTB); billing authorities were 
required to adopt a local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) to take effect from 1 April 
2013.   
 

6.2  The Government grant for Council Tax Reduction Scheme was less than 90% of the 
Government forecast funding levels had Council Tax Benefit continued. This was expected to 
leave a shortfall in funding of £3.22m based on estimates of demand and assumptions 
regarding the basis of calculation for the central Government grant. The ongoing level of 
Government support meant the Council adopted a self-funding Scheme under which all 
working-age claimants had to pay at least 27.11% of their Council Tax in 2013/14. This has 
remained the case in subsequent years until the 2017/18 Scheme when it was agreed that 
additional support was provided to vulnerable groups and they had to pay 13.56%. These 
vulnerable groups are defined as: 
 

• where someone in the household receives Disability Living Allowance or 
Personal Independence Payments 

• where the applicant is a lone parent and who is responsible and resides with a 
child under 5 years old 

• where the applicant or their partner receives Carer’s Allowance 
• where the applicant or their partner is in receipt of a war pension, war widows 

pension, war disablement pension or equivalent. 
 

6.3  For the 2018-19 Scheme the 13.56% reduction was extended to the following low income 
groups:  

• applicants or partners receiving Income Support, or Income-Based Jobseekers 
Allowance, or Income-Related Employment Support Allowance. 

Page 68



 
 

6.4  For the 2019-20 Scheme, the 13.56% reduction was extended to the following groups and no 
further changes have been made since: 
 
Ensure that applicants who are protected under the current Scheme continue to be protected 
to the same level of support when they move to Universal Credit 
 
Extension of the group of customers who pay 13.56% to claimants or partners who are: 

 in receipt of  Jobseeker’s Allowance Contribution Based 

 in receipt of Main Phase Employment and Support Allowance and are in the Work  

 Related Activity Group 

 in receipt of Maximum Universal Credit and is neither employed, self-employed or in 
receipt  

 of any other income which is taken into account when calculating their Universal 
Credit  

 award (such as an Occupational Pension or other unearned income) 

 in receipt of Universal Credit which includes either the limited capability for work 
and/or work related activity 

 
6.5  The initial 2013/14 funding was separately identifiable, but since then the monies have 

formed part of the overall total Revenue Support Grant (RSG). Analysis of the RSG would 
suggest that the initial £17.58m allocated for the scheme would equate to approximately 
£5.2m in 2020/21 and £5.2m in 2021/22 due to the continued year-on-year changes in 
Settlement funding.  In order for the scheme to be self-funding now, the bottom-slice would 
need to be in excess of 100%. 
 

6.6  The Council Tax Reduction Scheme caseload has shown a downward trend for several years 
since the introduction of the Scheme in 2013/14 as shown below. However, 2020/21 saw an 
increase in caseload due to the impact of the pandemic.   
 

 Working Age Elderly Total 

    

2013/14 14,504 8,815 23,319 

2014/15 13,781 8,407 22,188 

2015/16 13,610 7,985 21,595 

2016/17 13,385 7,589 20,974 

2017/18 13,050 7,267 20,317 

2018/19 12,930 6,901 19,831 

2019/20 13,147 6,622 19,769 

2020/21 15,464 6,453 21,917 

2021/22 14,479 6,346 20,825 

2022/23 12,688 6,226 18,914 

Page 69



2023/24 12,072 6,190 18,262 

 
 
The change in caseload demographics is attributed to a number of factors. The Government’s 
increase in State Pension Age has meant that it is longer before a customer will be classed as 
“elderly” and there is traditionally a lower take-up of benefits by this age group and they are 
viewed as a group with a higher level of assets. The Government’s focus on getting Working 
Age people back into work may also be a factor. 
 

6.7  Council Tax Reduction Scheme has had a very significant impact on in-year Council Tax 
collection rates. In the last year of Council Tax Benefit, 2012/13, in-year collection rate was 
95.5%. Since Council Tax Reduction Scheme was introduced and 10,000 low income working-
age households became liable to pay Council Tax, in-year collection has dropped each year. 
In 2022/23 collection was 88.87% with a 71.5% collection rate for Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme cases, although these rates are likely to be reflective of the impact of the pandemic 
and inability to take court action.  
 

6.8  Collection is marginally above 2022/32 rates at the moment but the overall increase in 
arrears has meant the Council’s share of the bad debt provision for Council Tax and Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme has increased annually since the introduction of the Scheme and was 
£8.684m at 31 March 2023. 
 

6.9  Court action can be taken against defaulting Council Tax payers. However, the numbers are 
limited at any hearing by restrictions placed by the court. Following the issue of a liability 
order at court an attachment of benefits can be requested. The amount that can be attached 
from benefits is restricted by legislation, currently £3.85 for most benefits except Universal 
Credit. This means that it is not usually possible to collect the Council Tax amount payable 
within the year it becomes due, which impacts on in-year collection rates. The attachment is 
administered by the Department for Work and Pensions and they can delay the process 
significantly. Deductions from benefits for other debts owed can have a higher priority than 
Council Tax debt leading to the Council waiting for any attachment of benefits to be applied. 
 

6.10  The Blackpool Scheme incorporates the national Pensioner Scheme decided by Government. 
This ensures that support continues at the same level as existed under Council Tax Benefit. In 
Blackpool pensioners currently account for 33.89% of the caseload. 
 

6.11  For working-age claims there is a means-tested assessment, predominantly based upon the 
former Council Tax Benefit rules, to establish entitlement. A percentage reduction of 27.11% 
(13.56% for the groups shown in 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4) is then applied to the award at the end of 
the assessment.  
 
 
 
 

Page 70



 
6.12  The value of the percentage reduction is reviewed annually to ensure it remains fit for 

purpose taking account of ongoing changes in legislation, caseload and financial 
requirements. It is proposed that for 2024/25 the value of the percentage reduction for other 
working age customers, who do not fall into the vulnerable or low income categories shown 
at 6.2, 6.3 or 6.4, should remain at 27.11%. 
 

6.13  Does the information submitted include any exempt information? No 
 

 
7.0  List of Appendices: 

 
7.1  Appendix 3a: Discretionary Discount Policy 

Appendix 3b: Equality Analysis 
Appendix 3c: Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2024/25 
 

8.0  Financial considerations: 
 

8.1  
 
 
 
 
8.2 
 
 
 
8.3 

For 2024/25 it is proposed that the percentage reduction made at the end of the assessment 
for working age claimants shall be 27.11% with the exception of those claimants who fall into 
the vulnerable or low income categories shown at 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4, who will be subject to a 
13.56% reduction. 
 
A review of the Scheme must be carried out annually to ensure it remains fit for purpose 
taking account of ongoing changes in legislation, caseload and financial requirements. The 
Council will be required to approve the Scheme each year. 
 
The Welfare Reform Act 2012 provided for a major overhaul of the benefits system. The 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme was implemented ahead of the commencement of Universal 
Credit. The new Scheme of Council Tax Reduction continues to run alongside Housing Benefit 
during the transition to Universal Credit. Housing Benefit administration will then gradually 
diminish. Wider changes to existing benefits over the last few years have meant customers 
on benefits have less money available to pay their Council Tax liability. Whilst there is still an 
ambition to achieve full collection, this is likely to take longer.   
 

9.0  Legal considerations: 
 

9.1  
 
 
 
9.2 
 
 

Authority to charge Council Tax is laid down in the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  
Sections 13a and Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 provide the 
necessary authority to agree a Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 
 
A resolution by the full Council to adopt a Council Tax Reduction Scheme is required by 11 
March 2024. The Scheme will take effect from 1 April 2024. 
 

Page 71



 
9.3 

 
The Council Tax and Business Rates Discretionary Discount Policy has been reviewed and is 
attached at Appendix 3a.  
 

10.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1  As part of the overall project management leading to the 2013/14 Scheme, a risk workshop 
identified a number of risks. Actions required to mitigate those risks have been identified and 
implemented where possible.  
 

11.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

11.1  The Equality Analysis that has previously been carried out for the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme has been revisited and updated. This aims to mitigate the impact on protected 
groups and includes the continued availability of a discretionary hardship fund which has 
been made available through the adoption of a Discretionary Discount Policy. As part of their 
consideration of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2024/25 an updated Equality Analysis 
is attached at Appendix 3b for Members to review. 
 

12.0  Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1  None directly. 
 

13.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1  As the main elements and method of calculating awards will remain the same for 2024/25 no 
consultation exercise is required.  
 

14.0  Background papers: 
 

14.1  None. 
 
15.0 0 Key decision information: 

 
15.1  Is this a key decision? 

 
Yes 

15.2  If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

18/2023 

15.3  If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

15.4  If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
16.0  Call-in information: 

Page 72



 
16.1  Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 

exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

16.2  If yes, please give reason: 
 

 
 

 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

17.0  Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed: 1 December 2023  Date approved: 
 

      

18.0  Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

18.1        
 

19.0  
 
19.1 
 

Summary of Discussion: 
 
 

20.0  Executive decision: 
 

20.1        
 

21.0  Date of Decision:    
 

21.1        
 

22.0  Reason(s) for decision: 
 

22.1        
 

23.0 1 Date Decision published: 
 

23.1        
 

24.0  
 
24.1 
 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  
 
 

25.0  Executive Members in attendance:   
 

Page 73



25.1        
 
 
 

26.0  Call-in:   
 

26.1        
 

27.0  Notes:   
 

27.1        
 

 

Page 74



Council Tax and Business Rates Discretionary Discount Policy 2024/25 

Blackpool Council 
 
 

 

Page 75

tsplseob
Typewritten Text
Appendix 3a 



 

Contents 
 
Document Control.................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Record of Amendments ......................................................................................................................................... 4 

1. Introduction ....................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Aims of the Discretionary Discount Policy ........................................................................................................... 6 

2. Policy Objectives and Action Plan ...................................................................................................................... 7 

Objective 1: To ensure that assistance is available and accessible to members of the community most in need 7 

Objective 2: To ensure discretionary discounts are only awarded when no other means of assistance is 

available. ............................................................................................................................................................. 8 

Objective 3: To monitor and evaluate the administration of the policy to ensure that the service reflects the 

needs of the community .................................................................................................................................... 8 

3. Discretionary Discount ‐ Customers in receipt of local Council Tax Reduction ...................................................... 9 

Responsible officer .......................................................................................................................................... 9 

Decision making process ................................................................................................................................. 9 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................... 9 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ............................................................................................. 10 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ......................................................................................... 10 

4. Discretionary Discounts – Customers not in receipt of local Council Tax Reduction ........................................... 11 

Responsible officer ........................................................................................................................................ 11 

Decision making process ............................................................................................................................... 11 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................. 11 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ............................................................................................. 11 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ......................................................................................... 11 

5. Discretionary Relief ‐ Business Rates .................................................................................................................. 12 

Responsible officer ........................................................................................................................................ 12 

Decision making process ............................................................................................................................... 12 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................. 12 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ............................................................................................. 12 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ......................................................................................... 12 

6. Relief relating to organisations established for Sporting and Community Purposes ...................................... 13 

Community Organisations ........................................................................................................................... 13 

Sporting Organisations (including Community Amateur Sports Clubs) ....................................................... 13 

Responsible officer ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

Decision making process .............................................................................................................................. 14 

Page 76



 
Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................ 14 

Review of decision/re-determination requests ........................................................................................... 14 

Notification of review/re-determination decision ....................................................................................... 14 

7. Hardship Relief ................................................................................................................................................. 15 

Responsible officer ....................................................................................................................................... 15 

Decision making process .............................................................................................................................. 15 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................ 15 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ........................................................................................... 16 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ....................................................................................... 16 

8. Temporary Part Occupation Relief ................................................................................................................... 17 

Responsible officer ....................................................................................................................................... 17 

Decision making process .............................................................................................................................. 17 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................ 17 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ........................................................................................... 17 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ....................................................................................... 17 

9. Expanded Retail Discount ................................................................................................................................ 18 

Which properties will benefit from relief? .................................................................................................. 18 

Amount of relief available ............................................................................................................................ 20 

Responsible officer ....................................................................................................................................... 21 

Decision making process .............................................................................................................................. 21 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................ 21 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ........................................................................................... 21 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ....................................................................................... 21 

10. Local Newspaper Relief .................................................................................................................................. 22 

Responsible officer ....................................................................................................................................... 22 

Decision making process .............................................................................................................................. 22 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................ 22 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ........................................................................................... 22 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ....................................................................................... 22 

11. Fraud .............................................................................................................................................................. 23 

 
 
 

Page 77



 

Document Control 
 

Document owner:  Louise Jones 

Document number: 3.0 

Document category: Original copy held within the Revenues and Benefits 
Service 

Document location: Council Website 

Issued by: Louise Jones  

Last edited: 15 November 2023 

 

Record of Amendments 
 

Date Version Amended by Description of changes 
 

08/10/2014 1.2 A. Turpin  
19/12/2014 1.3 A. Turpin  
20/10/2015 1.4 G. Ruse Add Part Occupation Relief 
24/10/2016 1.5 G. Ruse Remove Re-Occupation Relief 
15/01/2018 1.6 G. Ruse Review Post titles 
18/06/2018 1.7 D. Holmes Reformatting of the document (no new content) 
17/07/2018 
03/09/2018 

1.8 
1.9 

D. Holmes 
L. Jones/ A. Turpin 

Clarify criteria and evidence for Hardship Relief 
Review of policy for 2019-20 

13/12/2018 
 
 
 
17/12/2018 
29/10/2019 
 
30/01/2020 

2.0 
 
 
 
2.1 
2.2 
 
2.3 

D. Holmes 
 
 
 
G. Ruse 
L. Jones / G. Ruse 
 
G. Ruse 

Added Retail Discount, Local Newspaper Relief, 
Relief for Community and Sporting Organisations, 
clarified part 5, and referenced Enterprise Zone 
relief 
Inclusion of Revaluation Relief and Fraud statement 
Review of Policy for 2020/21 
 
Amendments for 2020/21 Rate Relief Amendments 

20/03/2020 2.4 D. Holmes Amendments to Retail Discount following COVID-19 
advice.  

 2.5  Amendments to Council Tax Reduction following 
COVID-19 advice. 

08/03/2020 2.6 G. Ruse Amendments to Retail Discount following COVID-19 
advice.  

08/09/2020 2.7 D. Holmes Changes to policy following a re-structure and an 
update to introduce COVID-19 measures, including 
the Expanded Retail Discount and the OFSTED 
Registered Nursery Discount scheme.  

03/08/2021 2.8 G. Ruse Updated content for Expanded Retail Discount and 
Nursery Discount. 

20/10/2021 2.9 L Jones Review for 22/23 CTRS scheme 
09/11/2021 
 
 
 
13/01/2023 

3.0 
 
 
 
3.1 

D. Holmes 
 
 
 
L Jones 

The removal of the OFSTED Registered Nursery 
Discount scheme and the removal of the Enterprise 
Zone Relief, as these have now ceased. Further 
updates to the Expanded Retail Discount scheme. 
Review for 23/24 CTRS scheme 

Page 78



 

26/01/2023 4.0 G. Ruse RHL Relief percentage update. 
 

28/11/2023 5.0 L.Jones Review for 24/25 CTRS scheme (draft) and Retail 
Hospitality and Leisure 24/25 

 
Approved By 

 
Name Title Signature Date 
Louise Jones 
 
 

Head of Revenues, 
Benefits and Customer 
Services  

 

28 November 2023 

Page 79



 

Discretionary Discount Policy | 1. Introduction 6 

 

1. Introduction 
 
Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended) and sections 47, 48 and 49 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended) empowers a billing authority to reduce the amount of tax payable. 
 
Blackpool has adopted a local Council Tax Reduction Scheme since 1st April 2013, which replaced Council Tax 
Benefit. However it is likely that other circumstances will arise where the Council could consider a further 
discretionary reduction in exceptional circumstances. In addition local Businesses who are experiencing severe 
financial difficulties may request assistance in meeting the burden of local taxation. 
 
Funding for such reductions must be provided by the Council. This policy sets out how the Council will use these 
powers and the criteria that must be satisfied. 
 
The Council is committed to publishing the policy to ensure that the local taxpayers are aware of the policy and 
are able to quickly and easily apply for assistance. 
 

Aims of the Discretionary Discount Policy 
 

 Provide a mechanism for the Council to assist members of the community who are unable to meet the 
Financial burden of local taxation 

 Helping residents in receipt of Council Tax Reduction who are unable to increase their income 

 Alleviating poverty 

 Helping those who are trying to help themselves 

 Supporting people who are starting work 

 Supporting the most vulnerable in the local community 

 Helping customers through difficult personal events 

 To ensure that no claimant or charge payer suffers any undue short-term disadvantage resulting from 
circumstances beyond their control 

Page 80



 

Discretionary Discount Policy | 2. Policy Objectives and Action Plan 7 

 

2. Policy Objectives and Action Plan 
 
 

Objective 1: To ensure that assistance is available and accessible to members of 
the community most in need 
 

 Ensure staff are aware of the policy and qualifying criteria 

 Regular refresher training for assessment staff to promote proactive identification of potential 
cases 

 Provide effective overview training on the policy and qualifying criteria on request to promote 
take-up and awareness in appropriate circumstances. 

 Promote access to the scheme through continued development of the Blackpool Council 
website to ensure that up to date information is provided and that relevant forms and 
information can be downloaded. 

 Ensure advice providers are aware of the policy and qualifying criteria. 

 Promoting awareness to Members 

 Promote the scheme to target groups, which may include: 
o Social and Private Sector Housing Tenants with significant arrears who may apply for a 

Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP). 
o Council Tax payers who have been issued with a summons. 
o People requiring assistance from the Emergency Planning response team. 
o Customers who are seeking Council assistance with debts 

 Providing a facility to visit customers to assist them in making an application and provide 
supporting documents. 

 Working closely with existing and new service partners and stakeholders to promote 
awareness of the policy. 

 
 
  

Page 81



 

Discretionary Discount Policy | 2. Policy Objectives and Action Plan 8 

 

Objective 2: To ensure discretionary discounts are only awarded when no other 
means of assistance is available. 
 

 Ensure assessments of applications for local Council Tax Reduction incorporate a benefits 
maximization check. 

 Ensure the applicant does not have income or capital which should be used to meet the liability. 

 Signpost customers who do not meet the criteria to appropriate alternative advice services 

 Conduct a regular review of the policy to ensure it is fit for purpose. 

 Ensure a robust review procedure is in place to ensure decisions are independent, fair and 
consistent. 

 Ensure publicity is available to encourage customers to claim other benefits they are entitled 
to and where to access debt advice and money management tools. 

 Ensure other sums owed to the Council (e.g. sundry debts, Housing Benefit overpayments) are 
reviewed and reduced repayments agreed where appropriate 

 Ensure a Discretionary Housing Payment for Housing Benefit is awarded if appropriate 

 Ensure recovery action is delayed where appropriate 

 Awards will be tailored to match need. The period and amount of an award will be 
determined based upon the circumstances in each case. 

 Awards will only be made for a period relating to the financial year in which the application is 
made. 

 Awards may be reviewed at any time and may be revised, reduced or withdrawn if it is found 
that the circumstances of the applicant have changed and the award is no longer appropriate. 

 

Objective 3: To monitor and evaluate the administration of the policy to 
ensure that the service reflects the needs of the community 
 

 Monitor of fund spending by monthly recording and reporting of expenditure provided to Senior 
Management. 

 Conduct a regular review of income and expenditure forms used. 

 Conduct a regular review of the policy. 

 Review the outcome of requests for reconsideration to improve guidance and methodology. 

 Respond to feedback on processes and procedures from partners and stakeholders. 

Page 82



 

Discretionary Discount Policy | 3. Discretionary Discount ‐ Customers in receipt 
of local Council Tax Reduction 

9 

 

3. Discretionary Discount ‐ Customers in receipt of local Council Tax Reduction 
 

Blackpool Council adopted a local Council Tax Reduction Scheme effective from 1st April 2013. During the 
development of the scheme the Councils’ Equality Analysis identified that certain groups affected by the 
reduction in support would be unlikely to be able to increase their income.  
 
For an award of this type of discretionary discount to be made, the applicant must be: 

 In receipt of Council Tax Reduction; and 

 Have a shortfall between the level of Council Tax Reduction and their council tax liability; and 

 In the opinion of the Council, be in need of further assistance with Council Tax in accordance with 
the qualifying criteria. 

 
Requests for further reductions in Council Tax liability will be required in writing from the customer, their 
advocate / appointee or a recognised third party acting on their behalf. 
 
Each case will be considered on ‘its merits’ however all of the following criteria should be met: 

 There must be evidence of hardship or personal circumstance that justifies a further reduction in 
Council Tax liability. 

 The Council must be satisfied that the customer has taken reasonable steps to resolve their 
situation prior to application. 

 The customer does not have access to other assets that could be realised and used to pay the 
Council Tax. 

 All other eligible discounts/reliefs have been awarded to the customer. 
 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 
 

Decision making process 

 
Stage 1: The initial request will be dealt with by a Decision Maker (Senior Benefits Assistant, Senior 
Benefit Specialist or Team Manager) who will consider the application against the criteria set out in this 
policy, based upon the information provided by the applicant and known to the Council. 
 
Stage 2: A Senior Benefits Manager will authorise the decision. 
 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to 
make a decision. 

Page 83



 

Discretionary Discount Policy | 3. Discretionary Discount ‐ Customers in receipt 
of local Council Tax Reduction 

10 

 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests 

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision. 
 
Stage 1: The original decision and any additional information provided will be reviewed by a different 
Decision Maker who will recommend either to confirm or amend the original decision. 
 
Stage 2: The Head of Benefits and Customer Services will consider the application for review and the 
recommendation and determine whether to award a discretionary discount. 
 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision 

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re-
determination. 
 
A discretionary reduction made under section 13A(1)(a) or (c) of the Local Government Finance Act 
(LGFA) 1992 can be the subject of an appeal to the Valuation Tribunal under section 16 of the LGFA 1992. 

Page 84



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |4. Discretionary Discounts – Customers not in 
receipt of local Council Tax Reduction  

11 

 

4. Discretionary Discounts – Customers not in receipt of local Council Tax 
Reduction 
 
Requests for reductions in Council Tax liability will be required in writing from the customer or a recognised 
third party acting on their behalf. 
 
Each case will be considered on ‘its merits’ however all of the following criteria should be met: 

 There must be evidence of hardship or personal circumstance that justifies a reduction in Council Tax 
Liability. 

 The Council must be satisfied that the customer has taken reasonable steps to resolve their situation prior 
to application. 

 The customer does not have access to other assets that could be realised and used to pay the Council Tax. 

 The customer is not entitled to an award under the local Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 

 All other eligible discounts/reliefs have been awarded to the customer. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 

Decision making process 

 
Stage 1: The initial request will be dealt with by a Revenues Manager who will consider the application 
against the criteria set out in this policy, based upon the information provided by the applicant and known to 
the Council. 
 
Stage 2: The decision will be authorised by a different Revenues Manager. 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to make a 
decision. 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests 

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision if there is relevant new 
information available on which to reconsider the original decision.  
 
Stage 1: The original decision and any additional information provided will be reviewed by a different Revenues 
Manager who will recommend either confirming or amending the original decision. 
 
Stage 2: The Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services will consider the application for review and the 
recommendation and determine whether to award a discretionary discount. 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision 

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re-determination. 
 
A discretionary reduction made under section 13A(1)(a) or (c) of the Local Government Finance Act (LGFA) 1992 
can be the subject of an appeal to the Valuation Tribunal under section 16 of the LGFA 1992.

Page 85



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |5. Discretionary Relief ‐ Business Rates  12 

 

5. Discretionary Relief ‐ Business Rates 
 
The Council may award Business Rates relief on any case where it has been asked to do so, and where 
the award would be clearly in the interest of the local Council Tax payer. 
 
The relief is available pursuant to s.47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, as amended by s.69 
of the Localism Act 2011, and decisions are to be made on a case by case basis and dependant on the 
individual facts. This is often referred to as ‘Localism Relief’. 
 
Each case will be considered on its merits however all of the following criteria should be met: 

 it must be in the interest of the Council and the community for the local authority to grant a 
reduction, and 

 all other eligible discounts/reliefs have been awarded to the ratepayer. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 

Decision making process 

 
Stage 1: The Decision Maker (Principal Revenues Manager or Head of Revenues, Benefits & Customer 
Services) will make a recommendation to the Director of Resources, considering the application against 
the criteria set out in this policy, based upon the information provided by the applicant and known to the 
Council. 
 
Stage 2: The Director of Resources will consider the application and the recommendation to determine 
whether to award a discretionary discount. 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to 
make a decision. 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests 

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision only if there is 
relevant new information available on which to reconsider the original decision. 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision 

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re-
determination. 

Page 86



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |6. Relief relating to organisations established for 
Sporting and Community Purposes  

13 

 

6. Relief relating to organisations established for Sporting and Community 
Purposes 
 

Pursuant to s.47(3) and s.47(5) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended) the billing authority 
may make an award of up to 100% for charities and other organisations, where the following conditions apply: 
 

 a ratepayer is a charity or trustees of a charity, and the hereditament is wholly or mainly used for 
charitable purposes, or 

 the ratepayer is a community amateur sports club and is wholly or mainly used for the purposes of the 
club and other such clubs, or 

 all or part of the hereditament is occupied for the purposes of one or more institutions or other 
organisations, none of which is established or conducted for profit and whose main objectives are 
charitable or are otherwise philanthropic or religious or concerned with education, social welfare, 
science, literature or the arts, or 

 the hereditament is wholly or mainly used for purposes of recreation, and all or part of it is occupied 
for the purposes of a club, society or other organisation not established or conducted for profit. 

 
The billing authority may make a decision to grant relief, only if it is satisfied that it would be reasonable to do 
so, having regard to the interests of the Blackpool Council Tax payers. 
 
The below is intended only as a guide when considering applications for discretionary relief, and each case will 
be considered on its own merit, but the Councils expects any application for relief to cover the following points: 

Community Organisations 

 

 the organisation is not part of a charging or precepting authority, and 

 the organisation has been specifically set up for the benefit of the young, the aged, the disabled or for 
ethnic minorities, or 

 the property is for the general use of the local community without any membership and/or subscription 
requirements and has no specific use except for the general benefit of the community, or 

 the property is used for the housing of vehicles used only for offshore emergency purpose, or 

 the aims of the organisation are to educate volunteers in emergency training for the benefit of the local 
community. 

 

Sporting Organisations (including Community Amateur Sports Clubs) 

 

 the membership is open to all sections of the community, and 

 they do not restrict membership on the grounds of ability or the availability or their facilities, and 

 whose membership levels are not set at such a rate to preclude membership by all sections of the 
community, and 

 who provide outside sporting activities, and 

 who actively encourage participation by young people, and 

 who make their facilities available to people other than members e.g. to schools or casual public 
sessions, and 

 whose main aim is sporting rather than social, and 

 whose membership mainly reside in the Blackpool Borough (e.g. more than 50%) 

Page 87



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |6. Relief relating to organisations established for 
Sporting and Community Purposes  

14 

 

Retail premises operated by a registered charity which have been granted mandatory rate relief may, in 
exceptional circumstances, receive a further discretionary award of up to 100%. The Council will consider the 
merits of each case but such an award will be the exception rather than the rule. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources, who will discharge 
this responsibility by the following process: 

Decision making process 

 
Stage 1: The decision making process will involve the Principal Revenues Manager or the Head of Revenues, 
Benefits and Customer Services, considering the application against the criteria set out in this policy, based 
upon the information provided by the applicant and known to the Council.  
 
Stage 2: The Director of Resources will consider the application and the recommendation and determine 
whether to award a discretionary discount. 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to make a 
decision. 

Review of decision/re-determination requests 

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision only if there is relevant 
new information available on which to reconsider the original decision. 
 
Stage 1: The original decision and any additional information provided will be reviewed and a recommendation 
made to either confirm or amend the original decision. 
 
Stage 2: The Director of Resources will consider the application for review and the recommendation and 
determine whether to award a discretionary discount. 
 

Notification of review/re-determination decision 

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re-determination. 
 
Following the redetermination of a request for discretionary discount, there is no further right of appeal. 

Page 88



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |7. Hardship Relief  15 

 

7. Hardship Relief 
 
In exceptional circumstances the Council may award relief where it is satisfied payment of the bill will cause a 
business severe financial hardship. 
 
This will only be considered where it is evident that doing so would be in the interests of the wider community.  
This can be because failure to grant the relief would result in the loss of a unique and regularly required service, 
and/or because the failure to grant relief would directly result in a significant loss of jobs in the local community. 
 
Hardship Relief is available pursuant to s.49 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. The relief is designed 
for a local authority to provide discretionary assistance in exceptional and/or unexpected circumstance, but not 
to prop up a fundamentally failing business. Decisions are to be made on a case by case basis and dependant 
on the individual facts. 
 
The Council may award hardship relief as a percentage of the total amount due, or as a single monetary value. 
 
There are no time limits to the award of hardship relief, but the relief is considered to be a ‘one-time’ award. 
There is no requirement for the Council to award this relief periodically. 
 
In order to consider an award the applicants shall provide the following: 
 

 Details of the unique and regularly required service provided. 

 Details of how much is outstanding. 

 Details of their current financial circumstance, including details of any assets or security held, and 
including details of debts owed to other creditors. 

 Copies of their latest audited accounts, or if the business has not yet submitted accounts then an up to 
date income statement and/or balance sheet will be required. 

 Details of the company, such as the product sold, the customer base, numbers in the workforce. 

 The reason why they cannot pay their bill. 

 How much relief they require. 

 An assumption of what would happen if no assistance was provided by the Council. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 

Decision making process 

 
Stage 1: The Principal Revenues Manager or The Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services will make a 
recommendation to the Director of Resources, considering the application against the criteria set out in this 
policy, based upon the information provided by the applicant and known to the Council. 
 
Stage 2: The Director of Resources will consider the application and the recommendation to determine whether 
to award a hardship relief. 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to make a 
decision. 
 

Page 89



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |7. Hardship Relief  16 

 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests  

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision where there is new 
information available on which to reconsider the original decision.  

Notification of review/re‐determination decision  

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re‐determination. 
Following the re‐determination of a request for a discretionary award there is no further right of appeal. 
 

  

Page 90



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |8. Temporary Part Occupation Relief  17 

 

8. Temporary Part Occupation Relief   
 
The Ratepayer is liable for the full non-domestic rate whether a property is wholly occupied or only partly 
occupied. Under s44A of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, where a property is partly occupied for a short 
time the Council has discretion to request that the Valuation Office apportion the rateable value of a property 
between the occupied and unoccupied parts and apply an unoccupied property exemption on the unoccupied 
part; thereby reducing the amount payable. 
 
Applications must be made in writing and supported by: 

 a completed application form, and  

 detailed scaled plans which outline the whole property and indicate the partly occupied/unoccupied 
parts, and 

 details of the planned period of time for the part occupation, and  

 details of future intentions, and 

 details of the cause for the part occupation. 
 
A site visit will be required. Where necessary the ratepayer may be required to provide additional information to 
support their application. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 

Decision making process 

 
Stage 1: The Principal Revenues Manager or The Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services will make a 
recommendation to the Director of Resources, considering the application against the criteria set out in this 
policy, based upon the information provided by the applicant and known to the Council. 
 

Stage 2: The Director of Resources will consider the application and the recommendation to determine whether 
to award a discretionary discount. 
 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to make a 
decision. 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests  

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision where there is new 
information available on which to reconsider the original decision.  

Notification of review/re‐determination decision  

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re‐determination. 
Following the re‐determination of a request for a discretionary award there is no further right of appeal.  

Page 91



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |9. Expanded Retail Discount  18 

 

9. Expanded Retail Discount 
 
The Government announced in the 2018 Budget that it will provide a Business Rates Retail Discount scheme for 
occupied retail properties in 2019/20 and this remains today, albeit the discount was re-branded as the 
‘expanded retail discount’ during the COVID19 pandemic and extended to additionally include businesses in the 
leisure and hospitality sectors. 
 
Since this discount was created the rules and amounts have varied, from an initial 33% discount in 2019/20 to 
a full discount during the COVID19 pandemic, irrespective of rateable value and with no award cap. During 
2021/22 a “cash cap” was introduced to limit the level of relief paid to £105,000 across all of the applicants 
businesses. During 2021/22 there was a split award of 100% for 3 months (April to June) and then a 66% rate 
for the remainder of the financial year. 
 
From 1 April 2022 until 31 March 2023 the expanded retail discount will be 50% for all occupied premises within 
the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors, subject to a “cash cap” of £110,000 per business. 
 
From 1 April 2023 until 31 March 2024 the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure discount will be 75% for all occupied 
premises within the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors, subject to a “cash cap” of £110,000 per business.  
 
From 1 April 2024 until 31 March 2025 the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure discount will be 75% for all occupied 
premises within the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors, subject to a “cash cap” of £110,000 per business.  
 
 
The discount is to be applied once mandatory reliefs and other discretionary reliefs have been applied. 
 

Which properties will benefit from relief? 

 
Properties that will benefit from the relief will be occupied hereditaments that are wholly or mainly being used: 

 as shops, restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, cinemas and live music venues, 

 for assembly and leisure; or 

 as hotels, guest & boarding premises and self-catering accommodation. 
 

We consider shops, restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, cinemas and live music venues to 

mean: 

 
Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members of the public: 

 Shops (such as: florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, jewellers, stationers, off licences, 
chemists, newsagents, hardware stores, supermarkets, etc) 

 Charity shops 

 Opticians 

 Post offices 

 Furnishing shops/ display rooms (such as: carpet shops, double glazing, garage doors) 

 Car/caravan show rooms 

 Second-hand car lots 

 Markets 

 Petrol stations 

 Garden centres 

 Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire) 

Page 92



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |9. Expanded Retail Discount  19 

 

 
Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following services to visiting members of the 
public: Hair and beauty services (such as: hairdressers, nail bars, beauty salons, tanning shops, etc) 
 

 Shoe repairs/key cutting 

 Travel agents 

 Ticket offices e.g. for theatre 

 Dry cleaners 

 Launderettes 

 PC/TV/domestic appliance repair 

 Funeral directors 

 Photo processing 

 Tool hire 

 Car hire 

 Employment agencies 

 Estate agents and letting agents 

 Betting shops 

 
Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/or drink to visiting members of the public: 

 Restaurants 

 Takeaways 

 Sandwich shops 

 Coffee shops 

 Pubs 

 Bars 

 
Hereditaments which are being used as cinemas 

 
Hereditaments that are being used as live music venues: 

 Live music venues are hereditaments wholly or mainly used for the performance of live music for the 
purpose of entertaining an audience. Hereditaments cannot be considered a live music venue for the 
purpose of business rates relief where a venue is wholly or mainly used as a nightclub or a theatre, for 
the purposes of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended). 

 Hereditaments can be a live music venue even if used for other activities, but only if those other 
activities (i) are merely ancillary or incidental to the performance of live music (e.g. the sale/supply of 
alcohol to audience members) or (ii) do not affect the fact that the primary activity for the premises is 
the performance of live music (e.g. because those other activities are insufficiently regular or frequent, 
such as a polling station or a fortnightly community event). 

 There may be circumstances in which it is difficult to tell whether an activity is a performance of live 
music or, instead, the playing of recorded music. Although we would expect this would be clear in most 
circumstances, guidance on this may be found in Chapter 16 of the statutory guidance issued in April 
2018 under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003. 

We consider assembly and leisure to mean: 

 
Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of sport, leisure and facilities to visiting members of the 
public (including for the viewing of such activities). 

 Sports grounds and clubs 

 Museums and art galleries 

 Nightclubs 

Page 93



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |9. Expanded Retail Discount  20 

 

 Sport and leisure facilities 

 Stately homes and historic houses 

 Theatres 

 Tourist attractions 

 Gyms 

 Wellness centres, spas, massage parlours 

 Casinos, gambling clubs and bingo halls 
 
Hereditaments that are being used for the assembly of visiting members of the public. 

 Public halls 

 Clubhouses, clubs and institutions 

We consider hotels, guest and boarding premises and self-catering accommodation to mean: 

 
Hereditaments where the non-domestic part is being used for the provision of living accommodation as a 
business: 

 Hotels, Guest and Boarding Houses 

 Holiday homes 

 Caravan parks and sites 
 
This is a test on use rather than occupation, therefore hereditaments which are occupied but not wholly or 
mainly used for the qualifying purpose will not qualify for the relief. 

What does not constitute retail, leisure or hospitality usage 

 
The list below sets out the types of uses which we do not consider as being eligible for the purpose of this 
discount, and will therefore not qualify under this scheme. 
 
Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following services to visiting members of the 
public 

 Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, bureaux de change, short-term loan 
providers) 

 Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors) 

 Professional services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance agents/financial advisers) 

 Post office sorting offices 
 
Hereditaments which are not reasonably accessible to visiting members of the public 

 Premises where membership is required to gain entry (e.g. affiliated social clubs) 

 Premises where payment is required to gain entry 
 
Hereditaments which are inconsistent with the Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Blackpool 

 Premises used for the sale of psychoactive substances (also known as legal highs) 

Amount of relief available 

 
The total amount of government-funded relief available for each property under this scheme for 2019-20 was 
one third of the bill, and for 2020-21 the full bill.  For 2021-22 the amount was a 100% discount for 3 months 
from 1st April 2021 until 30th June 2021, and a 66% discount thereafter until 31 March 2022.  For the 2022/23 
financial year the applicable discount is 50% and for 2023/24 and 2024/25 financial year the applicable discount 
is 75%.  These are however subject to a “cash cap”. This relief is applied after mandatory reliefs and other 

Page 94



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |9. Expanded Retail Discount  21 

 

discretionary reliefs funded by section 31 grants have been applied. There is no relief available under this 
scheme for unoccupied properties. 
 
A new hereditament created as a result of a split or merger during the financial year, or where there is a change 
of use, should be considered afresh for the relief on that day. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 

Decision making process 

 
The expanded retail discount was introduced as a financial package to assist those ratepayers who were expected 
to be adversely affected by the COVID19 pandemic, meaning awards were to be swift and without the normal 
requirement to complete forms and submit supplementary information in support of their application. With this 
in mind it was decided that: 
 

 Where the property is occupied and the ratepayer clearly meets at least one of the above criteria for 
retail, hospitality and leisure sectors then the relief will be paid automatically.  

 

 Where the ratepayer does not clearly meet at least one of the above criteria for retail, hospitality and 
leisure, or where the property is believed to be unoccupied, then the details will be passed to a Revenues 
Manager to determine whether the ratepayer is eligible for this relief. 

 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to make a 
decision. 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests  

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision only if there is relevant 
new information available on which to reconsider the original decision. 
 
Stage 1: The original decision and any additional information provided will be reviewed and a recommendation 
made to either confirm or amend the original decision. 
 
Stage 2: The Director of Resources will consider the application for review and the recommendation and 
determine whether to award a discretionary discount. 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision  

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re‐determination. 
Following the re‐determination of a request for a discretionary award there is no further right of appeal. 
 
  

Page 95



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |10. Local Newspaper Relief  22 

 

10. Local Newspaper Relief 
 
The Government introduced a £1,500 Business Rate discount for office space occupied by local newspapers in 
England, up to a maximum of one discount per local newspaper title and per hereditament, and up to state aid 
limits, for 2 years from 1 April 2017. This was extended in the 2018 budget and the 2020 budget and will now 
apply until 31st March 2025. 
 

The relief is to be specifically for local newspapers and by that we mean what would be considered to be a 
“traditional local newspaper.” The relief will not be available to magazines. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 

Decision making process 

 
In accordance with Government Guidance for the administration of the scheme, and to assist local businesses, 
the s151 Officer has agreed that the Council may make a number of assumptions with regard to eligibility to 
ensure relief is awarded to qualifying businesses as soon as possible. 
 
Businesses awarded relief will be advised to inform the Council if they do not qualify for relief as a result of 
exceeding State Aid limits. Should a ratepayer believe they are entitled to the relief and it has not been awarded, 
an application form will be provided and relevant enquiries undertaken to determine eligibility. 
 
Where an application form is sent and a response is received, a Revenues Manager will confirm eligibility and 
seek a decision from the Director of Resources. 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to make a 
decision. 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests  

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision where there is new 
information available on which to reconsider the original decision.  

Notification of review/re‐determination decision  

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re‐determination. 
Following the re‐determination of a request for a discretionary award there is no further right of appeal. 

 
  

Page 96



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |11. Fraud  23 

 

 

11. Fraud 
 

Where a ratepayer falsely applies for any relief or where the ratepayer provides false information, makes false 
representation, or deliberately withholds information in order to gain relief, prosecutions will be considered 
under the Fraud Act 2006.  

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



 - 1 - 

 
  

 
Appendix 3b: Equality Analysis (EA) (formally Equality Impact Assessment) Record Form 2024/25 
 
 
Department: Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services 

Team or Service Area Leading Assessment: Benefits 

Title of Policy/ Service or Function: Working Age Council Tax Reduction Scheme Equality Assessment 

Lead Officer: Louise Jones 
 
STEP 1 - IDENTIFYING THE PURPOSE OR AIMS 
 
1. What type of policy, service or function is this? 
 
New/ proposed policy  
 
2. What is the aim and purpose of the policy, service or function? 

 
From April 2013, as part of the government’s Welfare Reform agenda, Council Tax Benefit was abolished 
and replaced with a locally determined Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme. Pensioners continue to be 
protected at their existing levels of benefit under a national scheme whilst new schemes were set up for 
Working Age customers at a Local Authority level. Under this system, it is billing authorities who decide 
who is eligible to get support and the support will be awarded by way of a Section 13A Council Tax 
discount. The grant provided by the Government continues to be reduced; Local Authorities will therefore 
have to manage the reduction in funding in developing local Council Tax Reduction Schemes and will have 
to ensure that their scheme also covers the impact of any future increase in Council Tax Support 
recipients. 
 
Blackpool Council continues to operate under three major constraints: 
 
1.   The cut in funding (which may in practice be higher if demand for support increases in the future). 
 
2.   The desire to protect vulnerable groups and the exhortation to do this by the Government (as set out 
in “Localising Support for Council Tax: Vulnerable people – key local authority duties” published by the 
Department of Communities and Local Government in May 2012). 
 
3.   The desire to incentivise work and not contradict the incentives to work in the forthcoming Universal 
Credit (as set out in “Localising Support for Council Tax: Taking work incentives into account” published by 
the Department of Communities and Local Government in May 2012). 
 
The Government has stated (in the above document on vulnerable people) that they do not intend to 
prescribe the protection that local authorities should provide for vulnerable groups other than 
pensioners.  Rather the guidance reminds local authorities to have due regard to how their local scheme 
may impact on people based on the following: 

 Age 

 Disability 

 Sex and sexual orientation 

 Gender reassignment 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Race 

Page 99



 - 2 - 

 Religion or belief 
 
The above guidance refers to specific legislation that local authorities should have due regard to when 
designing their local scheme.  This includes: 

 The Equality Act 2010 (particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty) 

 The Child Poverty Act 2010 (duty to mitigate the effects of child poverty) 

 The Housing Act 1996 (duty to prevent homelessness) 
 

In addition, it advises that local authorities consider the impact under The Armed Forces covenant 
published in May 2011. 
 

   The local scheme will set out: 

 the classes of person who are entitled to a reduction 

 the reductions which are to apply to those classes 

 the procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction. 
 
The timetable for development of the 2024/25 Equality Analysis is shown below and is updated to 
consider the impact of the Scheme and any changes to it.  
 

Action Timescale 

  

Develop first draft of the scheme Jun 2023 -Jul 2023 

Start Equality Analysis based on proposed scheme Jul 2023 – Oct 2023 

Develop EA Action Plan to mitigate impact of the changes Oct 2023  

Send EA with Council Report to decide the scheme Jan 2024 
 

 
 

3. Please outline any proposals being considered. 

 
Continue with the existing 23/24 scheme, ensuring the scheme is cost neutral to the Council with continued 
reduced support for working age claimants of 27.11% except for people in the following categories, who 
have reduced support of 13.56%: 

 Where someone in the household receives Disability Living Allowance or Personal Independence 
Payments. 

 Where the applicant is a lone parent and who is responsible and resides with a child under 5 
years old. 

 Where the applicant or their partner receives Carer’s Allowance. 

 Where the applicant or their partner is in receipt of a war pension, war widows pension, war 
disablement pension or equivalent.  

 Where the applicant or their partner receives Income Support, or Income-Based Jobseekers 
Allowance, or Income-Related Employment Support Allowance. 

 Ensure that applicants who are protected under the current Scheme continue to be protected 
when they move to Universal Credit 

 Extension of the group of customers who pay 13.56% to claimants or partners who are: 
o in receipt of  Jobseeker’s Allowance Contribution Based 
o in receipt of Main Phase Employment and Support Allowance and are in the Work 

Related Activity Group 
o in receipt of Maximum Universal Credit and neither employed, self-employed or in 

receipt of any other income which is taken into account when calculating their 
Universal Credit award (such as an Occupational Pension or other unearned income) 

o in receipt of Universal Credit which includes either the limited capability for work and 
or/work related activity 

 

Page 100



 - 3 - 

 
4. What outcomes do we want to achieve? 

 
A framework to provide Council Tax Reduction with the following objectives: 
 

 Continue with a scheme similar to the current scheme in terms of eligibility criteria to determine 
who will receive support. 

 Introduce a scheme to support work incentives and in particular, avoid disincentives to move into 
work. 

 Introduce a scheme which achieves the required savings and allows room for future take-up of the 
discount.  

 Introduce a scheme which is cost effective to administer. 

 Introduce a scheme where the impact can be assessed and future adjustments can be made. 

 

 
5. Who is the policy, service or function intended to help/ benefit? 

 
Each billing authority in England must design a scheme specifying the reductions which are to apply to 
amounts of council tax support payable  in respect of dwellings situated in its area by: 
 

 Persons of working age whom the authority considers to be in financial need; or 

 Persons of working age  in classes consisting of persons whom the authority considers to be, in 
general, in financial need 

 

 
6. Who are the main stakeholders/ customers/ communities of interest? 

 
The main stakeholders are: 

 
 The Preceptors e.g. Lancashire Fire & Rescue Service, Lancashire Police Authority 

 Any resident who is liable to pay Council Tax 

 Any current Working Age Council Tax Benefit customers  

 A range of 3rd party organisations providing support and advice to a wide range of customers 

 

 
7. Does the policy, service or function have any existing aims in relation to Equality/ Diversity or 

community cohesion? 

 
The proposed scheme will continue with the aims as set out in previous years Equality Analysis as no 

changes are proposed for 2024-25. 

 
STEP 2 - CONSIDERING EXISTING INFORMATION AND WHAT THIS TELLS YOU 
 
8. Please summarise the main data/ research and performance management information in the box 

below. 

  

Data/ information 
The main performance information to assist in the design of the Council Tax Reduction scheme will be 
databases and statistics held for the following purposes: 

 Billing and Recovery of Council Tax 

 Awarding Council Tax Reduction 

Page 101



 - 4 - 

 Census data including index of deprivation 

 Benefits caseload data to establish trends  

 Information held by the Office of National Statistics 

 

Research or comparative information 
 
Local authorities have clearly defined responsibilities in relation to, and awareness of, the most vulnerable 
groups and individuals other than pensioners in their areas. This includes responsibilities under:   

 The Child Poverty Act 2010, which imposes a duty on local authorities to have regard to and 
address child poverty and their partners, to reduce and mitigate the effects of child poverty in their 
local areas. 

 The Disabled Persons Act 1986, and Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970, which include 
a range of duties relating to the welfare needs of disabled people. 

 The Housing Act 1996, which gives local authorities a duty to prevent homelessness with special 
regard to vulnerable groups. 

 
Local evidence  
 
Population 

Blackpool has a resident population of 141,040, some 38,610 (27.4%) of which are aged 60 and over. There 

are 64,790 households in Blackpool.  Census 2021 

Deprivation 

Blackpool ranks as the most deprived local authority in England in terms of average deprivation scores. 39 

(41.5%) of the 94 LSOAs in the local authority rank in the most deprived nationally. Health deprivation is 

much higher than average and over half of areas are in the most deprived 10% for health nationally.  IMD19 

Housing  

There is a high percentage of private rented dwellings in Blackpool and a slightly lower owner-occupier rate 

than seen nationally. Census 2021 

 57.8% - owner occupied (England: 62.3%) 

 31.9% - privately rented (England: 20.6%) 

 10.3% - social rented (England: 17.1%)  

 

Household Compositions 

38.0% of households in Blackpool single person households of which 15.1% are aged over 66. (England: 

30.1%) 

33.9% of households are couples or families aged 65 or under. (England: 42.0%) 

13.7% are lone parents to dependent children. (England: 11.1%) 

7.7% are households with all adults aged over 66. (England: 9.2%) 

Disability 

Page 102

https://www.ons.gov.uk/census
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census


 - 5 - 

As of February 2023, 6,626 people in Blackpool claim Employment Support Allowance. 

22,318 claim Personal Independence Payments, Disability Living Allowance or Attendance Allowance.  DWP 

Universal Credit 

22,620 people claim universal credit; almost 1 in 3 people on universal credit are currently in or seeking 

employment. DWP 

15,447 have no work requirements and this is the majority (68.3%) of the total number of people on 

universal credit. DWP 

Pension Credit 

Blackpool has 5,959 claimants in receipt of Pension Credit. DWP 

Child Poverty 

In 2022, 8,559 children lived in relative low income families and of this group 5,743 children lived in 

absolute low income families. DWP 

Family Demographics  
58.3% of children in relative low income live in working households. 
49.9% of children in relative low income live in lone parent families. 
 
Ward Distribution Children in relative low income 2022 
 

 
  DWP 
 
Family Demographics  
52.2% of children in absolute low income live in working households. 
50.0% of children in absolute low income live in lone parent families. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 103

https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/login.xhtml
https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/login.xhtml
https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/login.xhtml
https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/login.xhtml
https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/login.xhtml
https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/login.xhtml


 - 6 - 

Ward Distribution Children in absolute low income 2022 
 

 

 
DWP 
 

National Data 

As Council Tax Reduction is a locally administered scheme, no national statistics are collated so reference 
must be made to old Council Tax Benefit statistics. 
 
According to the Single Housing Benefit Extract, as at January 2011 there were 3.1 million Council Tax 
Benefit claimants under 65 in the United Kingdom. 
 
According to the Family Resources 2009/10 survey data, of these: 

 48% of households have at least 1 adult or child who is disabled 

 18% of households have ay least 1 adult with caring responsibilities 

 17% of households have at least 1 adult requiring informal care 
 
Information from administrative sources can also provide more limited information on carers and disabled 
people and shows the number of Council Tax Benefit claimants who are carers or households in receipt of a 
disability premium and not pass ported onto full Council Tax Benefit.  At January 2011: 

 34,790 non-passported under 65 Council Tax Benefit claimants were carers 

 219,580 non-passported under 65 Council Tax Benefit claimants were in receipt of a disability 
premium 
 

Since some of the passported claimants are also likely to be carers or receiving a disability premium this 
underestimates the total number that could be affected. 
 

 
9. What are the impacts or effects for Key Protected Characteristics? 

 

Age 

Older People of pension age 
 
Potential Impact 
 
Pensioners must receive the same level of support under any new scheme as they received under the 
Council Tax Benefit scheme. They will therefore be treated more favourably than other groups under the 

Page 104

https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/login.xhtml


 - 7 - 

proposed changes. 
 
In Blackpool we currently have 18,246 Council Tax Reduction recipients (as at 26/10/2023) of whom 5,097 
are single and of pension age. In addition we have 1,391 couples over 60 in receipt of Council Tax 
Reduction. Of those 50 have child dependents. 
 
Eligible ‘pensioners’ can be divided into the three groups below:  

PASSPORTED CLAIMANTS  

Those in receipt of Pension Credit Guarantee Credit.   
 
Pension Credit ‘Guarantee Credit’ acts as a passport to maximum Council Tax Reduction support. Pensioners 
apply to the Pension Service and if successful are prompted to apply for Council Tax Reduction. The Pension 
Service can take the claim on behalf of the local authority and will send an assessment direct to the relevant 
local authority.  

MEANS-TESTED CLAIMANTS  

Means-tested claimants in receipt of Pension Credit ‘Savings Credit’ Only   
 
Pension Credit applicants may be awarded ‘Savings Credit’ only. This group are also prompted to apply for 
Council Tax Reduction, and if they do the Pension Service will send appropriate data to the relevant local 
authority that complete the means-testing applying nationally set rules.  

Other means-tested claimants  
 
Customers can also apply directly. Claimants who have attained the qualifying age for State Pension Credit 
are means-tested by the Local Authority on application, to determine eligibility for support. The exact 
amount of support needed will depend on a range of factors, such as age, income, capital, the personal 
circumstances of the individual and the Council Tax band their home falls into.  
 

People of Working Age (over 25) 
 
Potential Impact 
 
People under pension age will be treated less favourably under the new support scheme than pensioners. In 
addition it is possible that some people in this group will be affected more because of the greater difficulties 
they may face in finding paid employment e.g. over the age of 55. 
 

People of Working Age (under 25) 
 
Potential Impact 
 
Under the current Council Tax Reduction scheme the system of applicable amounts differentiate between 
those under and over 25. Claimants who are under 25 have a lower applicable amount as they are treated 
as having lower living costs than those aged 25 and over. In addition, young single people may be more at 
risk of becoming homeless and/or there will be pressure on these people to return or remain in the family 
home.  
 
Current Welfare Reforms i.e. the move from Housing Benefit to Universal Credit will affect the same group 
of Working Age customers. 
 
 

Page 105



 - 8 - 

It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group as 
any Working Age claimant in receipt of these benefits will be paying less Council Tax. If residents find 
themselves in financial difficulty, they could be assisted through the Council Tax Reduction hardship fund.     

 

Disability 

Potential Impact 
 
The definition of disability used is based on entitlement to certain state benefits or to entitlement to a 
Council Tax disabled band reduction. This can reflect the circumstances of any member of the claimant’s 
household.  
The relevant benefits/additions to benefit include: 
 

 Disability Living Allowance 
 Employment Support Allowance 
 Personal Independence Payments 
 Universal Credit 
 Disability Premium 
 Severe Disability Premium 
 Enhanced Disability Premium 
 Disabled Child Premium 
 Disabled Earnings Disregard 
 Carers Allowance 
 War Disablement Pension 
 War Widows Pension 
 Council Tax Disability Reduction 

 
It is possible that some people in this group will be affected less favourably because of the greater 
difficulties they may face in coping with the changes, for example by finding paid employment.  This may 
result from their reduced capacity to work due to the nature of their disability and/or discrimination based 
on the perceptions of employers or the fact that the place of work has not been adapted to meet the needs 
of disabled people. 
 
Other welfare reforms may further impact on some members of this group and also some of the services 
that members of this group receive are being reduced under austerity measures. It should also be noted 
that in some cases (depending on the nature of the disability) there may be potential communication issues 
where information available in standard formats is not the best method of communicating with benefit 
recipients.  This may cause greater difficulty in understanding their changed liability and may lead some to 
fall into arrears more easily with all the associated problems this can cause. 
 
It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group as 
any Working Age claimant in receipt of certain benefits will be paying less Council Tax. 
 
Some individuals will receive Social Care support from Blackpool Council may be able to have any extra 
Council Tax they pay deducted from their income for fairer charging purposes (unless they pay the full cost 
because they have capital over the current threshold).  It is acknowledged that this will not help disabled 
people who do not receive chargeable support from Blackpool Council.  However, the most severely 
disabled are likely to receive this support.   
 
Extensive consultation was carried out prior to the introduction of the 2013/14 scheme with specific 
disabled stakeholder groups i.e. the Disability Partnership Forum, the Learning Disabilities Self Advocacy 
Forum and the Disability First open day in order to make them aware of the changes, help them to 
understand the potential impact and to discuss any support mechanisms that can be built in for affected 
groups. As the main basis of the 2024/25 scheme is the same as 2023/24 scheme, no further specific 

Page 106



 - 9 - 

consultation has been carried out with these groups. 
 
Blackpool Council’s preferred option continues to be a bottom slice i.e. maintaining the current benefit 
rules but reducing the level of council tax reduction by the same amount for all working age Council Tax 
Reduction recipients. This will be a fairer option for all affected customers and would enable disability 
benefits to continue to be disregarded in the calculation of Council Tax Reduction. However, someone with 
a disability would still have something to pay under the new scheme.  
 
It is recognised that the level of a customer’s disability could mean they are more disadvantaged over 
another disabled customer. There may be the opportunity for a less disabled person to increase their 
income in order to pay for the increase in Council Tax whereas this may not be an option for a more 
severely disabled person.  
 
Applications can be made to the Council Tax Reduction hardship scheme for anyone who is struggling to pay 
their Council Tax and an income and expenditure calculation will be completed.  

 

Gender Reassignment 
Potential Impact 

 
No information is collected on the gender reassignment status of Council Tax Reduction claimants.  
However, it is acknowledged that transgender people experience higher levels of disadvantage and 
social/financial exclusion and therefore may face greater difficulties in responding to the changes, for 
example by finding work.  It is not thought that the proposed changes will have a negative impact on 
working age single people and couples who are recipients of Council Tax Reduction regardless of their 
gender identity. 

 

Marriage and Civil Partnership 

Potential Impact 
 
The latest figures show that there are 3,215 couples in receipt of Council Tax Reduction. Of these: 
1,116 (35%) had child dependents, and 2,099 (65%) had no child dependents. 

 
There are 2,133 couples in receipt of Council Tax Reduction who are of working age, of whom 1,099 (52%) 
had child dependents and 1034 (48%) had no child dependents. 
 
The proposed scheme impacts on working age families/couples whether they are living together/married or 

in civil partnerships but will not treat marriage or civil partnership any differently. Married couple and civil 

partnerships are recognised equally in the current Council Tax Reduction scheme as are people living 

together as if they are in such legal partnerships.  

Families with a large number of children are more likely to live in a bigger property and therefore one with a 

higher Council Tax Bend. The current scheme ensures that these customers would not be disadvantaged 

over smaller families as the Council Tax Reduction would be based on the actual Council Tax band for the 

property and the percentage reduction would be the same across all groups of claimants. 

It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group. 

 

Pregnancy and Maternity 

Potential Impact 
 
The proposed scheme will have a negative impact on all working age single people and couples who are 
recipients of Council Tax Reduction regardless of whether they are pregnant/recently given birth or not.   

Page 107



 - 10 - 

 
Whilst at this moment we consider that this impact is unlikely to be disproportionately greater on 
households where a member is pregnant or recently given birth, we acknowledge that they may face 
greater difficulties in responding to the changes, for example by finding work.  
 
In addition, women on maternity leave may find that they now have to pay an increased amount of Council 
Tax Support on a reduced income with little prospect of increasing their income in the short term.  
 
It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group. 

 

Race 

Potential Impact 
 
The proposed scheme will have a negative impact on all working age single people and couples who are 
recipients of Council Tax Reduction regardless of race or ethnicity.  We do not have any data regarding the 
ethnicity of Council Tax Reduction recipients in Blackpool. However, national data shows that 90% of 
households who received Council Tax Benefit were white, and 10% were ethnic minorities. This compares to 
a total population of 91% white and 9% ethnic minorities.  
 
At the moment we consider that the impact of the propose changes is unlikely to be disproportionately 
greater on households of different ethnicity within the working age group. There will be no difference in the 
way ethnic groups are treated under any Council Tax Reduction scheme. However, some ethnic groups 
experience different levels of disadvantage and therefore they may find it more difficult to cope with the 
changes.  This may be because they face unofficial discrimination in the job market and possibly because of 
access to skills including language skills are limited in some cases.  
 
There may also be potential communication issues where English is not the benefit recipient’s first language 
and where documents printed in Standard English is not the optimum method of communicating. 

 
Claimants whose first language is not English may have greater difficulty in understanding their changed 
level of Support, particularly if they are being asked to pay some Council Tax for the first time.  This may 
lead some to fall into arrears more easily leading to the associated problems this can cause.    
 
It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group as 
any Working Age claimant in receipt of certain benefits will be paying less Council Tax. 

 

Religion and Belief 

Potential Impact 
 
The proposed scheme has a negative impact on all working age single people and couples who are 
recipients of Council Tax Reduction regardless of religion or belief. We do not have any data regarding the 
religion or beliefs Council Tax Reduction recipients in Blackpool. We do not envisage the scheme proposal 
for 2024/25 will adversely impact people with particular religions or beliefs.   

 

Sex 

Potential Impact 
 
The latest figures show that in Blackpool there are 15,031 single people in receipt of Council Tax Reduction. 
Of these, 8,820 (59%) are female, and 6,211 (41%) are male.  
 
Of the 8,820 female recipients, 2,700 (31%) are lone parents and of the 6,211 male recipients, 318 (5%) are 
lone parents. 

Page 108



 - 11 - 

If we look only at those of working age, 47% of all single working age female recipients are lone parents. Of 
the male recipients 7% of all single working age male recipients are lone parents. Of all working age lone 
parents in Blackpool in receipt of Council Tax Reduction, 90% are female and 10% are male.  

 
On the face of it we will continue to treat both men and women equally in the proposed Council Tax 
Reduction scheme from 1st April 2024. However, given the higher number of female recipients (47%) in 
Blackpool, continuation of the current Council Tax Reduction scheme will impact on more women than 
men.  National data does confirm that more women than men experience financial deprivation.  In addition, 
because many more female claimants will be lone parents, they may be treated less favourably indirectly 
because lone parents may face greater difficulties in responding to the changes, including by finding work.   
 
It is not anticipated that the proposed scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group. 

 

Sexual Orientation 

Potential Impact 
 
The proposed scheme will have the same level of impact on all working age single people and couples who 
are recipients of Council Tax Reduction regardless of their sexual orientation.  We have no data on the 
sexual orientation of Council Tax Reduction claimants locally and at this moment we consider that the 
impact is unlikely to be disproportionately greater on recipients with different sexual orientations.   
 
However, national data demonstrates that some Lesbian, Gay or Bisexual people experience higher levels of 
disadvantage and financial exclusion than other groups and therefore may face greater difficulties in 
responding to the changes, for example by finding work.  

 

Other Relevant Groups 

Potential Impact 
Carers 
 
It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group as 
any Working Age claimant in receipt of certain benefits will be paying less Council Tax. 
 
Child Poverty 
 
It is believed that by continuing to disregard Child Benefit and Child Maintenance in the calculation of 
Council Tax Reduction consideration of this area has been sufficiently taken into account.  
 
Homelessness 
 
The impact of the proposed scheme on the Council’s Homelessness Strategy has been considered and by 
continuing to work with financial inclusion officers within the Council and Housing Options Support workers, 
sufficient promotion of how the scheme will work will be available.  
 
Armed Forces Covenant 
 
The impact of the proposed scheme on the Armed Forces has been considered and it is believed that by 
continuing to disregard War Disablement Pension, War Widow’s Pension and War Widower’s Pension 
consideration of this area has been sufficiently taken into account.  
 
Other relevant benefit changes that apply from April 2024  
 
The 2024/25 Council Tax Reduction scheme will come in from 1st April 2024.  At the same time continued and 
planned changes to the benefit and tax systems will continue to affect people in receipt of/potentially 

Page 109



 - 12 - 

eligible for Council Tax Reduction. The other changes include the following: 
 

1. Working age benefit rates (Tax Credits, applicable amounts) continue to be frozen.  
2. The continued rollout of Universal Credit full service in Blackpool 

 
For all the above categories, residents can apply to the Council Tax Reduction Discretionary Scheme for 
additional support, subject to income and expenditure review.   

 

 
10. What do you know about how the proposals could affect community cohesion? 

 
o There may be an effect on community cohesion as pensioners are not being affected by the Council 

Tax Reduction scheme and will continue to receive the current levels of support whilst Working Age 
customers will have reduced levels of help. Whilst we recognise the inequalities of the two schemes 
(Working Age and Elderly), we are unable to do anything to change them but will monitor the 
impact of the scheme between age groups to ensure any comments are recorded.  
 

o If any other protections are made within the working age group, some groups may feel they are 
“shouldering the burden” of the scheme more than others. 
 

o There may be an increase in transience, as people move to more affordable accommodation in 
order to be able to afford to pay for their increased contribution to Council Tax.  
 

o There could be an increase in the number of people leaving Blackpool to move to a neighbouring 
authority with a more generous Council Tax Reduction scheme. 
 

 

 
 
STEP 3 - ANALYSING THE IMPACT 
 

13. Is there any evidence of higher or lower take-up by any group or community, and if so, how is this 
explained?  

 
 There was traditionally a lower take up of Council Tax Benefit from pensioners, however, as 

pensioner support will be delivered through a national framework of criteria & allowances and will 
be a discount rather than a benefit,  take up is likely to increase.  

 Within some other community groups there is traditionally a low take up because individuals either 
do not need support or do not like to claim benefit.  

 
 
14. Do any rules or requirements prevent any groups or communities from using or accessing the 

service? 

  
There will be an initial eligibility criteria for the Blackpool Council Tax Reduction scheme (in line with the 
Council Tax Benefit scheme), which will exclude the following: 
 

 Any person who is not a Council Tax payer as they do not need to pay Council Tax 

 Anyone who is not able to claim state benefits in accordance with the Central Government 
regulations in the Local Government Finance Bill  

 If the property is a second home 
 

Page 110



 - 13 - 

Once the eligibility criteria have been established, there will be a means tested assessment of entitlement 
to Council Tax Reduction, which could mean that some people are not entitled but this is the case now also. 

 
15. Does the way a service is delivered/ or the policy create any additional barriers for any groups of 

disabled people?  

  
Access 
 
The new scheme will offer the same level of access to the service as there is within the current system of 
Council Tax Reduction, as follows: 
 

 Face to face access 

 Telephone access 

 Online claim form  
 

Policy 
 
Disabled people may not be exempt for the purposes of calculating Council Tax Reduction. The rationale 
behind this is: 
 

 The scheme will support people on a low income and is means tested. Disabled people receive 
additional income for disabilities and Blackpool’s preferred option allows for the continued 
disregard of disability incomes in the calculation. 

 Disability relief, which is a reduction in the amount of Council Tax payable, applies where 
adaptations have been made to a property to accommodate a disabled person. Exempting disability 
benefits in the calculation of Council Tax Reduction would put those people at a financial 
advantage. 

 The Council Tax Reduction Scheme must cost less than the Council Tax Benefit regime. The saving 
would be unachievable if disabled applicants were disregarded. 

 Disability Benefits are disregarded in DWP assessment therefore issues of vulnerability have been 
addressed prior to our calculation. 

 
However, we recognise that even within the category of disability, some people will be more affected than 
others in that they will be unlikely to be able to increase their income and therefore policies need to be 
established to mitigate the impact of the scheme. The Council Tax Reduction Hardship Fund would provide 
a mechanism for additional support for disabled people. 

 

  
STEP 4 - DEALING WITH ADVERSE OR UNLAWFUL IMPACT 
 
16. What can be done to improve the policy, service, function or any proposals in order to reduce or 

remove any adverse impact or effects identified? 

  
No adverse impact has been identified for 2024/25 proposed scheme. 

 
17. What would be needed to be able to do this? Are the resources likely to be available? 

  
Not applicable 

 
18. What other support or changes would be necessary to carry out these actions? 

  
Not applicable 

Page 111



 - 14 - 

  

STEP 5 - CONSULTING THOSE AFFECTED FOR THEIR VIEWS 
 
19. What feedback or responses have you received to the findings and possible courses of action? 

Please give details below. 

 

2019/20 Scheme  
 
Comments on whether the current scheme should continue 

 
 As a single parent it is a big help as it pays for travel and meals 

 Scheme needs reforming to get people off benefits 

 People need pushing to work and not giving every penny they need.  They should receive a 
percentage discount on hours over 16 at work. This would push more people into work and 
less into their armchairs 

 I think from personal experience years ago me and my husband were on tax family’s credit 
and we never applied for housing benefits or council tax benefits cause we could still afford to 
live and afford food and still pay rent and out council tax. We lived in social housing so yes the 
rents cheaper than private housing. We both worked my husband 40 hrs and me 20 hrs. I 
work with a girl who is on 16hrs and they can afford more luxury than I could ever and they 
are always splashing the cash. I also see these girls working the rest of the hours cash in hand! 
They should be questioned why they are only working 20 hrs or below. So for this reason I 
think this area needs looking at. If I could afford to do it with 2 children at the time why can’t 
they. 

 As someone who is currently on universal credit I feel like I always have been disadvantaged 
as my council tax reduction is always increasing because of universal credit but it never 
decreases, which makes it harder for me as a single parent with a child in DLA. 

 The council should continue to protect low income families & those on universal credit 

 Council should ensure that it’s CTR scheme keeps aligned with Housing Benefit Scheme 

 Response: 
1) The current scheme does mirror the Housing Benefit scheme as much as possible but the 

introduction of Universal Credit will see this alignment ended in future years. 
2) In terms of the proposed additional support to low income groups, this will assist the Revenues team 

as they will not be trying to recover small debts from people who are struggling to pay and this will 
allow them to concentrate recovery efforts on people who should and are able to  pay but choose 
not to. 

3) The Council is unable to comment on working practices of employers  
4) Government policies are in place to assist customers back to work. 

 
Comments disagreeing with the proposal to ensure that all applicants who are ‘protected’ under the 
current scheme continue to be protected when they move to Universal Credit  
 

 Reducing the groups which get benefits 
 

Response: Comment noted  

 

 So long as the CTR scheme continues to align with Housing Benefit Scheme 
  
Response: The current scheme does mirror the Housing Benefit scheme as much as possible but the 
introduction of Universal Credit will see this alignment ended in future years.  

Page 112



 - 15 - 

  
Comments disagreeing with the proposal to extend the protected group to include where the applicant, 
or their partner, is in receipt of Jobseeker’s Allowance Contribution Based; where the applicant, or their 
partner, is in receipt of Main Phase Employment and Support Allowance and are in the Work Related 
Activity Group; where the applicant is in receipt of Maximum Universal Credit and is neither employed, 
self-employed or in receipt of any other income which is taken into account when calculating their 
Universal Credit award (such as an Occupational Pension or other unearned income); and where the 
applicant is in receipt of Universal Credit which includes the limited capability for work element or the  

  limited capability for work & work related activity 
 

 Helps avoid recently unemployed people getting behind with paying bills 

 Agree to temporary help for unemployed 

 Finite period for receiving benefit to encourage people to work 
 

Response: Comments noted 

  Extend the benefits to other vulnerable groups 
 
Response: Considerable protection has been added into the scheme in previous years. 
 

 Leave it as it is 

 Leave it as it is currently 

 None, other than keeping it the same as now 

 Bill for this needs to be paid somehow so keep the scheme as it is 

 Worried about the cost 
 
Response: Additional costs are incurred by trying to recover small amounts of money from customers 
on low income. By providing this additional protection the administration costs will reduce.  
 

 I agree with the widowers and partly with the disabled and carers.  I do not agree that JSA 
should be protected or a lot of disability cases as they can work and earn a lot of money 
already. 

 
Response: Customers who are in receipt of Job Seekers Allowance are more likely to be unable to 
afford their Council Tax and were previously in receipt of full Council Tax Benefit under the old national 
scheme. Customers with disability income can have a higher level of disability related expenditure. 
 

 Does this not include children who receive DLA especially when it is single parent families. 
 
Response: Families with any disability component in their income , including children, are already protected 

 
Other Comments 
 

   Would like council to give cleaning streets a higher priority 

 Extend hours in which people can contact council with council tax queries , as 
3-5pm is inadequate 

 Consider lower business rates to keep shops and businesses in the town 
centre 

 Not happy with charge for green bins 

 If there is money to play with then fund more police 

 Would like to see help for FIN , the families in need group, which is charity funded 
 

Response: Comments noted but they are not directly related to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Page 113



 - 16 - 

 
 

 

 Consider full 100% reductions for specific groups 

 Reduce the availability of protection and reduction from council tax 

 Happy as long as it is a means-tested scheme 
 

 
Response: The Council Tax Benefit scheme allowed fully funded means tested assessments enabling 100% 
protection for low income groups. However, the reduction in Government funding that accompanied the 
transfer of Council Tax Reduction schemes to Local Authorities has not enabled 100% reductions to be 
applied. Council Tax Reduction continues to be a means tested benefit with some additional protection for 
low income and vulnerable groups. 
 

2020/21 Scheme  
 

No changes to scheme therefore no consultation required. 

2021/22 Scheme  
 

No changes to scheme therefore no consultation required. 

2022/23 Scheme  
 

No changes to scheme therefore no consultation required. 

2023/24 Scheme  
 

No changes to scheme therefore no consultation required. 

2024/25 Scheme  
 

No changes to scheme therefore no consultation required. 

 
20. If you have not been able to carry out any consultation, please indicate below how you intend to 

test out your findings and recommended actions. 

 
N/A 

Page 114



- 17 -  
 

STEP 6 - ACTION PLANNING 
 
Please outline your proposed action plan below. 
 
2024/25 
 
Issues/ adverse 
impact identified 

Proposed action/ 
objectives to deal 
with adverse impact 
 

Targets/Measure Timeframe Responsibility Indicate whether 
agreed 

Customers may 
end up suffering 
severe financial  
hardship  

Review Discretionary 
Discount Guidance 
for staff and provide 
training to staff to 
identify cases where 
there is an issue 

1.Ensure the Council’s hardship scheme is still 
available 
2.Review criteria to apply to the fund for Owner 
Occupiers 
3. Review criteria to apply to the fund for tenants 
4.Ensure debt advice and benefit maximisation 
assistance is available  
5.Review and possibly reduce recovery of  other 
Council bills  e.g. Sundry Debts, Housing Benefit 
overpayment 
6.Ensure a DHP award cannot be made 
7.Ensure all available help from Housing team has 
been explored, if appropriate    

 
Jan 24 
 
Jan 24 
Jan 24 
 
Apr 24 – Mar 25 
 
Apr 24 – Mar 25 
Apr 24– Mar 25 
Apr 24 – Mar 25 

Benefits Service 
Discretionary 
Team 
Advice team 

Agreed 

Monitor 
legislation 
progress in case 
there are changes 
to the proposed 
amendments to 
Housing Benefit, in 
which case 
alignment to HB 
rules may not 
apply 

If this client group is 
no longer impacted 
by the changes the 
EA will need to be 
revisited  

1.Review Equality Analysis in light of any legislation 
changes, if appropriate 
 

Apr 24 – Mar 25 
 
 
 

Benefits Service Agreed 

P
age 115



- 18 -  
 

Issues/ adverse 
impact identified 

Proposed action/ 
objectives to deal 
with adverse impact 
 

Targets/Measure Timeframe Responsibility Indicate whether 
agreed 

Take Up Campaign There will be a 
number of customers 
who are not claiming 
the other Benefits 
they should be doing 
therefore a take-up 
campaign is 
proposed to help 
them increase their 
income. 

1. All frontline staff are aware of the potential that 
customers are not claiming all the benefits they are 
entitled to and where to signpost customers to.  
2. The Advice Team maximise the take up of 
Council Tax Reduction when they see a client 
3. Increased take up of Council Tax Reduction by 
Universal Credit customers by proactively working 
with other agencies and groups e.g. Job Centre 
Plus to ensure take up of all benefits is maximised  
 

Apr 2024 – Mar 
2025 

Benefits Service Agreed 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 116



- 19 -  
 

STEP 7 - ARRANGEMENTS FOR MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 
Please outline your arrangements for future monitoring and review below. 
 

Agreed action Monitoring arrangements Timeframe Responsibility Added to Service Plan etc. 

Review of  scheme 
and it’s impact   
 
 
 
 

Establish baseline position for review 
Review impact of scheme on protected characteristic groups 
Review collection rates amongst affected customers 
Consider whether discretionary policy is sufficiently robust 
 

Apr 2024  - Mar 2025 Benefits 
Service 

Ongoing 

Potentially propose 
changes to the 
scheme as a result of 
the review 
 
 
 
 

Consider consultation requirements 
Report to Full Council to formally adopt any recommended 
changes to the scheme for 2025/26 

May 2024– Jul 2024  
 
Jan 2025 

Benefits 
Service 

Ongoing 

 

Date completed: 6th October 2023     Signed:       
 
Name:   Louise Jones      Position: Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services 

P
age 117



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 1	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Blackpool Council 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

S13A and Schedule 1a of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
  

Page 119



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 2	

 
1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme ..................................................................... 5 
2.0 Interpretation – an explanation of the terms used within this scheme ..................................... 11 
3.0 Definition of non-dependant ...................................................................................................... 18 
4.0 Requirement to provide a National Insurance Number ............................................................. 19 
5.0 Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit .................................... 19 
6.0 Remunerative work .................................................................................................................... 19 
7.0 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain and Persons Subject to Immigration Control ..... 20 

Persons subject to immigration control ....................................................................................... 22 
8.0 Temporary Absence (period of absence) ................................................................................... 23 
9.0 Membership of a family ............................................................................................................. 28 
10.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible (or not responsible) for a child 

or young person. ........................................................................................................................ 28 
11.0 Circumstances in which a child or young person is to be treated as being or not being a member 

of the household ........................................................................................................................ 29 
13.0 Polygamous marriages ............................................................................................................... 31 
14.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit . 32 
15.0 Calculation of income and capital of members of claimant’s family and of a polygamous marriage

   ................................................................................................................................................. 34 
16.0 Circumstances in which capital and income of non-dependant is to be treated as claimant’s . 35 
17.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis .................................................................................... 35 
18.0 Treatment of child care charges ................................................................................................. 35 
19.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners ......................................................................... 39 
20.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners ................................................................... 40 
21.0 Average weekly income other than earnings ............................................................................. 40 
22.0 Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits ............................................................. 40 
23.0 Calculation of weekly income ..................................................................................................... 41 
24.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. .......................................................................... 41 
25.0 Earnings of employed earners .................................................................................................... 41 
26.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners ...................................................................... 42 
27.0 Earnings of self-employed earners ............................................................................................. 43 
28.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners .................................................................... 44 
29.0 Deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners .................................................. 45 
30.0 Calculation of income other than earnings ................................................................................ 46 
31.0 Capital treated as income ........................................................................................................... 47 
32.0 Notional income ......................................................................................................................... 48 
33.0 Capital limit ................................................................................................................................ 52 
34.0 Calculation of capital .................................................................................................................. 52 
35.0 Disregard of capital of child and young person .......................................................................... 52 
36.0 Income treated as capital ........................................................................................................... 52 
37.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom ............................................................................. 52 
38.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom .................................................................... 53 
39.0 Notional capital .......................................................................................................................... 53 
40.0 Diminishing notional capital rule ................................................................................................ 54 
41.0 Capital jointly held ...................................................................................................................... 57 
42.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital .................................................................................... 57 
43.0 Student related definitions ........................................................................................................ 59 
44.0 Treatment of students ................................................................................................................ 62 
45.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to council tax support ....................................... 62 
46.0 Calculation of grant income ....................................................................................................... 63 
47.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed ............................................ 64 
48.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed ................................ 65 
49.0 Student Covenant Income and Grant income – non disregard .................................................. 65 
50.0 Other amounts to be disregarded .............................................................................................. 65 
51.0 Treatment of student loans ........................................................................................................ 65 
51A.0 Treatment of fee loans ............................................................................................................... 66 
52.0 Treatment of payments from access funds ................................................................................ 67 
53.0 Disregard of contribution ........................................................................................................... 67 

Page 120



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 3	

54.0 Further disregard of student’s income ....................................................................................... 67 
55.0 Income treated as capital ........................................................................................................... 67 
56.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation .......................................................... 68 
57.0 Maximum council tax support .................................................................................................... 70 
58.0 Non-dependant deductions ....................................................................................................... 70 
59.0 Council tax support taper (applies to persons defined within Class E) ...................................... 72 
59A.0 Reduction of entitlement (Classes A & B) .................................................................................. 72 
60.0 Extended reductions .................................................................................................................. 73 
60A.0 Duration of extended reduction period ..................................................................................... 73 
60B.0 Amount of extended reduction .................................................................................................. 74 
60C Extended reductions – movers ................................................................................................... 74 
60D.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to council tax support under the 

general conditions of entitlement .............................................................................................. 74 
61.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) ............................................................ 74 
61A.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits) ............................... 75 
61B.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) ............................................ 75 
61C.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) – movers ............................................. 76 
61D.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to 

council tax support under the general conditions of entitlement ............................................. 76 
61E.0 Extended reductions: - Movers Generally  ................................................................................. 76 
64.0 Date on which entitlement is to begin ....................................................................................... 79 
65.0  - 66.0 Not Used ............................................................................................................................. 79 
67.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect .......................................................... 79 
68.0 Who may claim ........................................................................................................................... 81 
69.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under an authority’s scheme ............ 81 
69A.0 Date on which a claim made ...................................................................................................... 82 
70.0 Submission of evidence electronically ....................................................................................... 84 
71. 0 Use of telephone provided evidence ......................................................................................... 84 
72.0 Evidence and information .......................................................................................................... 84 
73.0 Amendment and withdrawal of claim  ....................................................................................... 85 
74.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances ................................................................................... 85 
Sections 75- 90 ...................................................................................................................................... 87 
Decisions, decision notices and awards of Council Tax Support ........................................................... 87 
75.0 Decisions by the authority .......................................................................................................... 88 
76.0 Notification of decision .............................................................................................................. 88 
77.0 Time and manner of granting council tax support ..................................................................... 88 
78.0 Persons to whom support is to be paid  ..................................................................................... 89 
79.0 Shortfall in support / reduction .................................................................................................. 90 
80.0 Payment on the death of the person entitled ............................................................................ 90 
81.0 Offsetting .................................................................................................................................... 90 
82 – 90.0 Not used ................................................................................................................................. 90 
91.0  Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and His Majesty’s 

Revenues and Customs (HMRC) ................................................................................................. 92 
92.0 Collection of information ........................................................................................................... 92 
93.0 Recording and holding information ............................................................................................ 92 
94.0 Forwarding and Checking of information ................................................................................... 92 
95.0  Persons affected by Decisions .................................................................................................... 94 
96.0  Revisions of Decisions ................................................................................................................ 94 
97.0 Written Statements .................................................................................................................... 94 
98.0 Terminations .............................................................................................................................. 94 
99.0 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority 96 
100.0 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A (1) (a) section 

13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act ........................................................................................................... 98 
Electronic Communication .................................................................................................................... 99 
101.0 Interpretation ........................................................................................................................... 100 
102.0 Conditions for the use of electronic communication ............................................................... 100 
103.0 Use of intermediaries ............................................................................................................... 100 
104.0 Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication ................................ 100 

Page 121



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 4	

105.0 Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information ........................................................... 101 
106.0 Proof of delivery of information ............................................................................................... 101 
106A.0 Proof of content of information ............................................................................................... 101 
Section 107 .......................................................................................................................................... 102 
Counter Fraud and Compliance ........................................................................................................... 102 
107.0 Counter Fraud and compliance ................................................................................................. 103 
Schedule 1 ........................................................................................................................................... 104 
Applicable Amounts ............................................................................................................................. 104 
Personal Allowance ............................................................................................................................. 105 
Family Premiums ................................................................................................................................. 105 
Premiums ............................................................................................................................................. 106 
Disability Premium ............................................................................................................................... 106 
Additional Condition for the Disability Premiums ............................................................................... 106 
Severe Disability Premiums ................................................................................................................. 107 
Enhanced Disability Premium .............................................................................................................. 107 
Disabled Child Premium ...................................................................................................................... 107 
Carer Premium .................................................................................................................................... 107 
Persons in receipt of concessionary payments ................................................................................... 107 
Persons in receipt of benefit for another ............................................................................................ 107 
Amounts of Premium .......................................................................................................................... 107 
The components .................................................................................................................................. 108 
Transitional Addition ........................................................................................................................... 108 
Amount of transitional addition .......................................................................................................... 108 
Schedule 2 ........................................................................................................................................... 109 
Not Used .............................................................................................................................................. 109 
Schedule 3 ........................................................................................................................................... 110 
Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings ........................................................................ 110 
Schedule 4 ........................................................................................................................................... 116 
Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings ......................................... 116 
Schedule 5 ........................................................................................................................................... 127 
Capital to be disregarded .................................................................................................................... 127 
Schedule 6 ........................................................................................................................................... 138 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme ............................................................................................................ 138 
  

Page 122



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 5	

1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme  
 
1.1 The following has been adopted by the Council and details the Council Tax Reduction scheme 

for the period from 1st April 2024. 
 
1.2 This document details how the scheme will operate for both pension credit age and working age 

applicants and in accordance with Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
specifies the classes of person who are to be entitled to a reduction under the scheme and is 
effective from 1st April 2024 for a period of one financial year.  

 
1.3 The scheme in respect of pension age applicants is defined by Central Government within the 

following: 
§ Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012; 
§ Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements and Default Scheme) (England) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2012; 
§ Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Transitional Provision) (England) Regulations 2013; 
§ Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) 

Regulations 2013;  
§ Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2013;  
§ The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

(No. 2) Regulations 2014; 
§ The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2015;  
§ The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2016; 
§ The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England)  Regulations 2017; 
§ The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2018; 
§  The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2020; 
§ The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations  2021;  
§ The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations  2022;  
§ The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations  2023; and 
§ Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by the Local Government Finance Act 

2012). 

The scheme for pension age applicants – Central Government’s scheme as defined by the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
 
1.4 There are three main classes under the prescribed pension credit age scheme, for each of which 

there are a number of qualifying criteria. In all cases individuals must not be of a prescribed class 
exempted from reduction, such as a person subject to immigration control with limited leave to 
remain. The definition of a pension credit age person is a person who; 

a. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; and  
b. is not, or, if he has a partner, his partner is not; 

i. a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on 
an income-related employment and support allowance; or 

ii. a person with an award of universal credit 
 
The three prescribed classes are as follows; 
 
Class A: pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount.  
 
On any day Class A consists of any person who is a pensioner:  

Page 123



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 6	

a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident;  
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated;  

c. who does not fall within a class of persons prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s 
scheme;  

d. whose income (if any) for the relevant week does not exceed his applicable amount calculated 
in accordance with paragraph 9 and Schedule 2 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992;  

e. not have capital savings above £16,000; and  
f. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme.  

 
Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount.  
 
On any day class B consists of any person who is a pensioner: 

a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident;  
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated;  

c. who does not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s 
scheme;  

d. whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 9 and Schedule 2 to the Local Government Finance Act 1992;  

e. in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where; 
 (i) amount A is the maximum Council Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the 

applicant’s case; and   
 (ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant 

week and his applicable amount;  
 g. not have capital savings above £16,000; and  

h. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme.  
 
Class C: alternative maximum Council Tax Reduction 
 
On any day class C consists of any person who is a pensioner: 

a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day;  

c. in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated;  
d. who does not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 

Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and excluded from the authority’s scheme;  
e. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme; and  
f. in relation to whom the condition below is met.  

 
The condition referred to in sub-paragraph f. is that no other resident of the dwelling is liable to 
pay rent to the applicant in respect of the dwelling and there is an alternative maximum Council 
Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person which is derived from the income, or 
aggregate income, of one or more residents to whom this sub-paragraph applies. 

 
The above applies to any other resident of the dwelling who: 
a. is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for 

the purposes of discount;  
b. is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions of section 

9 of the 1992 Act (spouse’s or civil partner’s joint and several liability for tax);  
c. is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous marriage 

where the applicant is a member of that couple or of that marriage and—  
(i)  in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in 

Page 124



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 7	

accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for the purposes 
of discount; or  
(ii)  in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage are 
not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be 
disregarded for the purposes of discount;  

d. is not a person who, jointly with the applicant, falls within the same paragraph of section 
6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) as applies in the case of the 
applicant; or  

e. is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall within the 
same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or more of those persons 
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for 
the purposes of discount.  

Disregard of certain incomes 
 
1.5 For those who have reached the qualifying age for state pension credit, the Council has resolved 

to enhance the government scheme (as defined by the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 to disregard in full the following: 
a. a war disablement pension; 
b. a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 
c. a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 

power of His Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about pensions 
for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence of service 
as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

d. a guaranteed income payment; 
e. a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 

mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
f. a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous to 

any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
g. pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made 

by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria. 
  
 The provisions outlined above, enhance the Central Government’s scheme. 
 
THE SCHEME FOR WORKING AGE APPLICANTS – THE COUNCIL’S LOCAL SCHEME 
 
1.6 The adopted scheme for working age applicants is a means test, which compares income against 

an assessment of applicable amounts (unless otherwise stated).  Full details of the working age 
scheme of the authority are contained within this document from section 2 onwards. The 
authority is required to specify a scheme for working age and therefore this scheme only applies 
to a person who; 
a. has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
b. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit if he, and his partner, is a person 

on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, on an income-related 
employment and support allowance or on universal credit. 

 
1.7 The Council has resolved that there will be two classes of persons who will receive a reduction 

in line with adopted scheme. There will be two main classes prescribed for, for each of which 
there will be a number of qualifying criteria. In all cases individuals must not be of a prescribed 
class exempted from reduction as specified within section 7 of this scheme. 

 
Class D 
 To obtain reduction the individual (or partner) must:  

a. have not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit1; or 
b. he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner, 

his partner, is a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 

	
1 Section 5 of this scheme 

Page 125



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 8	

income-related employment and support allowance; or a person with an award of 
universal credit. 

c. be liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is solely or mainly resident; 
d. is not deemed to be absent from the dwelling; 
e. not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 

1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 
f. be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction2 amount can be 

calculated; 
g. not have capital savings above £16,0003; 
h. be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay council tax falls within 

a week in respect of which the person’s income4  is less than their applicable amount5 or 
the applicant or partner is in receipt of income support, jobseekers allowance (income 
based) or employment and support allowance (income related); and 

i. has made a valid application for reduction6. 
 Maximum Council Tax Reduction stated above is defined within section 57 of this scheme 
 
Class E 
 To obtain reduction the individual (or partner) must:  

a. have not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit7; or 
b. he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner, 

his partner, is a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 
income-related employment and support allowance; or a person with an award of 
universal credit. 

c. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit if he, and his partner, is a person 
on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on an income-related 
employment and support allowance or in receipt of an award Universal Credit; 

d. be liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling in which they are solely or mainly 
resident; 

e. is not deemed to be absent from the dwelling; 
f. not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 

1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 
g. be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction8 amount can be 

calculated; 
h. not have capital savings above £16,0009; 
i. be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay council tax falls within 

a week in respect of which the person’s income10 is more than their applicable amount11; 
j. have made a valid application for reduction12; 
k. be a person in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where 

(i) amount A is the maximum Council Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the 
applicant’s case; and   

(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant 
week and his applicable amount. 

Maximum Council Tax Reduction stated above is defined within section 57 of this scheme 

The Standard Deduction 
 

• The standard deduction shall apply to the council tax support calculated for all working age 
claimants. The percentage deduction can be found in Schedule 6. 

	
2 Sections 57 to 63 of this scheme 
3 Sections 33 to 42 and Schedule 5 of this scheme 
4 Sections 15 to 32 and Schedules 3 and 4 of this scheme 
5 Sections 12 to 14 and Schedule 1 of this scheme 
6 Sections 68 to 74a of this scheme 
7 Section 5 of this scheme 
8 Sections 57 to 63 of this scheme 
9 Sections 33 to 42 and Schedule 5 of this scheme 
10 Sections 15 to 32 and Schedules 3 and 4 of this scheme 
11 Sections 12 to 14 and Schedule 1 of this scheme 
12 Sections 68 to 74a of this scheme 

Page 126



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 9	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Details of support to be given for working age claimants 
  

Page 127



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 10	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 2- 8 

Definitions and interpretation  

Page 128



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 11	

 

2.0 Interpretation – an explanation of the terms used within this scheme 
2.1  In this scheme– 
 ‘the Act’ means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992; 
 ‘the Administration Act’ means the Social Security Administration Act 1992; 
 ‘the 1973 Act’ means of Employment and Training Act 1973; 
 ‘the 1992 Act’ means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
 ‘the 2000 Act’ means the Electronic Communications Act 2000; 

‘Abbeyfield Home’ means an establishment run by the Abbeyfield Society including all bodies 
corporate or incorporate which are affiliated to that Society; 
‘adoption leave’ means a period of absence from work on ordinary or additional adoption leave 
by virtue of section 75A or 75B of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
‘applicable amounts’ means the weekly amount set by the Council which represents basic day 
to day living expenses; 
 ‘appropriate DWP office’ means an office of the Department for Work and Pensions dealing 
with state pension credit or claim office which is normally open to the public for the receipt of 
claims for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance or an employment and support allowance; 
‘assessment period’ means such period as is prescribed in sections 19 to 21 over which income 
falls to be calculated; 

 ‘attendance allowance’ means– 
(a) an attendance allowance under Part 3 of the Act; 
(b) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of the Act; 
(c) a payment under regulations made in exercise of the power conferred by paragraph 7(2)(b) 

of Part 2 of Schedule 8 to the Act; 
 (d) an increase of an allowance which is payable in respect of constant attendance under 

paragraph 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 8 to the Act; 
(e) a payment by virtue of article 14, 15, 16, 43 or 44 of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 
1983or any analogous payment; or 

 (f) any payment based on need for attendance which is paid as part of a war disablement 
pension; 
‘the authority’ means a billing authority in relation to whose area this scheme has effect by 
virtue of paragraph 4(6) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act; 

 ‘Back to Work scheme(s)’ means any scheme defined within the Jobseekers (Back to Work 
Schemes) Act 2013 or Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting Persons to Obtain 
Employment) Regulations 2013; 
‘basic rate’, where it relates to the rate of tax, has the same meaning as in the Income Tax Act 
2007 (see section 989 of that Act). 

 ‘the benefit Acts’ means the Act and the, the Jobseekers Act and the Welfare Reform Act; 
‘care home’ in England and Wales has the meaning assigned to it by section 3 of the Care 
Standards Act 2000 and in Scotland means a care home service within the meaning assigned to 
it by section 2(3) of the Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001; 
‘the Caxton Foundation’ means the charitable trust of that name established on 28th March 
2011 out of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of certain persons suffering 
from hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with its provisions; 
‘child’ means a person under the age of 16; 
‘child benefit’ has the meaning given by section 141 of the SSCBA as amended by The Child 
Benefit (General), Child Tax Credit (Amendment) Regulations 2014 and The Child Benefit 
(General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015; 

 ‘child tax credit’ means a child tax credit under section 8 of the Tax Credits Act;  
 ‘the Children Order’ means the Children (Northern Ireland) Order 1995;  

‘claim’ means a claim for council tax support;  
‘claimant’ means a person who the authority designates as able to claim Council Tax Support – 
for the purposes of this scheme all references are in the masculine gender but apply equally to 
male and female 
‘close relative’ means a parent, parent-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter- in-law, step-
parent, step-son, step-daughter, brother, sister, or if any of the preceding persons is one 
member of a couple, the other member of that couple;  

Page 129



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 12	

‘concessionary payment’ means a payment made under arrangements made by the Secretary 
of State with the consent of the Treasury which is charged either to the National Insurance Fund 
or to a Departmental Expenditure Vote to which payments of benefit or tax credits under the 
benefit Acts or the Tax Credits Act are charged; 
‘the Consequential Provisions Regulations’ means the Housing Benefit and Council tax support 
(Consequential Provisions) Regulations 2006; 
‘contributory employment and support allowance” means an allowance under Part 1 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2007 as amended by the provisions of Schedule 3, and Part 1 of Schedule 
14, to the Welfare Reform Act 2012 that remove references to an income-related allowance 
and a contributory allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 as that Part has 
effect apart from those provisions; 
‘converted employment and support allowance’ means an employment and support allowance 
which is not income-related and to which a person is entitled as a result of a conversion decision 
within the meaning of the Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations; 
‘council tax benefit’ means council tax benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
‘council tax reduction scheme’ has the same meaning as ‘council tax support or reduction’ 
‘council tax support (or reduction) ’ means council tax reduction as defined by S13a Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended);  
‘couple’ means; 

a. a man and a woman who are married to each other and are members of the same 
household; 

b. a man and a woman who are not married to each other but are living together as if 
they were a married couple or civil partners; 

c. two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of 
the same household; or  

d. two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living 
together as if they were civil partners, 
and for the purposes of sub-paragraph (d) Two people of the same sex are to be 
treated as living together as if they were civil partners if, and only if, they would be 
treated as living together as husband and wife were they of opposite sexes. The above 
includes the Marriage (Same Sex Couples) Act 2013 and The Marriage (Same Sex 
Couples) Act 2013 (Commencement No. 3) Order 2014; 

‘date of claim’ means the date on which the claim is made, or treated as made, for the purposes 
of this scheme 

  ‘designated authority’ means any of the following; 
the local authority; or a person providing services to, or authorised to exercise any function of, 
any such authority; 
‘designated office’ means the office designated by the authority for the receipt of claims for 
council tax support; 
(a) by notice upon or with a form approved by it for the purpose of claiming council tax support; 

or 
(b) by reference upon or with such a form to some other document available from it and sent 

by electronic means or otherwise on application; or  
(c) by any combination of the provisions set out in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above; 
‘disability living allowance’ means a disability living allowance under section 71 of the Act; 

 ‘dwelling’ has the same meaning in section 3 or 72 of the 1992 Act; 
 ‘earnings’ has the meaning prescribed in section 25 or, as the case may be, 27; 

‘the Eileen Trust’ means the charitable trust of that name established on 29th March 1993 out 
of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of persons eligible for payment in 
accordance with its provisions; 

 ‘electronic communication’ has the same meaning as in section 15(1) of the 2000 Act; 
‘employed earner’ is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(a) of the Act and also 
includes a person who is in receipt of a payment which is payable under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay or statutory maternity 
pay; 
‘Employment and Support Allowance Regulations’ means the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 and the Employment and Support Regulations 2013 as appropriate; 
‘Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations’ means the Employment 

Page 130



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 13	

and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) 
(Existing Awards) Regulations 2010; 
‘the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme’ means a scheme under section 17A (schemes 
for assisting persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the 
Secretary of State that is designed to assist applicants to obtain employment, including self-
employment, and which may include for any individual work-related activity (including work 
experience or job search). This also includes schemes covered by The Jobseekers Allowance 
(Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme) Regulations 2011 as amended by the Jobseekers 
(Back to Work Schemes) Act 2013 – see ‘Back to Work Schemes’; 
‘employment zone’ means an area within Great Britain designated for the purposes of section 
60 of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and 2014 and an ‘employment zone 
programme’ means a programme established for such an area or areas designed to assist 
applicants for a jobseeker’s allowance to obtain sustainable employment; 
‘employment zone contractor’ means a person who is undertaking the provision of facilities in 
respect of an employment zone programme on behalf of the Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions; 
‘enactment’ includes an enactment comprised in, or in an instrument made under, an Act of the 
Scottish Parliament; 
‘extended payment (or reduction)’ means a payment of council tax support payable pursuant 
to section 60; 
‘extended payment (or reduction) period’ means the period for which an extended reduction 
is payable in accordance with section 60A or 61A of this scheme; 
‘extended payment or extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)’ means a 
payment of council tax support payable pursuant to section 61; 

 ‘family’ has the meaning assigned to it by section 137(1) of the Act; 
‘the Fund’ means moneys made available from time to time by the Secretary of State for the 
benefit of persons eligible for payment in accordance with the provisions of a scheme 
established by him on 24th April 1992 or, in Scotland, on 10th April 1992; 
‘a guaranteed income payment’ means a payment made under article 14(1)(b) or article 21(1)(a) 
of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2005(b); 
‘he, him, his’ also refers to the feminine within this scheme 
‘housing benefit’ means housing benefit under Part 7 of the Act;  
‘the Housing Benefit Regulations’ means the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006; 

 ‘Immigration and Asylum Act’ means the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; 
‘an income-based jobseeker’s allowance’ and ‘a joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance’ have the 
same meaning as they have in the Jobseekers Act by virtue of section 1(4) of that Act; 
‘income-related employment and support allowance’ means an income-related allowance 
under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act; 
‘Income Support Regulations’ means the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987(a);  
‘independent hospital’–  

 (a) in England, means a hospital as defined by section 275 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 that is not a health service hospital as defined by that section; 
(b) in Wales, has the meaning assigned to it by section 2 of the Care Standards Act 2000; and 
(c) in Scotland, means an independent health care service as defined in section 2(5)(a) and (b) 
of the Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001; 

‘the Independent Living Fund (2006)’ means the Trust of that name established by a deed dated 
10th April 2006 and made between the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions of the one part 
and Margaret Rosemary Cooper, Michael Beresford Boyall and Marie Theresa Martin of the 
other part; 
‘invalid carriage or other vehicle’ means a vehicle propelled by a petrol engine or by electric 
power supplied for use on the road and to be controlled by the occupant; 
‘Jobseekers Act’ means the Jobseekers Act 1995; ‘Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations’ means the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 and Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 2013 as 
appropriate; 
‘the LET’ means the London Emergencies Trust; 
‘limited capability for work’ has the meaning given in section 1(4) of the Welfare Reform Act;  
‘limited capability for work-related activity’ has the meaning given in section 2(5) of the 

Page 131



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 14	

Welfare Reform Act; 
‘the London Bombing Relief Charitable Fund’ means the company limited by guarantee 
(number 5505072), and registered charity of that name established on 11th July 2005 for the 
purpose of (amongst other things) relieving sickness, disability or financial need of victims 
(including families or dependants of victims) of the terrorist attacks carried out in London on 7th 
July 2005; 
‘lone parent’ means a person who has no partner and who is responsible for and a member of 
the same household as a child or young person; 
‘the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust’ means the trust of that name, established on 29th 
January 1990 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain 
persons suffering from haemophilia; 
‘the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No.2) Trust’ means the trust of that name, established on 
3rd May 1991 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain 
persons suffering from haemophilia and other beneficiaries; 
‘the Macfarlane Trust’ means the charitable trust, established partly out of funds provided by 
the Secretary of State to the Haemophilia Society, for the relief of poverty or distress among 
those suffering from haemophilia; 
‘main phase employment and support allowance’ means an employment and support 
allowance where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the claimant includes a 
component under section 2(1)(b) or 4(2)(b) of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
‘the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme’ means a scheme within section 17A (schemes for 
assisting persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the Jobseekers 
Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the Secretary 
of State that is designed to provide work or work related activity for up to 30 hours per week 
over a period of four consecutive weeks with a view to assisting claimants to improve their 
prospect of obtaining employment; 
‘maternity leave’ means a period during which a woman is absent from work because she is 
pregnant or has given birth to a child, and at the end of which she has a right to return to work 
either under the terms of her contract of employment or under Part 8 of the Employment Rights 
Act 1996; 

 ‘member of a couple’ means a member of a married or unmarried couple; 
‘MFET Limited’ means the company limited by guarantee (number 7121661) of that name, 
established for the purpose in particular of making payments in accordance with arrangements 
made with the Secretary of State to persons who have acquired HIV as a result of treatment by 
the NHS with blood or blood products; 

 ‘mobility supplement’ means a supplement to which paragraph 9 of Schedule 4 refers; 
‘mover’ means a claimant who changes the dwelling in which the claimant is resident and in 
respect of which the claimant liable to pay council tax from a dwelling in the area of the 
appropriate authority to a dwelling in the area of the second authority; 

 ‘net earnings’ means such earnings as are calculated in accordance with section 26; 
 ‘net profit’ means such profit as is calculated in accordance with section 28; 

‘the New Deal options’ means the employment programmes specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) 
of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations and the training scheme specified in regulation 
75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
‘new dwelling’ means, for the purposes of the definition of ‘second authority’ and sections 60C, 
61C, 96 and 97, the dwelling to which a claimant has moved, or is about to move, in which the 
claimant is or will be resident; 

 ‘non-dependant’ has the meaning prescribed in section 3; 
 ‘non-dependant deduction’ means a deduction that is to be made under section 58; 

‘occupational pension’ means any pension or other periodical payment under an occupational 
pension scheme but does not include any discretionary payment out of a fund established for 
relieving hardship in particular cases; 
‘ordinary clothing or footwear’ means clothing or footwear for normal daily use, but does not 
include school uniforms, or clothing or footwear used solely for sporting activities; 

 ‘partner’ means– 
 (a)  where a claimant is a member of a couple, the other member of that couple; or 
 (b) where a claimant is polygamously married to two or more members of his household, 

any such member to whom he is married; 

Page 132



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 15	

‘paternity leave’ means a period of absence from work on leave by virtue of section 80A or 80B 
of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 

 ‘payment’ includes part of a payment; 
‘pension fund holder’ means with respect to a personal pension scheme or an occupational 
pension scheme, the trustees, managers or scheme administrators, as the case may be, of the 
scheme concerned; 
‘pensioner’ a person who has attained the age at which pension credit can be claimed; 
‘pensionable age’ has the meaning given by the rules in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to the 
Pensions Act 1995 as amended by the Public Services Pension Act 2013 and Pensions Act 2014; 
‘person affected’ shall be construed as a person to whom the authority decides is affected by 
any decision on for council tax support 
‘person on income support’ means a person in receipt of income support;  
‘personal independence payment’ has the meaning given by Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 

 2012 and the Social Security (Personal Independence Payments) 2013; 
 ’personal pension scheme’ means– 

a. a personal pension scheme as defined by section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 as 
amended by the Public Service Pension Act 2013; 

b. an annuity contractor trust scheme approved under section 20 or 21of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 or a substituted contract within the meaning of section 622(3) 
or that Act which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme by virtue of 
paragraph 1(1)(f) of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 2004; 

c. a personal pension scheme approved under Chapter 4 of Part 14 of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme 
by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(g) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 200413;; 

‘policy of life insurance’ means any instrument by which the payment of money is assured on 
death (except death by accident only) or the happening of any contingency dependent on human 
life, or any instrument evidencing a contract which is subject to payment of premiums for a term 
dependent on human life; 

 ‘polygamous marriage’ means a marriage to which section 133(1) of the Act refers; 
’public authority’ includes any person certain of whose functions are functions of a public 
nature; 
‘qualifying age for state pension credit’ means (in accordance with section 1(2)(b) and (6) of the 
State Pension Credit Act)– 

 (a) in the case of a woman, pensionable age; or 
(b) in the case of a man, the age which is pensionable age in the case of a woman born on the 
same day as the man; 

 ’qualifying contributory benefit’ means; 
 (a) severe disablement allowance;  
 (b) incapacity benefit; 

(c) contributory employment and support allowance; 
 ‘qualifying income-related benefit’ means 

 (a) income support; 
 (b) income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
 (c) income-related employment and support allowance; 

‘qualifying person’ means a person in respect of whom payment has been made from the Fund, 
the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation,the London Bombings 
Relief Charitable Fund, the WLMEF or the LET. 
‘reduction or support week’ means a period of 7 consecutive days commencing upon a Monday 
and ending on a Sunday; 

 ‘relative’ means a close relative, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece; 
 ‘relevant authority’ means an authority administering council tax support; 
 relevant week’ In relation to any particular day, means the week within which the day in 
 question falls; 
 ‘remunerative work’ has the meaning prescribed in section 6; 

‘rent’ means ‘eligible rent’ to which regulation 12 of the Housing Benefit Regulations refers less 
any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under regulation 74 (non-

	
13 As amended by the Finance Act 2014 

Page 133



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 16	

dependant deductions) of those Regulations; 
 ‘resident’ has the meaning it has in Part 1 or 2 of the 1992 Act; 

‘Scottish basic rate’ means  the  rate  of  income  tax  of  that  name  calculated  in accordance 
with section 6A of the Income Tax Act 2007; 
‘Scottish taxpayer’ has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 4A of the Scotland Act 1998 

 ‘second adult’ has the meaning given to it in Schedule 2; 
’second authority’ means the authority to which a mover is liable to make payments for the new 
dwelling; 

 ‘self-employed earner’ is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(b) of the Act; 
‘self-employment route’ means assistance in pursuing self-employed earner’s employment 
whilst participating in– 
a. an employment zone programme;  
b. a programme provided or other arrangements made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act 

(functions of the Secretary of State) or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) 
Act 1990 (functions in relation to training for employment, etc.);  

c. the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme;  
d. a scheme prescribed in regulation 3 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting 

Persons to Obtain Employment) Regulations 2013; 
e. Back to Work scheme. 

‘Service User’ references in this scheme to an applicant participating as a service user are 
to  

a. a person who is being consulted by or on behalf of— 
(i) the Secretary of State in relation to any of the Secretary of State’s functions in 
the field of social security or child support or under section 2 of the Employment and 
Training Act 1973; or 
(ii) a body which conducts research or undertakes monitoring for the purpose of 
planning or improving such functions in their capacity as a person affected or potentially 
affected by the exercise of those functions or the carer of such a person; or 

b. the carer of a person consulted as described in sub-paragraph (a) where the carer is not 
being consulted as described in that sub-paragraph 

 ‘single claimant’ means a claimant who neither has a partner nor is a lone parent; 
‘the Skipton Fund’ means the ex-gratia payment scheme administered by the Skipton Fund 
Limited, incorporated on 25th March 2004, for the benefit of certain persons suffering from 
hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with the scheme’s provisions. 
’special account’ means an account as defined for the purposes of Chapter 4A of Part 8 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or Chapter 5 of Part 10 of the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations; 
‘sports award’ means an award made by one of the Sports Councils named in section 23(2) of 
the National Lottery etc Act 1993 out of sums allocated to it for distribution under that section; 
‘State Pension Credit Act’ means the State Pension Credit Act 2002;  
‘student’ has the meaning prescribed in section 43; 
‘subsistence allowance’ means an allowance which an employment zone contractor has agreed 
to pay to a person who is participating in an employment zone programme; 
‘support or reduction week’ means a period of 7 consecutive days commencing upon a Monday 
and ending on a Sunday; 

 ‘the Tax Credits Act’ means the Tax Credits Act 2002;  
 ‘tax year’ means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 5th April  in 
 the next; 

‘training allowance’ means an allowance (whether by way of periodical grants or otherwise) 
payable– 
(a) out of public funds by a Government department or by or on behalf of the Secretary of State, 
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise, the Young 
People’s Learning Agency for England, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or Welsh Ministers; 
(b) to a person for his maintenance or in respect of a member of his family; and 
(c) for the period, or part of the period, during which he is following a course of training or 
instruction provided by, or in pursuance of arrangements made with, the department or 
approved by the department in relation to him or so provided or approved by or on behalf of 

Page 134



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 17	

the Secretary of State, Skills Development Scotland Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands 
Enterprise or the Welsh Ministers, but it does not include an allowance paid by any Government 
department to or in respect of a person by reason of the fact that he is following a course of full-
time education, other than under arrangements made under section 2 of the 1973 Actor is 
training as a teacher; 
‘the Trusts’ means the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust and the 
Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust; 
‘Universal Credit’ means any payment of Universal Credit payable under the Welfare Reform 
Act 2012, the Universal Credit Regulations 2013, The Universal Credit (Consequential, 
Supplementary, Incidental and Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 2013, Universal Credit 
(Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013 and the Universal Credit (Transitional 
Provisions) Regulations 2014; 
‘Uprating Act’ means the Welfare Benefit Up-rating Act 2013, the Welfare Benefits Up-rating 
Order 2014 and the Welfare Benefits Up-rating Order 2015; 
 ‘voluntary organisation’ means a body, other than a public or local authority, the activities of 
which are carried on otherwise than for profit; 
’war disablement pension’ means any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in respect of 
disablement under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and 
Pensions) Act 2003; 
‘war pension’ means a war disablement pension, a war widow’s pension or a war widower’s 
pension; 
‘war widow’s pension’ means any pension or allowance payable to a woman as a widow under 
an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in 
respect of the death or disablement of any person; 
‘war widower’s pension’ means any pension or allowance payable to a man as a widower or to 
a surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax 
(Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any person; 
‘water charges’ means; 
(a) as respects England and Wales, any water and sewerage charges under Chapter 1 of Part 5 
of the Water Industry Act 1991, 
(b) as respects Scotland, any water and sewerage charges established by Scottish Water under 
a charges scheme made under section 29A of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002, in so far 
as such charges are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his home; 

 ’Welfare Reform Act’ means the Welfare Reform Act 2007;  
‘the WLMEF’ means the ‘We Love Manchester Emergency Fund’; 
‘Working Tax Credit Regulations’ means the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum 
Rate) Regulations 2002 as amended14; and ‘young person’ has the meaning prescribed in section 
9(1). 

  
2.2 In this scheme, references to a claimant occupying a dwelling or premises as his home shall be 

construed in accordance with regulation 7 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006. 
 
2.3 In this scheme, where an amount is to be rounded to the nearest penny, a fraction of a penny 

shall be disregarded if it is less than half a penny and shall otherwise be treated as a whole 
penny. 

 
2.4 For the purpose of this scheme, a person is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance on any 

day in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance is payable to him and on any 
day; 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income- based 

jobseeker’s allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance with regulation 
27A of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or section 19 or 20A or regulations made 
under section 17A of the Jobseekers Act (circumstances in which a jobseeker’s allowance 
is not payable); or 

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to that Act and which 

	
14 The Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2013; The Working Tax Credit 
(Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 

Page 135

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1736/contents/made


Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 18	

falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income- based jobseeker’s 
allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for regulation 27A of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or section 19 or 20A or regulations made under 
section 17A of that Act; 

(c) in respect of which he is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the 
Jobseekers Act and no joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance is payable in respect of that 
couple as a consequence of either member of that couple being subject to sanctions for 
the purposes of section 20A of that Act; 

(d) in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or a joint-claim jobseeker’s 
allowance would be payable but for a restriction imposed pursuant to section 6B, 7, 8 or 
9 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions). 

 
2.4A For the purposes of this scheme, a person is on an income-related employment and support 

allowance on any day in respect of which an income-related employment and support allowance 
is payable to him and on any day; 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income- related 

employment and support allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance 
with section 18 of the Welfare Reform Act disqualification; or 

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to that Act and which 
falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income- related employment and 
support allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for section 18 of that 
Act. 

 
2.5 For the purposes of this scheme, two persons shall be taken to be estranged only if their 

estrangement constitutes a breakdown of the relationship between them. 
 
2.6 In this scheme, references to any person in receipt of state pension credit includes a person who 

would be in receipt of state pension credit but for regulation 13 of the State Pension Credit 
Regulations 2002 (small amounts of state pension credit). 

 

3.0 Definition of non-dependant 
 
3.1 In this scheme, ‘non-dependant’ means any person, except someone to whom paragraph 3.2 

applies, who normally resides with a claimant or with whom a claimant normally resides. 
 
3.2 This paragraph applies to; 

a.  any member of the claimant’s family; 
b. if the claimant is polygamously married, any partner of his and any child or young person 

who is a member of his household and for whom he or one of his partners is responsible; 
c. a child or young person who is living with the claimant but who is not a member of his 

household by virtue of section 11(membership of the same household); 
d. subject to paragraph 3.3, any person who, with the claimant, is jointly and severally liable 

to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling for any day under sections 6, 7 or 75 of the 
1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax); 

e. subject to paragraph 3.3, any person who is liable to make payments on a commercial 
basis to the claimant or the claimant’s partner in respect of the occupation of the 
dwelling; 

f. a person who lives with the claimant in order to care for him or a partner of his and who 
is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation which makes a charge to the claimant 
or his partner for the services provided by that person. 

 
3.3 Excepting persons to whom paragraph 3.2 a) to c) and f) refer, a person to whom any of the 

following sub-paragraphs applies shall be a non-dependant– 
a. a person who resides with the person to whom he is liable to make payments in respect 

of the dwelling and either; 
i. that person is a close relative of his or her partner; or  

ii. the tenancy or other agreement between them is other than on a 

Page 136



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 19	

commercial basis; 
b. a person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling appears to the 

authority to have been created to take advantage of the council tax support scheme 
except someone who was, for any period within the eight weeks prior to the creation of 
the agreement giving rise to the liability to make such payments, otherwise liable to make 
payments of rent in respect of the same dwelling; 
 

c. a person who becomes jointly and severally liable with the claimant for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling and who was, at any time during the period of eight weeks prior to 
his becoming so liable, a non-dependant of one or more of the other residents in that 
dwelling who are so liable for the tax, unless the authority is satisfied that the change 
giving rise to the new liability was not made to take advantage of the support scheme. 

 
4.0 Requirement to provide a National Insurance Number15 
 
4.1 No person whose shall be entitled to support unless the criteria below in 4.2 is satisfied in 

relation both to the person making the claim and to any other person in respect of whom he is 
claiming support. 

 
4.2 This subsection is satisfied in relation to a person if– 

a. the claim for support is accompanied by; 
i. a statement of the person’s national insurance number and information or evidence 

establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or 
ii. information or evidence enabling the national insurance number that has been 

allocated to the person to be ascertained; or 
b. the person makes an application for a national insurance number to be allocated to him 

which is accompanied by information or evidence enabling such a number to be so allocated  
 
4.3 Paragraph 4.2 shall not apply– 

a. in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom council tax support is claimed; 
b. to a person who; 

i. is a person in respect of whom a claim for council tax support is made; 
ii. is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act; 
iii. is a person from abroad for the purposes of this scheme as defined in section 2.2; and 
iv. has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 

5.0 Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit  
5.1 This scheme applies to a person if: 
 (i)  he has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or  
 (ii)  he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a  
  partner,  his partner, is; 

(a) a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 
income-related employment and support allowance; or   

(b) a person with an award of universal credit. 
 
6.0 Remunerative work 
 
6.1 Subject to the following provisions of this section, a person shall be treated for the purposes of 

this scheme as engaged in remunerative work if he is engaged, or, where his hours of work 
fluctuate, he is engaged on average, for not less than 16 hours a week, in work for which 
payment is made or which is done in expectation of payment.  

 
6.2 Subject to paragraph 6.3, in determining the number of hours for which a person is engaged in 

work where his hours of work fluctuate, regard shall be had to the average of hours worked 
over; 

	
15 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 137



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 20	

a. if there is a recognisable cycle of work, the period of one complete cycle (including, 
where the cycle involves periods in which the person does no work, those periods but 
disregarding any other absences); 

b. in any other case, the period of 5 weeks immediately prior to that date of claim, or such 
other length of time as may, in the particular case, enable the person’s weekly average 
hours of work to be determined more accurately, 

 
6.3 Where, for the purposes of paragraph 6.2 a), a person’s recognisable cycle of work at a school, 

other educational establishment or other place of employment is one year and includes periods 
of school holidays or similar vacations during which he does not work, those periods and any 
other periods not forming part of such holidays or vacations during which he is not required to 
work shall be disregarded in establishing the average hours for which he is engaged in work. 

 
6.4 Where no recognisable cycle has been established in respect of a person’s work, regard shall be 

had to the number of hours or, where those hours will fluctuate, the average of the hours, which 
he is expected to work in a week. 

 
6.5 A person shall be treated as engaged in remunerative work during any period for which he is 

absent from work referred to in paragraph 6.1 if the absence is either without good cause or by 
reason of a recognised customary or other holiday. 

 
6.6 A person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related 

employment and support allowance for more than 3 days in any reduction week shall be treated 
as not being in remunerative work in that week. 

 
6.7 A person shall not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which the person 

is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave, or is absent from work because he is ill. 
 
6.8 A person shall not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which he is 

engaged in an activity in respect of which; 
a. a sports award has been made, or is to be made, to him; and 
b. no other payment is made or is expected to be made to him. 

 
7.0 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain and Persons Subject to Immigration Control 
 
Persons treated as not being in Great Britain 
 
7.1  Persons treated as not being in Great Britain are a class of person prescribed for the purposes 

of paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be included in an 
authority’s scheme.  

 
7.2 Except where a person falls within paragraph (5) or (6), a person is to be treated as not being 

in Great Britain if the person is not habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 
Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland.  

 
7.3 A person must not be treated as habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 

Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland unless the person has a right to reside in one 
of those places.  

 
7.4 For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right, which exists by 

virtue of, or in accordance with—  
(a)  regulation 13 of the EEA Regulations;  
(aa)  regulation 14 of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists under 

that regulation because the person is— 
(i) a jobseeker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified person” in 

regulation 6(1) of those Regulations, or 
(ii) a family member (within the meaning of regulation 7 of those Regulations) 

of such a jobseeker; 

Page 138



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 21	

(b) regulation 15A(1) of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists 
under that regulation because the applicant satisfies the criteria in paragraph (5) of 
that regulation of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (in a case 
where the right to reside arises because a British citizen would otherwise be deprived 
of the genuine enjoyment of their rights as a European Union citizen). 

 
7.4A  For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right which exists by 

virtue of a person having been granted limited leave to enter, or remain in, the United Kingdom 
under the Immigration Act 1971 by virtue of—  
(a) (Removed by the Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) 

(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2021 
(b) Appendix EU to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act;  
(c) being a person with a Zambrano right to reside as defined in Annex 1 of Appendix EU 

to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act; or 
(d) having arrived in the United Kingdom with an entry clearance that was granted under 
 Appendix EU (Family Permit) to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that 
Act. 

 
7.4B Paragraph (4A)(b) does not apply to a person who—  

(a) has a right to reside granted by virtue of being a family member of a relevant person of 
Northern Ireland; and 

(b) would have a right to reside under the EEA Regulations if the relevant person of Northern 
Ireland were an EEA national, provided that the right to reside does not fall within 
paragraph (4)(a) or (b) 

 
 
7.5 A person falls within this paragraph if the person is—  

(za) a person granted leave in accordance with the immigration rules made under 
section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971, where such leave is granted by virtue of— 

(i)the Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy; or 
(ii)the previous scheme for locally employed staff in Afghanistan (sometimes 
referred to as the ex-gratia scheme); 

(zb) a person in Great Britain not coming within sub-paragraph (za) or (e) who left 
Afghanistan in connection with the collapse of the Afghan government that took 
place on 15th August 2021; 

(zc) a person in Great Britain who was residing in Ukraine immediately before 1st 
January 2022, left Ukraine in connection with the Russian invasion which took place 
on 24th February 2022 and— 
(i) has been granted leave in accordance with immigration rules made under 

section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971; 
(ii) has a right of abode in the United Kingdom within the meaning given in section 

2 of that Act; or 
(iii) does not require leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom in accordance 

with section 3ZA of that Act; 
(a) a qualified person for the purposes of regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations as a worker 

or a self-employed person; 
(b) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (a); 
(c) a person who has a right to reside permanently in the United Kingdom by virtue of 

regulation 15(1)(c), (d) or (e) of the EEA Regulations; 
(ca) a family member of a relevant person of Northern Ireland, with a right to reside 

 which falls within paragraph (4A)(b), provided that the relevant person of Northern 
 Ireland falls within paragraph (5)(a), or would do so but for the fact that they are not 
 an EEA national; 

(cb) a frontier worker within the meaning of regulation 3 of the Citizens’ Rights (Frontier 
 Workers) (EU Exit) Regulations 2020; 
(cc) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (cb), who has been granted 

 limited  leave to enter, or remain in, the United Kingdom by virtue of Appendix EU 
to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971 

Page 139



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 22	

(d) a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the definition in 
Article 1 of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees done at Geneva on 28th 
July 1951, as extended by Article 1(2) of the Protocol relating to the Status of 
Refugees done at New York on 31st January 1967; 

(e) a person who has been granted, or who is deemed to have been granted, leave 
outside the rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971 

(f) a person who has humanitarian protection granted under those rules;  
(g) a person who is not a person subject to immigration control within the meaning of 

section 115(9) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 and who is in the United 
Kingdom as a result of his deportation, expulsion or other removal by compulsion of 
law from another country to the United Kingdom; 

(h) in receipt of income support or on an income-related employment and support 
allowance; or 

(ha) in receipt of an income-based jobseeker’s allowance and has a right to reside 
other than a right to reside falling within paragraph (4). 

 
7.6 A person falls within this paragraph if the person is a Crown servant or member of His 

Majesty’s forces posted overseas.  
 
7.7 A person mentioned in sub-paragraph (6) is posted overseas if the person is performing 

overseas the duties of a Crown servant or member of His Majesty’s forces and was, 
immediately before the posting or the first of consecutive postings, habitually resident in the 
United Kingdom.  

 
7.8 In this regulation—  

“claim for asylum” has the same meaning as in section 94(1) of the Immigration and Asylum 
Act 1999;  
“Crown servant” means a person holding an office or employment under the Crown;  

 “EEA Regulations” means the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2006; and 
 the Immigration (European Economic Area) (Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2014 and 
 references to the EEA Regulations are to be read with Schedule 4 to the Immigration and Social 
 Security Co-ordination (EU Withdrawal) Act 2020 (Consequential, Saving, Transitional and 
 Transitory Provisions) Regulations  2020 
 “EEA national” has the meaning given in regulation 2(1) of the EEA Regulations; 
 “family member” has the meaning given in regulation 7(1)(a), (b) or (c) of the EEA Regulations, 
 except that regulation 7(4) of the EEA Regulations does not apply for the purposes of 
 paragraphs (4B) and (5)(ca); 
 “relevant person of Northern Ireland” has the meaning given in Annex 1 of Appendix EU to the 
 immigration rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971; and  

“His Majesty’s forces” has the same meaning as in the Armed Forces Act 2006.  
 
Persons subject to immigration control 
 
7.9 Persons subject to immigration control are a class of person prescribed for the purposes of 

paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be included in an 
authority’s scheme. 

7.10 A person who is a national of a state which has ratified the European Convention on Social and 
Medical Assistance (done in Paris on 11th December 1953) or a state which has ratified the 
Council of Europe Social Charter (signed in Turin on 18th October 1961) and who is lawfully 
present in the United Kingdom is not a person subject to immigration control for the purpose 
of paragraph 7.9 

 
7.11  “Person subject to immigration control” has the same meaning as in section 115(9) of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 

7A.0 Transitional provision 

7A.1 The above does not apply to a person who, on 31st March 2015— 

Page 140



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 23	

(a) is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a council tax reduction under an 
authority’s scheme established under section 13A(2) of the Act; and 

(b) is entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, until the first of the events in paragraph 

7A.2 occurs. 

7A.2 The events are— 

(a) the  person  makes  a  new  application  for  a  reduction  under  an  authority’s  scheme 
established under section 13A(2) of the Act; or 

(b) the person ceases to be entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance. 
 
7A.3 In this section “the Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

8.0 Temporary Absence (period of absence) 
 
8.1 Where a person is absent from the dwelling throughout any day then no support shall be payable 

 
8.2 A person shall not, in relation to any day, which falls within a period of temporary absence from 

that dwelling, be a prescribed person under paragraph 8.1. 
 
8.3  In paragraph 8.2, a ‘period of temporary absence’ means– 

a. a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first 
whole day on which a person resides in residential accommodation in Great Britain where 
and for so long as; 

i.  the person resides in that accommodation; 
ii. the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 

iii. that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of absence from the 
dwelling of more than 52 weeks, 

where he has entered the accommodation for the purpose of ascertaining whether it suits his 
needs and with the intention of returning to the dwelling if it proves not to suit his needs; 
 
b. a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of absence 

from the dwelling, where and for so long as; 
i. the person intends to return to the dwelling; 

ii. the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 
iii. that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks; and 

c. a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with the first 
whole day of absence, where and for so long as 

i. the person intends to return to the dwelling;  
ii. the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 

iii. the person is a person to whom paragraph 8.4 applies; and 
iv. the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 52 weeks or, in exceptional 

circumstances, is unlikely substantially to exceed that period. 

8.3A A person who is temporarily absent from a dwelling he occupies as his home and is absent 
outside Great Britain shall be treated as occupying that dwelling as his home whilst he is 
temporarily absent, for a period not exceeding 4 weeks beginning with the first day of that 
absence from Great Britain, provided that—  

(a)  the person intends to return to occupy the dwelling as his home;  
(b)  the part of the dwelling normally occupied by the person has not been let or, as the case 
may be, sub-let; and  
(c)  the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks.  

8.3B A person who is temporarily absent from a dwelling he occupies as his home and is absent 
outside of Great Britain as a member of the armed forces away on operations, a mariner or a 
continental shelf worker shall be treated as occupying that dwelling as his home whilst he is 

Page 141



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 24	

temporarily absent, for a period not exceeding 26 weeks beginning with the first day of that 
absence from Great Britain, provided that—  

(a)  the person intends to return to occupy the dwelling as his home;  
(b)  the part of the dwelling normally occupied by the person has not been let or, as the case 
may be, sub-let; and  
(c)  the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks.  

8.3C  This paragraph applies where—  

(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
(b) the temporary absence from Great Britain is in connection with the death of the—  

(i)  person’s partner or a child or young person for whom he or his partner is responsible;  
(ii)  person’s close relative;  
(iii)  close relative of the person’s partner; or  
(iv)  close relative of a child or young person for whom the person or their partner is 
responsible;  

(c) the person intends to return to occupy the dwelling as his home; and  
(d) the part of the dwelling normally occupied by the person has not been let or, as the 

case may be, sub-let.  

8.3D person to whom paragraph (8.3C) applies shall be treated as occupying a dwelling he is 
absent from as his home whilst he is temporarily absent for a period not exceeding 4 weeks 
beginning with the first day of that absence from Great Britain.  

8.3E  The period of absence in paragraph (8.3D) may be extended by up to 4 further weeks if the 
relevant authority considers it unreasonable to expect the person to return to Great Britain 
within the first 4 weeks  

 
8.4 This paragraph applies to a person who is; 
 

a. detained in custody on remand pending trial or required, as a condition of bail, to reside; 
i. in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in paragraph 8.1, or  

ii. in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007, or, 
detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction;  

b.      resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient; 
c. undergoing, or his partner or his dependent child is undergoing, in Great Britain or 

elsewhere, medical treatment, or medically approved convalescence, in accommodation 
other than residential accommodation; 

d. following, in Great Britain or elsewhere, a training course; 
e. undertaking medically approved care of a person residing in Great Britain or elsewhere; 
f. undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily absent from the 

dwelling normally occupied by that parent or guardian for the purpose of receiving 
medically approved care of medical treatment; 

g. in Great Britain, receiving medically approved care provided in accommodation other 
than residential accommodation; 

h. a student; 
i. receiving care provided in residential accommodation other than a person to whom 

paragraph 8.3a) applies; or 
j. has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, or by a person 

who was formerly a member of the family of the person first mentioned. 
 
8.5 This paragraph applies to a person who is: 

a. detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a sentence imposed by 

Page 142



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 25	

a court (other than a person who is detained in hospital under the provisions of the 
Mental Health Act 1983 (as amended by the Mental Health (Discrimination) Act 2013), 
or, in Scotland, under the provisions of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) 
(Scotland) Act 2003 or the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995) or, in Northern 
Ireland, under Article 4 or 12 of the Mental Health (Northern Ireland) Order 1986; and 

b. on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made under the 
provisions of the Prison Act 1952 or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 1989 

 
8.6 Where paragraph 8.5 applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on temporary release– 

a. if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of temporary absence 
under paragraph 8.3 b) or c), he shall be treated, for the purposes of paragraph 8.1, as if 
he continues to be absent from the dwelling, despite any return to the dwelling; 

b. for the purposes of paragraph 8.4 a), he shall be treated as if he remains in detention; 
c. If he does not fall within sub-paragraph a), he is not considered to be a person who is 

liable to pay Council Tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is resident 
 
8.7 In this section; 

• ‘medically approved’ means certified by a medical practitioner; 
• ‘continental shelf worker’ means a person who is employed, whether under a contract 

of service or not, in a designated area or a prescribed area in connection with any 
activity mentioned in section 11(2) of the Petroleum Act 1998 

• ‘designated area’ means any area which may from time to time be designated by Order 
in Council under the Continental Shelf Act 1964 as an area within which the rights of the 
United Kingdom with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources may 
be exercised;  

“mariner” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a master or 
member of the crew of any ship or vessel, or in any other capacity on board any ship or 
vessel, where: 

a) the employment in that capacity is for the purposes of that ship or vessel or its 
crew or any passengers or cargo or mails carried by the ship or vessel; and  

b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its 
performance (in whole or in part) while the ship or vessel is on its voyage  

• ‘patient’ means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an in- patient 
in any hospital or similar institution; ‘residential accommodation’ means accommodation 
which is provided; 
a. in a care home;  
b. in an independent hospital;  
c. in an Abbeyfield Home; or 
d. in an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal Charter 

or constituted by Act of Parliament other than a local social services authority; 

• prescribed area” means any area over which Norway or any member State (other than the 
United Kingdom) exercises sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring the seabed and 
subsoil and exploiting their natural resources, being an area outside the territorial seas of 
Norway or such member State or any other area which is from time to time specified 
under section 10(8) of the Petroleum Act 1998  

• ‘training course’ means a course of training or instruction provided wholly or partly by or on 
behalf of or in pursuance of arrangements made with, or approved by or on behalf of, Skills 
Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise, a government 
department or the Secretary of State. 

Page 143



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 26	

 

 

 

 
  

Page 144



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 27	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 9 - 11 

The family for Council Tax Support purposes 
 

Page 145



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 28	

9.0 Membership of a family 

 
9.1 Within the support scheme adopted by the Council ‘family’ means; 

a. a married or unmarried couple; 
b. married or unmarried couple and a member of the same household for whom one of them 

is or both are responsible and who is a child or a young person; 
c. two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of the 

same household (with or without children);  
d. two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living together 

as if they were civil partners (with or without children), 
e. and for the purposes of sub-paragraph (d) two people of the same sex are to be regarded 

as living together as if they were civil partners if, but only if, they would be regarded as 
living together as husband and wife were they instead two people of the opposite sex; 

f. except in prescribed circumstances, a person who is not a member of a married or 
unmarried couple and a member of the same household for whom that person is 
responsible and who is a child or a young person; 

 
 For the purposes of the scheme a child is further defined as a ‘child or young person’ 

A ‘child’ means a person under the age of 16 and a ‘Young Person’ is someone aged 16 or over 
but under 20 and who satisfies other conditions. These conditions are: 

• they are aged 16, have left 'relevant education' or training, and 31 August following 
the sixteenth birthday has not yet been passed; 

• they are aged 16 or 17, have left education or training, are registered for work, 
education or training, are not in remunerative work and are still within their 
'extension period'; 

• they are on a course of full-time non-advanced education, or are doing 'approved 
training', and they began that education or training before reaching the age of 19; 

• they have finished a course of full-time non-advanced education, but are enrolled on 
another such course (other than one provided as a result of their employment); 

• they have left 'relevant education' or 'approved training' but have not yet passed 
their 'terminal date'. 

 
9.2 Paragraph 9.1 the definition of child or young person shall not apply to a person who is; 

a.  on income support ; 
b. an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income related employment and support 

allowance; or be entitled to an award of Universal Credit; or  
c. a person to whom section 6 of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 applies. 

 
9.3 The definition also includes a child or young person in respect of whom there is an entitlement 

to child benefit but only for the period that Child Benefit is payable. 
. 
10.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible (or not responsible) for a child 

or young person. 
 
10.1 Subject to the following paragraphs a person shall be treated as responsible for a child or young 

person who is normally living with him and this includes a child or young person to whom 
paragraph 9.3 applies 

 
10.2 Where a child or young person spends equal amounts of time in different households, or where 

there is a question as to which household he is living in, the child or young person shall be 
treated for the purposes of paragraph 9.1 as normally living with; 
a. the person who is receiving child benefit in respect of him; or  
b. if there is no such person; 

i. where only one claim for child benefit has been made in respect of him, the person 
who made that claim; or 

ii. in any other case the person who has the primary responsibility for him. 
 

Page 146



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 29	

10.3 For the purposes of this scheme a child or young person shall be the responsibility of only one 
person in any reduction week and any person other than the one treated as responsible for the 
child or young person under this section shall be treated as not so responsible. 

 

11.0 Circumstances in which a child or young person is to be treated as being or not being a member 
of the household 

 
11.1 Subject to paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3, the claimant and any partner and, where the claimant or 

his partner is treated as responsible by virtue of section 10 (circumstances in which a person is 
to be treated as responsible or not responsible for a child or young person) for a child or young 
person, that child or young person and any child of that child or young person, shall be treated 
as members of the same household notwithstanding that any of them is temporarily absent 
from that household. 

 
11.2 A child or young person shall not be treated as a member of the claimant’s household where he 

is– 
a. placed with the claimant or his partner by a local authority under section 23(2)(a) of the 

Children Act 1989 or by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of that Act, or in 
Scotland boarded out with the claimant or his partner under a relevant enactment; or 

b. placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with the claimant or his partner prior to adoption; or 
c. placed for adoption with the claimant or his partner in accordance with the Adoption and 

Children Act 200216 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009. 
 
11.3 Subject to paragraph 11.4, paragraph 11.1 shall not apply to a child or young person who is not 

living with the claimant and he– 
a. is being looked after by, or in Scotland is in the care of, a local authority under a relevant 

enactment; or 
b. has been placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with a person other than the claimant prior 

to adoption; or 
c. has been placed for adoption in accordance with the Adoption and Children Act 2002 or 

the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009; or in accordance with an adoption 
allowance scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 
2007 (adoption allowances schemes). 

 
11.4 An authority shall treat a child or young person to whom paragraph 11.3 a) applies as being a 

member of the claimant’s household in any reduction week where; 
a. that child or young person lives with the claimant for part or all of that reduction week; 

and 
b. the authority considers that it is responsible to do so taking into account the nature and 

frequency of that child’s or young person’s visits. 
 
11.5 In this paragraph ‘relevant enactment’ means the Army Act 1955, the Air Force Act 1955, the 

Naval Discipline Act 1957, the Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958, the Social Work 
(Scotland) Act 1968, the Family Law Reform Act 1969, the Children and Young Persons Act 1969, 
the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973, the Children Act 1975, the Domestic Proceedings and 
Magistrates’ Courts Act 1978, the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 1978, the Family Law 
Act 1986, the Children Act 1989 and the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 and the Legal Aid, 
Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

	
16 The Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Commencement No. 12) Order 2014 
	

Page 147



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 30	

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 12 – 14 & Schedule 1 

Applicable Amounts for Council Tax Support purposes 
 
  

Page 148



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 31	

12.1  Subject to sections 13 and 14, an applicant’s weekly applicable amount shall be aggregate of 
such of the following amounts as may apply in his case: 
a. an amount in respect of himself or, if he is a member of a couple, an amount in respect 

of both of them, determined in accordance with paragraph 1 as the case may be, of 
Schedule 1 of this scheme; 

b. an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 of this scheme in 
respect of any child or young person who is a member of his family; 

c. if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, an 
amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 1 (family premium). No 
family premium will be awarded where an application for reduction is received on or 
after 1st May 2016 or where the applicant would have become entitled to the family 
premium on or after 1st May 2016.  
i) Sub paragraph (c) shall not apply to a person who, on 30th April 2016, is entitled to 
Council Tax Reduction and is: 
a. a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; 

or 
b. a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 

polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a member 
of the same household. 

(ii)  (i) above does not apply if— 
(a) sub-paragraph 12.1 c (i) (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or 
(b) the person makes a new claim for Council Tax Reduction. 

d. (iii) For the purpose of this section “child”, “polygamous marriage” and “young 
person” have the same meaning as in section 2 of this scheme; 

e. the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined in accordance 
with paragraphs 4 to 16  of Schedule 1 of this document (premiums). 

f. the amount of either the 
i. work-related activity component; or 

ii. support component which may be applicable to him in accordance with paragraph 
17 and 18 of Schedule 1  of this document(the components) 

g. the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in accordance 
with paragraph 19 to 20 of Schedule 1 of this scheme (transitional addition). 

13.0 Polygamous marriages 
 
13.1 Subject to section 14, where an applicant is a member of a polygamous marriage, his weekly 

applicable amount shall be the aggregate of such of the following amounts as may apply in his 
case: 
a. the amount applicable to him and one of his partners determined in accordance with 

paragraph 1of Schedule 1 of this scheme as if he and that partner were a couple; 
b. an amount equal to the amount within paragraph 1 (3) (c) of Schedule 1 of this scheme in 

respect of each of his other partners; 
c. an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 of this scheme 

(applicable amounts) in respect of any child or young person for whom he or a partner of 
his is responsible and who is a member of the same household; 

d. if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, an 
amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 1 (family premium). No 
family premium will be awarded where an application for reduction is received on or after 
1st May 2016 or where the applicant would have become entitled to the family premium 
on or after 1st May 2016.  

i) Sub paragraph (d) shall not apply to a person who, on 30th April 2016, is entitled 
to Council Tax Reduction and is: 
a. a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; 

or 
b. a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 

polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a member 
of the same household. 

Page 149



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 32	

(i) above does not apply if— 
(a) sub-paragraph 13.1 d (i) (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or 
(b) the person makes a new claim for Council Tax Reduction. 
(ii) For the purpose of this section “child”, “polygamous marriage” and “young 
person” have the same meaning as in section 2 of this scheme; 

e. the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him determined in accordance with 
paragraphs 4 to 16 of Schedule 1 of this scheme (premiums). 

f. the amount of either the; 
i.work-related activity component; or  

ii.support component which may be applicable to him in accordance with paragraph 17 and 
18 of Schedule 1 (the components). 

g. the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in 
accordance with paragraphs 19 and 20 of Schedule 1 of this scheme (transitional 
addition) 

14.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit 
14.1  In determining the applicable amount for a week of an applicant 

(a)  who has, or  

(b)  whose partner has, or  

(c)  who (jointly with his partner) has,  

an award of universal credit, the authority will use the calculation or estimate of the maximum 
amount of the applicant, or the applicant’s partner, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as 
the case may be), subject to the adjustment described in sub-paragraph (2). 

14.2 (2) The adjustment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is to multiply the maximum amount  by 
12 and divide the product by 52. 

14.3 In this paragraph “maximum amount” means the maximum amount calculated by the 
Secretary of State in accordance with section 8(2) of the Welfare Reform Act 2012. 

  

Page 150



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 33	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 15 – 32 & Schedules 3 & 4 

Definition and the treatment of income for Council Tax Support purposes   

Page 151



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 34	

 

15.0 Calculation of income and capital of members of claimant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage 

15.1 The income and capital of: 
a. an applicant; and 
b. any partner of that applicant, 

 
is to be calculated in accordance with the following provisions. 

 
15.2 The income and capital of any partner of the applicant is to be treated as income and 
 capital of the applicant, and in this Part any reference to the applicant applies equally to 
 any partner of that applicant. 
 
15.3 Where an applicant or the partner of an applicant is  married polygamously to two or 
 more members of his household: 

(a) the applicant must be treated as possessing capital and income belonging to 
each such member; and 

(b) the income and capital of that member is to be calculated in accordance with 
the following provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant. 

 
15A.0 Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of 

universal credit 
 
15A.1 In determining the income of an applicant 

(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit the authority must, subject to the following provisions of this 
paragraph, use the calculation or estimate of the income of the applicant, or the applicant and 
his  partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary of State for the purpose of 
determining the award of universal credit. 

 
15A.2 The authority must adjust the amount referred to in sub-paragraph (1) to take account of 

(a) income consisting of the award of universal credit, determined in accordance with 
subparagraph (3) net of the housing costs element; 
(b) any sum to be disregarded under paragraphs of Schedule 3 to this scheme (sums to be 
disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners); 
 (c) any sum to be disregarded under paragraphs of Schedule 4 to this 
scheme (sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who 
are not pensioners); 
(d) section 33 (circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be 
treated as applicant's), if the authority determines that the provision applies in the applicant's 
case; 
(e) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of the 
1992 Act (power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable). 
 

15A.3 The amount for the award of universal credit is to be determined by multiplying the amount of 
the award by 12 and dividing the product by 52. 

 
15A.4 sections 33 (income and capital of non-dependant to be treated as applicant’s) and 52 and 53 

(disregards from income) apply (so far as relevant) for the purpose of determining any 
adjustments which fall to be made to the figure for income under sub-paragraph (2) 

 
15A.5 In determining the capital of an applicant; 

(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the capital of 
the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary 

Page 152



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 35	

of State for the purpose of determining that award 

16.0 Circumstances in which capital and income of non-dependant is to be treated as claimant’s 
16.1 Where it appears to the authority that a non-dependant and the claimant have entered into 

arrangements in order to take advantage of the council tax support scheme and the non-
dependant has more capital and income than the claimant, that authority shall, except were the 
claimant is on income support, an income- based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related 
employment and support allowance, treat the claimant as possessing capital and income 
belonging to that non-dependant, and, in such a case, shall disregard any capital and income 
which the claimant does possess.` 

 
16.2 Where a claimant is treated as possessing capital and income belonging to a non-dependant 

under paragraph 16.1 the capital and income of that non-dependant shall be calculated in 
accordance with the following provisions in like manner as for the claimant and any reference 
to the ‘claimant’ shall, except where the context otherwise requires, be construed for the 
purposes of this scheme as if it were a reference to that non-dependant. 

 

17.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis 
17.1 For the purposes of this scheme and in line with regulation 34 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 

2006 (disregard to changes in tax, contributions etc.), the income of a claimant shall be 
calculated on a weekly basis; 

a. by estimating the amount which is likely to be his average weekly income in accordance 
with this Section and in line with Sections 2, 3, 4 and 5 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006; 

b. by adding to that amount the weekly income calculated in line with regulation 52 of the 
Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (calculation to tariff income from capital); and 

c. by then deducting any relevant child care charges to which section 18 (treatment of child 
care charges) applies from any earnings which form part of the average weekly income 
or, in a case where the conditions in paragraph 14.2 are met, from those earnings plus 
whichever credit specified in sub- paragraph (b) of that paragraph is appropriate, up to a 
maximum deduction in respect of the claimant’s family of whichever of the sums specified 
in paragraph (3) applies in his case. 

 
17.2 The conditions of this paragraph are that; 

a. the claimant’s earnings which form part of his average weekly income are less than the 
lower of either his relevant child care charges or whichever of the deductions specified 
in paragraph (3) otherwise applies in his case; and 

b. that claimant or, if he is a member of a couple either the claimant or his partner, is in 
receipt of either working tax credit or child tax credit. 

17.3 The maximum deduction to which paragraph 17.1 c) above refers shall be; 
a. where the claimant’s family includes only one child in respect of whom relevant child care 

charges are paid, £175.00 per week.  
b. where the claimant’s family includes more than one child in respect of whom 
c. relevant child care charges are paid, £300.00 per week. 

 The amounts stated in this paragraph shall be amended in accordance with the Housing  
 Benefit Regulations 2006 (as amended). 
 
17.4 For the purposes of paragraph 17.1 ‘income’ includes capital treated as income under section 

31 (capital treated as income) and income, which a claimant is treated as possessing under 
section 32 (notional income) of this scheme. 

18.0 Treatment of child care charges  
 
18.1 This section applies where a claimant is incurring relevant child-care charges and; 

a. is a lone parent and is engaged in remunerative work;  

Page 153



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 36	

b. is a member of a couple both of whom are engaged in remunerative work; or 
c. is a member of a couple where one member is engaged in remunerative work and the 

other; 
i. is incapacitated;  

ii. is an in-patient in hospital; or 
iii. is in prison (whether serving a custodial sentence or remanded in custody awaiting 

trial or sentence). 
 
18.2 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 and subject to paragraph 18.4, a person to whom paragraph 

18.3 applies shall be treated as engaged in remunerative work for a period not exceeding 28 
weeks during which he– 
a. is paid statutory sick pay; 
b. is paid short-term incapacity benefit at the lower rate under sections 30A to 30E of the 

Act; 
c. is paid an employment and support allowance; 
d. is paid income support on the grounds of incapacity for work under regulation 4ZA of, 

and paragraph 7 or 14 of Schedule 1B to, the Income Support Regulations; or 
e.  is credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability for 

work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 
 
18.3 This paragraph applies to a person who was engaged in remunerative work immediately before 

a. the first day of the period in respect of which he was first paid statutory sick pay, short-
term incapacity benefit, an employment and support allowance or income support on 
the grounds of incapacity for work; or 

b. the first day of the period in respect of which earnings are credited, as the case may be. 
 
18.4 In a case to which paragraph 18.2 c) or d) applies, the period of 28 weeks begins on the day on 

which the person is first paid income support or on the first day of the period in respect of which 
earnings are credited, as the case may be. 

 
18.5 Relevant child care charges are those charges for care to which paragraphs 18.6 and 18.7 apply, 

and shall be calculated on a weekly basis in accordance with paragraph 18.10. 
 
18.6 The charges are paid by the claimant for care, which is provided 

a. in the case of any child of the claimant’s family who is not disabled, in respect of the 
period beginning on that child’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following that child’s fifteenth birthday; or 

b. in the case of any child of the claimant’s family who is disabled, in respect of the period 
beginning on that person’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following that person’s sixteenth birthday. 

 
18.7 The charges are paid for care, which is provided by one, or more of the care providers listed in 

paragraph 18.8 and are not paid– 
a. in respect of the child’s compulsory education; 
b. by a claimant to a partner to a claimant in respect of any child for whom either or any of 

them is responsible in accordance with section 10 (circumstances in which a person is 
treated as responsible or not responsible for another); or 

c. in respect of care provided by a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 
 
18.8 The care to which paragraph 18.7 refers may be provided; 

a. out of school hours, by a school on school premises or by a local authority; 
i. for children who are disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eight 

birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September 
following their fifteenth birthday; or 

ii. for children who are disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eight 
birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September 
following their sixteenth birthday; or 

b. by a child care provider approved in accordance with by the Tax Credit (New Category of 

Page 154



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 37	

Child Care Provider) Regulations 1999; 
c. by persons registered under Part 2 of the Children and Families (Wales) Measure 2010; 

or  
d. by a person who is excepted from registration under Part 2 of the Children and Families 

(Wales) Measure 2010 because the child care that person provides is in a school or 
establishment referred to in article 11, 12 or 14 of the Child Minding and Day Care 
Exceptions (Wales) order 2010; or  

e. by; 
i. persons registered under section section 59(1) of the Public Services Reform 

Scotland Act 2010 or 
ii. local authorities registered under section 33(1) of that Act, where the care 

provided is child minding or daycare within the meaning of that Act; or 
f. by a person prescribed in regulations made pursuant to section 12(4) of the Tax Credits 

Act or 
g. by a person who is registered under Chapter 2 or 3 of Part 3 of the Childcare Act 2006; or  
h. by any of the schools mentioned in section 34(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 

circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 2 of Part 3 of that Act 
does not apply by virtue of section 34(2) of that Act; or 

i. by any of the schools mentioned in section 53(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 3 of Part 3 of that Act 
does not apply by virtue of section 53(2) of that Act; or 

j. by any of the establishments mentioned in section 18(5) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the care is not included in the meaning of ‘childcare’ for the 
purposes of Part 1 and Part 3 of that Act by virtue of that subsection; or 

k. by a foster parent or kinship carer under the Fostering Services Regulations 2002, the 
Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2003 or the Looked After Children (Scotland) 
Regulations 2009 in relation to a child other than one whom the foster parent is fostering 
or kinship carer is looking after; or 

l. by a domiciliary care worker under the Domiciliary Care Agencies Regulations 2002 or the 
Domiciliary Care Agencies (Wales) Regulations 2004; or  

m. by a person who is not a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 
 
18.9 In paragraphs 18.6 and 18.8 a), ‘the first Monday in September’ means the Monday which first 

occurs in the month of September in any year. 
 
18.10 Relevant child care charges shall be estimated over such period, not exceeding a year, as is 

appropriate in order that the average weekly charge may be estimated accurately having regard 
to information as to the amount of that charge provided by the child minder or person providing 
the care. 

 
18.11 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 c) the other member of a couple is incapacitated where 
 

a. the applicant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium on account of the other 
member’s incapacity or the support component or the work- related activity component 
on account of his having limited capability for work 

b. the applicant’s applicable amount would include a disability premium on account of the 
other member’s incapacity but for that other member being treated as capable of work 
by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulation made under section 
171E of the Act;  

c. the applicant’s applicable amount would include the support component or the work-
related activity component on account of the other member having limited capability for 
work but for that other member being treated as not having limited capability for work 
by virtue of a determination made in accordance with the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 or 2013 as appropriate; 

d. the applicant (within the meaning of this scheme) is, or is treated as, incapable of work 
and has been so incapable, or has been so treated as incapable, of work in accordance 
with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 12A of the Act (incapacity for 
work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and for this purpose any two or 

Page 155



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 38	

more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 days shall be treated as 
one continuous period; 

e. the applicant (within the meaning of this scheme) has, or is treated as having, limited 
capability for work and has had, or been treated as having, limited capability for work in 
accordance with the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations for a continuous 
period of not less than 196 days and for this purpose any two or more separate periods 
separated by a break of not more than 84 days must be treated as one continuous period; 

f. there is payable in respect of him one or more of the following pensions or 
   allowances– 

i. long-term incapacity benefit or short-term incapacity benefit at the higher rate 
under Schedule 4 to the Act; 

ii. attendance allowance under section 64 of the Act;  
iii. severe disablement allowance under section 68 of the Act;  
iv. disability living allowance under section 71 of the Act; 
v. personal independence payment under the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 

vi. an AFIP; 
vii. increase of disablement pension under section 104 of the Act; 

viii. a pension increase paid as part of a war disablement pension or under an industrial 
injuries scheme which is analogous to an allowance or increase of disablement 
pension under head (ii), (iv) or (v) above;  

ix. main phase employment and support allowance; 
g. a pension or allowance to which head (ii), (iv). (v) or (vi) of sub-paragraph (f) above refers 

was payable on account of his incapacity but has ceased to be payable in consequence of 
his becoming a patient, which in this section shall mean a person (other than a person 
who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or detention in a youth custody institution) 
who is regarded as receiving free in-patient treatment within the meaning of social 
security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005. 

h. an AFIP would be payable to that person but for any suspension of payment in 
accordance with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which 
allow for a suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or 
similar institution; 

i. paragraphs (f) or (g) would apply to him if the legislative provisions referred to in those 
sub-paragraphs were provisions under any corresponding enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland; or 

j. he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the Secretary of State under 
section 5(2)(a) of and Schedule 2 to the National Health Service Act 1977 or under section 
46 of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 or provided by the Department of 
Health, Social Services and Public Safety in Northern Ireland under Article 30(1) of the 
Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972. 

 
18.12 For the purposes of paragraph 18.11 once paragraph 18.11d) applies to the claimant, if he then 

ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of work, 
that paragraph shall, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of work at 
the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains incapable, 
or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

 
18.12AFor the purposes of paragraph 18.11, once paragraph 18.11e) applies to the claimant, if he then 

ceases, for a period of 84 days or less, to have, or to be treated as having, limited capability for 
work, that paragraph is, on his again having, or being treated as having, limited capability for 
work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he has, or is 
treated as having, limited capability for work. 

 
18.13 For the purposes of paragraphs 18.6 and 18.8 a), a person is disabled if he is a person– 

a. in respect of whom disability living allowance or personal independence payment is 
payable, or has ceased to be payable solely because he is a patient; 

b. who is registered as blind in a register compiled under section 29 of the National 
Assistance Act 1948 welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in 
consequence he is registered as blind in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council 

Page 156



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 39	

constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 
c. who ceased to be registered as blind in such a register within the period beginning 28 

weeks before the first Monday in September following that person’s fifteenth birthday 
and ending on the day preceding that person’s sixteenth birthday. 

 
18.14 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 a person on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption 

leave shall be treated as if she is engaged in remunerative work for the period specified in 
paragraph 18.15 (‘the relevant period’) provided that– 
a. in the week before the period of maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave began 

she was in remunerative work; 
b. the claimant is incurring relevant child care charges within the meaning of paragraph 

18.5; and 
c. she is entitled to either statutory maternity pay under section 164 of the Act, statutory 

paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZA or 171ZB of the Act statutory adoption pay by of 
section 171ZL of the Act, maternity allowance under section 35 of the Act or qualifying 
support. 

 
18.15 For the purposes of paragraph 18.14 the relevant period shall begin on the day on which the 

person’s maternity, paternity leave or adoption leave commences and shall end on– 
a. the date that leave ends; 
b. if no child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement 

to maternity allowance, qualifying support, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity 
pay or statutory adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement ends; or 

c. if a child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement 
to maternity allowance or qualifying support, statutory maternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement to that award of the child care element of 
the working tax credits ends. 

 whichever shall occur first. 
 
18.16 In paragraphs 18.14 and 18.15 

a. ‘qualifying support’ means income support to which that person is entitled by virtue of 
paragraph 14B of Schedule 1B to the Income Support Regulations; and 

b. ’child care element’ of working tax credit means the element of working tax credit prescribed 
under section 12 of the Tax Credits Act (child care element). 

 
18.17 In this section ‘applicant’ does not include an applicant; 
 (a) who has, or 
 (b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
 an award of universal credit 

19.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners 

 
19.1 Where a claimant’s income consists of earnings from employment as an employed earner his 
average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to his earnings from that employment– 

a. over a period immediately preceding the reduction week in which the claim is made or 
treated as made and being a period of 

i. 5 weeks, if he is paid weekly; or  
ii. 2 months, if he is paid monthly; or  

b. whether or not sub-paragraph 19.1 a i) or ii) applies, where a claimant’s earnings fluctuate, 
over such other period preceding the reduction week in which the claim is made or treated 
as made as may, in any particular case, enable his average weekly earnings to be estimated 
more accurately. 

 
19.2 Where the claimant has been in his employment for less than the period specified in paragraph 

19.1 a)(i) or (ii) 
a. if he has received any earnings for the period that he has been in that employment and 

those earnings are likely to represent his average weekly earnings from that employment 

Page 157



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 40	

his average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to those earnings; 
b. in any other case, the authority shall require the claimant’s employer to furnish an 

estimate of the claimant’s likely weekly earnings over such period as the authority may 
require and the claimant’s average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to 
that estimate. 
 

19.3 Where the amount of a claimant’s earnings changes during an award the authority shall estimate 
his average weekly earnings by reference to his likely earnings from the employment over such 
period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated accurately 
but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed 52 weeks. 

 
19.4 For the purposes of this section the claimant’s earnings shall be calculated in accordance with 

sections 25 and 26 

20.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners 
 
20.1 Where a claimant’s income consists of earnings from employment as a self-employed earner his 

average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to his earnings from that employment 
over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated 
accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed a year. 

 
20.2 For the purposes of this section the claimant’s earnings shall be calculated in accordance with 

section 27 to 29 of this scheme 

21.0 Average weekly income other than earnings 
 
21.1 A claimant’s income which does not consist of earnings shall, except where paragraph 18.2 

applies, be estimated over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly income 
may be estimated accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed 52 weeks; 
and nothing in this paragraph shall authorise an authority to disregard any such income other 
than that specified in Schedule 4 of this scheme. 

 
21.2 The period over which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account shall be the 

period in respect of which that support is payable. 
 
21.3 For the purposes of this section income other than earnings shall be calculated in accordance 

with paragraphs 30 to 32 of this scheme 

22.0 Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits 
 
22.1 This section applies where a claimant received a tax credit. 
 
22.2  Where this section applies, the period over which a tax credit is to be taken into account shall 

be the period set out in paragraph 22.3 
 
22.3 Where the instalment in respect of which payment of a tax credit is made is; 

a. a daily instalment, the period is 1 day, being the day in respect of which the instalment is 
paid; 

b. a weekly instalment, the period is 7 days, ending on the day on which the instalment is 
due to be paid; 

c. a two weekly instalment, the period is 14 days, commencing 6 days before the day on 
which the instalment is due to be paid; 

d. a four weekly instalment, the period is 28 days, ending on the day on which the 
instalment is due to be paid. 

 
22.4 For the purposes of this section ‘tax credit’ means child tax credit or working tax credit. 

Page 158



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 41	

23.0 Calculation of weekly income 
 
23.1 For the purposes of sections 19 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), 21 (average 

weekly income other than earnings) and 22 (calculation of average weekly income from tax 
credits), where the period in respect of which a payment is made; 
a. does not exceed a week, the weekly amount shall be the amount of that payment; 
b. exceeds a week, the weekly amount shall be determined– 

i. in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the payment 
by 12 and dividing the product by 52; 

ii. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the payment by the number equal to 
the number of days in the period to which it relates and multiplying the quotient 
by 7. 

 
23.2 For the purpose of section 20 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners) the weekly 

amount of earnings of a claimant shall be determined by dividing his earnings over the 
assessment period by the number equal to the number of days in that period and multiplying 
the quotient by 7. 

24.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc.  
 
24.1 In calculating the applicant’s income the appropriate authority may disregard any legislative 

change 
a. in the basic or other rates of income tax;  
b. in the amount of any personal tax relief; 
c. in the rates of national insurance contributions payable under the Act or in the lower 

earnings limit or upper earnings limit for Class 1 contributions under the Act, the lower 
or upper limits applicable to Class 4 contributions under the Act or the amount specified 
in section11(4) of the Act (small profits threshold in relation to Class 2 contributions); 

d. in the amount of tax payable as a result of an increase in the weekly rate of Category A, 
B, C or D retirement pension or any addition thereto or any graduated pension payable 
under the Act; 

e. in the maximum rate of child tax credit or working tax credit, 
 

for a period not exceeding 30 reduction weeks beginning with the reduction week immediately 
following the date from which the change is effective  

25.0 Earnings of employed earners 
25.1 Subject to paragraph 25.2, ‘earnings’ means in the case of employment as an employed earner, 

any remuneration or profit derived from that employment and includes– 
a. any bonus or commission; 
b. any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to a claimant on 

account of the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy; 
c. any payment in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as compensation for 

the loss of employment but only in so far as it represents loss of income; 
d. any holiday pay except any payable more than 4 weeks after termination or interruption 

of the employment; 
e. any payment by way of a retainer; 
f. any payment made by the claimant’s employer in respect of expenses not wholly, 

exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment, 
including any payment made by the claimant’s employer in respect of– 

g. travelling expenses incurred by the claimant under arrangements made for the case of a 
member of his family owing to the claimant’s absence from home; 

h. any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the Employment 
Rights Act 199(remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal); 

i. any payment or remuneration made under section 28, 34, 64, 68 or 70 of the Employment 
Rights Act 1996 (right to guarantee payments, remuneration on suspension on medical 
or maternity grounds, complaints to employment tribunals); 

Page 159



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 42	

j. any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the Act (certain sums to be earnings for 
social security purposes); 

k. any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland; 

l. any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the claimant who for the time 
being is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave or is absent from work 
because he is ill; 

m. the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into 
account in the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 
3 to the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001 as amended17. 

 
25.2  Earnings shall not include– 

a. subject to paragraph 25.3, any payment in kind; 
b. any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the 

performance of the duties of employment; 
c. any occupational pension  
d. any payment in respect of expenses arising out of an applicant participating as a service 

user. 
 
25.3 Paragraph 25.2 a) shall not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in paragraph 

25.1 m) 

26.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners 
 
26.1 For the purposes of section 19 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), the earnings of 

a claimant derived or likely to be derived from employment as an employed earner to be taken 
into account shall, subject to paragraph 26.2, be his net earnings. 

 
26.2 There shall be disregarded from a claimant’s net earnings, any sum, where applicable, specified 

in paragraphs 1 to 14 of Schedule 3. 
 
26.3 For the purposes of paragraph 26.1 net earnings shall, except where paragraph 26.6 applies, be 

calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the claimant from that employment over 
the assessment period, less; 
a. any amount deducted from those earnings by way of 

 i) income tax; 
 ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the Act; 

b. one-half of any sum paid by the claimant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational pension scheme; 

c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 26.5 in respect of any 
qualifying contribution payable by the claimant; and 

d. where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, statutory 
maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, any amount deducted 
for those earnings by way of any contributions which are payable under any enactment 
having effect in Northern Ireland and which correspond to primary Class 1 contributions 
under the Act. 

 
26.4 In this section ‘qualifying contribution’ means any sum which is payable periodically as a 

contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 
 
26.5 The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution shall be calculated by multiplying the daily 

amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in the 
assessment period; and for the purposes of this section the daily amount of the qualifying 

	
17 Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment) Regulations 2013, Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 
2013 and Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 2013 

Page 160



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 43	

contribution shall be determined– 
a. where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 
b. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the number 

equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution relates. 
 
26.6 Where the earnings of an applicant are estimated under sub-paragraph (b) of paragraph 2) of 

the section 19 (average weekly earnings of employment earners), his net earnings shall be 
calculated by taking into account those earnings over the assessment period, less– 
a. an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 

those earnings the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic 
rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief to which the 
applicant is entitled under sections 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 
1988(personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the assessment 
period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish 
taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal 
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph shall be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

b. an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the Act in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 

c. one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a contribution 
towards an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings so estimated were 
actual earnings.  

27.0 Earnings of self-employed earners 
 
27.1 Subject to paragraph 27.2, ‘earnings’, in the case of employment as a self- employed earner, 

means the gross income of the employment any allowance paid under section 2 of the 1973 Act 
or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 to the claimant for the 
purpose of assisting him in carrying on his business unless at the date of claim the allowance has 
been terminated. 

 
27.2 ‘Earnings’ shall not include any payment to which paragraph 27 or 28 of Schedule 4 refers 

(payments in respect of a person accommodate with the claimant under arrangements made by 
a local authority or voluntary organisation and payments made to the claimant by a health 
authority, local authority or voluntary organisation in respect of persons temporarily in the 
claimant’s care) nor shall it include any sports award. 

 
27.3 This paragraph applies to– 

a. royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any 
copyright, design, patent or trade mark; or 

b. any payment in respect of any– 
(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to 
the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982, where the claimant is the first owner of the 
copyright, design, patent or trade mark, or an original contributor to the book of work 
concerned. 

 
27.4  Where the claimant’s earnings consist of any items to which paragraph 27.3 applies, those 

earnings shall be taken into account over a period equal to such number of weeks as is equal to 
the number obtained (and any fraction shall be treated as a corresponding fraction of a week) 
by dividing the earnings by the amount of council tax support which would be payable had the 
payment not been made plus an amount equal to the total of the sums which would fall to be 
disregarded from the payment under Schedule 3 (sums to be disregarded in the calculation of 
earnings) as appropriate in the claimant’s case. 

Page 161



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 44	

28.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners  
 
28.1  For the purposes of section 20 (average weekly earnings of self- employed earners) the earnings 

of an applicant to be taken into account shall be 
a. in the case of a self-employed earner who is engaged in employment on his own account, 

the net profit derived from that employment; 
b. in the case of a self-employed earner whose employment is carried on in partnership or 

is that of a share fisherman within the meaning of the Social Security (Mariners’ Benefits) 
Regulations 1975, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, less– 

i. an amount in respect of income tax and of national insurance contributions 
payable under the Act calculated in accordance with section 29 (deduction of 
tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 

ii. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph (11) in respect 
of any qualifying premium. 

 
28.2 There shall be disregarded from a claimant’s net profit, any sum, where applicable, specified in 

paragraph 1 to 14 of Schedule 3. 
 
28.3 For the purposes of paragraph 28.1 a) the net profit of the employment must, except where 

paragraph 28.9 applies, be calculated by taking into account the earnings for the employment 
over the assessment period less 
a. subject to paragraphs 28.5 to 28.7, any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that 

period for the purposes of that employment; 
b. an amount in respect of; 

(i) income tax, and 
(ii) national insurance contributions payable under the Act, calculated in accordance with 
section 29 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 

c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph (28.11) in respect of any 
qualifying premium. 

 
28.4 For the purposes of paragraph 28.1a) the net profit of the employment shall be calculated; 

a. by taking  into account the earnings of the employment over the assessment period less, 
subject to paragraphs 28.5 to 28.7, any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that 
period for the purposes of the employment (where self employed accounts can be 
provided); or 

b. as an amount determined by multiplying the national minimum wage by 16 hours per 
week or the number of hours shown on any Tax Credit letter. 

 
28.5 Subject to paragraph 28.6 no deduction shall be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4, in 

respect of– 
a. any capital expenditure; 
b. the depreciation of any capital asset; 
c. any sum employed or intended to be employed in the setting up or expansion of the 

employment; 
d. any loss incurred before the beginning of the assessment period; 
e. the repayment of capital on any loan taken out for the purposes of the employment; 
f. any expenses incurred in providing business entertainment, and 
g. any debts, except bad debts proved to be such, but this sub-paragraph shall not apply to 

any expenses incurred in the recovery of a debt. 
 
28.6 A deduction shall be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4 in respect of the repayment of capital 

on any loan used for– 
a. the replacement in the course of business of equipment or machinery; and 
b. the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that any sum is payable under 

an insurance policy for its repair. 
 
28.7 The authority shall refuse to make deduction in respect of any expenses under paragraph 28.3 

a) or 28.4 where it is not satisfied given the nature and the amount of the expense that it has 

Page 162



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 45	

been reasonably incurred. 
 
28.8 For the avoidance of doubt– 

a. deduction shall not be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4 in respect of any sum unless 
it has been expended for the purposes of the business; 

b. a deduction shall be made thereunder in respect of– 
i. the excess of any value added tax paid over value added tax received in the 

assessment period; 
ii. any income expended in the repair of an existing business asset except to the 

extent that any sum is payable under an insurance policy for its repair; 
iii. any payment of interest on a loan taken out for the purposes of the employment 

 
28.9 Where an applicant is engaged in employment, as a child minder the net profit of the 

employment shall be one-third of the earnings of that employment, less an amount in respect 
of 

a. income tax; and 
b. national insurance contributions payable under the Act, calculated in accordance 

with section 29 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 
c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 28.1 in respect of 

any qualifying contribution. 
 
28.10 For the avoidance of doubt where a claimant is engaged in employment as a self-employed 

earner and he is also engaged in one or more other employments as a self-employed or 
employed earner any loss incurred in any one of his employments shall not be offset against his 
earnings in any other of his employments. 

 
28.11 The amount in respect of any qualifying premium shall be calculated by multiplying the daily 

amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to the number of days in the assessment 
period; and for the purposes of this section the daily amount of the qualifying premium shall be 
determined 
a. where the qualifying premium is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying premium by 12 and divided the product by 365; 
b. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal 

to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying premium relates. 
 
28.12 In this section, ‘qualifying premium’ means any premium which is payable periodically in respect 

of a personal pension scheme and is so payable on or after the date of claim. 

29.0 Deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners 
 
29.1 The amount to be deducted in respect of income tax under section 28.1b) i), 28.3 b) i) or 28.9 a) 

i) (calculation of net profit of self-employed earners) shall be calculated on the basis of the 
amount of chargeable income and as if that income were assessable to income tax at the basic 
rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under section 
257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988(personal allowances) as is appropriate to 
his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the 
basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied 
and the amount of the personal reliefs deductible under this paragraph shall be calculated on a 
pro rata basis. 

 
29.2 The amount to be deducted in respect of national insurance contributions under paragraphs 

28.1 1 b)(i); 28.3 b) ii) or 28.9 a shall be the total of– 
a. the amount of Class 2 contributions payable under section 11(1) or, as the case may be, 

11(3) of the Act at the rate applicable to the assessment period except where the 
applicant’s chargeable income is less than the amount specified in section 11(4) of the 
Act (small profits threshold) for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if 
the assessment period is less than a year, the amount specified for that tax year shall be 

Page 163



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 46	

reduced pro rata; and  
b. the amount of Class 4 contributions (if any) which would be payable under section 15 of 

the Act (Class 4 contributions recoverable under the Income Tax Acts) at the percentage 
rate applicable to the assessment period on so much of the chargeable income as exceeds 
the lower limit but does not exceed the upper limit of profits and gains applicable for the 
tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if the assessment period is less than a 
year, those limits shall be reduced pro rata.. 

 
29.3 In this section ‘chargeable income’ means– 

a.  except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the earnings derived from the employment less 
any expenses deducted under paragraph (28.3)(a) or, as the case may be, (28.4) of section 
28; 

b. in the case of employment as a child minder, one-third of the earnings of that 
employment. 

30.0 Calculation of income other than earnings 
 
30.1 For the purposes of section 21 (average weekly income other than earnings), the income of a 

claimant which does not consist of earnings to be taken into account shall, subject to paragraphs 
27.2 to 27.8, be his gross income and any capital treated as income under section 31 (capital 
treated as income). 

 
30.2 There shall be disregarded from the calculation of a claimant’s gross income under paragraph 

30.2, any sum, where applicable, specified in Schedule 4.  
 
30.3  Where the payment of any benefit under the benefit Acts is subject to any deduction by way of 

recovery the amount to be taken into account under paragraph 30.1 shall be the gross amount 
payable. 

 
30.4 Where the claimant or, where he is a member of a couple, his partner is receiving a contributory 

employment and support allowance and that benefit has been reduced under regulation 63 of 
the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations, the amount of that benefit to be taken 
into account is the amount as if it had not been reduced. 

 
30.5  Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit under the Tax Credits Act is subject 

to a deduction by way of recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child tax credit 
which arose in a previous tax year the amount to be taken into account under paragraph 27.1 
shall be the amount of working tax credit or child tax credit awarded less the amount of that 
deduction. 

 
30.6 In paragraph 30.5 ‘tax year’ means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 

5th April in the next. 
 
30.7 Paragraph 30.8 and 30.9 apply where a relevant payment has been made to a person in an 

academic year; and that person abandons, or is dismissed from, his course of study before the 
payment to him of the final instalment of the relevant payment. 

 
30.8 Where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the amount of a relevant payment to be taken 

into account for the assessment period for the purposes of paragraph 30.1 in respect of a person 
to whom paragraph 30.7 applies, shall be calculated by applying the formula– 

 A - (BxC) 
 D 
 Where 

A = the total amount of the relevant payment which that person would have received had he 
remained a student until he last day of the academic term in which he abandoned, or was 
dismissed from, his course, less any deduction under paragraph 51.5 
B = the number of reduction weeks from the reduction week immediately following that which 
includes the first day of that academic year to the reduction week which includes the day on 

Page 164



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 47	

which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course; 
C = the weekly amount of the relevant payment, before the application of the £10 disregard, 
which would have been taken into account as income under paragraph 51.2 had the person not 
abandoned or been dismissed from, his course and, in the case of a person who was not entitled 
to council tax support immediately before he abandoned or was dismissed from his course, had 
that person, at that time, been entitled to housing benefit; 
D = the number of reduction weeks in the assessment period. 

 
30.9 Where a relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the amount of a 

relevant payment to be taken into account for the assessment period for the purposes of 
paragraph 30.1 in respect of a person to whom paragraph (30.8) applies, shall be calculated by 
applying the formula in paragraph 30.8 but as if– 
A = the total amount of relevant payments which that person received, or would have received, 
from the first day of the academic year to the day the person abandoned the course, or was 
dismissed from it, less any deduction under paragraph 51.5 

 
30.10 In this section– ‘academic year’ and ‘student loan’ shall have the same meanings as for the 
 purposes of sections 43 to 45, ‘assessment period’ means– 

a.  in a case where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the period beginning with the 
reduction week which includes the day on which the person abandoned, or was dismissed 
from, his course and ending with the reduction week which includes the last day of the 
last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment was payable to that person; 

b. in a case where the relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, 
the period beginning with the reduction week which includes the day on which the 
person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction 
week which includes– 

i. the day immediately before the day on which the next instalment of the relevant 
payment would have been due had the payments continued; or 

ii. the last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment 
was payable to that person. 

‘whichever of those dates’ is earlier 
‘quarter’ in relation to an assessment period means a period in that year beginning on; 
a. 1st January and ending on 31st March;  
b. 1st April and ending on 30th June;  
c. 1st July and ending on 31st August; or  
d. 1st September and ending on 31st December; 
‘relevant payment’ means either a student loan or an amount intended for the maintenance of 
dependants referred to in paragraph 46.7 or both. 

 
30.11 For the avoidance of doubt there shall be included as income to be taken into account under 

paragraph 30.1 
a. any payment to which paragraph 25.2 (payments not earnings) applies; or 
b. in the case of a claimant who is receiving support under section 95 or 98 of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act including support provided by virtue of regulations made 
under Schedule 9 to that Act, the amount of such support provided in respect of essential 
living needs of the claimant and his dependants (if any) as is specified in regulations made 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 8 to the Immigration and Asylum Act. 

31.0 Capital treated as income 
 
31.1  Any capital payable by instalments which are outstanding at the date on which the claim is made 

or treated as made, or, at the date of any subsequent revision or supersession, shall, if the 
aggregate of the instalments outstanding and the amount of the claimant’s capital otherwise 
calculated in accordance with sections 33 to 42 of this scheme exceeds £16,000, be treated as 
income. 

 
31.2 Any payment received under an annuity shall be treated as income. 
 

Page 165



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 48	

31.3 Any earnings to the extent that they are not a payment of income shall be treated as income. 
 
31.4 Any Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act shall be treated as 

income 
 
31.5 Where an agreement or court order provides that payments shall be made to the claimant in 

consequence of any personal injury to the claimant and that such payments are to be made, 
wholly or partly, by way of periodic payments, any such periodic payments received by the 
claimant (but not a payment which is treated as capital), shall be treated as income. 

32.0 Notional income 
 
32.1 A claimant shall be treated as possessing income of which he has deprived himself for the 

purpose of securing entitlement of support or increasing the amount of that support. 
 
32.2 Except in the case of– 

a. a discretionary trust; 
b. a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; 
c. a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the 

Board of the Pension Protection Fund where the claimant has not attained the qualifying 
age for state pension credit; 

d. any sum to which paragraph 47(2)(a) of Schedule 5 (capital to be disregarded) applies 
which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 47(1)(a); 

e. any sum to which paragraph 48(a) of Schedule 5 refers; 
f. rehabilitation allowance made under section 2 of the 1973 Act;  
g. child tax credit; or  
h. working tax credit,  
i. any sum to which paragraph 32.13 applies; 
any income which would become available to the claimant upon application being made, but 
which has not been acquired by him, shall be treated as possessed by the claimant but only from 
the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 

 
32.3 – 32.5 Not used 
 
32.6 Any payment of income, other than a payment of income specified in paragraph 32.7 made– 

a. to a third party in respect of a single claimant or a member of the family (but not a 
member of the third party’s family) shall, where that payment is a payment of an 
occupational pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under or by a 
personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection 
Fund, be treated as possessed by that single claimant or, as the case may be, by that 
member; 

b.  to a third party in respect of a single claimant or in respect of a member of the family (but 
not a member of the third party’s family) shall, where it is not a payment referred to in 
sub-paragraph a), be treated as possessed by that single claimant or by that member to 
the extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or 
rent of that single claimant or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is 
used for any council tax or water charges for which that claimant or member is liable; 

c.  to a single claimant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in 
respect of another member of that family) shall be treated as possessed by that single 
claimant or, as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or 
used by him or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

 
32.7 Paragraph 32.6 shall not apply in respect of a payment of income made– 

a. under the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane 
(Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton 
Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006); 

b. pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (concessionary coal); 
c. pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act in respect of a person’s participation– 

Page 166



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 49	

(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker’s 
Allowance Regulations; 
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation75(1)(a)(iv)of those Regulations; 
(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of those 
Regulations or; 
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 

d. in respect of a previous participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
e. under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical 

payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the 
Pension Protection Fund where– 
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the 
payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to 
sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate under 
section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf 
of the creditors; and 
(iii) the person referred to in (i) and any member of his family does not possess, or is not 
treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

 
32.8  Where a claimant is in receipt of any benefit (other than council tax support) under the benefit 

Acts and the rate of that benefit is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any 
year but not more than 14 days thereafter, the authority shall treat the claimant as possessing 
such benefit at the altered rate from either 1st April or the first Monday in April in that year, 
whichever date the authority shall select to apply in its area, to the date on which the altered 
rate is to take effect. 

 
32.9 Subject to paragraph 32.10, where– 

a. claimant performs a service for another person; and 
b. that person makes no payment of earnings or pays less than that paid for a comparable 

employment in the area, the authority shall treat the claimant as possessing such earnings 
(if any) as is reasonable for that employment unless the claimant satisfies the authority 
that the means of that person are insufficient for him to pay or to pay more for the service. 

 
32.10 Paragraph 32.9 shall not apply– 

a. to a claimant who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation or who is a 
volunteer if the authority is satisfied in any of those cases that it is reasonable for him to 
provide those services free of charge; or 

b. in a case where the service is performed in connection with– 
(i) the claimant’s participation in an employment or training programme in accordance 
with regulation 19(1)(q) of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations, other than where the 
service is performed in connection with the claimant’s participation in the Intense Activity 
Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations or 
(ii) the claimant’s or the claimant’s partner’s participation in an employment or training 
programme as defined in regulation 19(3) of those Regulations for which a training 
allowance is not payable or, where such an allowance is payable, it is payable for the sole 
purpose of reimbursement of travelling or meal expenses to the person participating in 
that programme ; or 

c. to a claimant who is participating in a work placement approved by the Secretary of State 
(or a person providing services to the Secretary of State) before the placement starts. 

 
32.10A In paragraph 32.10 (c) ‘work placement’ means practical work experience which is not 

undertaken in expectation of payment. 
 
32.11 Where a claimant is treated as possessing any income under any of paragraph 32.1 to (32.8), the 

foregoing provisions of this scheme shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of 
that income as if a payment has actually been made and as if it were actual income which he 
does possess. 

Page 167



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 50	

 
32.12 Where an applicant is treated a possessing any earnings under paragraph 32.9 the foregoing 

provisions of this scheme shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of those 
earnings as if a payment had actually been made and as if they were actual earnings which he 
does possess except that paragraph (3) of section 26 (calculation of net earnings of employed 
earners) shall not apply and his net earnings shall be calculated by taking into account those 
earnings which he is treated as possessing, less; 
a. an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 

those earnings the starting rate or, as the case may be, the starting rate and the basic 
rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under 
sections 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (personal allowances) as 
is appropriate to his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the 
earnings to which the starting rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal 
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph shall be calculated on a pro rate basis; 

b. an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the Act in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 

c. one-half of any sum payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational or personal pension scheme. 

 
32.13 Paragraphs (32.1), (32.2), (32.6) and (32.9) shall not apply in respect of any amount of income 

other than earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the applicant’s 
participation as a service user 

  

Page 168



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 51	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 33 – 42 & Schedule 5  

Definition and the treatment of capital for Council Tax Support purposes 

  

Page 169



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 52	

 

33.0 Capital limit 
33.1 For the purposes of section 134(1) of the Act as it applies to council tax support (no entitlement 

to support if capital exceeds prescribed amount), the prescribed amount is £16,000. 

34.0 Calculation of capital 
34.1 For the purposes of this scheme, the capital of a claimant to be taken into account shall, subject 

to paragraph (34.2), be the whole of his capital calculated in accordance with this scheme and 
any income treated as capital under section 36 (income treated as capital). 

 
34.2 There shall be disregarded from the calculation of a claimant’s capital under paragraph (34.1), 

any capital, where applicable, specified in Schedule 5. 

35.0 Disregard of capital of child and young person 
 
 35.1 The capital of a child or young person who is a member of the claimant’s family shall not be 

treated as capital of the claimant. 

36.0 Income treated as capital 
36.1 Any bounty derived from employment to which paragraph 8 of Schedule 3 applies and paid at 

intervals of at least one year shall be treated as capital. 
 
36.2  Any amount by way of a refund of income tax deducted from profits or emoluments chargeable 

to income tax under Schedule D or E shall be treated as capital. 
 
36.3 Any holiday pay which is not earnings under section 25(1)(d) (earnings of employed earners) 

shall be treated as capital. 
 
36.4 Except any income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 8, 14 or 25 to 28, 

47 or 48 of Schedule 5, any income derived from capital shall be treated as capital but only from 
the date it is normally due to be credited to the claimant’s account. 

 
36.5 In the case of employment as an employed earner, any advance of earnings or any loan made 

by the claimant’s employer shall be treated as capital. 
 
36.6 Any charitable or voluntary payment which is not made or due to be made at regular intervals, 

other than a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Independent Living Fund (2006), the 
London Bombings Charitable Relief Fund, the WLMEF or the LET shall be treated as capital. 

 
36.7 There shall be treated as capital the gross receipts of any commercial activity carried on by a 

person in respect of which assistance is received under the self- employment route, but only in 
so far as those receipts were payable into a special account during the period in which that 
person was receiving such assistance. 

 
36.8 Any arrears of subsistence allowance which are paid to a claimant as a lump sum shall be treated 

as capital. 
 
36.9 Any arrears of working tax credit or child tax credit shall be treated as capital.  

 

37.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom 
 
37.1 Capital which a claimant possesses in the United Kingdom shall be calculated at its current 

market or surrender value less– 

Page 170



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 53	

a. where there would be expenses attributable to the sale, 10 per cent.; and  
b. the amount of any encumbrance secured on it; 

38.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom 
 
 38.1 Capital which a claimant possesses in a country outside the United Kingdom shall be calculated 

a. in a case where there is no prohibition in that country against the transfer to the United 
Kingdom of an amount equal to its current market or surrender value in that country, at 
that value. 

b. in a case where there is such a prohibition, at the price which it would realise if sold in 
the United Kingdom to a willing buyer, 

less, where there would be expenses attributable to sale, 10 per cent. and the amount of any 
encumbrances secured on it. 

39.0 Notional capital 
39.1 A claimant shall be treated as possessing capital of which he has deprived himself for the 

purpose of securing entitlement to council tax support or increasing the amount of that support 
except to the extent that that capital is reduced in accordance with section 40 (diminishing 
notional capital rule). 

39.2 Except in the case of 
(a) a discretionary trust; or  
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; or 
(c) any loan which would be obtained only if secured against capital disregarded under 

Schedule 5; or  
(d) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the 

Board of the Pension Protection Fund; or  
(e) any sum to which paragraph 47(2)(a) of Schedule 5 (capital to be disregarded) applies 

which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 47(1)(a); or  
(f) any sum to which paragraph 48(a) of Schedule 5 refers; or 
(g) child tax credit; or  
(h) working tax credit, 
any capital which would become available to the claimant upon application being made, but 
which has not been acquired by him, shall be treated as possessed by him but only from the date 
on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 

 
39.3 Any payment of capital, other than a payment of capital specified in paragraph (39.4), made 

(a) to a third party in respect of a single claimant or a member of the family (but not a 
member of the third party’s family) shall, where that payment is a payment of an 
occupational pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal 
pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be 
treated as possessed by that single claimant or, as the case may be, by that member; 

(b) to a third party in respect of a single claimant or in respect of a member of the family (but 
not a member of the third party’s family) shall, where it is not a payment referred to in 
sub-paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by that single claimant or by that member to 
the extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or 
rent of that single claimant or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is 
used for any council tax or water charges for which that claimant or member is liable; 

(c) to a single claimant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in 
respect of another member of that family) shall be treated as possessed by that single 
claimant or, as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or 
used by him or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

 
39.4 Paragraph 39.3 shall not apply in respect of a payment of capital made: 

a. under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Independent 
Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings Relief 
Charitable Fund; 

b. pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act in respect of a person’s participation: 

Page 171



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 54	

i. in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker’s 
Allowance Regulations; 

ii.    in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
iii. in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; 
iv. in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation17A(7) of those 

Regulations; or 
v. in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 

c. in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme;  
d. Enterprise Scheme; 
e. in respect of an applicant’s participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme 

or Back to Work Scheme; 
f. under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical payment 

made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension 
Protection Fund where– 
i. a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the 

payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to 
sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate under 
section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 

ii. the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf 
of the creditors; and 

iii. the person referred to in (i) and any member of his family does not possess, or is not 
treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

 
39.5 Where a claimant stands in relation to a company in a position analogous to that of a sole owner 

or partner in the business of that company, he may be treated as if he were such sole owner or 
partner and in such a case 
(a) the value of his holding in that company shall, notwithstanding section 34 (calculation of 

capital) be disregarded; and 
(b)  he shall, subject to paragraph 39.6, be treated as possessing an amount of capital equal 

to the value or, as the case may be, his share of the value of the capital of that company 
and the foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating 
that amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess. 

 
39.6  For so long as the claimant undertakes activities in the course of the business of the company, 

the amount which, he is treated as possessing under paragraph 39.5 shall be disregarded. 
 
39.7 Where a claimant is treated as possessing capital under any of paragraphs 39.1 to 39.2 the 

foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating its amount as if it 
were actual capital, which he does possess. 

40.0 Diminishing notional capital rule 
40.1 Where a claimant is treated as possessing capital under section 39.1 (notional capital), the 

amount which he is treated as possessing; 
  (a) in the case of a week that is subsequent to 

(i)  the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in paragraph 40.2 are 
satisfied; or 

(ii)  a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those conditions, shall be 
reduced by an amount determined under paragraph 40.3; 

(b)in the case of a week in respect of which paragraph 40.1(a) does not apply but where 
(i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 
(ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in paragraph 40.4 is satisfied, shall be 
reduced by the amount determined under paragraph 40.4. 

40.2  This paragraph applies to a reduction week or part-week where the claimant satisfies the 
conditions that 
(a) he is in receipt of council tax support; and 
(b)  but for paragraph 39.1, he would have received an additional amount of council tax 

support in that week. 
40.3 In a case to which paragraph 40.2 applies, the amount of the reduction for the purposes of 

Page 172



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 55	

paragraph 40.1(a) shall be equal to the aggregate of 
(a) the additional amount to which sub-paragraph 40.2 (b) refers; 
(b)  where the claimant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing benefit 

or any additional amount of that benefit to which he would have been entitled in respect 
of the whole or part of the reduction week to which paragraph 40.2 refers but for the 
application of regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations (notional capital); 

(c) where the claimant has also claimed income support, the amount of income support to 
which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week 
to which paragraph 40.2 refers but for the application of regulation 51(1) of the Income 
Support Regulations (notional capital);  

(d) where the claimant has also claimed a jobseeker’s allowance, the amount of an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of the 
whole or part of the reduction week to which paragraph 40.2 refers but for the 
application of regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations (notional capital) 
and 

(e) where the claimant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the amount 
of an income-related employment and support allowance to which he would have been 
entitled in respect of the whole or part of reduction week to which paragraph 40.2 refers 
but for the application of regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations (notional capital). 

 
40.4 Subject to paragraph 40.5, for the purposes of paragraph 40.1(b) the condition is that the 

claimant would have been entitled to council tax support in the relevant week but for paragraph 
39.1, and in such a case the amount of the reduction shall be equal to the aggregate of 
(a)  the amount of council tax support to which the claimant would have been entitled in the 

relevant week but for paragraph 39.1; and for the purposes of this sub-paragraph is the 
amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount shall be determined by dividing the 
amount of council tax support to which he would have been so entitled by the number 
equal to the number of days in the part-week and multiplying the quotient so obtained 
by 7; 

(b)  if the claimant would, but for regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations, have 
been entitled to housing benefit or to an additional amount of housing benefit in respect 
of the reduction week which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount which 
is equal to– 
(i)  in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he would have 

been entitled; or 
(ii)  in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing benefit 

to which he would have been entitled, 
and, for the purposes of this sub-paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, 
that amount shall be determined by dividing the amount of housing benefit to which he 
would have been so entitled by the number equal to that number of days in the part-
week and multiplying the quotient so obtained by 7; 

(c)  if the claimant would, but for regulation 51(1) of the Income Support Regulations, have 
been entitled to income support in respect of the reduction week, within the meaning of 
regulation 2(1) of those Regulations, which includes the last day of the relevant week, 
the amount to which he would have been entitled and, for the purposes of this sub- 
paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount shall be determined 
by dividing the amount of the income support to which he would have been so entitled 
by the number equal to the number of days in the part- week and multiplying the 
quotient so obtained by 7 

(d) if the claimant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations, 
have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance in respect of the reduction 
week, within the meaning of this scheme, which includes the last day of the relevant 
week, the amount to which he would have been entitled and, for the purposes of this 
sub-paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount shall be 
determined by dividing the amount of the income-based jobseeker’s allowance to which 
he would have been so entitled by the number equal to the number of days in the part-
week and multiplying the quotient so obtained by 7; and 

Page 173



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 56	

(e) if the claimant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations, have been entitled to an income-related employment and support 
allowance in respect of the reduction week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of 
those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the 
amount to which he would have been entitled and, for the purposes of this sub-
paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount must be determined 
by dividing the amount of the income-related employment and support allowance to 
which he would have been so entitled by the number equal to the number of days in that 
part-week and multiplying the quotient so obtained by 7. 

 
40.5 The amount determined under paragraph 40.4 shall be re-determined under that paragraph if 

the claimant makes a further claim for council tax support and the conditions in paragraph 40.6 
are satisfied, and in such a case– 

(a) sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) of paragraph 40.4 shall apply as if for the words ‘relevant 
week’ there were substituted the words ‘relevant subsequent week’; and 
(b)subject to paragraph 40.7, the amount as re-determined shall have effect from the first 
week following the relevant subsequent week in question. 

 
40.6 The conditions are that 
 (a) a further claim is made 26 or more weeks after 

(i)  the date on which the claimant made a claim for council tax support in respect of which 
he was first treated as possessing the capital in question under paragraph 39.1; 

(ii)  in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance with 
paragraph 40.5, the date on which he last made a claim for council tax support which 
resulted in the weekly amount being re-determined, or 

(iii)  the date on which the last ceased to be entitled to council tax support, whichever last 
occurred; and 

(b) the claimant would have been entitled to council tax support for paragraph 39.1. 
 
40.7  The amount as re-determined pursuant to paragraph 40.5 shall not have effect if it is less than 

the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re-determination and in such a 
case the higher amount shall continue to have effect. 

 
40.8 For the purposes of this section 
 (a) ‘part-week’ 

 (i) in paragraph40.4(a)means a period of less than a week for which council tax support 
is allowed; 

 (ii) in paragraph 40.4(b)means a period of less than a week for which housing benefit is 
payable; 

  (iii) in paragraph 40.4 (c),(d)and(e)means– 
 (aa) a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income support , an 

income-related employment and support allowance or, as the case may be, an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance is payable; and 

 (bb) any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
 (b) ‘relevant week’ means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in question 

of which the claimant has deprived himself within the meaning of section 39.1 
(i) was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to council 
tax support; or 
(ii) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of determining or 
re-determining his entitlement to council tax support on that subsequent occasion and 
that determination or re-determination resulted in his beginning to receive, or ceasing to 
receive, council tax support; 
and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to heads (i) and (ii) 
of this sub-paragraph the later or latest such reduction week or, as the case may be, the 
later or latest such part-week; 

 (c)  ‘relevant subsequent risk’ means the reduction week or part-week which includes the 
day on which the further claim or, if more than one further claim has been made, the last 
such claim was made. 

Page 174



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 57	

41.0 Capital jointly held 
 

41.1 Except where a claimant possesses capital which is disregarded under paragraph 39(5) 
(notional capital) where a claimant and one or more persons are beneficially entitled in 
possession to any capital asset they shall be treated as if each of them were entitled in 
possession to the whole beneficial interest therein in an equal share and the foregoing 
provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of capital 
which the claimant is treated as possessing as if it were actual capital which the claimant 
does possess 

42.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital 
42.1 Where the claimant’s capital calculated in accordance with this scheme exceeds £6,000 it shall 

be treated as equivalent to a weekly income of £1 for each complete £250 of in excess of £6,000 
but not exceeding £16,000 

 
42.2 Notwithstanding paragraph 42.1 where any part of the excess is not a complete £250 that part 

shall be treated as equivalent to a weekly tariff income of £1. 
 
42.3 For the purposes of paragraph 42.1, capital includes any income treated as capital under section 

36 (income treated as capital). 
 
  

Page 175



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 58	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 43 - 56  

Definition and the treatment of students for Council Tax Support purposes 

  

Page 176



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 59	

 

43.0 Student related definitions 
 
43.1 In this scheme the following definitions apply; 

 ‘academic year’ means the period of twelve months beginning on 1st January, 1st April, 1st July 
or 1st September according to whether the course in question begins in the winter, the spring, 
the summer or the autumn respectively but if students are required to begin attending the 
course during August or September and to continue attending through the autumn, the 
academic year of the course shall be considered to begin in the autumn rather than the summer;  
‘access funds’ means; 
a. grants made under section 68 of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the 

purpose of providing funds on a discretionary basis to be paid to students; 
b. grants made under section 73(a) and (c) and 74(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
c. grants made under Article 30 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 

1993 or grants, loans or other payments made under Article 5 of the Further Education 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1997in each case being grants, or grants, loans or other 
payments as the case may be, for the purpose of assisting students in financial difficulties; 

d. discretionary payments, known as ‘learner support funds’, which are made available to 
students in further education by institutions out of funds provided by the Young People’s 
Learning Agency for England under sections 61 
and 62 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 or the Chief 
Executive of Skills Funding under section 100 and 101 of that Act; or 

 e Financial Contingency Funds made available by the Welsh Ministers;  
‘college of further education’ means a college of further education within the meaning of Part 
1 of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992;  
’contribution’ means; 
a. any contribution in respect of the income of a student or any person which the Secretary 

of State, the Scottish Ministers or an education authority takes into account in 
ascertaining the amount of a student’s grant or student loan; or 

b. any sums, which in determining the amount of a student’s allowance or bursary in 
Scotland under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the Scottish Ministers or education 
authority takes into account being sums which the Scottish Ministers or education 
authority consider that it is reasonable for the following person to contribute towards 
the holder’s expenses; 
(i) the holder of the allowance or bursary;  
(ii) the holder’s parents; 
(iii) the holders parent’s spouse, civil partner or a person ordinarily living with the 

holder’s parent as if he or she were the spouse or civil partner of that parent; or 
(iv) the holder’s spouse or civil partner; ‘course of study’ means any course of study, 

whether or not it is a sandwich course and whether or not a grant is made for 
attending or undertaking it; ‘covenant income’ means the gross income payable 
to a full-time student under a Deed of Covenant by his parent; 

‘education authority’ means a government department, a local education authority as defined 
in section 12 of the Education Act 1996 (interpretation), a local education authority as defined 
in section 123 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 an education and library board 
established under Article 3 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1986, any 
body which is a research council for the purposes of the Science and Technology Act 1965 or any 
analogous government department, authority, board or body of the Channel Island, Isle of Man 
or any other country outside Great Britain; 

 ‘full-time course of study’ means a full time course of study which; 
(a) is not funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the 

Education Act 2002,, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers or a 
full-time course of study which is not funded in whole or in part by the Scottish 
Ministers at a college of further education or a full- time course of study which is a 
course of higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers; 

Page 177



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 60	

(b) is funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education 
Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers if it involves 
more than 16 guided learning hours per week for the student in question, according to 
the number of guided learning hours per week for that student set out– 

 
(i) in the case of a course funded by the Young People’s Learning Agency for England 

or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding, in the student’s learning agreement signed 
on behalf of the establishment which is funded by either of those bodies for the 
delivery of that course; or 

(ii) in the case of a course funded by the Welsh Ministers, in a document signed on 
behalf of the establishment which is funded by that Council for the delivery of that 
course; or 

 (c)  is not higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at a 
college of further education and involves; 

  (i) more than 16 hours per week of classroom-based or workshop-based  
  programmed learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff according to the 
  number of hours set out in a document signed on behalf of the college; or 
  (ii) 16 hours or less per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed 

   learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff and additional hours using 
structured learning packages supported by the teaching staff where the combined 
total of hours exceeds 21 hours per week, according to the number of hours set 
out in a document signed on behalf of the college;  

 ‘full-time student’ means a person attending or undertaking a full-time course of study and 
includes a student on a sandwich course;  

‘grant’ (except in the definition of ‘access funds’) means any kind of educational grant or 
award and includes any scholarship, studentship, exhibition allowance or bursary but does not 
include a payment from access funds or any payment to which paragraph 12 of Schedule 4 or 
paragraph 53 of Schedule 5 applies;  
‘grant income’ means 

  (a) any income by way of a grant; 
  (b) any contribution whether or not it is paid;  

‘higher education’ means higher education within the meaning of Part 2 of the Further and 
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992;  
‘last day of the course’ means; 

a. in the case of a qualifying course, the date on which the last day of that course falls 
or the date on which the final examination relating to that course is completed, 
whichever is the later; 

b. in any other case, the date on which the last day of the final academic term falls in 
respect of the course in which the student is enrolled; 

 ‘period of study’ means– 
a. in the case of a course of study for one year or less, the period beginning with the 

start of the course and ending with the last day of the course; 
b. in the case of a course of study for more than one year, in the first or, as the case may 

be, any subsequent year of the course, other than the final year of the course, the 
period beginning with the start of the course or, as the case may be, the year’s start 
and ending with either– 
(i) the day before the start of the next year of the course in a case where the student’s 
grant or loan is assessed at a rate appropriate to his studying throughout the year, or, 
if he does not have a grant or loan, where a loan would have been assessed at such a 
rate had he had one; or 
(ii) in any other case, the day before the start of the normal summer vacation 
appropriate to his course; 

c. in the final year of a course of study of more than one year, the period beginning 
with that year’s start and ending with the last day of the course; 

 ‘periods of experience’ means periods of work experience which form part of a 
 sandwich course; 

‘qualifying course’ means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations; 

Page 178



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 61	

‘modular course’ means a course of study which consists of two or more modules, the successful 
completion of a specified number of which is required before a person is considered by the 
educational establishment to have completed the course. 
’sandwich course’ has the meaning prescribed in regulation 2(9) of the Education (Student  
Support) Regulations 2008, regulation 4(2) of the Education (Student Loans), (Scotland), 
Regulations 2007 or regulation 2(8) of the Education (Student Support) Regulations (Northern 
Ireland) 2007, as the case may be; 

 ‘standard maintenance grant’ means– 
 (a) except where paragraph (b) or (c) applies, in the case of a student attending or 

undertaking a course of study at the University of London or an establishment within the 
area comprising the City of London and the Metropolitan Police District, the amount 
specified for the time being in paragraph 2(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Education 
(Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 (‘the 2003 Regulations’) for such a student; 

  (b) except where paragraph (c) applies, in the case of a student residing at his parent’s home, 
the amount specified in paragraph 3 thereof;  

 (c) in the case of a student receiving an allowance or bursary under the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980, the amount of money specified as ‘standard maintenance allowance’ for the 
relevant year appropriate for the student set out in the Student Support in Scotland Guide 
issued by the student Awards Agency for Scotland, or its nearest equivalent in the case 
of a bursary provided by a college of further education or a local education authority; 

 (d)  discretionary payments, known as “learner support funds”, which are made available to 
students in further education by institutions out of funds provided by the Secretary of 
State under section 14 of the Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding 
under sections 100 and 101 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009; 
or 

 
‘student’ means a person, other than a person in receipt of a training allowance, who is 
attending or undertaking– 
(a) a course of study at an educational establishment; or 
(b) a qualifying course;  
‘student’ loan’ means a loan towards a student’s maintenance pursuant to any regulations made 

under section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, section 73 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980 or Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1998 and shall include, in Scotland, a young student’s bursary paid under 
regulation 4(1)(c) of the Student’s Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 2007 

 
43.2 For the purposes of the definition of ‘full-time student’, a person shall be regarded as attending 

or, as the case may be, undertaking a full-time course of study or as being on a sandwich course 
 (a) in the case of a person attending or undertaking a part of a modular course which would 

be a full-time course of study for the purposes of this Part, for the period beginning on 
the day on which that part of the course starts and ending; 
(i) on the last day on which he is registered with the educational establishment as 
attending or undertaking that part as a full-time course of study; or 
(ii) on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons the course or is dismissed from it; 

 (b) in any other case, throughout the period beginning on the date on which he starts 
attending or undertaking the course and ending on the last day of the course or on such 
earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons it or is dismissed from it. 

 
43.3 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (a) of paragraph 43.2, the period referred to in that sub-

paragraph shall include; 
(a) where a person has failed examinations or has failed to successfully complete a module 

relating to a period when he was attending or undertaking a part of the course as a full-
time course of study, any period in respect of which he attends or undertakes the course 
for the purpose of retaking those examinations or that module; 

(b)  any period of vacation within the period specified in that paragraph or immediately 
following that period except where the person has registered with the educational 
establishment to attend or undertake the final module in the course and the vacation 
immediately follows the last day on which he is required to attend or undertake the 

Page 179



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 62	

course. 

44.0 Treatment of students 
 
44.1 The following sections relate to students who claim Council Tax Support 

45.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to council tax support 
 
45.1 Students (except those specified in paragraph 45.3) are not able to claim Council Tax Support 

under Classes D and E of the Council’s reduction scheme.  
 
45.2 To be eligible for support, the student must be liable for Council Tax under Section 6 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992 and they must not be deemed to be a full time student or a 
persons from abroad within the meaning of section 7 of this scheme (persons from aboard). 

 
45.3 Paragraph 45.2 shall not apply to a student 

(a) who is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance; 
(b) who is a lone parent; 
(c) whose applicable amount would, but for this section, include the disability premium or 
severe disability premium; 
(d) whose applicable amount would include the disability premium but for his being treated as 
capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations made under 
section 171E of the Act; 
(e)who is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so treated 
as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 
12A of the Act (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and for 
this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 days 
shall be treated as one continuous period; 
(ea) who has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been treated 
as having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations for a continuous period of not less than 196 days, and for this purpose 
any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 84 days must be 
treated as one continuous period. 
(f) who has a partner who is also a full-time student, if he or that partner is treated as 
responsible for a child or young person;  
(g)who is a single claimant with whom a child is placed by a local authority or voluntary 
organisation within the meaning of the Children Act 1989, or, in Scotland, boarded out within 
the meaning of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 
(h) who is; 

(i) aged under 21 and whose course of study is not a course of higher education, or 
(ii) a qualifying young person or child within the meaning of section 142 of the Act 
(child and qualifying young person); 

(i) in respect of whom 
i) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of Part 2 
of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003; 
(ii) an allowance, or as the case may be, bursary has been granted which includes 
a sum under paragraph (1)(d) or regulation 4 of the Students’ Allowances 
(Scotland) Regulations 1999 or, as the case may be, under paragraph (1)(d) of 
regulation 4 of the Education Authority (Bursaries) (Scotland) Regulations 1995, in 
respect of expenses incurred; 
(iii) a payment has been made under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 or under 
or by virtue of regulations made under the Teaching and Higher Education Act 
1998; 
(iv) a grant has been made under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations 2005 or under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2000; or  

Page 180



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 63	

(v) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of 
Schedule 6 to the Students Awards Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1999 or a 
payment has been made under Article 50(3) of the Education and Libraries 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1986, on account of his disability by reason of deafness. 

 
45.3A For the purposes of paragraph 45.3(h)(i) the student must have begun, or been enrolled or 

accepted onto the course before attaining the age of 19 
 
45.4 For the purposes of paragraph 45.3, once paragraph 45.3(e) applies to a full-time student, if he 

then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of 
work, that paragraph shall, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of 
work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains 
incapable or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

 
45.5 In paragraph 45.3(h) the reference to a course of higher education is a reference to a course of 

any description mentioned in Schedule 6 to the Education Reform Act 1988. 
 
45.6 A full-time student to whom sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 45.3 applies, shall be treated as 

satisfying that sub-paragraph from the date on which he made a request for the supplementary 
requirement, allowance, bursary or payment as the case may be. 

 
45.7 Paragraph 45.2 shall not apply to a full-time student for the period specified in paragraph 45.8 

if; 
(a)  at any time during an academic year, with the consent of the relevant educational 

establishment, he ceases to attend or undertake a course because he is; 
 (i) engaged in caring for another person; or  
 (ii) ill; 
 
(b)  he has subsequently ceased to be engaged in engaging in caring for that person or, as the 

case may be, he has subsequently recovered from that illness; and  
(c) he is not eligible for a grant or a student loan in respect of the period specified in 

paragraph 45.8. 
45.8 The period specified for the purposes of paragraph 45.7 is the period, not exceeding one year, 

beginning on the day on which he ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the case 
may be, the day on which he recovered from that illness and ending on the day before; 
(a) the day on which he resumes attending or undertaking the course; or 
(b) the day from which the relevant educational establishment has agreed that he may 

resume attending or undertaking the course,  
which shall first occur. 

 

46.0 Calculation of grant income  
 
46.1 The amount of a student’s grant income to be taken into account shall, subject to paragraphs 

46.2 and 46.3, be the whole of his grant income. 
 
46.2 There shall be excluded from a student’s grant income any payment; 
 

(a) intended to meet tuition fees or examination fees; 
(b) in respect of the student’s disability; 
(c) intended to meet additional expenditure connected with term time residential study 

away from the student’s educational establishment; 
(d) on account of the student maintaining a home at a place other than that at which he 

resides during his course; 
(e) on account of any other person but only if that person is residing outside of the United 

Kingdom and there is no applicable amount in respect of him; 
(f) intended to meet the cost of books and equipment; 
(g) intended to meet travel expenses incurred as a result of his attendance on the course;  

Page 181



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 64	

(h) intended for the child care costs of a child dependant. 
(i) of higher education bursary for care leavers made under Part III of the Children Act 1989. 

46.3  Where a student does not have a student loan and is not treated as possessing such a loan, 
there shall be excluded from the student’s grant income; 

 (a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and  
 (b)the sum of £390 per academic year towards the costs of books and equipment, whether or 

not any such costs are incurred. 
 
46.4  There shall also be excluded from a student’s grant income the grant for dependants known as 

the parents’ learning allowance paid pursuant to regulations made under Article 3 of the 
Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 or section 22 of the Teaching and 
Higher Education Act 1998. 

 
46.5 Subject to paragraphs 46.6 and 46.7, a student’s grant income shall be apportioned; 
 

(a) subject to paragraph 46.8, in a case where it is attributable to the period of study, equally 
between the weeks in that period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with, or immediately follows the first day of the period of study and 
ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the period of study; 

(b) in any other case, equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction 
week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the 
period for which it is payable and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which 
coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period for which it is payable. 

 
46.6 Any grant in respect of dependants paid under section 63(6) of the Health Services and Public 

Health Act 1968 (grants in respect of the provision of instruction to officers of hospital 
authorities) and any amount intended for the maintenance of dependants under Part 3 of 
Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2004 shall be apportioned equally 
over the period of 52 weeks or, if there are 53 reduction weeks (including part-weeks) in the 
year, 53. 

 
46.7 In a case where a student is in receipt of a student loan or where he could have acquired a 

student loan by taking reasonable steps but had not done so, any amount intended for the 
maintenance of dependants to which neither paragraph 46.6 nor section 50.0 (other amounts 
to be disregarded) apply, shall be apportioned over the same period as the student’s loan is 
apportioned or, as the case may be, would have been apportioned.  

 
46.8  In the case of a student on a sandwich course, any periods of experience within the period of 

study shall be excluded and the student’s grant income shall be apportioned equally between 
the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which immediately 
follows the last day of the period of experience and ending with the reduction week, the last day 
of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study. 

47.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed 
 
47.1 Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant during a period of study and a 

contribution has been assessed, the amount of his covenant income to be taken into account 
for that period and any summer vacation immediately following shall be the whole amount of 
the covenant income less, subject to paragraph 47.3, the amount of the contribution. 

 
47.2 The weekly amount of the student’s covenant shall be determined– 
 (a) by dividing the amount of income which falls to be taken into account under paragraph 

47.1 by 52 or 53, whichever is reasonable in the circumstances; and 
 (b) by disregarding from the resulting amount, £5. 
 
47.3 For the purposes of paragraph 47.1, the contribution shall be treated as increased by the amount 

(if any) by which the amount excluded under paragraph 46.2(g) (calculation of grant income) 

Page 182



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 65	

falls short of the amount specified in paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory 
Awards) Regulations 2003 (travel expenditure). 

48.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed  
 
48.1 Where a student is not in receipt of income by way of a grant the amount of his covenant income 

shall be calculated as follows; 
 (a) any sums intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 46.2 (a) to (e) (calculation 

of grant income) necessary as a result of his attendance on the course shall be disregarded; 
 (b) any covenant income, up to the amount of the standard maintenance grant, which is not 

so disregarded, shall be apportioned equally between the weeks of the period of study; 
 (c) there shall be disregarded from the amount so apportioned the amount which would 

have been disregarded under paragraph 46.2(f) and 46.3 (calculation of grant income) 
had the student been in receipt of the standard maintenance grant; and 

 (d) the balance, if any, shall be divided by 52 or 53 whichever is reasonable in the 
circumstances and treated as weekly income of which £5 shall be disregarded.  

 
48.2 Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant and no contribution has been assessed, 

the amount of his covenanted income shall be calculated in accordance with sub-paragraphs (a) 
to (d) of paragraph 48.1, except that; 

 (a) the value of the standard maintenance grant shall be abated by the amount of such grant 
income less an amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 
46.2 (a) to (e); and 

 (b) the amount to be disregarded under paragraph 48.1(c) shall be abated by an amount 
equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 46.2(f) and (g) and 46.3 

49.0 Student Covenant Income and Grant income – non disregard 
 
49.1 No part of a student’s covenant income or grant income shall be disregarded under paragraph 

15 of Schedule 4 to this scheme 

50.0 Other amounts to be disregarded 
 
50.1 For the purposes of ascertaining income other than grant income, covenant income and loans 

treated as income in accordance with section 51, any amounts intended for any expenditure 
specified in paragraph 46.2 (calculation of grant income), necessary as a result of his attendance 
on the course shall be disregarded but only if, and to the extent that, the necessary expenditure 
exceeds or is likely to exceed the amount of the sums disregarded under paragraphs 46.2 or 
46.3, 47.3, 48.1(a) or (c) or 51.5 (calculation of grant income, covenant income and treatment 
of student loans) on like expenditure. 

51.0 Treatment of student loans  
 
51.1 A student loan shall be treated as income.  
 
51.2  In calculating the weekly amount of the loan to be taken into account as income 
 (a) in respect of a course that is of a single academic year’s duration or less, a loan which is 

payable in respect of that period shall be apportioned equally between the weeks in the 
period beginning with; 
(i) except in a case where (ii) applies, the reduction week ,the first day of which coincides 

with, or immediately follows, the first day of the single academic year;  
(ii) where the student is required to start attending the course in August or where the 

course is less than an academic year’s duration, the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the course, and ending 
with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes with last day of the course,  

 

Page 183



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 66	

(b) in respect of an academic year of a course which starts other than on 1st September, a 
loan which is payable in respect of that academic year shall be apportioned equally 
between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year and 
ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with or immediately 
precedes, the last day of that academic year but excluding any reduction weeks falling 
entirely within the quarter during which, in the opinion of the Secretary of State, the 
longest of any vacation is taken and for the purposes of this sub-paragraph, ‘quarter’ shall 
have the same meaning as for the purposes of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations 2005; 

 
 (c)  in respect of the final academic year of a course (not being a course of a single year’s 

duration), a loan which is payable in respect of that final academic year shall be 
apportioned equally between the weeks in the period beginning with; 
(i) except in a case where (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first day of which coincides 

with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year; 
(ii) where the final academic year starts on 1st September, the reduction week, the first 

day of which coincide with, or immediately follows, the earlier of 1st September or 
the first day of the autumn term, 

and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course; 

 
 (d) in any other case, the loan shall be apportioned equally between the weeks in the period 

beginning with the earlier of; 
(i) the first day of the first reduction week in September; or 
(ii) the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows the 

first day of the autumn term, 
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course; 

 
 and, in all cases, from the weekly amount so apportioned there shall be disregarded £10. 
 
51.3 A student shall be treated as possessing a student loan in respect of an academic year where; 

(a) a student loan has been made to him in respect of that year; or 
(b)  he could acquire such a loan in respect of that year by taking reasonable steps to do so. 

 
51.4 Where a student is treated as possessing a student loan under paragraph 51.3, the amount of 

the student loan to be taken into account as income shall be, subject to paragraph 51.5 
(a) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is made in respect of an academic year, a 

sum equal to 
(i) the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of that year by taking 
reasonable steps to do so; and  
(ii) any contribution whether or not it has been paid to him; 

(b) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is not made in respect of an academic year, 
the maximum student loan that would be made to the student if; 

(i) he took all reasonable steps to obtain the maximum student loan he is able to acquire 
in respect of that year; and 
(ii) no deduction in that loan was made by virtue of the application of a means test. 

 
51.5 There shall be deducted from the amount of income taken into account under paragraph 51.4 
 (a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and  
 (b)  the sum of £390 per academic year towards the cost of books and equipment, whether 

or not any such costs are incurred. 

51A.0 Treatment of fee loans 
51A. 1A loan for fees, known as a fee loan or a fee contribution loan, made pursuant to regulations 

made under Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998, section 
22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998 or section 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) 

Page 184



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 67	

Act 1980, shall be disregarded as income. 
 

52.0 Treatment of payments from access funds  
 
52.1 This paragraph applies to payments from access funds that are not payments to which paragraph 

55.2 or 52.3 (income treated as capital) applies. 
 
52.2 A payment from access funds, other than a payment to which paragraph 52.3 applies, shall be 

disregarded as income. 
 
52.3 Subject to paragraph 52.4 of this section and paragraph 35 of Schedule 4,  
 a) any payments from access funds which are intended and used for an item of food, 

ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel, or rent of a single applicant or, as the case 
may be, of the applicant or any other member of his family and  

 b) any payments from access funds which are used for any council tax or water charges for 
which that applicant or member is liable, shall be disregarded as income to the extent of 
£20 per week. 

 
 
52.4 Where a payment from access funds is made– 

(a) on or after 1st September or the first day of the course, whichever first occurs, but before 
receipt of any student loan in respect of that year and that payment is intended for the 
purpose of bridging the period until receipt of the student loan; or 

(b) before the first day of the course to a person in anticipation of that person becoming a 
student, 

that payment shall be disregarded as income. 
 

53.0 Disregard of contribution 
 

53.1 Where the claimant or his partner is a student and for the purposes of assessing a contribution 
to the student’s grant or student loan, the other partner’s income has been taken into account, 
an amount equal to that contribution shall be disregarded for the purposes of assessing that 
other partner’s income. 

 

54.0 Further disregard of student’s income 
 
54.1 Where any part of a student’s income has already been taken into account for the purpose of 

assessing his entitlement to a grant or student loan, the amount taken into account shall be 
disregarded in assessing that student’s income. 

55.0 Income treated as capital  
 
55.1 Any amount by way of a refund of tax deducted from a student’s covenant income shall be 

treated as capital. 
 
55.2      Any amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum shall be treated as capital. 

 
55.3 An amount paid from access fund as a single lump sum which is intended and used for an item 

other than food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent, or which is used for an 
item other than any council tax or water charges for which that claimant or member is liable, 
shall be disregarded as capital but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the payment. 

Page 185



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 68	

56.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation 
56.1 In calculating a student’s income the authority shall disregard any change in the standard 

maintenance grant, occurring in the recognised summer vacation appropriate to the student’s 
course, if that vacation does not form part of his period of study from the date on which the 
change occurred to the end of that vacation. 

  

Page 186



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 69	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 57 – 63  

The calculation and amount of Council Tax Support 

  

Page 187



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 70	

 

57.0 Maximum council tax support 
 
57.1 Subject to paragraphs 57.2 to 57.4, the amount of a person’s maximum council tax support in 

respect of a day for which he is liable to pay council tax, shall be 100 per cent, of the amount 
A/B where; 
(a) A is the amount set by the appropriate authority as the council tax for the relevant 

financial year in respect of the dwelling in which he is a resident and for which he is liable, 
subject to any discount which may be appropriate to that dwelling under the 1992 Act; 
and 

(b) B is the number of days in that financial year, less any deductions in respect of non-
dependants which fall to be made under section 58 (non-dependant deductions). 

 
57.2 In calculating a person’s maximum council tax support any reduction in the amount that person 

is liable to pay in respect of council tax, which is made in consequence of any enactment in, or 
made under, the 1992 Act, shall be taken into account. 

 
57.3 Subject to paragraph 57.4, where a claimant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in 

respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons but excepting any 
person so residing with the claimant who is a student to whom paragraph 45.2 (students who 
are excluded from entitlement to council tax support) applies, in determining the maximum 
council tax support in his case in accordance with paragraph 57.1, the amount A shall be divided 
by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax. 

 
57.4 Where a claimant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling with only 

his partner, paragraph 57.3 shall not apply in his case 

58.0 Non-dependant deductions18 
58.1 Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, the non-dependant deductions in respect 

of a day referred to in section 57 (maximum council tax reduction) shall be; 
(a) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over in remunerative work, £14.15 x 1/7; 
(b) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (a) does not 

apply, £4.60 x 1/7. 
 
58.2 In the case of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom paragraph 58.1(a) applies, where it is 

shown to the appropriate authority that his normal gross weekly income is– 
(a) less than £236.00, the deduction to be made under this paragraph shall be that specified 

in paragraph 58.1(b); 
(b)  not less than £236.00, but less than £410.00, the deduction to be made under this section 

shall be £9.40 x1/7 
(c)  not less than £410.00, but less than £511.00, the deduction to be made under this section 

shall be £11.80 x 1/7; 
 
58.3 Only one deduction shall be made under this section in respect of a couple or, as the case may 

be, members of a polygamous marriage and, where, but for this paragraph, the amount that 
would fall to be deducted in respect of one member of a couple or polygamous marriage is 
higher than the amount (if any) that would fall to be deducted in respect of the other, or any 
other, member, the higher amount shall be deducted. 

 
58.4 In applying the provisions of paragraph 58.2 in the case of a couple or, as the case may be a 

polygamous marriage, regard shall be had, for the purpose of that paragraph, to the couple’s or, 
as the case may be, all members of the polygamous marriage’s joint weekly gross income. 

 
58.5 Where in respect of a day– 

	
18 The amounts shown within this section shall be uprated in line with the Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Prescribed Requirements) Regulations 2012 

Page 188



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 71	

a. a person is a resident in a dwelling but is not himself liable for council tax in respect of that 
dwelling and that day; 

b. other residents in that dwelling (the liable persons) have joint and several liability for council 
tax in respect of that dwelling and that day otherwise than by virtue of section 9 or 77 or 
77A of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and civil partners); and 

c. the person to whom sub-paragraph (a) refers is a non-dependant of two or more of the 
liable persons, the deduction in respect of that non-dependant shall be apportioned equally 
between those liable persons. 

 
58.6 No deduction shall be made in respect of any non-dependants occupying an applicant’s dwelling 

if the applicant or his partner is– 
(a) blind or treated as blind by virtue of paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 (additional condition for 

the disability premium); or 
(b) receiving in respect of himself 
 (i) attendance allowance, or would be receiving that allowance but for 

  (aa) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of 
The Act; or  

  (bb) an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or  
 (ii) the care component of the disability living allowance, or would be receiving that 

component but for 
  (aa) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of 

The Act; or  
  (bb) an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or  

(iii) the daily living component of personal independence payment, or would be receiving 
that allowance but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under 
section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); 

(iv) an AFIP, or would be receiving that payment but for a suspension of it in accordance 
with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which allows 
for a suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or 
similar institution. 

; 
 
58.7 No deduction shall be made in respect of a non-dependant if: 

a. although he resides with the applicant, it appears to the authority that his normal home is 
elsewhere; or 

b. he is in receipt of a training allowance paid in connection with a youth training established 
under section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 
1990; or 

c. he is a full time student within the meaning of section 43.0 (Students); or 
d. he is not residing with the applicant because he has been a patient for a period of excess of 

52 weeks, and for these purposes; 
e. ‘patient’ has the meaning given within this scheme, and 
f. where a person has been a patient for two or more distinct periods separated by one or 

more intervals each not exceeding 28 days, he shall be treated as having been a patient 
continuously for a period equal in duration to the total of those distinct periods; 

g. he is not residing with the claimant because he is a member of the armed forces away on 
operations 

 
58.8 No deduction shall be made in respect of a non-dependant; 
 (a)  who is on income support, state pension credit, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance 

or an income-related employment and support allowance;  
(b) to whom Schedule 1 of the 1992 Act applies (persons disregarded for purposes of 

discount) but this sub-paragraph shall not apply to a non-dependant who is a student to 
whom paragraph 4 of that Schedule refers; 

(c) who is entitled to an award of universal credit where the award is calculated on the 
basis that the person does not have any earned income.”; 

For the purposes of sub-paragraph (c), “earned income” has the meaning given in regulation 52 
of the Universal Credit Regulations 2013 

Page 189



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 72	

 
58.9 In the application of paragraph 58.2 there shall be disregarded from his weekly gross income: 

a. any attendance allowance, disability living allowance or personal independence payment or an 
AFIP received by him; 

b. any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust , MFET Limited, the Skipton 
Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006) which had his income 
fallen to be calculated under section 30 (calculation of income other than earnings) would 
have been disregarded under paragraph 24 of Schedule 4 (income in kind); and  

c. any payment which had his income fallen to be calculated under section 30 would have been 
disregarded under paragraph 36 of Schedule 4 (payments made under certain trusts and 
certain other payments). 

59.0 Council tax support taper (applies to persons defined within Class E) 
 
59.1 The prescribed daily percentage for the purpose of calculating support as a percentage of excess 

of income over the applicable amount which is deducted from maximum council tax support, 
shall be 2 6/7 per cent. Where a claimant’s income exceeds their applicable amount, their 
council tax support shall be calculated by deducting their excess income multiplied by the taper 
from their maximum council tax support as defined within section 57 of this scheme 

59A.0 Reduction of entitlement (Classes A & B)  
 
59A.1 Any entitlement calculated in accordance with this scheme shall be reduced by a percentage as 

shown in Schedule 6. The standard deduction shall apply to the council tax support calculated 
for all working age claimants. 

 
59A.2 Where the following circumstances are met Schedule 6 outlines the deduction that shall apply: 
 

• Where the applicant or their partner receive, Disability Living Allowance or a 
Personal Independence Payment; or  

• An applicant who is a lone parent and who is responsible and resides with a child 
under 5 years old ; o r    

• Where the applicant or their partners receives carers allowance; or  
•  Where the applicant or their partner is in receipt of a war pension, war widows 

pension, war disablement pension or equivalent; or 
• Where the applicant or their partner receive: 

o Income Support; or 
o Income Related Employment and Support Allowance; or 
o Income Based Jobseeker’s Allowance; 

• Where the applicant or their partner is in receipt of Universal Credit and 
immediately prior to receipt of that were in receipt of: 

o  Income Support; or 
o Income Related Employment and Support Allowance; or 
o Income Based Jobseeker’s Allowance; 

• Where the applicant, or their partner, is in receipt of Jobseeker’s Allowance 
Contribution Based; 

• Where the applicant, or their partner, is in receipt of Main Phase Employment and 
Support Allowance and are in the Work Related Activity Group; 

• Where the applicant is in receipt of Maximum Universal Credit and is neither 
employed, self-employed or in receipt of any other income which is taken into 
account when calculating their Universal Credit award; and 

• Where the applicant is in receipt of Universal Credit which includes any of the 
following elements: 

o Limited capability for work 
o Limited capability for work & work related activity 

Page 190



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 73	

60.0 Extended reductions  
 
60.1 A claimant who is entitled to council tax support (by virtue of the general conditions of 

entitlement) shall be entitled to an extended reduction where; 
 (a) the claimant or the claimant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying income- related benefit; 
 (b)  entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased because the claimant or the 

claimant’s partner– 
  (i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner;  
  (ii)  increased their earnings from such employment; or 

(iii)  increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 
and that employment is or, as the case may be, increased earnings or increased number 
of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; and 

(c) the claimant or the claimant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
income-related benefit, jobseeker’s allowance or a combination of those benefits for a 
continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a 
qualifying income-related benefit ceased. 

 
60.2 For the purpose of paragraph 60.1(c), a claimant or a claimant’s partner is to be treated as having 

been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying income-related benefit or jobseeker’s allowance 
during any period of less than five weeks in respect of which the claimant or the claimant’s 
partner was not entitled to any of those benefits because the claimant or the claimant’s partner 
was engaged in remunerative work as a consequence of their participation in an employment 
zone programme. 

 
60.3 For the purpose of this section, where a claimant or a claimant’s partner is entitled to and in 

receipt of joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance they shall be treated as being entitled to and in 
receipt of jobseeker’s allowance. 

 
60.4 A claimant must be treated as entitled to council tax support by virtue of the general conditions of 

entitlement where– 
 (a) the claimant ceased to be entitled to council tax support because the claimant vacated 

the dwelling in which the claimant was resident; 
 (b) the day on which the claimant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 

entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 
 (c)  entitlement to the qualifying income-related benefit ceased in any of the circumstances 

listed in paragraph 60.1(b). 
 
60.5 This section shall not apply where, on the day before a claimant’s entitlement to income support 

ceased, regulation 6(5) of the Income Support Regulations (remunerative work: housing costs) 
applied to that claimant. 

60A.0 Duration of extended reduction period 

 
60A.1 Where a claimant is entitled to an extended reduction, the extended reduction period starts on 

the first day of the reduction week immediately following the reduction week in which the 
claimant, or the claimant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 

 
60A.2 For the purpose of paragraph (60A.1), a claimant or a claimant’s partner ceases to be entitled to 

a qualifying income-related benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement 
to that benefit. 

 
60A.3 The extended reduction period ends; 
 
 (a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
 (b) on the date on which the claimant to whom the extended reduction is payable has no 

liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 
 

Page 191



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 74	

60B.0 Amount of extended reduction  
 
60B.1 For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 

payable to a claimant shall be the higher of– 
 (a) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant was entitled under the general 

conditions of entitlement in the last reduction week before the claimant or the claimant’s 
partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income- related benefit; 

(b) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant would be entitled under the 
general conditions of entitlement for any reduction week during the extended reduction 
period, if section 60 (extended reductions) did not apply to the claimant; or 

 (c) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant’s partner would be entitled 
under the general conditions of entitlement, if section 60 did not apply to the claimant. 

60B.2 Paragraph 60B1 does not apply in the case of a mover. 
 
60B.3 Where a claimant is in receipt of an extended reduction under this section and the claimant’s 

partner makes a claim for council tax support, no amount of council tax support shall be payable 
by the appropriate authority during the extended reduction period. 

60C Extended reductions – movers 
60C.1 This section applies; 
 (a) to a mover; and  
 (b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 
 
60C.2 The amount of the extended reduction payable from the Monday from which this section applies 

until the end of the extended reduction period shall be the amount of council tax support which 
was payable to the mover for the last reduction week before the mover, or the mover’s partner, 
ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 

 
60C.3 Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to the second 

authority, the extended reduction may take the form of a payment from the appropriate 
authority to; 

 (a) the second authority; or  
 (b) the mover directly. 
 
60C.4 Where– 

(a) a mover, or the mover’s partner, makes a claim for council tax support to the second 
authority after the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
income-related benefit; and 

(b) the mover, or the mover’s partner, is in receipt of an extended reduction from the 
appropriate authority, the second authority shall reduce the weekly amount of council 
tax support that the mover, or the mover’s partner, is entitled to by a sum equal to the 
amount of the extended reduction until the end of the extended reduction period. 

60D.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to council tax support under the 
general conditions of entitlement 

 
60D.1 Where a claimant’s council tax support award would have ended when the claimant ceased to 

be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 
60.1(b), that award will not cease until the end of the extended reduction period. 

 
60D.2  Changes of circumstances and increases for exceptional circumstances shall not apply to any 

extended reduction payable in accordance with paragraph 60B.1(a) or 60C.2 (amount of 
extended reduction – movers). 

61.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) 
 
61.1 A claimant who is entitled to council tax support (by virtue of the general conditions of 

Page 192



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 75	

entitlement) shall be entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) where; 
(a) the claimant or the claimant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the claimant or the 

claimant’s partner; 
  (i)  commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner;  
  (ii)  increased their earnings from such employment; or 

(iii)  increased the number of hours worked in such employment, and that employment 
is or, as the case may be, increased earnings or increased number of hours are 
expected to last five weeks or more; 

 (c) the claimant or the claimant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits for a continuous 
period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying 
contributory benefit ceased; and 

 (d) the claimant or the claimant’s partner was not entitled to and not in receipt of a qualifying 
income-related benefit in the last reduction week in which the claimant, or the claimant’s 
partner, was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
61.2 A claimant must be treated as entitled to council tax support by virtue of the general conditions 

of entitlement where; 
(a) the claimant ceased to be entitled to council tax support because the claimant vacated 

the dwelling in which the claimant was resident; 
(b) the day on which the claimant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 

entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 
 (c)  entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the circumstances 

listed in paragraph 61.1(b). 
 

61A.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits) 
 
61A.1  Where a claimant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits), the 

extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately following 
the reduction week in which the claimant, or the claimant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a 
qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
61A.2 For the purpose of paragraph 61A.1, a claimant or a claimant’s partner ceases to be entitled to a 

qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement to 
that benefit. 

 
61A.3 The extended reduction period ends; 

(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the claimant to whom the extended reduction (qualifying 

contributory benefits) is payable has no liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 

61B.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 
61B.1  For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 

(qualifying contributory benefits) payable to a claimant shall be the higher of; 
(a) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant was entitled under the general 

conditions of entitlement in the last reduction week before the claimant or the claimant’s 
partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 

(b) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant would be entitled under the 
general conditions of entitlement for any reduction week during the extended reduction 
period, if section 61 (extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)) did not 
apply to the claimant; or 

(c) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant’s partner would be entitled 
under the general conditions of entitlement, if section 61 did not apply to the claimant. 

 
61B .2 Paragraph 61B.1 does not apply in the case of a mover. 

Page 193



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 76	

 
61B.3 Where a claimant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) under 

this section and the claimant’s partner makes a claim for council tax support, no amount of 
council tax support shall be payable by the appropriate authority during the extended reduction 
period. 

61C.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) – movers 
61C.1 This section applies; 

(a) to a mover; and  
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 

 
61C.2 The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefit) payable from the 

Monday from which this section applies until the end of the extended reduction period shall be 
the amount of council tax support which was payable to the mover for the last reduction week 
before the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory 
benefit. 

 
61C.3 Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to the second 

authority, the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a 
payment from the appropriate authority to– 

 (a) the second authority; or  
 (b) the mover directly. 
 
61C.4 Where 

(a) a mover, or the mover’s partner, makes a claim for council tax support to the second 
authority after the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
contributory benefit; and 

(b)  the mover, or the mover’s partner, is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying 
contributory benefits) from the appropriate authority, the second authority shall reduce 
the weekly amount of council tax support that the mover, or the mover’s partner, is 
entitled to by a sum equal to the amount of the extended reduction (qualifying 
contributory benefits) until the end of the extended reduction period. 

 

61D.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement 
to council tax support under the general conditions of entitlement 

 
61D.1  Where a claimant’s council tax support award would have ended when the claimant ceased to 

be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 61.1 (b), 
that award will not cease until the end of the extended reduction period. 

61D.2 Changes of circumstances and increases for exceptional circumstances shall not apply to any 
extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable in accordance with paragraph 
61B.1(a) or 61C.2 (amount of extended reduction– movers). 

 

61E.0 Extended reductions: - Movers Generally 19 
61E.1 Where; 

a. an application is made to a billing authority (“the current authority”) for a reduction 
under this scheme, and  

b. the applicant, or the partner of the applicant, is in receipt of an extended reduction 
from 

c. (i) another billing authority in England; 
(ii) a billing authority in Wales;  
(iii) a local authority in Scotland, or  

	
19 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 194



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 77	

(iv) a local authority in Northern Ireland, 

the current billing authority must reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled 
under this scheme by the amount of that extended reduction. 

  

Page 195



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 78	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 64 – 67 

Changes of circumstances within Council Tax Support 
  

Page 196



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 79	

 

64.0 Date on which entitlement is to begin 
 
64.1 Subject to paragraph 64.2, any person to whom or in respect of whom a claim for council tax 

support is made and who is otherwise entitled to that support shall be entitled from the 
reduction week following the date on which that application is made or treated as made. 

 
64.2 Where a person is otherwise entitled to council tax support and becomes liable for the first time 

for the authority’s council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident in the reduction 
week in which his claim is made or is treated as made, he shall be so entitled from that reduction 
week. 

65.0  - 66.0 Not Used 

67.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect 
 
67.1 For working age claimants, the effective date of change for any change in circumstances will be 

as follows; 
a. where the change increases the amount of support payable to the claimant and where 

the change has been notified to the authority in writing (or by any other method 
approved by the authority) within 21 days of the happening of the event , the Monday 
following the date of the change; 

b. where the change increases the amount of support payable to the claimant  and where 
the change has been notified to the authority in writing (or by any other method 
approved by the authority) more than 21 days of the happening of the event, the 
Monday following the date notified of the change; 

c. In any other event, other than that specified in 67.2, the actual date of the change.. 
 
67.2 Subject to paragraph 67.3, where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount of 

council tax payable, it takes effect from the day on which it actually occurs. 
 
67.3 Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount a person is liable to pay in respect 

of council tax in consequence of regulations under section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduced amounts 
of council tax) or changes in the discount to which a dwelling may be subject under sections 11 
or 12 of that Act, it shall take effect from the day on which the change in amount has effect. 

 
67.4 Any overpayment of Council Tax Support will be recoverable in full including any errors made 

by the claimant, their partner, family members, appointees, errors by the Council or its agent 
or any other areas of Government. 

 
  

Page 197



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 80	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 68– 74 

Claiming and the treatment of claims for Council Tax Support purposes 

  

Page 198



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 81	

 

68.0 Who may claim20 
 
68.1 In the case of a couple or members of a polygamous marriage an application shall be made by 

whichever one of them they agree should so apply or, in default of agreement, by such one of 
them as the authority determines. 

 
68.2 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time 

being to act, and; 
(a)  a deputy has been appointed by the Court of Protection with power to apply, or as the 

case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or  
(b) in Scotland, his estate is being administered by a judicial factor or any guardian acting or 

appointed under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply 
or, as the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or  

(c)  an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive 
benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, that 
deputy, judicial factor, guardian or attorney, as the case may be, may make an application 
on behalf of that person. 

 
68.3 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time 

being to act and paragraph (2) does not apply to him, an authority may, upon written application 
made to them by a person who, if a natural person, is over the age of 18, appoint that person to 
exercise on behalf of the person who is unable to act, any right to which that person might be 
entitled under the authority’s scheme and to receive and deal on his behalf with any sums 
payable to him. 

 
68.4 Where the authority has made an appointment under paragraph (3) or treated a person as an 

appointee under paragraph (5); 
 (a) it may at any time revoke the appointment; 
 (b) the person appointed may resign his office after having given 4 weeks notice in writing to 

the authority of his intention to do so; 
 (c) any such appointment shall terminate when the authority is notified of the appointment 

of a person mentioned in paragraph (2). 
 
68.5 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is for the time being 

unable to act and the Secretary of State has appointed a person to act on his behalf under 
regulation 33 of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987 (persons unable to 
act), the authority may if that person agrees, treat him as if he had been appointed by them 
under paragraph (3). 

 
68.6 Anything required by an authority’s scheme to be done by or to any person who is for the time 

being unable to act may be done by or to the persons mentioned paragraph (2) above or by or 
to the person appointed or treated as appointed under this paragraph and the receipt of any 
such person so appointed shall be a good discharge to the authority for any sum paid. 

 

69.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under an authority’s scheme21 
69.1 Paragraphs 2 to 8 apply to an application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme. 
 
69.2 An application may be made— 

(a) in writing, 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of Schedule 7 Council 

	
20 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
21 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 199



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 82	

Tax Reductions (Prescribed requirements) Regulations 2012 or 
 (c) (where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving such 

applications) by telephone. 
 
69.3  (1) An application which is made in writing must be made to the offices of the authority on a 

properly completed form. 
 (2) The form will be provided free of charge by the authority for the purpose. 
 (3) The authority may accept any notification of universal credit from the Secretary  of State as 
 an application for a reduction. 
 
69.4.  Where an application received by the authority is defective because 
 (a)  it was made on the form supplied for the purpose but that form is not accepted by the 

authority as being properly completed; or  
(b)  it was made in writing but not on the form approved for the purpose and the authority 

does not accept the application as being in a written form which is sufficient in the 
circumstances of the case having regard to the sufficiency of the written information and 
evidence, the authority may, in a case to which sub-paragraph (a) applies, request the 
applicant to complete the defective application or, in the case to which sub-paragraph 
(b) applies, supply the applicant with the approved form or request further information 
and evidence. 

 
69.5. (1) Where an application made in writing is defective because— 
 (a) the form provided by the authority has not been properly completed; or 
 (b) if it is made in writing, but not on the form provided by the authority, and the authority 

does not consider the application as being in a written form which is sufficient in the 
circumstances of the case, the authority may request the applicant to complete the 
defective application or (as the case may be) supply the applicant with the form to 
complete or request further information or evidence. 

(2) An application made on a form provided by the authority is properly completed if completed 
in accordance with the instructions on the form, including any instructions to provide 
information and evidence in connection with the application. 

 
69.6. (1) If an application made by electronic communication is defective the authority will provide 

the person making the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 
(2) An application made by electronic communication is defective if the applicant does not 
provide all the information the authority requires. 

 
69.7. In a particular case the authority may determine that an application made by telephone is only 

valid if the person making the application approves a written statement of his circumstances 
provided by the authority. 

 
69.8. (1) If an application made by telephone is defective the authority will provide the person making 

the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 
(2) An application made by telephone is defective if the applicant does not provide all the 
information the authority requests during the telephone call. 

 
69.9 Notwithstanding other paragraphs within this section, the authority will determine the method 

by which claims are to be made as well as where claims should be sent or delivered. Any letter 
received from the Secretary of State for Work & Pensions in respect of any claim for another 
benefit shall be treated as a claim for Council Tax Reduction. 

69A.0 Date on which a claim made 
69A.1 Subject to sub-paragraph (7), the date on which an application is made is 
  (a)  in a case where; 

(i)  an award of income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an 
income- related employment and support allowance or an award of universal credit 
has been made to the applicant or his partner, and  
(ii)  the application for a reduction under this scheme is made within one month of 

Page 200



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 83	

the date on which the claim for that income support, jobseeker's allowance, 
employment and support allowance or universal credit was received,  

the first day of entitlement to income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance, an 
income-related employment and support allowance or universal credit arising from that 
claim;  
(b)  in a case where—  

(i)   an applicant or his partner is a person on income support, an income-based 
jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance 
or has an award of universal credit,  
(ii)   the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect 
of the dwelling which he occupies as his home, and  
(iii)   the application to the authority is received at the authority’s offices within 
one month of the date of the change,  

the date on which the change takes place;  
(c)  in a case where—  

(i)  the applicant is the former partner of a person who was, at the date of his death 
or their separation, entitled to a reduction under this scheme, and  
(ii)  where the applicant makes an application for a reduction under this scheme 
within one month of the date of the death or the separation,  

the date of the death or separation;  
(d)  except where paragraph (a), (b) or (c) is satisfied, in a case where a properly completed 
application is received within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date on which an application form was issued to the applicant following 
the applicant first notifying, by whatever means, the authority of an intention to make an 
application, the date of first notification;  
(e)  in any other case, the date on which the application is received at the offices of the 
authority.  

69A.2 For the purposes only of sub-paragraph (1)(a) a person who has been awarded an income- 
based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance is to 
be treated as entitled to that allowance for any days which immediately precede the first day 
in that award and on which he would, but for regulations made under— 
(a) in the case of income-based jobseeker’s allowance, paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 (waiting days); or 
(b) in the case of income-related employment and support allowance, paragraph 2 of Schedule 
2 to the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (waiting days), 
have been entitled to that allowance. 

 
69A.3 Where the defect in an application by telephone 

(a)  is corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority is to treat the 
application as if it had been duly made in the first instance;  
(b)  is not corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority is to treat the 
application as if it had been duly made in the first instance where it considers it has 
sufficient information to decide on the application.  

69A.4 The authority is to treat a defective application as if it had been validly made in the first 
instance if, in any particular case, the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (5)(a), (b) or (c) 
are satisfied. 

 
69A.5 The conditions are that— 

(a)  where the authority receives the properly completed application or the information 
requested to complete it or the evidence within one month of the request, or such longer 
period as the authority may consider reasonable; or  
(b)  where an application is not on approved form or further information requested by 
authority applies; 
(i) the approved form sent to the applicant is received at the offices of the authority properly 
completed within one month of it having been sent to him; or, as the case may be; 
(ii) the applicant supplies whatever information or evidence was requested within one month 

Page 201



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 84	

of the request;  or,  
in either case, within such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable; or  

(d) where the authority has requested further information, the authority receives at its offices 
the properly completed application or the information requested to complete it within one 
month of the request or within such longer period as the authority considers reasonable.  

 
69A.6 Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in United 
 Kingdom, where a person has not become liable for council tax to the authority but it is 
 anticipated that he will become so liable within the period of 8 weeks (the relevant period), 
 he may apply for a reduction under this scheme at any time in that period in respect of that 
 tax and, provided that liability arises within the relevant period, the authority is to treat the 
 application as having been made on the day on which the liability for the tax arises. 
 
69A.7 Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in United Kingdom, 

where the applicant is not entitled to a reduction under this scheme in the reduction week 
immediately following the date of his application but the authority is of the opinion that unless 
there is a change of circumstances he will be entitled to a reduction under this scheme for a 
period beginning not later than 
(a)  in the case of an application made by a pensioner, the seventeenth reduction week 
following the date on which the application is made, or  
(b)  in the case of an application made by a person who is not a pensioner, the thirteenth 
reduction week following the date on which the application is made,  
the authority may treat the application as made on a date in the reduction week immediately 
preceding the first reduction week of that period of entitlement and award a reduction 
accordingly. 

 
69A.8 Sub-paragraph (7) applies in the case of a person who has attained, or whose partner has 

attained, the age which is 17 weeks younger than the qualifying age for state pension credit. 
 

70.0 Submission of evidence electronically 
 
70.1 The authority may accept such evidence, documents and certificates to support the claim 

electronically where it feels that this would be acceptable given the nature of the claim 

71. 0 Use of telephone provided evidence 
71.1 The authority may accept such evidence to support the claim by telephone where it feels 

that this would be acceptable given the nature of the claim 

72.0 Evidence and information22 
 
72.1 Subject to paragraph (2), a person who makes an application, or a person to whom a reduction 

under an authority’s scheme has been awarded, shall furnish such certificates, documents, 
information and evidence in connection with the application or the award, or any question 
arising out of the application or the award, as may reasonably be required by the authority in 
order to determine that person's entitlement to, or continuing entitlement to a reduction under 
its scheme and shall do so within one month of the authority requiring him to do so or such 
longer period as the authority may consider reasonable. 

 
72.2 Nothing in this paragraph requires a person to furnish any certificates, documents, information 

or evidence relating to a payment to which sub-paragraph (4) applies. 
 
72.3 Where a request is made under sub-paragraph (1), the authority shall; 
 

(a)  inform the applicant or the person to whom a reduction under its scheme has been 

	
22 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 202



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 85	

awarded of his duty to notify the authority of any change of circumstances; and 
 (b) without prejudice to the extent of the duty owed, indicate to him either orally or by notice 

or by reference to some other document available to him on application and without 
charge, the kind of change of circumstances which is to be notified. 

 

72.4 This sub-paragraph applies to any of the following payments— 

(a)  a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the London Bombings Relief Charitable 
Fund, the WLMEF or the LET;  

(b)  a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 16 of Schedule 9 (payments made 
under certain trusts and certain other payments), other than a payment under the 
Independent Living Fund (2006);  

(c)  a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 29(9)(b) or (c) (non-dependant 
deductions) or paragraph 2(b) or (c) of Schedule 4 (second adult's gross income) other than a 
payment under the Independent Living Fund (2006).  

72.5 Where an applicant or a person to whom a reduction under this scheme has been awarded 
or any partner has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and is a member of, or 
a person deriving entitlement to a pension under, a personal pension scheme, he must 
where the authority so requires furnish the following information 

(a)  the name and address of the pension fund holder;  

(b)  such other information including any reference or policy number as is needed to enable 
 the personal pension scheme to be identified.  

73.0 Amendment and withdrawal of claim 23 
 
73.1 A person who has made an application may amend it at any time before a decision has 
 been made on it by a notice in writing delivered or sent to the offices of the authority. 
 
73.2 Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with this scheme, the amendment 

may also be made by telephone. 
 
73.3 Any application amended in accordance with paragraph (1) or (2) will be treated as if it had been 

amended in the first instance. 
 
73.4 A person who has made an application may withdraw it at any time before a decision has been 

made on it by notice to the offices of the authority. 
 
73.5 Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with this scheme, the withdrawal 

may also be made by telephone. 
 
73.6 Any notice of withdrawal given in accordance with paragraph (4) or (5) shall have effect when it 

is received. 
 

74.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances24 
 
74.1 Subject to paragraph (2), if at any time between the making of an application to an authority 

and a decision being made on it there is a change of circumstances which the applicant (or any 

	
23 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
24 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 203



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 86	

person acting on his behalf) might reasonably be expected to know might affect his entitlement 
to, or the amount of, a reduction under that authority’s scheme, that person is under a duty to 
notify that change of circumstances by giving notice to the authority; 

 (a) in writing; or  
 (b) by telephone; 

(i) where the authority has published a telephone number for that purpose unless the 
authority determines that in any particular case or class of case notification may not be 
given by telephone; or  
(ii) in any case or class of case where the authority determines that notice may be given 
by telephone; or 

 (c) by any other means which the authority agrees to accept in any particular case. 
 
74.2 The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) does not extend to notifying changes in; 

(a) the amount of a council tax payable to the authority; 
(b) the age of the applicant or that of any member of his family; 
(c) in the case of an applicant on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or 

an income-related employment and support allowance, or who has an award of universal 
credit, in circumstances which affect the amount of income support, an income-based 
jobseeker's allowance, an income-related employment and support allowance or 
universal credit but not the amount of the reduction under this scheme to which he is 
entitled, other than the cessation of that entitlement to income support, an income-
based jobseeker's allowance, an income-related employment and support allowance or 
universal credit. 

 
74.3 Notwithstanding paragraph (2)(b) or (c) an applicant is required by paragraph (1) to notify the 
 authority of any change in the composition of his family arising from the fact that a person 
 who was a member of his family is now no longer such a person because he ceases to be a 
 child or young person. 

  

Page 204



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 87	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 75- 90 

Decisions, decision notices and awards of Council Tax Support 
  

Page 205



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 88	

 

75.0 Decisions by the authority25 
75.1 An authority must make a decision on an application for a reduction under its scheme within 14 

days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 
 

76.0 Notification of decision26 
 
76.1 The authority must notify in writing any person affected by a decision made by it under this 

scheme 
(a)  in the case of a decision on an application, forthwith or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter;  
(b)  in any other case, within 14 days of that decision or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter.  

 
76.2 Where the decision is to award a reduction the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must 

include a statement— 
(a)  informing the person affected of the duty imposed by paragraph 74.1;  
(b)  explaining the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with that 
duty; and  
(c)  setting out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the reduction 
or its amount.  

 
76.3 A person affected to whom the authority sends or delivers a notification of decision may, 

within one month of the date of the notification of that decision request in writing the 
authority to provide a written statement setting out the reasons for its decision on any matter 
set out in the notice. 

 
76.4 The written statement referred to in paragraph 76.3 must be sent to the person requesting it 

within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 
 
76.5 For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as a person affected by a decision 

of the authority under this scheme where the rights, duties or obligations of that person are 
affected by that decision and the person falls within sub-paragraph (6). 

 
76.6 This sub-paragraph applies to— 

a)the applicant; 
b)in the case of a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling and is unable 
for the time being to act— 
(i)  a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may be, 
receive benefit on his behalf; or  
(ii)  in Scotland, a judicial factor or any guardian acting or appointed under the Adults with 
Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit 
on the person’s behalf; or  
(iii)  an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive 
benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise,  

 a person appointed by the authority under paragraph 68.2. 
 c) a person appointed by the authority under paragraph 68.3 

77.0 Time and manner of granting council tax support27 
 

	
25 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
26 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
27 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 206



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 89	

77.1 Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this authority’s scheme in respect of his 
liability for the authority's council tax as it has effect in respect of a chargeable financial year 
(“the chargeable year”), the authority must discharge his entitlement; 

 (a) by reducing, so far as possible, the amount of his liability to which regulation 20(2) of 
the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 refers; or 

 (b)  where; 
  (i) such a reduction is not possible; or  

(ii) such a reduction would be insufficient to discharge the entitlement to a reduction 
under the authority’s scheme; or  
(iii) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council 
tax and the authority determines that such a reduction would be inappropriate, by 
making payment to him of the amount of reduction to which he is entitled, rounded 
where necessary to the nearest penny. 

 
77.2 The authority must notify the person entitled to a reduction under this scheme of the 

amount of that reduction and how his entitlement is to be discharged in pursuance of 
paragraph (1). 

 
77.3 In a case to which paragraph (1)(b) refers; 
 (a) if the amount of the council tax for which he remains liable in respect of the 

chargeable year, after any reduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) refers has been 
made, is insufficient to enable his entitlement to a reduction under the authority’s 
scheme in respect thereof to be discharged, upon the final instalment of that tax 
becoming due any outstanding reduction; 

  (i) must be paid to that person if he so requires; or 
(ii) in any other case must (as the authority determines) either be repaid or credited 
against any subsequent liability of the person to make a payment in respect of the 
authority's council tax as it has effect for any subsequent year; 

 (b) if that person has ceased to be liable for the authority's council tax and has 
discharged the liability for that tax, the outstanding balance (if any) of the reduction 
under the authority’s scheme in respect thereof must be paid within 14 days or, if 
that is not reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter 

 (c) in any other case, the reduction under the authority’s scheme must be paid within 
14 days of the receipt of the application at the offices of the authority or, if that is 
not reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter. 

 
77.4 For the purposes of this paragraph “instalment” means any instalment of the authority's 

council tax to which regulation 19 of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992 refers (council tax payments). 

 

78.0 Persons to whom support is to be paid 28 
 
78.1 Subject to section 80 (payment on death) and paragraph (2), any payment of the amount of 

a reduction must be made to that person. 
 
78.2 Where a person other than a person who is entitled to a reduction under an authority’s 

scheme made the application for the reduction and that first person is a person acting 
pursuant to an appointment or is treated as having been so appointed, the amount of the 
reduction may be paid to that person. 

 

	
28 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 207



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 90	

79.0 Shortfall in support / reduction29 
79.1 Where, on the revision of a decision allowing a reduction under an authority’s scheme to a 

person, it is determined that the amount allowed was less than the amount to which that person 
was entitled, the authority must either; 

 (a) make good any shortfall in reduction which is due to that person, by reducing so far as 
possible the next and any subsequent payments he is liable to make in respect of the 
council tax of the authority as it has effect for the chargeable financial year until that 
shortfall is made good; or 

(b)  where this is not possible or the person concerned so requests, pay the amount of 
any shortfall in reduction due to that person within 14 days of the revision of the 
decision being made or if that is not reasonable practicable, as soon as possible 
afterwards. 

 

80.0 Payment on the death of the person entitled30 
 
80.1 Where the person entitled to any reduction under this scheme has died and it is not possible 

to award the reduction which is due in the form of a reduction of the council tax for which 
he was liable, the authority must make payment of the amount of the reduction to his 
executor or administrator in accordance with regulation 58(4) of the Council Tax 
(Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992. 

. 

81.0 Offsetting 
 
81.1 Where a person has been allowed or paid a sum of council tax support under a decision which 

is subsequently revised or further revised, any sum allowed or paid in respect of a period covered 
by the subsequent decision shall be offset against arrears of entitlement under the subsequent 
decision except to the extent that the sum exceeds the arrears and shall be treated as properly 
awarded or paid on account of them. 

82 – 90.0 Not used 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

	
29 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) Regulations 2012 
30 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) Regulations 2012 

Page 208



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 91	

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 91 – 94 

Collection, holding and forwarding of information for Council Tax Support purposes 
  

Page 209



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 92	

 

91.0  Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and His 
Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC) 

 
91.1 The authority will use information provided by the DWP and HMRC for the purposes of Council 

Tax Reduction, council tax liability, billing, administration and enforcement as outlined within 
Schedule 2 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by the Local Government 
Finance Act 2012 and the Social Security (Information-sharing in relation to Welfare Services 
etc.) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 

 
91.2 Where required by the relevant department and where required by law, the authority will share 

information obtained for Council Tax Reduction with the DWP or HMRC as appropriate and in 
accordance with Data Protections requirements31. 

92.0 Collection of information  
 
92.1 The authority may receive and obtain information and evidence relating to claims for council tax 

support, the council may receive or obtain the information or evidence from– 
(a) persons making claims for council tax support;  
(b) other persons in connection with such claims;  
(c) other local authorities; or 
(d) central government departments including the DWP and HMRC 

 
92.2 The authority may verify relevant information supplied to, or obtained. 
 

93.0 Recording and holding information 
 
93.1 The authority may 

(a) make a record of such information; and 
(b) hold that information, whether as supplied or obtained or recorded, for the purpose of 
forwarding it to the person or authority for the time being administering council tax support. 

 

94.0 Forwarding and Checking of information 
 
94.1 The authority may forward it to the person or authority for the time being administering claims 

to or awards of council tax support to which the relevant information relates, being 
 (i) a local authority;  
 (ii) a person providing services to a local authority; or 

(iii) a person authorised to exercise any function of a local authority relating to council tax 
support. 
 

94.2 By law, we may check the information you have provided, or information provided about you by 
someone else, against other information we already have. We may also ask other agencies, 
organisations, local authorities or government departments to give us information they have 
about you. This is to make sure the information you have given us is accurate, and to prevent or 
detect crime and to protect public funds. 

 
  

	
31 Data Retention and Investigatory Powers Act 2014 and Data Retention Regulations 2014 

Page 210



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 93	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 95 – 98 

Revisions, Written Statements, Termination of Council Tax Support  
  

Page 211



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 94	

 

95.0  Persons affected by Decisions 
95.1 A person is to be treated as a person affected by a relevant decision of the authority where that 

person is; 
a. a claimant; 
b. in the case of a person who is liable to make payments in respect of a dwelling and is unable 

for the time being to act 
(i) a Deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may 
be, receive benefit or support on his behalf, 
(ii) in Scotland, a tutor, curator, judicial factor or other guardian acting or appointed in terms 
of law administering that person’s estate, or  
(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to receive benefit or support appointed by 
the person liable to make those payments under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise; 

c. a person appointed by the authority under this scheme; 
 

96.0  Revisions of Decisions 
96.1 Subject to the provisions in this scheme, a relevant decision (the original decision) may be 

revised or further revised by the authority, which made the decision where the person affected 
makes an application for a revision within; 
 (i) one month of the date of notification of the original decision; or 
 (ii) such extended time as the authority may allow. 

96.2 The authority may revise or further revise that original decision at any time. Where further 
information is required from the person affected, the authority shall request such information 
and evidence as it feels is reasonable. Such information must be supplied within; 

 i) one month of the date of notification of the additional information; or 
  (ii) such extended time as the authority may allow 

97.0 Written Statements 
97.1 Subject to the provisions in the scheme, the authority may upon request issue a written 

statement to a person affected to further explain the decision of the authority in relation to 
Council Tax Support. 

 

98.0 Terminations 
98.1 The authority may terminate, in whole or in part the Council Tax Support where it appears to 

the authority that an issue arises; 
a. whether the conditions for entitlement to Council Tax Support are or were fulfilled; or 
b. whether a decision as to an award of such a support should be revised or superseded. 
c. where the person fails to provide information to the authority as requested in relation   to 

any matter relating to their liability for Council Tax 
 
 
  

Page 212



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 95	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 99 

Appeals against the authority’s decisions 
 
  

Page 213



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 96	

 

99.0 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the 
authority32 

99.1 A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the authority, which affects; 
a. the person’s entitlement to a reduction under its scheme, or  
b. the amount of any reduction to which that person is entitled, 

 may serve a written notice on the authority stating the matter by which, and the grounds 
 on which, he is aggrieved. 
 
99.2 The authority must 

a. consider the matter to which the notice relates;  
b. notify the aggrieved person in writing; 

i. that the ground is not well founded, giving reasons for that belief; or  
ii. that steps have been taken to deal with the grievance, stating the steps 

taken. 
 
99.3 Where, following notification under sub-paragraph (2)(b)(i) or (ii), the person is still aggrieved, 

or if the authority fails to notify the person aggrieved in accordance with sub-paragraph (2)(b) 
within two months of the service of his notice, he may appeal to the valuation tribunal under 
section 16 of the 1992 Act33. 

 
  

	
32 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
33 As amended by the Tribunal Procedure (Amendment No 3 ) Rules 2014	

Page 214



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 97	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 100 

Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction 
  

Page 215



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 98	

 

100.0 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A (1) (a) 
section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act34 

 
100.1  Full details of how of to apply for a discretionary reduction can be found in the Council’s 

Council Tax and Business Rates Discretionary Discount Scheme.  
 
100.2 The Council may make an additional discretionary award, which could be granted in accordance 

with either S13A (1)(a) or S13A (1)(c) of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 
 
  

	
34 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 216



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 99	

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 101 – 106A35 

Electronic Communication 
  

	
35 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) Regulations 2012 

Page 217



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 100	

 

101.0 Interpretation 
101.1 In this Part; 
 “information” includes an application, a certificate, notice or other evidence; and 
 “official computer system” means a computer system maintained by or on behalf of an 
 authority for sending, receiving, processing or storing of any information. 

102.0 Conditions for the use of electronic communication 
 
102.1 The authority may use an electronic communication in connection with applications for, and 
 awards of, reductions under its scheme. 
 
102.2 A person other than the authority may use an electronic communication in connection with 
 the matters referred to in paragraph (1) if the conditions specified in paragraphs (3) to (6) 
 are satisfied. 
 
102.3 The first condition is that the person is for the time being permitted to use an electronic 
 communication by an authorisation given by means of a direction of the Chief Executive of 
 the authority. 
 
102.4 The second condition is that the person uses an approved method of: 

a. authenticating the identity of the sender of the communication; 
b. electronic communication; 
c. authenticating any application or notice delivered by means of an electronic  

  communication; and 
d. subject to sub-paragraph (7), submitting to the authority any information. 

 
102.5 The third condition is that any information sent by means of an electronic communication is 
 in a form approved for the purposes. 
 
102.6 The fourth condition is that the person maintains such records in written or electronic form 
 as may be specified in a direction given by the Chief Executive of the authority. 
 
102.7 Where the person uses any method other than the method approved of submitting any 
 information, that information is to be treated as not having been submitted. 
 
102.8 In this paragraph “approved” means approved by means of a direction given by the Chief 
 Executive of the authority for the purposes of this section. 

103.0 Use of intermediaries 
 
103.1 The authority may use intermediaries in connection with; 

a. the delivery of any information by means of an electronic communication; and  
b. the authentication or security of anything transmitted by such means, 

 and may require other persons to use intermediaries in connection with those matters. 

104.0 Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication 
 
104.1 Any information which is delivered by means of an electronic communication is to be 
 treated as having been delivered in the manner or form required by any provision of an 
 authority’s scheme on the day the conditions imposed: 

a. by this section; and 
b. by or under an enactment, 

 are satisfied. 
 
104.2 The authority may determine that any information is to be treated as delivered on a 

Page 218



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 101	

 different day (whether earlier or later) from the day provided for in sub-paragraph (1). 
 
104.3 Information may not be taken to have been delivered to an official computer system by 
 means of an electronic communication unless it is accepted by the system to which it is 
 delivered. 

105.0 Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information 
 
105.1  If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the identity of: 

a. the sender of any information delivered by means of an electronic communication to an 
official computer system; or 

b. the recipient of any such information delivered by means of an electronic communication 
from an official computer system, 

 the sender or recipient, as the case may be, is to be presumed to be the person whose name 
 is recorded as such on that official computer system. 

106.0 Proof of delivery of information 
 
106.1 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
 electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any information this is presumed to 
 have been the case where; 
 (a) any such information has been delivered to the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
 information has been recorded on an official computer system; or 
 (b) any such information has been delivered by the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
 information has been recorded on an official computer system. 
 
106.2 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
 electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any such information, this is 
 presumed not to be the case, if that information delivered to the relevant authority has not 
 been recorded on an official computer system. 
 
106.3 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, when any such 
 information sent by means of an electronic communication has been received, the time and 
 date of receipt is presumed to be that recorded on an official computer system. 

106A.0 Proof of content of information 
 
106A.1  If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the content of any  

information sent by means of an electronic communication, the content is presumed to be that 
recorded on an official computer system. 

 

 

 
 

Page 219



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 102	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 107 

Counter Fraud and Compliance 

 

 
  

Page 220



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 103	

 

107.0 Counter Fraud and compliance 
 
107.1 In order to protect the finances of the authority and also in the interests of all council taxpayers, 

the authority will undertake such actions as allowed by law to; 
a. Prevent and detect fraudulent claims and actions in respect of Council Tax Support; 
b. Carry out investigations fairly, professionally and in accordance with the law; and 
c. Ensure that sanctions are applied in appropriate cases 

 
107.2 The authority believes that it is important to minimise the opportunity for fraud and; 

a. will implement rigorous procedures for the verification of claims for council tax 
support; 

b. will employ sufficient Officers to fulfil the authority’s commitment to combat fraud; 
c. will actively tackle fraud where it occurs in accordance with this scheme; 
d. will co-operate with the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), His Majesty’s 

Revenues and Customs and take part in joint working including prosecutions; and 
e. will in all cases seek to recover all outstanding council tax. 

 
 
107.3 The authority shall put into place such administrative policies, procedures and processes as 

 are necessary to ensure that the actions outlined within paragraph 107.1 and 107.2 can be 
 carried out successfully. In particular the authority shall undertake actions provided by the 
 Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 
 2013. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 221



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 104	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 1 

Applicable Amounts36 

 
  

	
36 The amounts in this schedule shall be amended in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 

Page 222



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 105	

 
 

Personal Allowance 
 
1 The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple specified in 

column (1) shall be the amounts specified for the purposes the main scheme; 
 

Column 1 
Person or Couple 

Column 2 

1. A Single applicant who; 
a) is entitled to main phase employment and 
support allowance 

£84.80 

b) is aged not less than 25 £84.80 
c) is aged not less than 18 but less than 25 £67.20 

2. Lone Parent £84.80 
3. Couple; 

a) Where the applicant is entitled to the main 
phase of employment and support allowance 

 

£133.30 

b) Where one member is aged not less than 18 £133.30 
c) For each additional spouse who is a 

member of the same household as the 
claimant 

£48.50 

 
For the purposes of paragraph 1 an applicant is entitled to main phase employment and 
support allowance if; 

a. Paragraph 17 or 18 is satisfied in relation to the applicant; or  
b. The applicant is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance 

 
2 (1) The amount specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in column (1) 

shall, for the relevant period specified in column (1), be the amounts specified for the purposes 
of the main scheme 

 
Column 1 

Child or Young Person 
Column 2 

Person in respect of the period– 
(a) beginning on that person’s date of birth and 
ending on the day preceding the first Monday in 
September following that person’s sixteenth 
birthday; 

£77.78 

(b) beginning on the first Monday in September 
following that person’s sixteenth birthday and 
ending on the day preceding that person’s twentieth 
birthday. 

£77.78 

(c) third or subsequent dependent child or young 
person whose date of birth falls on or after 1st April 
2017 

NIL 

 
(2) In column (1) of the table in paragraph (1), “the first Monday in September” means the 
Monday which first occurs in the month of September in any year. 

 

Family Premiums 
3. (1) The amount for the purposes of this scheme in respect of a family of which at least one 

member is a child or young person shall be 

Page 223



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 106	

a. where the applicant is a lone parent to whom sub-paragraph (3) of Schedule 3 of the 
Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 applies, £22.20; 

b. in any other case, £18.53; 
c. No family premium will be awarded where an application for reduction is received on 

or after 1st May 2016 or where the applicant would have become entitled to the family 
premium on or after 1st May 2016.  
i) Sub paragraph (c) shall not apply to a person who, on 30th April 2016, is entitled to 
Council Tax Reduction and is: 
a. a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; 

or 
b. a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 

polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a member 
of the same household. 

(c)  (i) above does not apply if— 
(a) sub-paragraph 3 c (i) (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or 

  (b) the person makes a new claim for Council Tax Reduction;  

Premiums 
4. Except as provided in paragraph 5, the premiums specified this Schedule shall, for the purposes 

of this scheme, be applicable to an applicant who satisfies the condition specified in 
paragraphs 4 to 16 in respect of that premium. 

5. Subject to paragraph 6, where an applicant satisfies the conditions in respect of more than one 
premium in this this Schedule, only one premium shall be applicable to him and, if they are 
different amounts, the higher or highest amount shall apply. 

 
6 (1) The following premiums, namely– 
 

a. severe disability premium to which paragraph 10 applies;  
b. an enhanced disability premium to which paragraph 11 applies;  
c. a disabled child premium to which paragraph 12 applies; and a  
d. carer premium to which paragraph 13 applies, 

may be applicable in addition to any other premium which may apply under this Schedule 
 
7. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Schedule, once a premium is applicable 

to an applicant under this Part, a person shall be treated as being in receipt of any benefit for 
a. in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 1979 

applies, any period during which, apart from the provisions of those Regulations, he would 
be in receipt of that benefit; and 

b. any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction provided or 
approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the 1973 Act or by Skills Development 
Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise under or section 2 of the 
Enterprise and New Towns(Scotland) Act 1990 for any period during which he is in receipt 
of a training allowance. 

 (2) For the purposes of the carer premium, a person shall be treated as being in receipt of carer’s 
allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if and for so long as the person in respect of 
whose care the allowance has been claimed remains in receipt of attendance allowance, or the 
care component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in 
accordance with section 72(3) of the Act or the daily living component of the personal 
independence payment under the Welfare Reform Act 2012 or an AFIP. 

Disability Premium 
8.  The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (12) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006  

Additional Condition for the Disability Premiums 
9. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (13) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Page 224



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 107	

Severe Disability Premiums 
10. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (14) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Enhanced Disability Premium 
11. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (15) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Disabled Child Premium 
12. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (16) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
Carer Premium 
13. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (17) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
 
Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 
14.  For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under paragraphs 

8 to 13, any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the non-payment of 
any benefit mentioned in those paragraphs shall be treated as if it were a payment of that 
benefit. 

Persons in receipt of benefit for another 
15.  For the purposes of this Schedule, a person shall be regarded as being in receipt of any benefit 

if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and shall be so regarded only for any period in respect 
of which that benefit is paid. 

Amounts of Premium 
16.  For the purposes of this Schedule, the following amounts shall apply; 
 

Premium Amount 
Disability Premium 

a. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 12(a) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 
 

£39.85 

b. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 12(b) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

£56.80 

Severe Disability Premium 
a. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 

paragraph 14(2)(a) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

£76.40 

b. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 14(2)(b) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

i. in a case where there is someone in receipt of 
carer’s allowance or if he or any partner 
satisfies that condition only by virtue of 
paragraph 14(5); 

£76.40 

ii. in a case where there is no one in receipt of 
such an allowance 

£152.80 

Disabled Child Premium £74.69 in respect of each child or 
young person in respect of whom 
the condition specified in 
paragraph 16 of Part 3 of Schedule 
3 Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006 

Carer Premium £42.75 in respect of each person 
who satisfies the condition 
specified in paragraph 17 of Part 3 
of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

Page 225



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 108	

Premium Amount 
Enhanced Disability Premium (a) £30.17 in respect of each child 

or young person in respect of 
whom the conditions specified in 
paragraph 15 of Part 3 of 
Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 are satisfied; 
(b) £19.55 in respect of each 
person who is neither– 
(i)a child or young person; nor 
(ii) a member of a couple or a 
polygamous marriage, in respect 
of whom the conditions specified 
in paragraph 15 are satisfied; 
(c) £27.90 where the applicant is a 
member of a couple or a 
polygamous marriage and the 
conditions specified in paragraph 
15 of Part 3 of Schedule 3 Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 are 
satisfied in respect of a member of 
that couple or polygamous 
marriage. 

 

The components 
17. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (21 -24) Housing Benefit Regulations 

2006 as amended by the Social Security (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013 
 
18.  The amount of the work-related activity component is £33.70. The amount of the support 

component is £44.70. The component will not apply where the applicant has been awarded 
Employment and Support Allowance on or after 1st April 2017 and been placed in the Work 
Related Activity Group. 

 

Transitional Addition 
19. The applicant is entitled to the transitional addition calculated in accordance with paragraph 30 

of Schedule 3 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 where the applicant or the applicant’s 
partner meets the conditions contained within paragraphs 27 – 29 of Schedule 3 of the Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 

 

Amount of transitional addition 
20. The amount of any transitional addition is calculated in accordance with paragraphs 30 and 31 

of Schedule 3 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
 
  

Page 226



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 109	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 2 

Not Used 
  

Page 227



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 110	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 3 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings37 
 
  

	
37 The amounts in this schedule shall be amended in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 

Page 228



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 111	

1.  In the case of a claimant who has been engaged in remunerative work as an employed earner 
or, had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so engaged– 

a) where–  
(i)  the employment has been terminated because of retirement; and 
(ii)  on retirement he is entitled to a retirement pension under the Act, or is not so 

entitled solely because of his failure to satisfy the contribution conditions, any 
earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment, but only for a 
period commencing on the day immediately after the date on which the 
employment was terminated; 

 
b) where before the first day of entitlement to council tax support the employment has been 

terminated otherwise than because of retirement, any earnings paid or due to be paid in 
respect of that employment except– 

 
(i) any payment of the nature described in 

(aa)   paragraph 25.1(e), or 
 
(bb) section 28, 64 or 68 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee 
payments, suspension from work on medical or maternity grounds); and 

 
(ii) any award, sum or payment of the nature described in 
 
    (aa)  paragraph 25.1(g)or(h),or  

    
   (bb) section 34 or 70 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee payments 

and suspension from work: complaints to employment tribunals), including 
any payment made following the settlement of a complaint to an 
employment tribunal or of court proceedings; 

 
c) where before the first day of entitlement to council tax support– 

 
(i) the employment has not been terminated, but  
(ii) the claimant is not engaged in remunerative work, 

    
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except any payment 
or remuneration of the nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii) (bb) or paragraph 
25.1(i), or (j). 

 
2.  In the case of a claimant who, before first day of entitlement to council tax support; 
 
 (a) has been engaged in part-time employment as an employed earner or, where the 

employment has been outside Great Britain, would have been so engaged had the 
employment been in Great Britain; and 

  (b) has ceased to be engaged in that employment, whether or not that employment 
has been terminated, 

   any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except; 
(i) where that employment has been terminated, any payment of the nature 
described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb); 
(ii) where that employment has not been terminated, any payment or 
remuneration of the nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) or paragraph 
25.1(i), (i) or (j). 

 
2A.  In the case of a claimant who has been engaged in remunerative work or part- time employment 

as a self-employed earner or, had the employment been in Great Britain would have been so 
engaged and who has ceased to be so employed, from the date of the cessation of his 
employment any earnings derived from that employment except earnings to which paragraph 
27.3 and paragraph 27.4 (earnings of self-employed earners) apply. 

 

Page 229



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 112	

3. (1)  In a case to which this paragraph applies and paragraph 4 does not apply, £20; but 
notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of a claimant’s 
family and of a polygamous marriage) if this paragraph applies to a claimant it shall not 
apply to his partner except where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the claimant 
which are to be disregarded under this paragraph are less than £20. 

 
 (2)  This paragraph applies where the claimant’s applicable amount includes an amount by 

way of the disability premium, severe disability premium, work-related activity 
component or support component. 

 
 (3)  This paragraph applies where 
  (a) the claimant is a member of a couple and his applicable amount includes an 

amount by way of the disability premium; and 
  (b)  he or his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and 

at least one is engaged in employment.  
 
 (4)–(5) Not used 
 
4. In a case where the claimant is a lone parent, £25. 
 
5. (1)  In a case to which neither paragraph 3 nor paragraph 4 applies to the claimant and, 

subject to sub-paragraph (2), where the claimant’s applicable amount includes an 
amount by way of the carer premium, £20 of the earnings of the person who is, or at any 
time in the preceding eight weeks was, in receipt of carer’s allowance or treated in 
accordance with this scheme as being in receipt of carer’s allowance. 

 
 (2)  Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the claimant and of any partner of his, 

their earnings shall for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount to 
be disregarded in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) shall not exceed £20 of the 
aggregated amount. 

 
6. Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of a claimant who is a member of a couple and 

whose earnings are less than £20, but is not awarded in respect of the other member of the 
couple, and that other member is engaged in an employment; 

 (a) specified in paragraph 8(1), so much of the other member’s earnings as would not when 
aggregated with the amount disregarded under paragraph 5 exceed £20; 

 
 (b) other than one specified in paragraph 8(1), so much of the other member’s earnings from 

such other employment up to £10 as would not when aggregated with the amount 
disregarded under paragraph 5 exceed £20. 

 
7. In a case where paragraphs 3, 5, 6 and 8 do not apply to the claimant and he is one of a couple 

and a member of that couple is in employment, £10; but, notwithstanding section 15 (calculation 
of income and capital of members of claimant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), if this 
paragraph applies to a claimant it shall not apply to his partner except where, and to the extent 
that, the earnings of the claimant which are to be disregarded under this paragraph are less than 
£10. 

 
8. (1) In a case where paragraphs 3, 4, 5 and 6 do not apply to the claimant, £20 of earnings derived 

from one or more employments as– 
  (a) as a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a 

scheme under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which 
section 4 of that Act applies; 

  (b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority (as defined in section 
1 of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005(a)) or a joint fire and rescue board constituted by an 
amalgamation scheme made under section 2(1) of that Act; 

  (c) an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities; 
  (d) a person engaged part-time in the manning or launching of a life boat; 

Page 230



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 113	

  (e) a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to 
the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001; 

but, notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of 
claimant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), if this paragraph applies to a claimant 
it shall not apply to his partner except to the extent specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

 (2)  If the claimant’s partner is engaged in employment; 
(a)  specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings as would not in aggregate 

with the amount of the claimant’s earnings disregarded under this paragraph 
exceed £20; 

(b)  other than one specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings from that 
employment up to £10 as would not in aggregate with the claimant’s earnings 
disregarded under this paragraph exceed £20. 

 
9. Where the claimant is engaged in one or more employments specified in paragraph 8(1), but his 

earnings derived from such employments are less than £20 in any week and he is also engaged 
in any other employment so much of his earnings from that other employment, up to £5 if he is 
a single claimant, or up to £10 if he has a partner, as would not in aggregate with the amount of 
his earnings disregarded under paragraph 8 exceed £20. 

 
10.  In a case to which none of the paragraphs 3 to 9 applies, £5.  
 
10A. (1)  Where; 

(a) the claimant (or if the claimant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that 
couple) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 

(b)  the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as defined 
in sub-paragraph (6); and 

(c) paragraph 12 does not apply, 
 the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (‘the specified amount’). 
 
 (2)  Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 3 to 10 do not apply; but in any case where the 

claimant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount 
specified in paragraph 4, then paragraph 4 applies instead of this paragraph. 

 
 (3)  Notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of claimant’s 

family and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one member of a 
couple (‘A’) it shall not apply to the other member of that couple (‘B’) except to the extent 
provided in sub-paragraph (4). 

 
 (4)  Where A’s earnings are less than the specified amount, there shall also be disregarded so 

much of B’s earnings as would not when aggregated with A’s earnings exceed the specified 
amount; but the amount of B’s earnings which may be disregarded under this sub-
paragraph is limited to a maximum of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied that B 
is also undertaking exempt work. 

 
 (5)  This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is; 
  (a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance;  
  (b) in receipt of incapacity benefit;  
  (c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; or 

(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited 
capability for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 
1975 

 (6)  ‘Exempt work’ means work of the kind described in; 
  (a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance   
 Regulations; or (as the case may be) 

 (b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) 
Regulations 1995, 
 and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether a claimant or a member 
of a couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person 

Page 231



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 114	

or their partner is also undertaking other work. 
 
 (7)  The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any 

provision referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-
paragraph (1) is exempt (or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those 
provisions mention different amounts of money, the highest of those amounts). 

 
11.  Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under paragraph 

19 or 20 of Schedule 4 had the claimant’s income which does not consist of earnings been 
sufficient to entitle him to the full disregard thereunder. 

 
12.  Where a claimant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-

related employment and support allowance, his earnings. 
 
13.  Any earnings derived from employment, which are payable in a country outside the United 

Kingdom for such period during which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United 
Kingdom of those earnings. 

 
14.  Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or 

commission payable in converting that payment into Sterling. 
 
15.  Any earnings of a child or young person. 
 
16. (1) In a case where the claimant is a person who satisfies at least one of the conditions set out 

in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of the amounts set out in 
sub-paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be disregarded under paragraphs 3 to 
10A of this Schedule shall be increased by £17.10. 

 
 (2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that– 

 (a) the claimant, or if he is a member of a couple, either the claimant or his partner, is a 
person to whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit Regulations applies; or 

  (b) the claimant– 
 (i) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is aged at 
least 25 and is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 30 hours 
per week; or  
(ii) is a member of a couple and 

(aa) at least one member of that couple, is engaged in remunerative work for 
on average not less than 16 hours per week; and 
(bb) his applicable amount includes a family premium; or 

 (iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less 
than 16 hours per week; or 
 (iv) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is 
engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; and; 

   (aa) the claimant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium, the work-
related activity component or the support component ; 

  (bb) where he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple 
satisfies the qualifying conditions for the disability premium or either of the 
components referred to in sub-head (aa) above and is engaged in remunerative 
work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; or 

 (c) the claimant is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, a person to whom regulation 
18(3) of the Working Tax Credit Regulations (eligibility for 50 plus element) applies, or 
would apply if an application for working tax credit were to be made in his case. 

 
 (3)  The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1); 
  (a) the amount calculated as disregardable from the claimant’s earnings under 

paragraphs 3 to 10A of this Schedule;  
  (b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 

17(1)(c); and  

Page 232



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 115	

(c) £17.10 
 
 (4)  The provisions of section 6 shall apply in determining whether or not a person works for 

on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference to 16 hours in 
paragraph (1) of that section were a reference to 30 hours. 

 
17.  In this Schedule ‘part-time employment’ means employment in which the person is engaged on 

average for less than 16 hours a week. 
  

Page 233



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 116	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 4 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings38 
 
  

	
38 The amounts in this schedule shall be amended in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 

Page 234



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 117	

 
1. Any amount paid by way of tax on income, which is to be taken into account under section 30 

(calculation of income other than earnings). 
 
A2.  Any payment made to the claim and in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to 

be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme. 
 
A3.  Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 

incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme 
or Back to Work Scheme, but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the 
payment. 

 
2. Any payment in respect of any expenses incurred or to be incurred by a claimant who is– 
  (a) engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation, or  
  (b)  volunteer, 

if he otherwise derives no remuneration or profit from the employment and is not to be treated 
as possessing any earnings under paragraph 32.0 (notional income). 

 
2A.  Any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation as a service user 
 
3. In the case of employment as an employed earner, any payment in respect of expenses wholly, 

exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment. 
 
4. Where a claimant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-

related employment and support allowance the whole of his income. 
 

5. Where the claimant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 
and his partner is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the claimant’s 
income. 

 
6. Where the claimant, or the person who was the partner of the claimant on 31st March 2003, 

was entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker’s allowance but 
ceased to be so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the Housing 
Benefit (General) Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the whole of his 
income. 

 
7. Any disability living allowance or personal independence payment 
 
8. Any concessionary payment made to compensate for the non-payment of; 
 (a) any payment specified in paragraph 7 or 10;  
 (b)  income support;  
 (c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance. 
 (d) an income-related employment and support allowance. 
 
9. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 

and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other 
scheme or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983or any 
payment intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 

 
10.  Any attendance allowance.  
 
11.  Any payment to the claimant as holder of the Victoria Cross or of the George Cross or any 

analogous payment.  
12. (1) Any payment– 
   (a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to; 

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996(d) (payment of 
school expenses; grant of scholarships etc); 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 

Page 235



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 118	

(power to assist persons to take advantage of educational facilities); 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and 
paid under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992 

  (b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to; 
(i) section14 or section181 of the Education Act 2002(power of Secretary of State 
and National Assembly for Wales to give financial assistance for purposes related 
to education or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or in England, by way of 
financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act 2002. 

 
 (2)  Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant 

to; 
  (a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996;  
  (b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
  (c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 

under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, in 
respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who 
is in receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made 
pursuant to any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

 
13.  Any payment made to the claimant by way of a repayment under regulation 11(2) of the 

Education (Teacher Student Loans) (Repayment etc.) Regulations 2002. 
 

14 (1) Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise 
and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 except a payment; 

(a) made as a substitute for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance, incapacity benefit, 
severe disablement allowance or an employment and support allowance; 

(b) of an allowance referred to in section 2(3) of the 1973 Act or section 2(5) of the Enterprise 
and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 

(c) intended to meet the cost of living expenses which relate to any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) whilst a claimant is participating in an education, training 
or other scheme to help him enhance his employment prospects unless the payment is a 
Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act and the period of 
education or training or the scheme, which is supported by that loan, has been 
completed. 

 (2)  The items specified in this sub-paragraph for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) are 
food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the claimant or, where the 
claimant is a member of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or 
water charges for which that claimant or member is liable. 

 
15 (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any of the following payments; 
  (a)  a charitable payment;  
  (b) a voluntary payment; 
  (c) a payment (not falling within sub-paragraph (a) or (b) above) from a trust whose 

funds are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to 
the claimant;  

  (d) a payment under an annuity purchased; 
   (i)  pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments to the 

claimant; or 
   (ii)  from funds derived from a payment made, in consequence of any personal 

injury to the claimant; or 
  (e) a payment (not falling within sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) received by virtue of any 

agreement or court order to make payments to the claimant in consequence of 
any personal injury to the claimant. 

 
 (2)  Sub-paragraph (1) shall not apply to a payment, which is made or due to be made by– 
  (a) a former partner of the claimant, or a former partner of any member of the 

Page 236



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 119	

claimant’s family; or 
  (b) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a 

member of the claimant’s family. 
 
16.  100% of a) and b) and  £10 of any of the following, namely 

(a)  a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded under 
paragraph 9 or 10); 

 (b) a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 
 (c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 

power of His Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in 
consequence of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

 (d) a guaranteed income payment;  
 (e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 

mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
 (f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous 

to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
 (g) pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special   
 provision made by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or  
 of the Republic of Austria. 
 
17.  Subject to paragraph 35, £15 of any; 
 (a) widowed mother’s allowance paid pursuant to section 37 of the Act;  
 (b) widowed parent’s allowance paid pursuant to section 39A of the Act. 
 
18. (1)  Any income derived from capital to which the claimant is or is treated under section 41 

(capital jointly held) as beneficially entitled but, subject to sub- paragraph (2), not income 
derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 8, 14 or 25 to 28 of Schedule 5. 
(2) Income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 2, 4 or 25 to 28 of Schedule 5 but 
only to the extent of– 

  (a) any mortgage repayments made in respect of the dwelling or premises in the 
   period during which that income accrued; or 
  (b) any council tax or water charges which the claimant is liable to pay in respect of 

the dwelling or premises and which are paid in the period during which that 
income accrued. 

(3) The definition of ‘water charges’ in paragraph 2(1) shall apply to sub-paragraph (2) of this 
paragraph with the omission of the words ‘in so far as such charges are in respect of the dwelling 
which a person occupies as his home’. 

 
19.  Where the claimant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course at 

an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, which 
contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating– 

 (a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, sections 1 or 2 of the 
Education Act 1962 or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998(c), that 
student’s award; 

 (b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980, that student’s bursary, scholarship, or other allowance under 
that section or under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, any payment to that student under that section; or 

 (c) the student’s student loan, 
an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect of the 
period for which that contribution is assessed as being payable. 

 
20. (1) Where the claimant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who 

either; 
  (a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; 

or 
 (b) is in receipt of an award under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 (discretionary 

Page 237



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 120	

awards) or an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, 
or regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance under 
section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, 
and the claimant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student’s 
maintenance, other than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 19, an amount 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) in respect of each week during the student’s term. 

 (2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount shall be equal to– 
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single claimant under 25 less the 

weekly amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment referred 
to in sub-paragraph (1)(b), 

whichever is less. 
 
21.  Any payment made to the claimant by a child or young person or a non- dependant. 
 
22.  Where the claimant occupies a dwelling as his home and the dwelling is also occupied by a 

person other than one to whom paragraph 21 or 23 refers and there is a contractual liability to 
make payments to the claimant in respect of the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a 
member of his family– 

(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of 
the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member of his family, or by that person 
and a member of his family, is less than £20, the whole of that amount; or 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments is £20 or more per week, £20. 

 
23. (1)  Where the claimant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling 

board and lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for which such 
accommodation is provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to– 
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect 
of such accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20.00, 100 per cent. 
of such payments; 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20.00, £20.00 and 50 per 
cent. of the excess over £20.00. 

 (2)  In this paragraph, ‘board and lodging accommodation’ means accommodation provided 
to a person or, if he is a member of a family, to him or any other member of his family, for 
a charge which is inclusive of the provision of that accommodation and at least some 
cooked or prepared meals which both are cooked or prepared (by a person other than the 
person to whom the accommodation is provided or a member of his family) and are 
consumed in that accommodation or associated premises. 

 
24. (1) Any income in kind, except where regulation 30(11)(b) (provision of support under 

section 95 or 98 of the Immigration and Asylum Act in the calculation of income other than 
earnings) applies. 

 
 (2)  The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to ‘income in kind’ does not include a payment to a 

third party made in respect of the claimant which is used by the third party to provide 
benefits in kind to the claimant. 
 

25.  Any income which is payable in a country outside the United Kingdom for such period during 
which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income. 

 
26. (1) Any payment made to the claimant in respect of a person who is a member of his family– 

(a) pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children 
Act 2002 or in accordance or with a scheme approved by the Scottish 
Ministers under section 51A of the Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978(b) 
(schemes for payments of allowances to adopters); or in accordance with an 
Adoption Allowance Scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and 
Children (Scotland) Act 2007 (Adoption Allowances Schemes) 

Page 238



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 121	

(b) not used 
(ba) which is a payment made by a local authority in pursuance of section 15(1) 

of, and paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989 (local authority 
contribution to a child’s maintenance where the child is living with a person 
as a result of a residence order) or in Scotland section 50 of the Children Act 
1975 (payments towards maintenance of children); 

(c) which is a payment made by an authority, as defined in Article 2 of the Children 
Order, in pursuance of Article 15 of, and paragraph 17 of Schedule 1 to, that 
Order (contribution by an authority to child’s maintenance); 

(d) in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the Children Act 
1989(c) (special guardianship support services); 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, made 
to the claimant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002. 

 
27.  Any payment made to the claimant with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of 

arrangements made 
 (a) by a local authority under– 

(i) section 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation and 
maintenance for a child whom they are looking after), 
(ii) section 26 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (manner of provision of 
accommodation to child looked after by local authority), or 
(iii) regulations 33 or 51 of the Looked After Children (Scotland)Regulations 2009 
(fostering and kinship care allowances and fostering allowances); or 

 (b) by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of 
accommodation by voluntary organisations). 

 
28.  Any payment made to the claimant or his partner for a person (‘the person concerned’), who is 

not normally a member of the claimant’s household but is temporarily in his care, by– 
 (a) a health authority; 
 (b) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the person 

concerned; 
 (c) a voluntary organisation;  
 (d) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948; 
 (e)  a primary care trust established under section 16A of the National Health Service Act 1977 

or established by an order made under section 18(2)(c) of the National Health Service Act 
2006; or 

 (f) a Local Health Board established under section 16BA of the National Health Service Act 
1977 or established by an order made under section 11 of the National Health Service 
(Wales) Act 2006 

 
29.  Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 

Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968
 or section 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for 
children and their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 

 
29A. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 

in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989(e) or section 29 of the Children 
(Scotland) Act 1995(local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant 
financial assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (‘A’) which A passes on 
to the claimant. 

 (2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A; 
  (a) was formerly in the claimant’s care, and  
  (b)is aged 18 or over, and  
  (c)continues to live with the claimant. 
 
30. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment received under an insurance policy taken out to 

insure against the risk of being unable to maintain repayments; 

Page 239



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 122	

 (a) on a loan which is secured on the dwelling which the claimant occupies as his 
home; or 
(b)  under a regulated agreement as defined for the purposes of the Consumer Credit 
Act 1974 or under a hire-purchase agreement or a conditional sale agreement as defined 
for the purposes of Part 3 of the Hire-Purchase Act 1964. 

(2) A payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) shall only be disregarded to the extent that the 
payment received under that policy does not exceed the amounts, calculated on a weekly basis, 
which are used to– 

 (a) maintain the repayments referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or, as the case may be, (b); 
and 

 (b)  meet any amount due by way of premiums on– 
  (i) that policy; or 

(ii) in a case to which sub-paragraph(1)(a) applies, an insurance policy taken out to insure 
against loss or damage to any building or part of a building which is occupied by the 
claimant as his home and which is required as a condition of the loan referred to in sub-
paragraph (1)(a). 

 
31.  Any payment of income which, by virtue of section 36 (income treated as capital) is to be treated 

as capital. 
 
32.  Any social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the Act (the Social Fund) or any local welfare 

provision as defined by the Social Security (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013 
 
33.  Any payment under Part 10 of the Act (Christmas bonus for pensioners). 
 
34.  Where a payment of income is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 

commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 
 
35.  The total of a claimant’s income or, if he is a member of a family, the family’s income and the 

income of any person which he is treated as possessing under paragraph 15.2 (calculation of 
income and capital of members of claimant’s family and of a polygamous marriage) to be 
disregarded under paragraph 47.2(b) and paragraph 48.1(d) (calculation of covenant income 
where a contribution assessed, covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is 
assessed), paragraph 51(2) (treatment of student loans), paragraph 52(3) (treatment of 
payments from access funds) and paragraphs 16 and 17 shall in no case exceed £20 per week. 

 
36. (1) Any payment made under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 

Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the 
Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 
person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the claimant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the claimant’s family. 

 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 
or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the 
partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, 
estranged or divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed 
a civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, 
had not been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under 
or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the 
benefit of; 

Page 240



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 123	

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the claimant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the claimant’s family. 

 
(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, 
where; 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor 
any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and 
(b) the payment is made either; 
  (i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or  
  (ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a 
student who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

 but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
 person’s death. 

(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where; 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had 
been a member of his family; and  
(b) the payment is made either 
 (i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or  

(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 
who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

  but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 
 

(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose support payment referred to in this paragraph 
is made, any income which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or 
deriving from any of the Trusts. 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed 
as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the 
Caxton Foundation, London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund, WLMEF and the LET. 

 
37.  Any housing benefit. 
 
38.  Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 

entitlement to housing benefit.  
 
39.  - 40.  not used 
 
41.  Any payment to a juror or witness in respect of attendance at a court other than compensation 

for loss of earnings or for the loss of a benefit payable under the benefit Acts. 
 
42.  Not used 
 
43.  Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 or section 80 of the 

1992 Act (reduction of liability for council tax).  
 
44.  Not used 
 
45. (1) Any payment or repayment made– 

Page 241



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 124	

  (a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service 
(Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies); 

  (b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 
 (c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies). 

(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers 
or the Welsh Ministers, which is analogous to a payment or repayment, mentioned in sub-
paragraph (1). 

 
46.  Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or 

under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers 
or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments 
made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins). 

 
47.  Any payment made by either the Secretary of State for Justice or by the Scottish Ministers under 

a scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody. 
 
48. (1)Where a claimant’s applicable amount includes an amount by way of a family premium, £15 

of any payment of maintenance, other than child maintenance, whether under a court order or 
not, which is made or due to be made by the claimant’s former partner, or the claimant’s 
partner’s former partner. 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1) where more than one maintenance payment falls to be 
taken into account in any week, all such payments such be aggregated and treated as if they 
were a single payment. 
(3) A payment made by the Secretary of State in lieu of maintenance shall, for the purpose of 
sub-paragraph (1), be treated as a payment of maintenance made by a person specified in sub-
paragraph (1). 

 
48A. (1) Any payment of child maintenance made or derived from a liable relative where the child or 

young person in respect of whom the payment is made is a member of the claimant’s family, 
except where the person making the payment is the claimant or the claimant’s partner. 

 (2) In paragraph (1) 
‘child maintenance’ means any payment towards the maintenance of a child or young person, 
including any payment made voluntarily and payments made under; 
(a) the Child Support Act 1991; 
(b) the Child Support (Northern Ireland) Order 1991; 
(c) a court order; 
(d) a consent order; 
(e) a maintenance agreement registered for execution in the Books of Council and Session 
or the sheriff court books; 
‘liable relative’ means a person listed in regulation 54 (interpretation) of the Income Support 
(General) Regulations 1987, other than a person falling within sub-paragraph (d) of that 
definition. 

 
49.  Not used 
 
50.  Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 

other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

 
51.  Any guardian’s allowance. 
 
52. (1) If the claimant is in receipt of any benefit under Parts 2, 3 or 5 of the Act, any increase in 

the rate of that benefit arising under Part 4 (increases for dependants) or section 106(a) 

Page 242



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 125	

(unemployability supplement) of the Act, where the dependant in respect of whom the increase 
is paid is not a member of the claimant’s family. 

 
(2) If the claimant is in receipt of any pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, Military 
and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006, any increase in the 
rate of that pension or allowance under that Order, where the dependant in respect of whom 
the increase is paid is not a member of the claimant’s family. 

 
53.  Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 

(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and 
surviving civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence 
to any person who is not a person entitled under that Order. 

 
54.  In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal 

Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983(a) (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), 
the sum specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 

 
55 (1) Any payment which is 

 (a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or  
 (b)surviving civil partner of a person; 

(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a 
member of the armed forces of the Crown; and 
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and equal 
to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 

(2) In this paragraph ‘the Dispensing Instruments’ means the Order in Council of 19th December 
1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 14th January 
1922 (exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 

 
55A.  Any council tax support or council tax benefit to which the claimant is entitled. 
 

56.  Except in a case which falls under sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 16 of Schedule 3, where the 
claimant is a person who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that paragraph, 
any amount of working tax credit up to £17.10 

 
 56A.–56B.  Not used 
 
57.  Any payment made under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 

12A to 12D of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care) or under 
regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments). 

 
58. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in respect of a person who is receiving, or who has received, 

assistance under the self-employment route, any payment to that person– 
(a) to meet expenses wholly and necessarily incurred whilst carrying on the commercial 
activity; 
(b) which is used or intended to be used to maintain repayments on a loan taken out 
by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity,  

in respect of which such assistance is or was received. (2) Sub-paragraph (1) shall apply only in 
respect of payments, which are paid to that person from the special account 

 
59. (1) Any payment of a sports award except to the extent that it has been made in respect 

of any one or more of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 
(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing 
or footwear, household fuel or rent of the claimant or where the claimant is a member of 
a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which 
that claimant or member is liable. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) ‘food’ does not include vitamins, minerals or 
other special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in 

Page 243



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 126	

the sport in respect of which the award was made. 
 
60.  Where the amount of subsistence allowance paid to a person in a reduction week exceeds the 

amount of income-based jobseeker’s allowance that person would have received in that 
reduction week had it been payable to him, less 50p, that excess amount. 

 
61.  In the case of a claimant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 

payment made by an employment zone contractor to the claimant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise. 

 
62.  Any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 

Financial Assistance Regulations 2001 as amended by the Welfare Reform Act 2012 
(Consequential Amendments) Regulations 2013. 

 
63. (1)Any payment made by a local authority or by the Welsh Ministers to or on behalf of the 

claimant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity 
of the claimant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) ‘local authority’ includes, in England, a county council. 

 
64.  Provision for all applicants: Homes for Ukraine scheme 

(1) Any payment made in connection with the Homes for Ukraine scheme is to be disregarded 
in determining—  

(a) an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under the scheme; or 
(b) the amount of any reduction to which the applicant is entitled. 

(2) In this regulation—  
“the Homes for Ukraine scheme” means the Homes for Ukraine sponsorship scheme which was 
announced in Parliament by the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
on 14th March 2022 

 
65.  Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

(personal budgets and direct payments) 
 
66.  Any payment of child benefit. 

67.       Any bereavement support payment under section 30 of the Pensions Act 2014  

 
 

  

Page 244



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 127	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 5 

Capital to be disregarded39 
 
  

	
39 The amounts in this schedule shall be amended in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 

Page 245



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 128	

 
1. The dwelling together with any garage, garden and outbuildings, normally occupied by the 

claimant as his home including any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or 
unreasonable to sell separately, in particular 5, in Scotland, any croft land on which the dwelling 
is situated; but, notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of 
claimant’s family and of polygamous marriage), only one dwelling shall be disregarded under 
this paragraph. 

 
A2.  Any payment made to the claimant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 

incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme but only 
for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 

 
A3.  Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred or to be 

incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme 
or Back to Work Scheme but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment 
but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of payment. 

 
2. Any premises acquired for occupation by the claimant, which he intends to occupy as his home 

within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the claimant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the 
premises. 

 
3. Any sum directly attributable to the proceeds of sale of any premises formerly occupied by the 

claimant as his home which is to be used for the purchase of other premises intended for such 
occupation within 26 weeks of the date of sale or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the claimant to complete the purchase. 

 
4. Any premises occupied in whole or in part– 

(a) by a partner or relative of a single claimant or any member of the family as his 
home where that person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is 
incapacitated; 
(b) by the former partner of the claimant as his home; but this provision shall not 
apply where the former partner is a person from whom the claimant is estranged or 
divorced or with whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 

 
5.  Where a claimant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-

related employment and support allowance, the whole of his capital. 
 
6. Where the claimant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 

1995 and his partner is on income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the claimant’s 
capital. 

 
7. Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the 

claimant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub- leases or sub-tenancies. 
 
8. (1) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the claimant and for the purposes of 

which he is engaged as a self-employed earner, or if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such 
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of any such asset. 

 (2) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the claimant where– 
(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease 
or bodily or mental disablement; but 
(b) he intends to become engaged or, as the case may be, re-engaged as a self- 
employed earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged or 
re-engaged in that business; 
 
for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the claim for council tax support is made, 
or is treated as made, or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged or re-
engaged in that business within that period, for such longer period as is reasonable in the 

Page 246



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 129	

circumstances to enable him to become so engaged or re-engaged. 
 

(3) In the case of a person who is receiving assistance under the self-employment route, the 
assets acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial 
activity in respect of which such assistance is being received. 

 
(3) In the case of a person who has ceased carrying on the commercial activity in respect of 

which assistance was received as specified in sub-paragraph (3), the assets relating to that 
activity for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of 
any such asset. 
 

9. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any arrears of, or any concessionary payment made to 
compensate for arrears due to the non-payment of; 
(a) any payment specified in paragraphs 7, 9 or 10 of Schedule 4; 
(b) an income-related benefit under Part 7 of the Act; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(d) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 

Financial Assistance Regulations 2001; 
(e) working tax credit and child tax credit; 
(f) an income-related employment and support allowance 
 
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of arrears or of the concessionary 
payment. 

 
(2) In a case where the total of any arrears and, if appropriate, any concessionary payment 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1) relating to one of the specified payments, benefits or allowances 
amounts to £5,000 or more (referred to in this sub-paragraph and in sub-paragraph (3) as ‘the 
relevant sum’) and is 

(a) paid in order to rectify or to compensate for, an official error as defined in 
regulation 1(2) of the Decisions and Appeals Regulations; and 
(b) received by the claimant in full on or after 14th October 2001, 

 
sub-paragraph (1) shall have effect in relation to such arrears or concessionary payment either 
for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt, or, if the relevant sum is received in its entirety 
during the award of council tax support, for the remainder of that award if that is a longer period. 

 
 (3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph(2),’the award of council tax support’ means– 

(a) the award in which the relevant sum is first received (or the first part thereof 
where it is paid in more than one instalment); and 
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of 
which, begins immediately after the end of the previous award, such further award 
provided that for that further award the claimant; 
(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; or 
(ii) is the partner of the person who received the relevant sum, or was that person’s 
partner at the date of his death. 

 
10.  Any sum 
 (a) paid to the claimant in consequence of damage to, or loss of the home or any personal 

possession and intended for its repair or replacement; or 
 (b)  acquired by the claimant (whether as a loan or otherwise) on the express condition that 

it is to be used for effecting essential repairs or improvement to the home, which is to be 
used for the intended purpose, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which it was so 
paid or acquired or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to effect the 
repairs, replacement or improvement. 

 
11.  Any sum– 

(a) deposited with a housing association as defined in section 1(1) of the Housing 
Associations Act 1985 or section 338(1) of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987 as a 

Page 247



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 130	

condition of occupying the home; 
(b) which was so deposited and which is to be used for the purchase of another home, 
for the period of 26 weeks or such longer period as may be reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the claimant to complete the purchase. 

 
12.  Any personal possessions except those which have been acquired by the claimant with the 

intention of reducing his capital in order to secure entitlement to council tax support or to 
increase the amount of that support. 

 
13.  The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of 

such an annuity. 
 
14.  Where the funds of a trust are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal 

injury to the claimant or claimant’s partner, the value of the trust fund and the value of the right 
to receive any payment under that trust. 

 
14A. (1) Any payment made to the claimant or the claimant’s partner in consequence of any personal 

injury to the claimant or, as the case may be, the claimant’s partner. 
 
 (2) But sub-paragraph (1) 

(a) applies only for the period of 52 weeks beginning with the day on which the 
claimant first receives any payment in consequence of that personal injury; 
(b) does not apply to any subsequent payment made to him in consequence of that 
injury (whether it is made by the same person or another); 
(c) ceases to apply to the payment or any part of the payment from the day on which 
the claimant no longer possesses it; 
(d) does not apply to any payment from a trust where the funds of the trust are 
derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the claimant. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), the circumstances in which a claimant no longer 
possesses a payment or a part of it include where the claimant has used a payment or part of it 
to purchase an asset. 

 
(4) References in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the claimant are to be construed as including 
references to his partner (where applicable). 

 
15.  The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 
 
16.  The value of the right to receive any income, which is disregarded under paragraph 13 of 

Schedule 3 or paragraph 25 of Schedule 4. 
 
17.  The surrender value of any policy of life insurance.  
 
18.  Where any payment of capital falls to be made by instalments, the value of the right to receive 

any outstanding instalments. 
 
19.  Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 

Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or 
sections 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and 
their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 

 
19A. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 

in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the Children (Scotland) 
Act 1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant financial 
assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (‘A’) which A passes on to the 
claimant. 

 
 (2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A; 
  (a) was formerly in the claimant’s care, and  

Page 248



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 131	

  (b) is aged 18 or over, and (c) continues to live with the claimant. 
 
20.  Any social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the Act. 
 
21.  Any refund of tax which falls to be deducted under section 369 of the Income and Corporation 

Taxes Act 1988 (deduction of tax from certain loan interest) on a payment of relevant loan 
interest for the purpose of acquiring an interest in the home or carrying out repairs or 
improvements to the home. 

 
22.  Any capital which, by virtue of sections 31 or 51 (capital treated as income, treatment of student 

loans) is to be treated as income. 
 
23.  Where any payment of capital is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 

commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 
 
24. (1) Any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 

Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Charitable 
Fund. 
 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the 
Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 
person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the claimant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the claimant’s family. 

 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering or 
who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the partner 
or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, estranged or 
divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil 
partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not 
been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under or by any of 
the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the claimant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the claimant’s family. 

 
(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, 
where– 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, 
nor any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; 
and 
(b) the payment is made either; 
  (i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child ,a young person or a student 
who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian, 
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person’s death. 

Page 249



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 132	

 
(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a 
civil partnership that had not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was 
or had been a member of his family; and 
(b) the payment is made either; 
 (i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or  

(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 
who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 
 
(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose support payment referred to in this paragraph 
is made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or capital made under 
or deriving from any of the Trusts. 

 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed 
as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited the Skipton Fund , the 
Caxton Foundation, the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund, the WLMEF and the LET. 

 
25. (1) Where a claimant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the 

home following his estrangement or divorce from, or dissolution of his civil partnership with, his 
former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he ceased to 
occupy that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the former partner who 
is a lone parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 

 
(2) In this paragraph ‘dwelling’ includes any garage, garden and outbuildings, which were 
formerly occupied by the claimant as his home and any premises not so occupied which it is 
impracticable or unreasonable to sell separately, in particular, in Scotland, any croft land on 
which the dwelling is situated. 

 
26.  Any premises where the claimant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those premises, for a 

period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those premises. 

 
27.  Any premises which the claimant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is 

taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal 
proceedings, with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on 
which he first sought such advice or first commenced such proceedings whichever is the earlier, 
or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to obtain possession 
and commence occupation of those premises. 

 
28.  Any premises which the claimant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or 

alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 weeks 
from the date on which the claimant first takes steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or 
such longer period as is necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out. 

 
29.  Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 

entitlement to housing benefit. 
 
30.  Not used 
 
31.  The value of the right to receive an occupational or personal pension. 
 
32.  The value of any funds held under a personal pension scheme  

Page 250



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 133	

 
33.  The value of the right to receive any rent except where the claimant has a reversionary interest 

in the property in respect of which rent is due. 
 
34.  Any payment in kind made by a charity or under or by the Trusts, the Fund, MFET Limited, the 

Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
 
35.  Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New 

Towns (Scotland) Act 1990, but only for the period of 52 weeks beginning on the date of receipt 
of the payment. 

 
36.  Not used. 
 
37.  Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 or, as the case may 

be, section 80 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (reduction of liability for council tax), 
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

 
38.  Any grant made in accordance with a scheme made under section 129 of the Housing Act 1988

 or section 66 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1988 (schemes for payments to assist local 
housing authority and local authority tenants to obtain other accommodation) which is to be 
used– 

(a) to purchase premises intended for occupation as his home; or 
(b) to carry out repairs or alterations which are required to render premises fit for 
occupation as his home, 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he received such a grant or such longer period 
as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the purchase, repairs or alterations to be 
completed and the claimant to commence occupation of those premises as his home. 

 
39.  Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 53 of Schedule 4 

(sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount 
which is disregarded under paragraph 54 or 55 of that Schedule, but only for a period of 52 
weeks from the date of receipt of the arrears. 

 
40. (1) Any payment or repayment made– 

(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service 
(Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies); 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies), 

but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment or repayment. 
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers 
or the Welsh Ministers, which is analogous to a payment, or repayment mentioned in sub-
paragraph (1), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment or 
repayment. 

 
41.  Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or 

under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers 
or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments 
made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins), but only for a 
period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

 
41A.  Any payment made under Part 8A of the Act (entitlement to health in pregnancy grant). 
 
42.  Any payment made either by the Secretary of State for Justice or by Scottish Ministers under a 

Page 251



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 134	

scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody, but only for 
a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

 
43.  Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 

other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

 
44.  Not used 
 
45.  Any payment made by a local authority under section 3 of the Disabled Persons 
 (Employment) Act 1958 to homeworkers assisted under the Blind Homeworkers’ Scheme. 
 
46. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where a claimant satisfies the conditions in section 131(3) and 

(6) of the Act (entitlement to alternative maximum council tax support), the whole of his capital. 
(2) Where in addition to satisfying the conditions in section 131(3) and (6) of the Act the claimant 
also satisfies the conditions in section 131(4) and (5) of the Act (entitlement to the maximum 
council tax support), sub-paragraph (1) shall not have effect. 

 
47. (1) Any sum of capital to which sub-paragraph (2) applies and 
  (a) which is administered on behalf of a person by the High Court or the County Court 

under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 or by the Court of Protection; 
  (b) which can only be disposed of by order or direction of any such court; or 

(c) where the person concerned is under the age of 18, which can only be disposed of by 
order or direction prior to that person attaining age 18. 

 (2)  This sub-paragraph applies to a sum of capital which is derived from; 
  (a) an award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
  (b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned 

is under the age of 18. 
 
48.  Any sum of capital administered on behalf of a person in accordance with an order made under 

section 13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 
1993 or under Rule 128 of those Rules, where such sum derives from 

 (a) award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
 (b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is under 

the age of 18. 
 
49.  Any payment to the claimant as holder of the Victoria Cross or George Cross.  
 
50.  Provision for all applicants: Homes for Ukraine scheme 

(1) Any payment made in connection with the Homes for Ukraine scheme is to be disregarded 
in determining—  

(c) an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under the scheme; or 
(d) the amount of any reduction to which the applicant is entitled. 

(2) In this regulation—  
“the Homes for Ukraine scheme” means the Homes for Ukraine sponsorship scheme which was 
announced in Parliament by the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
on 14th March 2022 

 
51.  In the case of a person who is receiving, or who has received, assistance under the self-

employment route, any sum of capital which is acquired by that person for the purpose of 
establishing or carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is or was 
received but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date on which that sum was acquired. 

 
52. (1) Any payment of a sports award for a period of 26 weeks from the date of receipt of that 

payment except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

 
(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or 

Page 252



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 135	

footwear, household fuel or rent of the claimant or, where the claimant is a member of a family, 
any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that claimant or 
member is liable. 
 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) ‘food’ does not include vitamins, minerals or other 
special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the sport in 
respect of which the award was made. 

 
53. (1) Any payment; 
 (a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to– 

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996;  
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980;  
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992;  

(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to; 
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the EducationAct2002(power of Secretary of State and 
National Assembly for Wales to give financial assistance for purposes related to education 
or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act ; or in England, by way of financial 
assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act 2002. 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant to; 
 (a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996;  
 (b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 

(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is 
in receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to 
any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

 
 
54.  In the case of a claimant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 

payment made by an employment zone contractor to the claimant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise, but only for the period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

 
55.  Any arrears of subsistence allowance paid as a lump sum but only for the period of 52 weeks 

from the date of receipt of the payment. 
 
56.  Where an ex-gratia payment of £10,000 has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st 

February 2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or interment of– 
(a) the claimant; 
(b) the claimant’s partner;  
(c) the claimant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or  
(d) the claimant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, 
by the Japanese during the Second World War, £10,000. 

 
57. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to a claimant or a 

member of a claimant’s family who is 
(a) a diagnosed person;  
(b) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s 

partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
  (c)  a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s 

parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
or 

  (d) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person 
who was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at 
the date of the diagnosed person’s death. 

 (2)  Where a trust payment is made to; 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph shall 

Page 253



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 136	

apply for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made 
and ending on the date on which that person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and 
ending two years after that date; 
(c) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(d), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and 
ending– 
(i) two years after that date; or  
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person– 
(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or  
(bb) attains the age of 20, 
whichever is the latest. 

 (3)  Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made, which is made to a claimant or a member of a claimant’s family 
who is– 

(a) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed 
person’s partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
(b) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed 
person’s parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed 
person’s death; or 
(c) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a 
person who was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his 
partner) at the date of the diagnosed person’s death, 
but only to the extent that such payments do not exceed the total amount of any 
trust payments made to that person. 

 (4)  Where a payment as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to– 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending 
on the date on which that person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(b), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending 
two years after that date; or 
(c) person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending– 
 (i) two years after that date; or  
 (ii) on the day before the day on which that person 
  (aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or  
  (bb) attains the age of 20, 
whichever is the latest.  

 (5)  In this paragraph, a reference to a person– 
(a) being the diagnosed person’s partner;  
(b) being a member of a diagnosed person’s family;  
(c) acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents, 

at the date of the diagnosed person’s death shall include a person who would have been 
such a person or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person 
residing in a care home, an Abbeyfield Home or an independent hospital on that date. 

 
 (6)  In this paragraph– ‘diagnosed person’ means a person who has been diagnosed as 

suffering from, or who, after his death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, 
variant Creutzfeld- Jakob disease;  

  ‘relevant trust’ means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State 
in respect of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeld-Jakob 
disease for the benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions; 

  ‘trust payment’ means a payment under a relevant trust. 
 
58.  The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the 

Page 254



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 137	

claimant, the claimant’s partner, the claimant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner or the 
claimant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner 
 (a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer;  
 (b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or  
 (c) was a parent of a child who had died, 

 during the Second World War. 
 
59 (1) Any payment made by a local authority, or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the 

claimant or his partner relating to a service, which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity 
of the claimant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) ‘local authority’ includes in England a county council. 

 
60.  Any payment made under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 

2001 or under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under section 12A to 12D 
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care). 

 
61.  Any payment made to the claimant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the 

Adoption and Children Act 2002. 
 
62.  Any payment made to the claimant in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 

14F of the Children Act 1989 (special guardianship support services). 
 
63. Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

(personal budgets and direct payments). 

64.       Any bereavement support payment under section 30 of the Pensions Act 2014  

 
 
  

Page 255



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 138	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 6 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Page 256



Blackpool Council  - Council Tax Reduction 2024/25 DRAFT 139	

For working age claimants , at the end of the assessment, a percentage reduction of 27.11% 
will be applied with the exception of the claimants listed in section 59A.2 who will have a 
percentage reduction of 13.56% applied. 
 

Page 257



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Notice of: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: Victoria Gent, Director of Children’s Services 

Relevant Cabinet Member  

 

Councillor Kath Benson, Cabinet Member for Young People 
and Aspiration 

Date of Meeting:  11 December 2023 

 

BLACKPOOL YOUTH JUSTICE SERVICE ANNUAL PLAN 2023/24 
 

1.0 Purpose of the report 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide the Executive with an update regarding 

Blackpool’s Youth Justice Service and seek approval by the Council of the Youth Justice 
Service Annual Plan.  

 
2.0 Recommendation(s) 
 
2.1 To recommend to Council to approve the Youth Justice Annual Plan 2023/24 on behalf 

of Blackpool Council with effect until 31 December 2024. 
 
3.0 Reason for recommendation(s) 
 
3.1 To have oversight of the Youth Justice Partnership plan to provide scrutiny, challenge 

and support to aid development and ensure positive outcomes for children are 
achieved.  
 

3.2 Local authorities have a statutory duty to submit an annual youth justice plan and 
deliver against the priorities set out in their plan. 

 
3.3 Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy approved by the Council?   No 

 
3.4 Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? Yes  
 
4.0 Other alternative options to be considered 
 
4.1  No other alternative options to be considered.  

 
 

 

Page 259

Agenda Item 4



5.0 Council priority 
 
5.1 The relevant Council priority is: ‘Communities: Creating stronger communities  
 and increasing resilience’. 
 
6.0 Background and key information 

 
6.1 The Youth Justice Partnership plan attached at Appendix 4a outlines the strategic vision 

and unwavering dedication to providing exceptional support to children and families 
involved in the youth justice system. Building upon the progress partners have already 
made; our goal is to ensure that the children and families partners serve thrive away 
from the Youth Justice system.  
 

6.2 Blackpool’s Youth Justice Partnership acknowledges and supports the research-backed 
notion that children should be treated in a manner that considers their age, level of 
comprehension, and overall circumstances. This approach considers their needs and 
holistic well-being. Blackpool Youth Justice multiagency Executive Board believe the 
children who display harmful behaviour, and the communities in which they live, are 
best served by identifying and addressing the underlying welfare and support needs that 
drive much of this behaviour.  The Partnership understands that children are inherently 
vulnerable by virtue of age, levels of maturity and other factors and as such their rights 
should be protected.   

 
6.3 The Youth Justice Partnership plan along with performance and resource data is 

monitored quarterly via the Blackpool’s Youth Justice Executive Board providing a 
multidisciplinary strategic focus on the impact of service delivery on children’s 
outcomes. The Executive Board ensures our Youth Justice Partnership is provided with 
clear and coordinated strategic governance to support with the delivery of high-quality 
youth justice services with a focus on:  
 Ensuring a Child First approach to Youth Justice provision in Blackpool  
 Ensuring sure children and young people are safe  
 Reducing the likelihood of reoffending  
 Reducing the risk of harm that children and young people can cause to other 

people and themselves.  
The annual Executive Board Development Day was held in April 2023 and the outcomes 
from this have contributed to the development of the plan. 

 
6.4 The priorities outlined in the plan include: 

Priority One: Our Youth Justice Partnership will continue to strive to ensure that the 
Executive Board is efficient and effective, securing positive outcomes for children and 
families.  
Priority Two: Our Youth Justice Partnership will increase prevention and diversion 
ensuring children receive support at the earliest opportunity to reduce the number of 
First Time Entrants in Blackpool.  

Page 260



Priority Three: Our Youth Justice Partnership will ensure our Youth Justice workforce 
have access to appropriate development opportunities and resources to reduce the risk 
of re-offending.  
Priority Four: Our Youth Justice Partnership will ensure the educational needs of 
children open to the service are understood and appropriate action taken to ensure that 
they have access to high quality education and training services that met their individual 
needs.  
Priority Five: Our Youth Justice Partnership will seek to reduce the number of children in 
custody. 
 

6.5 In addition to Blackpool Youth Justice multiagency Executive Board the national Youth 
Justice Board (YJB) monitor the operation of the youth justice system. The Youth Justice 
Board also monitor the provision of youth justice services and the extent to which the 
system aims are being achieved and any such standards met. In April 2023 the Youth 
Justice Board introduced a new Oversight Framework to increase understanding of 
performance across the system and assure value for money from the Youth Justice Core 
Grant.  As part of the new framework performance quadrant assessments are 
undertaken quarter. The assessments review service delivery, service leadership, local 
strategic priorities and continuous improvement. Blackpool Youth Justice partnership is 
currently in performance quadrant 2 deemed satisfactory performance. 

 
6.6 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? No 
 
7.0 List of appendices 

 
Appendix 4a: Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24  
Appendix 4b: Youth Justice Board oversight framework service classification  
and support.  
Appendix 4c: Case Study 

 
8.0 Financial considerations 

 
8.1   Costs and contributions 2022-23 

Agency Staffing Costs Other delegated funds 
Total 

Police 58,336 0 58,336 

Probation 24,608 5,000 29,608 

Health 39,974 15,442 55,416 

Local Authority 345,016 103,807 448,823 

YJB 435,178 54,251 489,429 

Other     0 

Total                     903,112                           178,500  
                                         

1,081,612  

Page 261



   
 
9.0 Legal considerations 

 
9.1 Local authorities have a statutory duty to submit an annual youth justice plan, relating 

to their provision of youth justice services, to the Youth Justice Board. Section 40 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 sets out the youth justice partnership’s responsibilities in 
producing a plan. It states that it is the duty of each local authority, after consultation 
with the partner agencies, to formulate and implement an annual youth justice plan, 
setting out how youth justice services in their area are to be provided and funded, how 
they will operate, and what functions will be carried out. 

 
10.0 Risk management considerations 

 
10.1  There are no issues of concern as appropriate governance arrangements are in place.  

 
11.0 Equalities considerations and the impact of this decision for our children and young people 

 
11.1 The young people supported by the Blackpool youth justice service in 22/23 were mainly 

White ethnic background (89%), 8% of young people were mixed ethnicity/heritage 
which is similar to Blackpool population. The large majority were boys (84%) vastly 
disproportionate to overall population however similar to national Youth Justice Service 
pattern (86%). 20% of children assessed by the youth justice service in 22/23 had been 
in care at some point in their lives (a reduction on 21/22 which stood at 25%). 

  
12.0 Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations 

 
12.1  There are no sustainability, climate change or environmental factors to consider. 
 
13.0 Internal/external consultation undertaken 

 
13.1 Blackpool’s Youth Justice Service recognise that children and families are more likely to 

feel motivated to engage with support when they feel understood, valued, and heard. 
Capturing the voice of the child and using this to inform individual plans and the 
continued development of our service is a fundamental part of the services function. 
Please see Appendix 4c for an example case study. 

 
14.0 Background papers 

 
14.1  None. 
 
 
 
 

Page 262



 
 
15.0 Key decision information 

 
15.1 Is this a key decision? Yes  
 
15.2 If so, Forward Plan reference number: 21/2023 
 
15.3 If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? No 
 
15.4 If yes, please describe the reason for urgency:  
 
16.0 Call-in information 

 
16.1 Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be exempt from the 

call-in process? No 
 
16.2 If yes, please give reason:  
 
 
17.0 Scrutiny Committee Chair consultation (where appropriate) 

 
Date informed:1 December 2023 Date approved: 
 

18.0 Declarations of interest (if applicable) 
 

18.1   
 

19.0 Executive decision 
 

19.1   
 

20.0 Date of decision 
 

20.1   
 

21.0 Reason(s) for decision 
 

21.1   
 

22.0 Date decision published 
 

22.1   
 

Page 263



23.0 Executive Members in attendance 
 

23.1   
 

24.0 Call-in information 
 

24.1   
 

25.0 Notes 
 

25.1   
 
 

Page 264



www.blackpool.gov.uk

Blackpool Youth Justice 
Plan 2023-24

P
age 265



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24

Contents

Introduction, Vision and Strategy 1

Local Context:  2

Child First  3

Voice of the Child   6

Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements  8

Board Development 8

Resources and Services  9

Progress on Previous Plan 10

Performance  11

Priorities 12

Workforce Development 16

Evidence-based practice and innovation 17

Challenges, Risks and Issues 18

Appendix 1 
Staffing structure for the  
Youth Justice Service 20

Appendix 2 
Youth Justice Executive Board Membership and Attendance 23

Appendix 3 
Budget Costs and Contributions 2022/23 26

Appendix 4 
Blackpool Families Rock –  
Model of Practice 27

Appendix 5 
Child First Approach in Blackpool – Promoting Community Connected-
ness and self-identity 28

Appendix 6 
Action Plan 30

Appendix 7 
Blackpool Youth Justice Performance 48

P
age 266



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 1

Introduction, Vision and Strategy

Introduction:

We are proud to present Blackpool’s Youth Justice 
Partnership Business Plan for the upcoming year. This 
plan outlines our strategic vision and unwavering 
dedication to providing exceptional support to children 
and families involved in the youth justice system. 
Building upon the progress we have already made; our 
goal is to ensure that the children and families we serve 
thrive away from the Youth Justice system. Through 
outlining our planned activities and initiatives, we aim 
to become an “Outstanding” service that consistently 
delivers positive outcomes.

Blackpool’s Youth Justice Partnership acknowledges 
and supports the research-backed notion that children 
should be treated in a manner that considers their age, 
level of comprehension, and overall circumstances. This 
approach considers their needs and holistic well-being. 
Our Executive Board believe the children who display 
harmful behaviour, and the communities in which they 
live, are best served by identifying and addressing the 
underlying welfare and support needs that drive much 
of this behaviour.  We understand that children are 
inherently vulnerable by virtue of age, levels of maturity 
and other factors and as such their rights should be 
protected - it is our duty to uphold this. Our annual 
Executive Board Development Day was held in April 
2023 and the outcomes from this have contributed to 
the development of this plan.

The vision for our Youth Justice Service (YJS) is:

1. Diverting children from the youth justice system 
where appropriate: We recognise the importance 
of diverting children away from the criminal justice 
system when it is suitable. Our focus is on early 
intervention and finding alternative pathways for 
their development.

2. Preventing and reducing offending behaviour 
by children: Our goal is to address the root 
causes of offending behaviour, providing targeted 
interventions and support, including health and 
education to support children steer away from the 
criminal justice system. By focusing on prevention, 
we aim to reduce reoffending rates and create safer 
communities.

3. Promoting a pro-social identity that continues 
into adulthood: We believe in nurturing the 
strengths and capacities of children, helping them 
develop a positive self-identity that aligns with 
prosocial values to which education, training and 
employment is central. Our approach emphasises 
constructive engagement and future-oriented 
planning, empowering children to make positive 
contributions to society.

4. Ensuring the safety, fair treatment, and care of 
children in the justice system: It is our utmost 
priority to ensure the safety and well-being of 
children who enter the justice system. We are 
committed to treating them fairly, with dignity and 
respect, providing the necessary support and care, 
including health care they require. We consistently 
strive to uphold their rights and protect them from 
harm.

5. Always remembering we are working with 
children: We support the evidence base that 
children should be treated with regard to their 
age and understanding, in a manner that takes 
account of their holistic circumstances and needs. 
Their unique needs and vulnerabilities are at the 
forefront of our decision-making processes and 
service provision.

LINDA CLEGG

P
age 267



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-242

Local Context: 

It is important to understand Blackpool’s context 
alongside our vision. 

Blackpool is a vibrant town of 140,954 people with 
an estimated 27,810 children under 18, with 12,641 
of those being aged 10 to 17 (95 of the population). 
Blackpool is the most deprived Local Authority with 
over 40% of our residents living in the 10% most 
deprived neighbourhoods in the country. 

As a deprived town Blackpool has prominent levels 
of child poverty with an estimated 30.7% of children 
living in income deprived families, compared to 
17.1% nationally. The life expectancy of males born 
in Blackpool is 73.9 – this is below the Northwest life 
expectancy of 77 and 78.7 in England. Similarly, the 
life expectancy of females born in Blackpool is 78 – 
this is also below the Northwest life expectancy of 81 
and 82.6 in England (2020). In 2021/2022 40.4% of 
school aged children were eligible for free school meals 
compared to 22.5% nationally. 

Currently less than 70% of our working age population 
are in employment and only 80% of our 16/17-year-
olds are ‘in learning’. 

We have 33 registered Children’s Homes in Blackpool, 
offering more than 70 beds for children across the 
town. We have a high volume of children in our care.  

In March 2022 there were 609 looked after children at 
a rate of 218 per 10,000 of the population, the highest 
in the country. 3,401 children had an episode of need at 
some point in 2021/22 at a rate of 1,168.3 per 10,000 
(twice the national average of 587.7 per 10,000); this 
does not include those open to early help provisions. 

89%
White

69%
of children had 

Emotional Health 
needs

8%
Ethnic 

Minority 
groups

15.6%
Average Age

16%
girls

65%
of children had 

substance misuse 
concerns

84%
boys

71%
of children had ETE 

concerns

60%
SEND or communications 

issues

Infographic

P
age 268



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 3

Child First 

CHILD FIRST

i) Child First approach

As a Youth Justice Service (YJS), we continue to strive 
to achieve positive outcomes for the children we 
support. A Child First, Trauma Informed approach is 
woven throughout our practice and is evidenced in the 
positive relationships our staff build with children and 
their families; advocating in their best interests when 
they are faced with multiple challenges. We continue 
to promote a child first approach with our partner 
agencies whilst recognising challenges of competing 
service requirements and ideologies – it is through 
this shared vision of ‘Child first’ that we have brokered 
the opportunity for mentoring with Lancashire 
Constabulary.  This is for a child open to the YJS, who is 
well known in the community and to the constabulary 
for anti-social and offending behaviour. The aims 
being to deliver a restorative approach in addressing 
damaging choices, building a rapport, and altering 
negative perceptions of people in positions of authority 
and enforcement.     

Treat children as children

We know that offending behaviour in children is often 
as a result of other challenges or adverse experiences 
within their lives. Adopting a holistic approach during 

assessments allows us to explore internal and external 
vulnerabilities that impact on behaviour and a child’s 
choices.  This assists in developing co-produced plans 
that consider individual and family needs.

Our practitioners take the time to get to know the 
children open to our service, seeing things from their 
perspective. This knowledge has supported us to 
support other agencies to understand and acknowledge 
a child’s vulnerabilities. This has led to increased 
trauma informed collaboration. This is an area that we 
recognise needs continued multi-agency investment 
and will form a large part of our development plan for 
the next 12 months. 

We strongly align with the Lancashire Violence 
Reduction Network’s objective for Lancashire to 
become a trauma-informed county. Embracing 
a trauma-informed approach is more than just a 
practice—it becomes an integral part of our culture. 
It influences our beliefs, values, way of life, and the 
overall organization of our society. It shapes the 
relationships we build, the language we use, and our 
perception of the environment. The commitment to 
being trauma informed permeates every aspect of our 
culture.

Building a Pro-social Identity

Our practitioners are supported to have autonomy, 
flexibility, and time to apply a relational approach 
to their work with children in the YJS. This approach 
enables them to establish trusted and secure 
relationships based on care, empathy, and kindness. 
By deeply understanding the unique strengths of 
each individual child, our practitioners assist them 
in cultivating a positive and hopeful outlook for the 
future, dissociated from an identity tied to offending 
behaviours.

To facilitate the holistic development of the children we 
serve, our practitioners collaborate with both internal 
colleagues and external providers. Together, they create 
opportunities for children to enhance their skills and 
explore their interests. These initiatives open doors 
to new friendships, enriching learning experiences, 
and exposure to positive role models. Our efforts have 
encompassed diverse activities such as photography, 
music, and jujitsu; fostering a wide range of possibilities 
for children’s growth and well-being.

P
age 269



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-244

 Encourage active participation, engagement, and wider 
social inclusion

We have widened our approach to encouraging 
participation and engagement delivering services in 
our children’s local communities, which can negate 
difficulties in travelling to one central location, considers 
the child’s individual needs and promotes children feeling 
safe and comfortable when delivering interventions. 

The Adolescent Service has been involved in developing 
a multi-agency approach to community-based activities 

for children and young people, including children 
working with the Youth Justice Service. The aim of 
these activities is for children to develop a sense of 
belonging in their community, promote a positive 
identity and tackle anti-social and offending behaviours. 
We are currently establishing a task and finish group 
who will be responsible for organising activities and 
community fun days during the school holidays. This 
will include the active participation of children open 
to the YJS or known within the local community in 
the planning and delivery of these events, further 
promoting positive community and agency presence in 
our ‘hotspot’ areas.

In addition to our ‘end of intervention interviews’ we 
are developing a method of virtual communication 
through online resources such as surveys to promote 
participation and honest feedback from children, 
families and victims. Our practitioners ensure regular 
consultation with children, parents and carers ensuring 
active involvement in the production and delivery of 
plans so that we can continuously improve services for 
children.

Promote a childhood removed from the formal Youth 
Justice System

Blackpool Youth Justice Service continues to promote 
collaborative working to strengthen and develop 

services for children that diverts them away from the 
criminal justice system. We contribute to this by the 
following:

• Turnaround:  
In Blackpool we see our implementation of the 
Turnaround Programme as a fundamental resource 
to divert our children away from offending by 
offering whole family holistic assessment and 
support. With the additional funding received from 
the Ministry of Justice we have created a time bound 
staffing resource allowing the opportunity to develop 
a small early intervention provision that sits within 
the Youth Justice Service, to oversee and deliver the 
Turnaround programme.

• Youth Partnership: 
Blackpool is developing a coordinated and flexible 
youth offer led by a Youth Partnership consisting 
of Local Authority leads and third sector youth 
partners. Going forward, via a newly created service, 
the Local Authority will coordinate and support 
third sector partners to deliver on the objectives 
outlined within our recent youth review, focusing on 
collaboration and partnership working to increase 
the range and reach of youth provision across 
Blackpool.

P
age 270



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 5

• Child Resolution Panel 
Blackpool continue to hold fortnightly multi agency 
scrutiny panels which aims to divert children 
from the criminal justice system through informal 
measures. The multi-agency panel promotes 
constructive and productive discussions from a wider 
agency perspective; considering risk, vulnerability 
and support needs and the most appropriate 
provisions to support them. 

• Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) Youth Partnership  
Our previous development plan references our 
partnership response to emerging ASB via a strategic 
task and finish group. These multi-disciplinary 
meetings continue to take place monthly; promoting 
effective information sharing, constructive challenge, 
agreed actions to tackle emerging ASB and future 
planning for local activity that balances a supportive 
and enforcement presence within the community. 
We have successfully worked with partners to 
tackle emerging anti-social behaviour, coordinating 
outreach and community activities in hotspot areas 
in line with school holidays and other key dates.

• Multi Agency Scrutiny Panel  
A multi-agency scrutiny panel is being developed to 
identify learning and best practice when reviewing 
our first-time entrants. The first was held on 
14/04/2023 and received positive feedback from 

attendees. Findings were shared at our Executive 
Board Development Day earlier this year and will 
contribute to the business and development plans 
across all services involved.

• Early Help Collaboration 
To promote diversion from the formal YJS our 
partnership strategic response to early help as set 
out in our Early Help strategy it details our town 
wide approach and plans for developing the way that 
we work with children and families. This strategy 
supports our ambition to work with families early 
in the life of a problem and move away from over-
dependence on statutory and specialist services. 
This approach is morally, ethically, and financially the 
right thing to do and fits well with embedding the 
Blackpool Families Rock model of practice (Appendix 
4), and restorative approaches to the way we work 
with our children and families. Fundamentally Early 
Help should be seen as everyone’s business and 
be part of all that we do. We have a wide range 
of services and provision in Blackpool and there 
is a strong ambition to support children and their 
families to aspire and achieve by providing the right 
help, at the right time in the right place, by the right 
people.

Blackpool’s Adolescent Service and Early Help Hub 
are developing a shared resource directory containing 
evidence-based practice that can be used across 
Children’s Services when supporting those who are 
becoming involved in negative behaviours. This will 
further strengthen Blackpool’s Early Help strategy by 
upskilling the wider workforce in early intervention 
techniques and promotes the Early Help strategy.

• Adolescent Service  
Our YJS sits within the wider Adolescent Service, 
led by one Head of Service. As a result, the 
children open to Youth Justice have direct access 
to designated family workers and practitioners who 
specialise in supporting the following: Access to 
Education, Training and Employment, Awareness of 
Substance Misuse and specific interventions, Sexual 
Health & Healthy Relationships, Restorative Justice 
Practice (see Resources and Services section for 
further details).

P
age 271



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-246

Voice of the Child  

We recognise that children and families are more 
likely to feel motivated to engage with support when 
they feel understood, valued, and heard. Capturing 
the voice of the child and using this to inform 
individual plans and the continued development of 
our service is a fundamental part of our function and 
‘Blackpool Families Rock (See Appendix 4).

• Self-assessments 
To ensure that children working with the YJS have a 
voice our practitioners utilise their skills to support 
children to explore the reasons that they have 
become involved in offending behaviour. Each child 
completes a ‘What do you think’ self-assessment 
as part of the AssetPlus. The self-assessments 
assist in capturing the child’s perspective of their 
circumstances, their strengths, and vulnerabilities in 
their own words. We also encourage parents, carers 
and family members to contribute where possible, 
which informs a holistic whole family approach 
to addressing risk, identifying unmet need, and 
providing support. 

Our practitioners undergo comprehensive training 
in motivational interviewing techniques, which 
they effectively integrate into their daily practice. 
However, we acknowledge that there is always room 
for improvement, and as part of our commitment 
to quality assurance, we will be incorporating dip 

sampling of self-assessments. This framework will focus 
specifically on how the voice of the child influences 
our practice.  By implementing further Quality 
Assurance, we aim to gather valuable insights into 
the effectiveness of our approach and identify areas 
where we can further enhance our engagement with 
the children we serve. We recognise the importance of 
listening to and valuing the perspectives of the children, 
ensuring their voices shape and inform our practice. 
Through this continuous evaluation process, we strive 
to create an environment that prioritises the active 
participation and influence of the children, leading to 
improved outcomes and a more responsive and child-
centred service.

• Record the voice of the child following every 
contact 
The YJS continue to use the ACORNS method (Aim, 
Content, Outcome, Risk, Next Steps & Safeguarding) 
for recording following every intervention and to 
promote consistency in recording; ensuring the 
child’s views, wishes and feelings are captured.

• Live Reflective Feedback 
We have a process that allows Team Managers to 
undertake end of order feedback ensuring that they 
hear directly from children and their families. This 
allows us to develop an understanding of the child’s 
journey within the YJS.

We are currently developing this to include feedback 
on the child’s experience as their involvement 
commences and at the halfway or review point in their 
Order. Information from this feedback will then be 
incorporated into monthly operational performance 
meetings and further inform our development of the 
service based on ‘lived experience’

• Reflective Supervision: 
In line with the whole of Blackpool Children’s Services 
Blackpool YJS undertakes regular reflective supervision 
on every child they support. Policy, guidance, 
templates, and prompt cards have been developed 
and training delivered that ensures consideration is 
given to the child’s voice, their daily lived experience 
and that interventions provided are meaningful.

• Peer Reflective Supervision: 
We continue to develop our peer led Learning Circles 
around key areas of practice. These forums serve to 
promote knowledge across the team so that there is 
a shared understanding and consistent high standard 
of practice within our service. We have used this 
forum to recognise and celebrate creative methods 
of engagement as well as share learning from audit 
findings and case reviews. The team are encouraged 
to share their experiences so that any challenges are 
acknowledged and shared with leaders and relevant 
partner agencies to strengthen collaboration. 

P
age 272



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 7

• Example: Not Just a Scrunchie

A) “I have been supporting a child who finds it 
difficult to speak with adults/professionals. She 
has completed her out of court disposal. For her 
last session, I have bought her a rainbow coloured 
scrunchie (from Claires costing £2.50) to support an 
exit plan. 

B) I am going to encourage her to wear it on ‘off days’ 
either in her hair or around her wrist to signal to 
her carers that she is not feeling herself or it is not a 
good day. 

C) It means that she does not need to talk, because her 
carers will already know what it means and she can 
decide with them in advance what action she would 
like them to take (i.e., keep a closer eye on her, go 
out for a drive, do some self-care).”

 Youth Justice Social Worker 

SUPPORTED BY

MY GREEN SPACES 
Personal reflections; by members of the Blackpool Boys and Girls Club

P
age 273



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-248

Governance, Leadership and Partnership 
Arrangements 

The YJS Executive Board ensures our Youth Justice 
Partnership is provided with clear and coordinated 
strategic governance to support with the delivery of high-
quality youth justice services with a focus on:

• Ensuring a Child First approach to Youth Justice 
provision in Blackpool

• Ensuring sure children and young people are safe
• Reducing the likelihood of reoffending
• Reducing the risk of harm that children and young 

people can cause to other people and themselves

The Board meets quarterly and comprises of senior 
representatives from the statutory partners across the 
Youth Justice partnership. The Board currently has an 
experienced independent chair, Linda Clegg, with a view 
to transition to the Director of Children’s Services. The 
Board has several responsibilities which include providing 
financial governance for the partnership, to oversee and 
drive delivery of the improvement plan, removing barriers 
where appropriate, to raise the standard of the service 
and improve outcomes for children and young people 
informed by quality assurance frameworks. The board is 
well established and provides the service with appropriate 
challenge and scrutiny.

This year the Board is keen to develop a multi-disciplinary 
Operational Board to replace the existing Youth Justice 
Team Shadow Board. It is envisaged that the Operational 

Board will mirror the Executive Board in terms of agency 
representation who sit at an appropriate operational 
level. The aims of the Operational Board will be:

• To provide the Executive Board with a comprehensive 
understanding of the service’s progress and 
challenges. This multiagency perspective will offer 
insights into broader issues, emerging themes, and 
ideas to strengthen the service. By incorporating this 
frontline perspective, the Executive Board can gain 
valuable information to address challenges effectively 
and support the service’s continuous improvement.

• To ensure engagement and use of the wider workforce’s 
experience and expertise.  By creating opportunities 
for the workforce to contribute their insights and 
ideas, the planning moving forward can be informed 
by their frontline experiences. This collaborative 
approach empowers the workforce, enhances their 
sense of ownership, and promotes a more effective and 
sustainable service delivery model.

• To further prioritise the voice of children. By involving 
young people who have direct experience with the 
service, their perspectives, ideas, and feedback can 
significantly contribute to shaping policies, procedures, 
and initiatives. This involvement ensures that the 
service remains child-centered and responsive to their 
needs, ultimately leading to better outcomes for the 
children and families we serve.

Board Development

Annually, members of the board, come together for 
a development day with the Youth Justice Team to 
review the business and improvement plan and to 
steer future developments within the service. This 
collaborative approach means that there is shared vision 
and understanding of the strengths and needs of the 
children and families we are supporting at every level. 

Please see appendix 2 for all information linked to 
Executive Board attendance  

Blackpool Children’s Safeguarding Assurance 
Partnership 

Blackpool is currently transitioning from a Pan-
Lancashire Children’s Safeguarding Assurance 
Partnership (CSAP) arrangement to Blackpool CSAP. 
The Blackpool CSAP will oversee the strategic delivery 
of Blackpool's safeguarding priorities which include 
Early Help, Contextual Safeguarding, Domestic 
Abuse, Request for Support and Neglect. Our new 
governance arrangements will also bring together Adult 
Safeguarding and the Community Safety Partnership 
ensuring a holistic approach to improving outcomes 
and safeguarding children, vulnerable adults, and local 
communities across our town. The 3 boards and the 
Children, Young People and Families Partnership Board 
will be supported via a new Blackpool Joint Partnership 
Board.

P
age 274



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 9

Resources and Services 

The Youth Justice Service sits within the wider 
Adolescent Service, a multidisciplinary service 
supporting vulnerable children and young people under 
age 25, led by our Head of Adolescent Service who 
reports to the Assistance Director of Children’s Services. 
In addition to our YJS, the service also includes:

• Our Drug, Alcohol & Sexual Health Team which 
provides psychosocial, non-clinical support, for 
young people at risk of poor sexual health outcomes 
and young people misusing substances up to the 
age of 25 years old. The team facilitate access to 
clinical support including, prescribing, community 
and residential detox and rehabilitation. The team 
also provides a single point of contact for Awaken, 
Supporting Our Children and Youth Justice.

• Our Leaving Care Team which provides corporate 
parenting support for our care experienced young 
people up to 25 years old, providing a statutory duty 
to enable ‘Our Children and Young People’ to achieve 
their potential and to prepare for independence.

• Our Family Worker Team provides holistic support for 
children aged 16 & 17 who are homeless following 
a joint assessment of need via Children’s Services 
and Housing.   The team also provides destination 
tracking for young people, as part of a statutory duty, 
to promote the effective participation in Education, 
Training or Employment. 

• Our Youth Advisers Team made up of young people 
who work alongside professionals to develop 
Employment and Skills support and influence systems 
change.    

P
age 275



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2410

Progress on Previous Plan

Our progress on the previous plan 2022/23 includes:

• Blackpool Youth Offending Team re-branded 
to Blackpool Youth Justice Service, logo and 
documentation updated to ensure young people 
have a clear understanding of what to expect from 
the Service.

• Youth Justice Practitioners have undertaken 
Adolescent Trauma Training, delivered by Research 
in Practice (RIP), and all team members have been 
provided with access to Research in Practice (RIP) 
library of interventions and have incorporated into 
their practice.

• Cycle of audits and reflection including peer 
audits complete to support the evaluation of the 
effectiveness of interventions to ensure they are 
meeting children’s need.

• Youth Justice Education, Training and Employment 
(ETE) Practitioner has created and launched a 
preparation for ETE resources increasing the tools 
practitioners have access to. Further developing our 
children’s Personal and Social needs.

• Learning Circles delivered to support team 
development re plans to keep other people safe 
and contingency planning if issues in the child’s life 
increase the likelihood of harmful behaviour.

• Pan-Lancashire Contextual Safeguarding Strategy 
2022-2024 launched.

• Prevention offer increased through the Youth 
ASB partnership to divert children away from the 
Criminal Justice System.

• Further Appropriate Adult training and development 
to grow and support are pool of advocates.

• ‘My target’ plans embedded and focus on the impact 
on the young person. There is evidence of good 
practice in planning and the practitioners knowing 
the young people well. Effective plans continue to be 
a focus and reviewed through supervision. 

• Turnaround Project launched and holistic whole 
family Early Help Support implemented.

• All operational staff have completed training in the 
use of the Enhancing Communication Tool (ECT). 
This assessment is now routinely completed with 
all children we have contact with.  On completion 
of this assessment all practitioners have access 
to a consultation with a speech and language 
therapist who sense checks the assessment and 
offers practical support, hints and tips on working 
effectively with children and young people based on 
their assessed communication needs.

P
age 276



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 11

Performance 

The Youth Justice Board (YJB) has, until recently, used four Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) to understand the performance of the Youth Justice Service:

• First time entrants to the youth justice system
• Binary reoffending rate
• Frequency of reoffending
• Use of custody

Detailed information about the performance of the YJS in Blackpool in contained 
within Appendix 7.  

Headlines include:

The performance of a YJS is complex. It is impacted by socio-economic and other 
contextual factors, and by the activity of a wide range of partner agencies including 
children’s social care, education, the police, the wider criminal justice system (courts 
etc) and a host of other organisations working around support, prevention, and 
diversion. In recognition of this, and that youth justice services are working with 
increasingly complex caseloads, the Ministry of Justice introduced a series of new KPIs 
with effect from 1st April 2023. 

In addition to the left statistics, future reporting will include areas such as education 
and employment, special educational needs, mental health, substance misuse, out-of-
court disposals, serious violence and victim information. 

Blackpool have 
seen an increase 

in First Time Entrants 
(FTEs) in 2022. Per 100,000 
10–17-year-old population 
Blackpool is nearly double 

that of the England 
average. 

Blackpool has seen an 
increase on 94% in proven 
offences and 40% proven 

offender on previous year but 
less than 2020/21.  Offence 
types remain broadly in line 

with national patterns in 
terms of proportion.

Blackpool has also 
seen an increase in the 
use of custody in 2022. 

Per 1,000 10–17-year-old 
population Blackpool is 
nearly triple that of the 

England average.

Blackpool has 
seen the lowest 

proportion of children who 
reoffend (2020/21) cohort in 

recent history. In addition, the rate 
of offences per offender and re-

offenses per reoffender are slightly 
lower than previous year 
and broadly in line with 

England average.

P
age 277



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2412

Priorities

Restorative approaches and victims

We have recently refreshed and launched our policies 
and procedures linked to restorative approaches and 
victims. This has given a clear focus to this area of 
work to ensure that children and their families are able 
to engage appropriately with restorative approaches 
at the same time as ensuring that victims of youth 
crime receive a good service. Restorative approaches 
are considered at every available opportunity and 
are embedded in our practice. It also forms part of 
our early interventions with children. Where there 
are concerns linked to risk of harm our approach to 
restorative work is included in assessments and risk 
management approaches to ensure victim safety. These 
approaches are reviewed throughout the life of our 
involvement and are commensurate to the child’s levels 
of consequential thinking skills. 

The YJS workforce has undertaken Trauma Informed 
practice training to ensure that they adopt this 
approach to assessment, considering the child’s own 
lived experience where they may have been a victim 
themselves.

At this time there is no data available linked to victims, 
however, the Youth Justice Service has recently 
refreshed and launched our policies and procedures 
linked to restorative approaches and victims.. 

There is a clear audit schedule in place which is linked 
to Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). All information 
linked to victims is recorded in the relevant COREPLUS 
module and the pending upgrade will inform our 
recording practice moving forward.

Turnaround 

Blackpool YJS will provide early intervention support 
to 42 children in 2023/2024 who are not open on our 
statutory caseload.  Through consultation with our 
policing colleagues, we have collectively agreed to focus 
our initial efforts on the following eligibility criteria 
which may be extended as the programme evolves: 

• Those who have come to notice of agencies with 
enforcement powers for repeated involvement in 
anti-social behaviour (ASB); 

• Those involved in anti-social behaviour who have 
received: Community Protection Warning/Notice 
(CPW/N);  

• Acceptable Behaviour Contract (ABC);  
• Those who have come to notice of agencies with 

enforcement powers for repeated involvement in 
anti-social behaviour (ASB) 

• Those who are subject to No Further Action (NFA) 
decision;  

• Those who are subject to a Community Resolution 

We are currently supporting 10 children and their 
families to address the underlying issues and building 
on the family’s strengths to support a life away from 
statutory services with a view to support 40+ in 
2023/24.

“I lead on Alternative Provisions at St Georges. I wanted 
to acknowledge the excellent effort and support we 
have received from (Turnaround Early Help Practitioner) 
regarding some of our students. Kevin has been 
instrumental in helping two of our students improve 
their school attendance significantly in a short time. 
He has also provided invaluable assistance to a student 
who was at risk of becoming homeless due to family 
issues. (Turnaround Early Help Practitioner) provided 
support to the young person and helped the school 
with referrals for higher social care involvement, 
resulting in a positive outcome that we have been 
fighting for. Although the (Turnaround) project is a 
new initiative, it has already proven to be successful 
for our students. I am excited about the opportunity 
to continue working with (Turnaround Early Help 
Practitioner) and your service in the future.”

Feedback from Education about our 
Turnaround Early Help Practitioner

P
age 278



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 13

Children from groups that are over represented 

Blackpool, as a town is not culturally diverse and as 
a result, we do not have an over-representation of 
black and ethnic minority groups within our YJS. Our 
children are similar in gender to the national cohort 
and generally reflective of local ethnicity demographics 
(89% White British).

Although reducing we are aware that there are too 
many children being supported by the Youth Justice 
Service who are in our care (Our Children).  Children’s 
Services has co-produced its own model of practice 
Blackpool Families Rock. We are strengthening our Early 
Help and Support offer across the town to intervene 
early and reduce the number of children coming into 
our care where they are at an increased risk of contact 
with the Police and Youth Justice Service. 

Education

We know from research and experience that Education 
is one of the largest protective factors in supporting 
desistance from offending behaviour. Working with 
multiple education providers and academy chains 
poses a challenge in meeting the individual educational 
needs of children supported by the YJS.  Blackpool’s 
ten-year education plan outlines the clear vision of 
how Blackpool will improve educational outcomes 
for children underpins everything we are striving to 
achieve for the residents and the town of Blackpool. 
The Educational Vision highlights the need to focus on 
improving outcomes at all ages and phases, so that 
children thrive and achieve their potential in adulthood.  
Through this strategy the educational outcomes for 

children supported by the YJS will be improved. 

The YJS has a dedicated Education, Training and 
Employment practitioner who acts as a conduit 
between educational establishments and the Youth 
Justice Service to promote access to a child’s full 
educational entitlement. They also broker provision 
and advocate for the individual needs of children to 
ensure that they can access a provision that meet’s 
their educational need. The practitioner has developed 
some bespoke resources linked to the development of 
key life skills to support YJS Practitioners direct work 
with children.

Blackpool Adolescent Service is a key driver of 
Blackpool’s Employment and Skills strategy and aims 
primarily to reduce the levels of young people not 
in education, employment, or training (NEET) aged 
16 - 24 in Blackpool. Our vision is that all children and 
young people in Blackpool have the knowledge, skills, 
confidence, and networks that enable them to secure 
and sustain employment, training, or further education 
when they finish school. Our aim is to reduce NEET 
levels by providing the right interventions for young 
people, to prevent young people from becoming NEET 
by improving careers advice and guidance across 
all educational settings and sustain young people 
education and employment while  
developing a sustainable town wide approach.

See Appendix 7 for data linked to the Education, 
Training and Employment of children open to the Youth 
Justice Service.

Serious violence 

In 2021/22 Blackpool had the highest volume of serious 
violence in Lancashire, with a rate of 62.4 violent 
offences per 1,000 population compared to 29.5 
nationally, and 34.5 regionally (2020/21) District Needs 
Assessment January 2023.  

Headlines – Violent Offences Cohort 2022/2023:

 

63 
Proven 

offences of 
violence

86%  
are White 

British

9 
offenders 

with multiple 
proven violent 

offences

14% 
are known 
to be care 

experienced

23 
offenders with 

multiple offences 
including violent 

offences

Average age 
= 15.2 (slightly 

lower than overall 
offending cohort)

26%  
are previously 
known to have 

had CP plans (no 
current)

40%  
are known to 

have been, or are 
currently, Children 

in Need

A higher 
proportion of 

female offenders than 
overall cohort, by still 
predominantly male 

(79% male, 21% 
female)

42 
offenders

P
age 279



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2414

We continue to support the work of the Violence 
Reduction Network locally to ensure that the YJS is 
exercising their responsibility as outlined in the Serious 
Violence Duty and are a key partner in ensuring the 
delivery of the Serious Violence Duty 2023 needs 
assessment and strategy ready for the January 2024 
deadline.

Youth Justice Managers are a key member of the 
Daily Exploitation Meeting (DEM). A multi-agency 
forum chaired by AWAKEN (contextual safeguarding 
team) that seeks to ensure that those children 
who are missing from home, at risk of, or being 
exploited criminally and/or sexually, and any adults 
of concern are discussed with clear actions and lines 
of accountability.  This meeting allows for intelligence 
sharing and disruption planning allowing for a clear 
multi-agency response to safeguarding children.  
Evening and weekend outreach also serves to ensure 
that there are interactions with children who are at risk 
of or being exploited to build positive relationships, 
integrate them into community activities and disrupt 
adults of concern.  Interactions are fed into the DEM 
to support the formation of robust actions related to 
exploitation.

Youth Justice Leaders represent the service at 
Blackpool’s ‘Awaken Scrutiny Panel’ for any child known 
to the YJS where there are contextual safeguarding 
concerns.  The panel consists of a multi-agency panel 
of senior managers, chaired by the Head of Service for 
Awaken/Assessment and Support, it meets monthly to 
examine high risk and high-profile children and young 
people. This provides opportunity at a senior level to 
discuss key facets and enables multi agency partners 

to come together to enhance the support for the child 
with senior managers, who have decision making 
capacity, are present. Multi-agency partnership work 
at both operational and strategic levels enables the 
best interests and outcomes for our children, whilst 
also providing a forum for challenge.  The independent 
child Trafficking Guardian Service is also represented 
at this panel to ensure that a referral to the National 
Referral Mechanism (NRM) is always considered, where 
appropriate and ongoing support is in place.

Detention in police custody

To support children who are detained by the Police, 
Blackpool YJS has bought their appropriate Adult 
Service in house. Trained members of the service are 
responsible for covering this duty during core working 
hours and a team of trained sessional staff carry out 
these duties outside of core hours. This means that 
Blackpool children receive a consistent, high level 
of support during the time that they are detained; 
ensuring that any key issues are addressed, families 
are signposted to support services and their rights are 
advocated for. For example, staff now have access to 
feminine hygiene products to appropriately meet the 
need of females who have been detained. 

Our local PACE (Police and Criminal Evidence) 
procedures have been refreshed and shared with the 
Emergency Duty Team (EDT) ensuring that children 
who are detained are treated in accordance with 
the Police and Criminal Evidence Act (1984). One of 
the YJS Practitioners have supported in developing 
their understanding of the child’s rights and police 
responsibilities by delivering at a Team Meeting for EDT.  

Remands

The joint protocol between the YJS and Children’s 
Service has recently been refreshed; this document 
has been produced to outline the joint responsibilities 
for both Children’s Services and the YJS in relation to 
children, young people, and their families ensuring 
that any children who are remanded to the care of the 
local authority receive a high level of support. It reflects 
the introduction of the Legal Aid, Sentencing and 
Punishment of Offender (LASPO) Act 2012, specifically 
in relation to young people on remand and details the 
responsibilities of the two organisations at various 
stages. This means that all children receive the same 
high level of service and ensures that their individual 
needs are met during any period of remand to the Local 
Authority.

P
age 280



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 15

Use of custody

Blackpool Youth Justice Service are skilled in advocating 
for children in Court and presenting detailed pre-
sentence reports to outline to support sentencers 
in understanding the most complex and vulnerable 
children to prevent the use of custody. Staff are 
committed to the children and families that they work 
with, and individual practitioners will attend Court to 
present their report and support children. 

We know that custody should always be a last resort 
for children, however, there may be times where a 
Court does not assess that a community sentence is 
commensurate with the seriousness of their offending 
behaviour. Where a child has been sentenced to a 
period of detention, they are discussed at a multi-
agency Custody Panel. This is a learning panel that 
seeks to reflect on the Court’s decision and what could 
have been done differently to support an alternative 
to custody. Learning from this panel is feedback to the 
practitioner to support their individual learning and 
development, but also to develop the wider service in. 

In Blackpool we have seen a rise in the use of custodial 
sentences, over the period following the pandemic (See 
appendix 7). Our Custody Panel review all children and 
findings shared.

Constructive Resettlement

Children who are sentenced to a period of detention 
are the most complex and vulnerable children in 
society. Therefore, we need to ensure that planning for 
their release and resettlement is robust and considers 
a range of factors, building on a child’s strengths. 
In Blackpool we work to the mantra of ‘Begin with 
the end in mind’.  This means that from the point of 
entering any period of detention we are planning for 
their release, utilising a range of resources and services 
to do this, including release on temporary licence 
(ROTL), enhanced family support, accommodation and 
education, training, and employment opportunities. 
Practitioners continue to work with children in 
custody and build positive relationships to support the 
transition to the community and beyond. This approach 
to resettlement means that the child can re-enter 
the community they may have harmed, safely and 
allow them to develop a pro-social identity away from 
offending behaviour.  Some of the ways that we do this 
include the following:

• Offering sessional worker support to ensure regular 
contact with the family

• Ensuring frequent visits by the YJS Practitioner in 
between sentence planning meetings to build and 
maintain relationships

• Ensuring parents attend sentence planning meetings 
to have their input

• Strong advocating of intervention whilst children are 
in Youth Detention Accommodation to address their 
offending behaviours

• Education, Training and Employment Officer attends 
all meetings and works with the YJS Practitioner to 
ensure appropriate provision on release

• Planning for suitable accommodation upon release

• Joint working with Leaving Care and Probation. 

P
age 281



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2416

Workforce Development

Ensuring a highly skilled and knowledgeable workforce 
is key in ensuring that practitioners can assess and 
deliver interventions to prevent and reduce offending 
behaviour in children. There have been some key 
activities undertaken to upskill the workforce which 
includes monthly Core+ clinic that are led by audit 
outcomes, key performance indicators, change to data 
recording and legislative changes. These clinics are 
designed to ensure that there is consistent, high-quality 
information and data stored on the child’s record.

One of our Youth Justice Service Practitioner’s has 
undertaken the ‘Train the Trainer’ Training around 
Asset+ and they are responsible for periodically 
delivering Learning Circles to ensure that all staff are 
completing comprehensive, child focussed and address 
those factors supporting desistance from offending 
behaviour. 

Practitioners offer each other peer support on a regular 
basis and the Performance and Support meetings 
provide a forum for this. We are also developing the 
use of Problem-Solving Circles where practitioners 
can discuss complex children where the practitioner 
is experiencing difficulties where colleagues can offer 
child focussed holistic solutions and approaches. 

All staff receive regular ‘Personal Supervision’ where 
they are provided with a safe space where they can 
talk about their wellbeing in work and ensure that 
Team Managers are appropriately supporting them. 
Conversely the Service Manager also ensure that Team 
Managers wellbeing is appropriately supported which 
has included protected focus time. 

Over the past 12 months the team have been able 
to access a range of training and development 
opportunities. This has included:

• Team Managers access to the Leadership Academy

• Trauma Informed approaches and Motivational 
Interviewing

• Delivering Restorative Justice

• Members of the wider Adolescent Service have 
undertaken UNITAS Effective Practice Certification

• UNITAS Child First Training

We have completed a skills and needs analysis 
with Youth Justice Practitioners to understand their 
perception of the strengths and needs to support 
workforce development planning for 2023/2024.

P
age 282



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 17

Evidence-based practice and innovation

Blackpool's Youth Partnership:

Effective youth work plays a vital role in enhancing 
the life chances of young people. By providing safe 
spaces for exploration, encouraging decision-making, 
boosting confidence, fostering interpersonal skills, and 
promoting critical thinking, youth work enables young 
individuals to make informed choices, positively change 
their activities, and experience improved outcomes. 
Quality youth services are essential for supporting 
young people's overall life outcomes and contribute to 
a broader ecosystem of services aimed at developing 
their capabilities.

To ensure that youth provision meets the needs of 
children and young people Blackpool in collaboration 
with the National Youth Association (NYA) conducted 
a comprehensive review. This review incorporated 
various research methods, including desktop research, 
stakeholder engagement, and analysis of effective 
practices in the field. Its purpose was to inform future 
youth provision and identify areas for improvement. 
As a result, the review recommends a coordinated 
approach to enhance the town's youth offer.

To implement these recommendations and improve 
the quality and consistency of youth provision across 
Blackpool a Youth Partnership has been developed.  
This collaborative effort involves Local Authority leads 

and third-sector youth partners coming together to 
work towards a common goal. The aim is to develop, 
promote, and co-produce youth provision that aligns 
with the objectives outlined in the recent youth 
review. Collaboration and partnership working will be 
emphasized to broaden the range and increase the 
reach of youth services across Blackpool.

By adopting a coordinated approach and involving 
young people in decision-making processes, the 
Blackpool Youth Partnership aims to enhance the 
overall youth provision in Blackpool. This collaborative 
effort between the Local Authority and third-sector 
partners is expected to bring about positive changes 
and ensure a more comprehensive and effective 
support system for children.

The youth provision partnership, supported by the 
Youth Justice Service has collaborated on a bid from the 
Youth Endowment Fund which will provide two years 
additional funding to work with children to provide 
positive activities in local communities to address 
externalising behaviours. 

This will include a focus on:

• Building and maintaining relationships
• Promoting community connectedness
• Opportunities for Education, Training and 

Employment
• Positive and pro-social identities 
• Managing and regulating emotions

P
age 283



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2418

Challenges, Risks and Issues

Budget pressures and funding uncertainties for 
Blackpool YJS is a challenge and a risk for the 
2023/2024 and beyond. Within the last 12 months 
we have faced the challenges of ongoing efficiency 
agenda at national and local levels and find ourselves 
in a cost-of-living crisis. This impact on Blackpool will 
be particularly felt given that it is one of the most 
deprived towns in England. This has already resulted 
in a significant reduction in our core budget due to no 
longer receiving police contributions in 2021/22. 

We recognise that our partners will have similar 
pressures, impacting on resource and joint delivery  

Blackpool Children’s Social Care, Lancashire 
Constabulary and other key partners have pledged 
their commitment to demonstrate trauma informed 
practice within their organisations. Whilst this vision 
is clear amongst strategic leaders, it is recognised that 
competing service requirements and ideologies impact 
on operational staff’s ability to consistently meet this 
aspirational commitment. 

Child Exploitation is becoming more apparent in our 
local communities and is having a noticeable impact 
on our ability to deliver positive outcomes for some 
of our most vulnerable children. We recognise that a 
percentage of children who are assessed as high risk 
are also known to Awaken (contextual safeguarding 
team) as victims of exploitation and are often groomed 
into a life of criminality that is difficult to escape. Close 
collaboration with our internal and external partners is 
crucial to ensure our children’s safety and strengthen 
community resilience.

Education, Training and Employment opportunities is 
a key priority for the partnership. Challenges include 
children aged 16+ who are not equipped with the 
necessary skills required to access opportunities 
available and high numbers of children not accessing 
their full educational entitlement. In addition to limited 
alternative provisions that provide a variety of creative 
workshops/ lessons to develop new and existing 
skillsets. 

P
age 284



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 19

Service development plan

To enable the Youth Justice Partnership to drive 
improved outcomes for children at risk of offending 
and re-offending, a range of strategic and operational 
priorities that reflect national drivers, local need, 
national standards self-assessment and HMIP 
inspection findings have been incorporated into one 
action plan (appendix 6). Progress on the plan is 
reviewed at every Executive Board meeting to challenge 
performance and assist with the continued shaping 
of delivery of the Blackpool Youth Justice Service. The 
development of an Operational Board will support the 
delivery of the strategic plan by driving forward key 
activity at an operational level. The plan focuses on our 
current priorities:

Our Priorities

Priority One: Our Youth Justice Partnership will 
continue to strive to ensure that the Executive Board is 
efficient and effective, securing positive outcomes for 
children and families

Priority Two: Our Youth Justice Partnership will 
increase prevention and diversion ensuring children 
receive support at the earliest opportunity to reduce 
the number of First Time Entrants in Blackpool.

Priority Three: Our Youth Justice Partnership will 
ensure our Youth Justice workforce have access to 
appropriate development opportunities and resources 
to reduce the risk of re-offending.

Priority Four: Our Youth Justice Partnership will ensure 
the educational needs of children open to the service 
are understood and appropriate action taken to ensure 
that they have access to high quality education and 
training services that met their individual needs.

Priority Five: Our Youth Justice Partnership will seek to 
reduce the number of children in custody.

Sign off, Submission and Approval

Director of Children’s Services – Vicky Gent

26/06/2023

Linda Clegg
Interim Chair of the Youth Justice Service  
Executive Board – Linda Clegg

26/06/2023

P
age 285



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2420

Appendix 1 
Staffing structure for the  
Youth Justice Service

P
age 286



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 21

Adolescent Service Structure Chart
Sara McCartan,
Head of Service

Emma Gordon,
Team Manager

Samantha Goldsworthy,
Service Manager

Kerry Fisher,
YJ Team Manager

Wendy Westrop,
YJ Team Manager

Mark McElroy,
Team Manager

Lisa Bradley,
Project & Policy Officer

Julie Parkinson,
Deputy Team 

Manager

YJ Officers

Emma McCabe
Kayleigh McCabe

Emma Jones
Ali Topping

 
YJ Education, 

Training &                                   
Employment 

Officer
Fiona Downey

YJ worker
Diane Morley

Katie Jenkins,
Deputy Team 

Manager

Adolescent Service Structure Chart

Personal 
Advisors 

Debbie Denson
Hannah Walsh

Theresa Knighton

Family 
Practitioners
Claire Jones 

Donna Beddows 
Hana Green 

Liane Wooding
Leanne Easter

Seconded Staff

Richard James
YJ Police Officer
 (Line Manager 

within the Police 
Emma McClaren)

YJ Restorative 
Justice Worker
Veronica Flete

Turnaround Early 
Help Practitioner

Kevin Egan

YJ Worker
Kirsty Spencer-

Davis

YJ Officers
Charlene Moran

Laura King
Neil O’Donnell

Hayley Garforth

Seconded Staff

Kerry McCaulley  
- YJ Probation 

Officer
(Line Manager 

within Probation
Alison Rea)

Casual Workers

Mark Bowley    
Martin Atkinson
Leanne Easter
Debbie Grundy

Jemma Scott

Appropriate 
Adults

David Crawforth,
Deputy Team 

Manager

Personal 
Advisors

Jayne Ratcliffe
Yunus Masters

Kim White
Cody Gorse

Andy McLean
Kelsy Cargill  

Sean Hall 

Personal 
Advisors

Emily Humble
Brendan Bunting

Danny Smart 
Andrina 

Vandenberg
Ian Carr

Patrick O’Donnell
Connie Chipunza-

Harrison
Laura Armstrong 

Family Workers

Dawn Kuzan
Bobbie Gritt
James Booth 

Donna Hartley

Family 
Practitioners

Mel Foster
Wayne Anderson
Geraldine Ellison

Bev Fraser

Specialist Health Practitioner Support, Speech & Language Therapist Consultation and Psychology Service Consultation  (Contextual 
Safeguarding Team)

YJ Information Officer Nicola Wilson 
(Line Manager Sara Coombs,Systems & Intelligence Manager)

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

Co-located Mental Health Practitioner Stephanie Webster

Co-located Employment Officer Linda Aiken
(Line Managed via Positive Steps)

Youth Advisers

Abigail Davies
Andrew Speight

Jay Logan 
Will Hamilton

Katie Reeds,
Deputy Team 

Manager

YJ Referral Order Panel 
Volunteers

Lauren Garden 
Lorna Wingfield

Administration Assistants Judy-Anne Runciman, Kim Peake, Rhys Davies 

P
age 287



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2422

Additional Staffing Information

Blackpool Youth Justice Service consists of: 

Number Role Ethnicity
2 Team Manager

White British

5 YJS Officers (Social Worker)

3 YJS Officers (Equivalent qualification)

1 Early Help Turnaround Practitioner (seconded)

1 Education, Training and Employment Officer

1 Restorative Justice and Victim Worker

1 Specialist Health Practitioner Support from the Contextual Safeguarding Team 

1 Seconded Probation Officer (PT)

1 Seconded Police Officer

12 Appropriate Adults

2 Referral Order Panel Members

4 Sessional Workers

25% 
Have a 

disability

P
age 288



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 23

Appendix 2 
Youth Justice Executive Board 
Membership and Attendance

P
age 289



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2424

 3 Attended  A - Apologise

Name Role 
              

  May 2022 July 2022 October 2022 January 2023 April 2023

Independent Independent Chair  3   3   3   3   3  

Blackpool Council Chief Executive for Blackpool Council A  A  3   3  

Blackpool Council Director of Children’s Services  3   3   3   3   3  

Blackpool Council Assistant Director of Children’s Services Not in post  3   3   3   3  

Blackpool Council Assistant Director of Children’s Services (Education) A A  3  
  

Blackpool Council Cabinet Member for Inclusion, Youth, Schools, and Transience A A A  3   3  

Youth Justice Board Head of Region, Northwest Youth Justice Board for England, and Wales A    3   3  

Blackpool Council Head of Adolescent Services  3   3   3   3   3  

Blackpool Council Adolescent Service Manager – Youth Justice A  3   3  Gap in post  3  

Blackpool Teaching 
Hospital

Head of Safeguarding, Blackpool Teaching Hospitals, NHS Foundation Trust A A A  3   3  

 Associate Director SEND, NHS Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated 
Care Board

 3   3   3   3   3  

Lancashire Constabulary Head of Criminal Justice, Lancashire Constabulary  3  
A

 3   3  

Blackpool Council Head of Corporate Delivery, Performance and Commissioning A    3   3  

Blackpool Council Head of Children’s Services  Deputy 
Attended

 3    3  

Blackpool Council Performance, Systems, and Intelligence Manager  3   3   3  Vacant Post  

National Probation 
Service

Head of Northwest Lancashire, NPS  3   3  
A

 3   3  

HM Courts and Tribunal 
Service

Chair Youth Court Magistrates (Lancashire) A  3  A   

P
age 290



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 25

Name Role 
              

  May 2022 July 2022 October 2022 January 2023 April 2023

HM Prison Service Head of Re-settlement HMYOI Weatherby
A  

 3   3   3  

HM Courts and Tribunal 
Service

District Crown Prosecutor
A  

Lancashire Constabulary Director Lancashire Violence Reduction Network A   3   3   3  

Police and Crime 
Commissioner

Policy and Partnership Support Officer
A A A   

National Probation 
Service

National Probation Service    3   3  

Lancashire Constabulary Superintendent, Operations Manager    3   3    

Lancashire Constabulary Chief Inspector  3  

HM Courts and Tribunal 
Service

Legal Team Manager, Preston Magistrates Court
A

 3  
  

Blackpool Council Shadow Board Representatives  3   3   3   3   3  

Blackpool Council Delivery Development Officer  3    A

University of central 
Lancashire

Researcher
 

 3   
  

University of central 
Lancashire

Researcher  3    A  

Blackpool Council Democratic Governance Senior Adviser  3   

Blackpool Council Democratic Governance Advisor  3   
 

Blackpool Council Democratic Governance Advisor
 

 3   

P
age 291



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2426

Appendix 3 
Budget Costs and Contributions 
2022/23

Agency Staffing Costs Other Delegated Funds Total

Police 58,336 0 58,336

Probation 24,608 5,000 29,608

Health 39,974 15,442 55,416

Local Authority 345,016 103,807 448,823

YJB 435,178 54,251 489,429

Other - - 0

Total 903,112  178,500  1,081,612 

P
age 292



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 27

Appendix 4 
Blackpool Families Rock –  
Model of Practice

In 2019, we worked with Blackpool families to co-produce our practice guidance 
principles that the group believed social workers should work to. These 
practice principles/behaviours shared a vision that families have the potential 
to be active agents of change, with social workers positively supporting them 
in effecting this change. The group used Social Pedagogy concepts – Head 
(knowledge), Heart (feelings) and Hand (physical doing) in which to place their 
co-created practice principles. The Head, Heart and Hand are inseparable, and 
by using them synergistically within practice, social workers are better able to 
support the well-being, learning, growth or change for families. Social Pedagogy 
requires social workers to engage in relationship centred practices with the 
families they support, which then enhances their well-being, resourcefulness, 
and inclusion in society. The group wanted to build on the belief that “we are 
all human; we all make mistakes”, which is as relevant to a family as it is to the 
professional social worker, and if we keep this in our hearts, it helps us to better 
understand and accept the other person. The group believed that by holding 
these principles within their practice, social workers and families would best 
work towards change through strength-based ideologies and promoting each 
individual’s potential.

Our Co-produced “Blackpool Families Rock” Values        

P
age 293



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2428

Appendix 5 
Child First Approach in Blackpool – 
Promoting Community Connectedness 
and self-identity

P
age 294



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 29

A trip to the Knife Angel to raise awareness around 
the risk of carrying a knife

Restorative Justice with the Fire Service to 
understand the important role that fire fighters have

End of Order Certificate 
Celebrating the achievements of young people

P
age 295



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2430

Appendix 6 
Action Plan

P
age 296



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 31

Central to our Business and Improvement plan is our Child First approach which is underpinned by the Youth Justice Boards (YJB) 
Child First Principles and the plan seeks to ensure these principles act a golden thread woven throughout:

 Prioritise the best interests of 
children and recognising their 
particular needs, capacities, rights 
and potential. All work is child-
focused, developmentally informed, 
acknowledges structural barriers 
and meets responsibilities towards 
children.

 Promote children’s individual 
strengths and capacities to 
develop their pro-social identity 
for sustainable desistance, leading 
to safer communities and fewer 
victims. All work is constructive and 
future-focused, built on supportive 
relationships that empower children 
to fulfil their potential and make 
positive contributions to society.

 Encourage children’s active 
participation, engagement and 
wider social inclusion. All work is 
a meaningful collaboration with 
children and their carers.

 Promote a childhood removed 
from the justice system, using 
pre-emptive prevention, diversion 
and minimal intervention. All work 
minimises criminogenic stigma from 
contact with the system.

1 2 3 4

P
age 297



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2432

Priority One: Our Youth Justice Partnership will continue to strive to ensure that the Executive Board is efficient and 
effective, securing positive outcomes for children and families

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for children 
and families

Accountable Person(s) Milestones Notes

Executive and Operational 
Boards informed by an 
analysis of partnership 
wide youth justice data.

Practice across the 
partnership improved via 
the support and challenge 
of the partnership.

Outcomes for children 
monitored by the board, 
support and challenge 
given to improve and 
maintain.

Chair of the Boards with 
support from Head of 
Adolescent Service.

New KPI set scrutinised 
quarterly from Sept 2023 
onwards.

Data Analysis 
commissioned June 2023.

Linking of analysis across 
the partnership and 
partnership data pooled 
Summer 2023.

Executive Board Terms 
of Reference (ToR) to be 
refreshed, ensure strategic 
representation and gain 
commitment to Child First 
principles with strategic 
leads.

The ToR provided clarity 
on the direction of the 
board, strengthening 
collaboration and a 
proactive response to 
emerging need.  

The exec board can 
influence change that 
ensures Children and 
Families receive a 
consistently high standard 
of support during times of 
need.

Chair of the Board with 
support from Democratic 
Services.

All partners to have sight 
of and agree with the 
content of the ToR with a 
scheduled implementation 
plan of 04/09/2023

Quarterly monitoring 
via new KPI evidence 
appropriate representation 
from all key strategic leads.

Evidence of Child First 
principles being embedded 
into services.

P
age 298



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 33

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for children 
and families

Accountable Person(s) Milestones Notes

Multi-disciplinary 
Operational Board to be 
established.

The operational board 
provides valued feedback 
on the experiences of the 
workforce and emerging 
needs within Blackpool 
which informs the Exec 
Board and assists with 
influencing positive 
change.  

The challenges/ barriers 
and emerging needs of the 
Children and Families of 
Blackpool are accurately 
represented at the Exec 
Board.

Head of the Adolescent 
Service with support from 
Executive Board Members

Membership of the Board 
to be established.

Meeting scheduled for the 
year and first meeting held 
by 30/09/2023.

Terms of Reference will be 
in place.

Routine feedback to and 
from the Executive Board 
starting November 2023.

P
age 299



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2434

Priority Two: Our Youth Justice Partnership will increase prevention and diversion ensuring children receive 
support at the earliest opportunity to reduce the number of First Time Entrants in Blackpool.

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for 
children and 
families

Accountable 
Person(s)

Milestones Notes

Turnaround Programme to be 
embedded within Youth Justice 
and across the partnership.

Prevention and 
Diversion is 
strengthened in 
Blackpool Youth 
Justice service – 
practitioners are 
confident in assessing 
the holistic needs 
of the family and 
identifying a multi-
agency response, thus 
reducing behaviours 
linked to offending.

Families receive 
the ‘right service, 
at the right 
time’ - their 
holistic needs 
are considered, 
and support 
implemented 
to reduce the 
likelihood of crisis 
situations

Adolescent 
Service Manager 
with support 
from Lancashire 
Constabulary.

Deputy Manager 
and Youth Justice 
Practitioner 
appointed by 
31/07/23.

Turnaround 
prevention and 
diversion referral 
form and pathway 
to be launched by 
31/07/2023 (inc 
internal briefing).

Prevention 
and Diversion 
assessment tool 
to be incorporated 
into Early Help 
Assessment prompts 
to evidence youth 
justice element in 
practice.

P
age 300



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 35

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for 
children and 
families

Accountable 
Person(s)

Milestones Notes

Quarterly Monitoring 
returns to the MoJ, 
(Q1 by 28/07/2023) 
and Executive Board 
(04/09/2023)

Develop a shared 
resource directory 
of Evidence Based 
Practice between 
Youth Justice and 
Early Help & Support 
by 01/01/2024.

Implement and develop a Multi-
disciplinary Scrutiny Panel linked 
to understanding the high levels 
of First Time Entrant (FTE)

The partnership have 
a clear understanding 
of themes linked 
to the higher-than-
average number of 
children who are 
FTE in Blackpool and 
learning shared to 
develop practice.

Families receive 
the ‘right service, 
at the right 
time’ - their 
holistic needs 
are considered 
and support 
implemented 
to reduce the 
likelihood of crisis 
situations.

Adolescent 
Service Manager 
with support 
from Lancashire 
Constabulary, Early 
Help & Support, 
Childrens Social Care 
and Education. 

Quarterly scrutiny 
panels to be 
scheduled in line 
with Exec Board 
meeting 

Panel findings shared 
in a report with key 
learning, action 
planning and review 
dates.

P
age 301



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2436

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for 
children and 
Families

Accountable 
Person(s)

Milestones Notes

Youth Partnership to coordinate 
and lead on Blackpool's Youth 
Offer

Partnership 
collaboration and 
co-production 
with children and 
families is providing 
a proactive response 
to identified and 
emerging need within 
local communities 

Children have 
a sense of 
belonging in 
their local 
communities.

Children have 
access to range 
of extracurricular 
activities that 
promote pro 
social identities.

Head of the 
Adolescent Service 
& Assistant Director 
of Community & 
Environmental 
Services (Community 
& Wellbeing).

Grant applications 
submitted by 
or through the 
Youth Provision 
Partnership.

Youth Provision 
Partnership 
meeting regularly 
and connecting 
with partners from 
across Blackpool to 
proactive response 
to identified 
and emerging 
need within local 
communities.

Development of 
a ‘Youth Offer’ 
capturing the Youth 
Provision Partnership 
delivery of youth 
provision to young 
people.

P
age 302



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 37

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for 
children and 
Families

Accountable 
Person(s)

Milestones Notes

Development of 
a ‘Youth Offer’ 
capturing the Youth 
Provision Partnership

Promote Learning and practice 
development in line with the 
Prevention and Diversion 
research

Staff understand 
research linked to 
prevention and 
diversion and how this 
influences practice 
to achieve positive 
outcomes for children 
and families

Children and 
Families are in 
receipt of the 
right support, at 
the right time, 
from the most 
appropriate 
service.

Adolescent Service 
Manager with 
support from 
Early Help Service 
Manager.

Participate in UCLAN 
prevention and 
diversion services.

Early Help Spoc to 
be identified for the 
Adolescent Service 
– identifying and 
signposting to wider 
early provisions within 
the wider town.

Create shadowing 
opportunities for 
Youth Justice within 
Early Help.

Whole team access 
Turnaround MOJ 
webinars and 
learning events to 
share practice.

P
age 303



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2438

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for 
children and 
Families

Accountable 
Person(s)

Milestones Notes

Strengthen the core function 
of the Youth ASB Partnership 
to promote a collaborative 
response to ASB

Practitioners are 
effectively sharing 
Information in a 
timely manner. 
Agreed actions 
are proportionate 
and proactive in 
responding to 
emerging need.

Children and 
families receive 
a supportive yet 
proportionate 
response to 
issues of ASB 

The Local 
community 
have confidence 
in agencies 
responsible for 
supporting them

Adolescent Service 
Manager

ASB, Prevention & 
Problem-Solving 
Command unit

Youth Provider 
(relevant to local 
area)

Monthly Task and 
Finish group - agree 
a Multi-Agency 
response in hotspot 
areas.

Focus being 
on relational 
practice alongside 
enforcement.

Ensure that wider children’s 
services have a clear 
understanding of trauma 
informed practices linked to our 
children’s lived experience to 
support in the reduction of our 
children known to the Youth 
Justice Service

Identifying 
potential triggers 
and vulnerabilities 
will ensure that 
practitioners are 
able to respond 
appropriately to 
reduce offending 
behaviours

Developing a pro-
active response 
to emerging need 
across Supporting 
Our Children and 
the Youth Justice 
Service to reduce 
offending/re-
offending by our 
children

Multi-disciplinary 
representation

Thematic audit to 
focussing on First 
Time Entrants of Our 
Children

Audit findings to be 
shared across wider 
children’s services to 
inform and develop 
actions

P
age 304



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 39

Priority Three: Our Youth Justice Partnership will ensure our Youth Justice workforce have access to appropriate 
development opportunities and resources to reduce the risk of re-offending.

P
age 305



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2440

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for children 
and families

Accountable Person(s) Milestones Milestones

Continue to evaluate 
the effectiveness of 
interventions to ensure 
that they are meeting 
children’s needs and 
reduce re-offending (HMIP 
recommendation)

Practitioners deliver 
purposeful interventions 

Voice of the child is 
captured and used 
to influence service 
developments

Staff provide an efficient 
response to allocation 
ensuring the child is seen 
at the earliest opportunity.

Wrap around support 
is available to reduce 
vulnerabilities linked to re-
offending

Children can meet and 
build the foundations of a 
trusting relationship with 
their key worker.

Youth Justice Team 
Managers with support 
from Youth Justice 
Practitioners

YJS practitioners to review 
existing interventions to 
identify gaps in service

YJS workforce develop their 
understanding of evidence-
based intervention based 
on the Youth Endowment 
Fund (YEF)

Re-launch of Children’s 
Service’s Library with the YJS

Evaluation schedule to be 
implemented at the point 
of allocation, review and 
end of order to capture 
feedback

Relaunch the ‘Start of Order 
Procedures’ and embed into 
performance reviews. 

RJ worker to provide 
monthly update re RJ 
delivered and promote 
across the partnership.

P
age 306



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 41

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for children 
and families

Accountable Person(s) Milestones Milestones

Develop a step down and 
across process with Early 
Help to ensure continued 
whole family support at 
the point children’s Court 
Orders expire

Effective exit plans are in 
place to ensure continued 
multi agency support 
where needed.

Reduction in the number 
of children who re-offend

Wrap around support 
is available to reduce 
vulnerabilities linked to re-
offending

Trauma informed Practice 
is embedded in exit plans 
so that families only tell 
their story once.

Adolescent Service 
Manager with support 
from Early Help Service 
Manager.

Develop a shared 
understanding of Early Help 
and Continuum of Need.

YJS practitioners to attend 
Early Help Clinics where 
continued service support is 
required, strengthening exit 
plans for families.

YJS practitioners to support 
wider partnership to take 
on Early Help support as 
part of exit planning.

Develop our Restorative 
Justice (RJ) and Victim 
Work 

Restorative Justice and 
Victim work will have clear 
management oversight

Audit findings are used to 
develop practice

Increase in the number 
of victims who access the 
support.

Victims receive a quality 
service.

Children and victims have 
access to high quality and 
creative RJ.

Adolescent Service Team 
Managers with support 
from RJ and Victim 
Practitioner

Online platforms will be 
used to capture victim 
feedback.

Monthly victim audits 
undertaken that inform 
quality assurance 
framework.

Monitored via new KPIs.

P
age 307



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2442

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for children 
and families

Accountable Person(s) Milestones Milestones

Ensure that, in all children’s 
records, there is a plan to 
keep other people safe 
and contingency planning 
if issues in the child’s life 
increase the likelihood 
of harmful behaviour. 
Where risk to the child’s 
safety or wellbeing is 
identified, put in place 
clear contingency planning 
for circumstances where 
the risk may increase. 
Where risk to other people 
are identified, put in place 
clear contingency planning 
for circumstances where 
the risk may increase 
(HMIP recommendation)

Staff will have a clear 
vision as to how plans will 
support desistance

Reduction in re-offending 
rates

Youth Justice Team 
Managers with support 
from PDL

Risk of harm training 
to be commissioned to 
support assessment in 
the Explanations and 
Conclusions section of 
AssetPlus, including 
contingency planning

All YJS staff to undertaken 
annual refresh of the 
Safeguarding Children 
training as part of the 
wider Adolescent Service 
workforce development

All staff to have access 
and use the Youth Justice 
Interactive Learning 
platform

Themed audit - Assessment 
and planning linked to risk 
of harm and safety and 
wellbeing to be undertaken.  
Findings from the audit 
to inform workforce 
development planning.

P
age 308



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 43

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for children 
and families

Accountable Person(s) Milestones Milestones

Updated Quality Assurance 
Framework embedded 

Routine audits to review 
effective initial assessment 
of children’s health and 
educational needs (HMIP 
recommendation).

Good practice is 
celebrated, and areas of 
development built into the 
improvement plan on an 
individual and team level

Children and Families 
receive a good quality 
service

Adolescent Service 
Manager with support 
from Team Managers.

Audit fortnights to be 
completed and fed 
into Heads of Service 
Performance Quality 
Assurance Meetings starting 
June 2023.

Individual feedback 
provided to practitioner.

Learning circles to be 
utilised when areas of 
development are identified, 
and key findings shared 
with Partners.

Establish peer audit 
cycle with Blackburn and 
feedback to Boards,

Complete the National 
Standards Self-Assessment: 
At Court

The board will have a 
clear understanding of 
our performance in the 
Court arena to celebrate 
good practice inform 
improvements required.

Clear actions will be in 
place to improve the work 
in Court

Youth Justice Team 
Managers

NS self-assessment 
complete by 31/10/23

P
age 309



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2444

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for children 
and families

Accountable Person(s) Milestones Milestones

Embed Enhance Case 
Management, Multi-
agency case formulation 
and trauma informed 
practice

Assessments and 
intervention informed by 
trauma informed practice.

Increase in specialist 
support for children 
working with the YJS

Children receive the 
trauma informed support.

Reduction in/desistance 
from offending behaviour 
linked to SMU

Head of the Adolescent 
Service and Adolescent 
Service Manager.

With support from 
CAMHs & Public Health

With support from LVRN

Introduce case 
management with 
psychological consultation 
Commission, Embed and 
Review by March 2024

Adolescent Service 
Mental Health Practitioner 
Induction June 2023. Advice 
and guidance sessions 
implemented Summer 2023.

Deliver multi-disciplinary 
Adolescent Development 
Day focussing on evidence 
base 23rd June 2023

Develop the role of a 
Substance Misuse Specific 
Person and Contact (SPOC) 
within the YJS Monitor via 
new KPI

Learning Lunch with 
Contextual Health 
Practitioners. Increase co-
location Summer 2023.

P
age 310



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 45

Priority Four: Our Youth Justice Partnership will ensure the educational needs of children open to the service are 
understood and appropriate action taken to ensure that they have access to high quality education and training 
services that met their individual needs.

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for children 
and families

Accountable Person(s) Milestones Notes

Ensure Education has an 
effective response to the 
ETE status of children 
working with the YJS, 
understanding the link 
between ETE provision, 
vulnerability, and risk of 
harm

Children supported 
by the YJS will have 
access to appropriate 
Educational Provision 
providing a strong 
protective factor to 
support desistance

There will be a clear 
increase in the number of 
children in appropriate ETE 
provision 

More children will be in 
receipt for their statutory 
entitlement

Adolescent Service 
Manager

Deputy Team Manager

Data to be scrutinised in 
monthly performance mtgs, 
commentary discussed 
with Operational Board and 
presented to Exec Board to 
support.

Drive systems change via 
Youth Futures Foundation 
Connect Futures 
Programme.

Ensure plans linked to 
SEND, Education, Health 
and Care Plans and 
personal educational 
plans are integrated into 
Pathways and Planning 
section of AssetPlus

Key educational 
information is recorded 
in the assessment and 
will inform planning 
to ensure that it is 
accessible to children

SMART plans will be 
in place that identify 
the educational needs 
of children, linked to 
offending behaviour and 
tailored approaches to 
interventions

Education, Training and 
Employment Officer with 
support from Education 
Colleagues.

SEND Team to deliver 
a workshop around 
innovative approaches to 
working with children who 
are SEND 

Head of Virtual School to 
deliver a workshop to raise 
awareness of the work 
of the Virtual School and 
how they can support YJ 
interventions

P
age 311



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2446

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for children 
and families

Accountable Person(s) Milestones Notes

Reduce the number of 
children of school age 
who are not receiving 
their statutory educational 
entitlement

Children working with 
the YJS will have good 
educational outcomes 
and positive aspirations 
for the future

Increase in the number 
of children engaged in 
appropriate educational 
provision

Head of Adolescent 
Service with support from 
Assistant Director

ETE Officer to maintain 
tracker of education at 
allocation and at end of 
intervention. 

Foster stronger links: 
Meeting with virtual 
schools June 2023.Meeting 
with AP Head July 2023.

Share data sets with 
Blackpool Educational 
Improvement Board (BEIB).

Reduce the unacceptably 
high NEET rates for young 
people over-16 by getting 
more children into further 
education provision 
and vocational training, 
including access to services 
where children can gain 
the personal, life, and 
social skills they need to 
work towards employment 
(HMIP Recommendation)

Children working with 
the YJS will have positive 
aspirations for the future

Increase in the number 
of children engaged in 
appropriate ETE provision

Head of Adolescent 
Service

Deputy Team Manager 
and Education, Training 
and Employment Officer

ETE Officer to maintain 
tracker of employment at 
allocation and at end of 
intervention.

Share data sets with 
Employment and Skills Board.

Evaluate effectiveness 
of suite of life skills 
intervention. Draw on best 
practice through Youth 
Futures Foundation Connect 
Futures Programme.

P
age 312



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 47

Priority Five: Our Youth Justice Partnership will seek to reduce the number of children in custody.

Action Impact on Quality of 
Practice

Outcomes for children 
and families

Accountable Person(s) Milestones Notes

Ensure that the Executive 
Board and the YJS have a 
clear understanding of the 
root causes for offending 
and the pathways into 
custody for young people 
via Custody Review Panels 

Practitioners can 
confidently manage 
children in secure 
accommodation and 
effectively plan for their 
resettlement. 

Children are not 
unnecessarily held in 
secure accommodation 
and are released to 
accommodation that 
meets their needs.

Head of Service for 
Request for Support Hub, 
Awaken and Assessment 
and Support Team with 
support from Youth Justice 
Team Manager

Review custody panel 
template in with NS by 
31/08/2023.

Expand membership to 
ensure multidisciplinary.

Bi-monthly review panels.

Deliver a Learning Circle 
to YJS Practitioners, based 
on findings of custody 
panels to develop, skills 
in managing children in 
secure accommodation 
with particular reference to 
resettlement planning.

Practitioners can 
confidently manage 
children in secure 
accommodation and 
effectively plan for their 
resettlement.

Children are not 
unnecessarily held in 
secure accommodation 
and are released to 
accommodation that 
meets their needs.

Youth Justice Team 
Manager and Leaving Care 
Team Manager

Learning circle will be 
delivered.

Plan and deliver 
learning circles to wider 
children’s services 
around the importance of 
resettlement planning and 
provision of appropriate 
accommodation

Share finding from ADCS 
and Youth Custody task 
and finish group re 
resettlement.

P
age 313



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2448

Appendix 7 
Blackpool Youth Justice 
Performance

P
age 314



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 49

First Time Entrants Jan-Dec 14 Jan-Dec 15 Jan-Dec 16 Jan-Dec 17 Jan-Dec 18 Jan-Dec 19 Jan-Dec 20 Jan-Dec 21 Jan-Dec 22
Blackpool 59 69 52 57 38 28 35 26 46
Lancashire PCC 480 433 331 282 272 201 200 162 203
% of Lancashire 12.3% 15.9% 15.7% 20.2% 14.0% 13.9% 17.5% 16.0% 22.7%

FFiirrsstt  TTiimmee  EEnnttrraannttss  aanndd  CCuussttooddyy
22002222//2233

SSoouurrccee::  YYJJBB  YYDDSS  RReeppoorrttss

TThhee  BBllaacckkppooooll  PPooppuullaattiioonn::  CCoonntteexxtt
• As at June 2021 there were an estimated 140,954 people living in Blackpool 
• An estimated 27,810 young people are aged under 18 (19.7% of the population), with 

12,641 young people aged 10 to 17 (9% of the population)
• Blackpool is the most deprived local authority in England (IMD, 2019) with 41.3% of 

residents living in the 10% most deprived neighbourhoods in the country
• An estimated 30.7% of children live in income-deprived families, compared to 17.1% 

nationally (IDACI, 2019)
• In 2021/22 7,980 school children (40.4%) were eligible for free school meals, 

compared to 22.5% nationally
• At March 2022 there were 609 looked after children in Blackpool at a rate of 218 per 

10,000, the highest in the country
• 3,401 children had an episode of need at some point in 2021/22 at a rate of 1,168.3 

per 10,000 (twice the national average of 587.7 per 10,000)

Blackpool Youth Justice 
Performance and Analysis 

2022/23
Key Performance Measures in Most Recent National Dataset

and
‘First Cut’ Year End Analysis

P
age 315



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2450

RReeooffffeennddiinngg  ttrreennddss  iinn  BBllaacckkppooooll::  AAnnnnuuaall  ccoohhoorrttss

• Numbers of reoffenders from the 2020/21 cohort slightly up from previous year, but 
lower than pre 2019/20 levels

• Number of reoffences same as 2019/20 cohort, with rate of reoffences per offender 
and reoffences per reoffender slightly lower. These are both similar to national levels.

• 30.3% of 2020/21 cohort reoffended, the lowest proportion in recent history

RReeooffffeennddiinngg
22002222//2233

SSoouurrccee::  YYJJBB  YYDDSS  RReeppoorrttss

P
age 316



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 51

• In 2022/23 15 out of 23 young people (65.2%) were in full-time education, training or 
employment at the end of referral orders, YROs or on DTO license

• All school age children were in full-time ETE at this point

EEdduuccaattiioonn,,  TTrraaiinniinngg  &&  EEmmppllooyymmeenntt
aanndd
AAccccoommmmooddaattiioonn
SSoouurrccee::  YYJJDD  YYDDSS  rreeppoorrttss

P
age 317



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2452

CChhiillddrreenn’’ss  SSoocciiaall  CCaarree  IInnvvoollvveemmeenntt
• 20% of assessed young people had been in care at some point, compared to 25% in 

2021/22
• 13% (n=14) are currently subject to a care order, accommodated by voluntary 

agreement, remanded to LA accommodation and / or remanded to youth detention
• 35% have been subject to a Child Protection Plan at some point (50% in 2021/22)
• 49% have been identified as a Child in Need at some point (59% in 2021/22)
• 32% had parental care and supervision concerns, 22% with parent mental health 

concerns
• 34% had family behaviour or situational concerns (44% in 2021), and 40% had 

assessed concerns around significant relationships

no % no % no %
Currently 14 13% <5 -- 14 13%
Previously 39 36% 36 33% 44 41%
Never 54 50% 67 62% 48 44%
Yet to Clarify <5 -- <5 -- <5 --
Total 108 108 108

2022/23 Child in Need CP Plan CiN or CP Plan

TThhee  BBaassiiccss
• 108 children received an AssetPlus assessment by Blackpool YJS in the last year 

• 10 cases were completed by other YJS and transferred into Blackpool, with two of these receiving 
an assessment locally in 2022/23

• This compares to 104 assessments in 2021/22 (plus 13 transferred in)
• 84% were male (88% in 2021/22) – vastly disproportionate to overall population, but 

similar to national YJS pattern (86% male)
• 89% identified as White British (88% in 2021/22) – similar to Blackpool population 

(90.4%)
• 8% were of mixed ethnicity / heritage

• Average age at completion of assessment = 15.6 (16.3 in 2021/22)

22002222//2233  AAsssseettPPlluuss AAsssseessssmmeennttss

• In 2022/2023 (Apr-Mar) 18 out of 23 disposals closed were with suitable 
accommodation (78.3%), compared to 33 out of 40 (82.5%) in 2021/22

P
age 318



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 53

MMeennttaall  aanndd  PPhhyyssiiccaall  HHeeaalltthh
• 69% of assessed cases have one or more mental health issue (73% in 2021/22), and 

for 36% this is identified as a risk or concern (38% in 2021/22)
• 14% have a formally diagnosed mental health condition
• 48% have had contact with mental health services
• 13% receive prescribed medication 
• 41% suffer from anxiety, stress or irritability
• 27% have a history of self-harm
• 15% have previously attempted suicide
• 12% have current thoughts of self-harm or suicide

• 18% have a diagnosed physical health condition (12% in 2021/22)
• There is evidence of a substance misuse concern in 65% of assessments (70% in 

2021/22)
• 48% are identified as putting their health at risk by their own behaviour

OOffffeennddiinngg  HHiissttoorryy  aanndd  LLiikkeelliihhoooodd  ttoo  RReeooffffeenndd
• 27% had previous convictions – 41% in 2021/22 and 50% in 2020/21

• For those with previous convictions, the average number was 2.3, most commonly only one 
previous offence

• Average age at first conviction of 15.5 (15.3 in 2021/22)
• Average age at time of sentence of 14.5 (15.2 in 2021/22)
• Average age at first sanction was 14.6 (same as 2021/22)

• There is evidence in 40% of cases that the young person may commit offences
• 9% have a high reoffending likelihood (13% in 2021/22) and 38% have a medium 

likelihood (32% in 2021/22) 
• 13% of young people have a high or very high risk of serious harm judgement (18% in 

2021/22)

CCrriimmiinnaall  &&  SSeexxuuaall  EExxppllooiittaattiioonn,,  aanndd  SSaaffeettyy  CCoonncceerrnnss
• 32% (n=37) of young people were considered to be vulnerable to criminal exploitation 

– 31 males and 6 females. This is down from 40% (n=47) in 2021/22.
• 16% (n=18), all males, were considered to be involved, at risk of being involved or 

previously involved in County Lines activity
• 10% were considered at risk of sexual exploitation, 7 males and 5 females (28% of all 

females assessed in 2022/23). This is an overall reduction from 15% in 2021/22 and 
20% in 2020/21.

• 27% (n=29) of young people were assessed as having high or very high overall safety 
wellbeing concerns (25% in 2021/22), with 61% of young people having some safety 
concerns (67% in 2021/22)

• 57% (n=36) young people evidenced substance misuse at assessment (61% in 
2021/22)

FFaammiillyy  aanndd  RReellaattiioonnsshhiippss
• 32% had assessed parental care and supervision concerns (same as 2021/22)

• 22% were known to have parent / carer mental health concerns (21% in 2021/22)
• 12% were known to have parental / carer alcohol concerns (15% in 2021/22)

• 34% had assessed family behaviour or situational concerns (44% in 2021/22)
• 21% were known to have witnessed domestic violence or abuse (23% in 2021/22)
• 12% had identified concerns regarding care or supervision (16% in 2021/22)
• 9% were known to experienced parent / carer violence or abuse

• 40% had assessed concerns around significant relationships (22% in 2021/22, 50% in 
2020/21)

• 20% had loss of contact with significant people (25% in 2021/22)
• 17% had reported aggression / violence by the young person to family members (13% in 2021/22)
• 16% had experience of loss / bereavement (16% in 2021/22)
• 16% reported offending by family members (15% in 2021/22)

P
age 319



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2454

OOffffeenncceess  aanndd  OOuuttccoommeess
22002222//2233

EEdduuccaattiioonn,,  TTrraaiinniinngg  aanndd  EEmmppllooyymmeenntt  ((EETTEE))
• 71% (n=82) of the cohort had education, training or employment concerns at the 

point of assessment (up from 64% in 2021/22 and 46% in 2020/21)
• 44% (n=51)  had complex ETE histories, with multiple moves, disruptions and / or 

previous exclusions (36% in 2021/22 and 17% in 2020/21)
• 24% had concerns about undiagnosed need or difficulties (16% in 2021/22)

• Of those with any SEN identified at assessment, 84% (n=48) had education, training 
and employment concerns at the point of assessment

AAccccoommmmooddaattiioonn
• 79% (n=85) were living at home at time of assessment (73% in 2021/22)
• 13% were living in residential units (LA, Private or Secure)
• Several young people were homeless or living with friends

• 23% (n=24) of those with assessments completed have concerns about current 
accommodation

• Of those with accommodation concerns:
• 63% were living at home
• 21% were in residential units

SSppeecciiaall  EEdduuccaattiioonn  NNeeeeddss  aanndd  CCoommmmuunniiccaattiioonn  IIssssuueess
• 60% of assessed cases determine that the young person has SEND or communication 

concerns  (77% in 2021/22)
• 32% young people have family member-expressed concerns about social communication skills
• 24% have professional or family member-expressed concerns about learning needs
• 5% have been diagnosed with social communication difficulties

• Half of those assessed had difficulty thinking about thoughts a feelings of others, with 
36% having difficulty showing emotions

• 40% had difficulty explaining things
• 24% had problems reading or writing
• 12% need support in daily living skills (9% in 2021/22)

P
age 320



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 55

*previous years based on historical annual reporting. Subsequent completed / proven 
offences may lead to variation (increase) in figures.
Exact values redacted. Values ‘<10’ are those ranging between 5 and 9

Numbers of Offences* 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
No sanction <5 10 <5
Informal Resolution <5 <10 <10
Community Resolution <10 12 88
Other <10 10 <5
Cautions 55 19 47
Community Sentences 115 32 11
Custody <10 <5 21
Total 195 93 180

OOuuttccoommeess  ooff  PPrroovveenn  OOffffeenncceess  bbyy  OOffffeennccee  TTyyppeeVViioolleenntt  OOffffeenncceess  CCoohhoorrtt  22002222//2233
• 63 Proven offences of violence
• 42 offenders

• 9 offenders with multiple proven violent offences
• 23 offenders with multiple offences including violent offences

• Average age = 15.2 (slightly lower than overall offending cohort)
• A higher proportion of female offenders than overall cohort, by still predominantly male 

(79% male, 21% female)
• 86% are White British
• 14% are known to be care experienced
• 26% are previously known to have had CP plans (no current)
• 40% are known to have been, or are currently, Children in Need

PPrroovveenn  OOffffeenncceess  bbyy  TTyyppee
2021/22

n % %
Burglary 16 9% 8% +1% 3%

Other 23 13% 9% +4% 9%
Vehicle Theft 14 8% 3% +5%

Other (incl Breach of Bail and 'other') 9 5% 5% 0%
Breach of Statutory order <5 -- 13% -- 2%

Criminal Damage 22 12% 8% +5% 9%
Drugs 10 6% 5% +0% 10%

Motoring offences 14 8% 3% +5% 12%
Public order 12 7% 11% -4% 6%

Robbery <5 -- 2% -- 6%
Sexual offences <5 -- 5% -- 3%

Theft and handling Stolen Goods 13 7% 1% +6% 7%
Violence against the person 63 35% 35% -0% 35%

Total 180

Proven Offences by Type
 (2022/23 data as at June 2023)

2022/23 2021/22 to 
2022/23 % change

England and Wales   
% (2021/22)

OOffffeenncceess  aanndd  OOffffeennddeerrss  22002222//2233
• Total offences (n=335) in 2022/23 up by 75% on 2021/22
• Total (suspected  or proven) offenders (n=108) up 29% on 2021/22
• Proven offences (n=180) up 94%, but fewer than 2020/21

• However, 64 offences reported with no outcome at present
• In 2021/22 Blackpool’s rate of proven offences was 73.6 per 10,000 10-17 population (compared 

to 58.4 in England and Wales). For 2022/23 it is currently 142.4 per 10,000 (England & Wales 
rate not yet available).

• Proven offenders (n=70) up 40% on 2022/23, but fewer than in 2020/21

• Of 108 suspected offenders, 7 offenders are associated with a third of offences (n=112)
• Similarly, of 70 proven offenders, 5 offenders are responsible for a third of offences (n=59) and 

three are responsible for almost a quarter (n=44)

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Number of Offences 276 191 335
No of suspected offenders 92 84 108
Proven offences 195 93 180
No of offenders - proven offences 75 50 70P

age 321



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-2456

• Youth offending cohort similar in gender to national cohort (84% male), and generally 
reflective of local ethnicity demographics (89% White British)

• Increases in total offences, proven offences and offenders with proven offences 
compared to previous year, though similar to 2020/21 levels

• Some recent increases in violent offences and possession of knifes / offensive weapons
• Possible contributory factors include recording changes / improvements (e.g. in relation 

to community resolutions) and impact of Covid-19 (reduced activity, recording and 
processing lags etc.), though increases remain cause for concern

• Subsequent rise in number and rate of first time entrants, moving towards pre-2018 
levels

• Number / rate of custodial sentences similarly rising, though numerically small.
• Annual reoffending rates in line with, or better than, national levels, though recent 

quarterly rates show slight upturn due to reoffences by a relatively small number of 
offenders. 

• Offence types remain broadly in line with national patterns in term of proportion, with 
some (relatively small) figures sensitive to individual offending profiles.

• Outcomes shows considerable shift away from community sentences towards 
community resolutions

CCoonncclluussiioonnss

P
age 322



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 57

P
age 323



Blackpool Youth Justice Plan 2023-24 J129594  062023

P
age 324



Appendix 4b: Youth Justice Board oversight framework service classification and support. 

 

P
age 325



T
his page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                                                                          
 

Appendix 4c 

X’s Story 

The initial Incident 

X aged 15 was involved in an assault against another 
pupil at his school; which caused significant physical 
harm to the victim. 
 
What happened 

X was charged and attended Blackpool Youth Court 
where he was made subject to a 12 month Referral 
Order which included: 
 

 Relationship building with X Youth Justice 
Officer. 

 X to continue with his positive 
interests/activities. 

 Referral to Divert Youth for mentoring support 
and football coaching opportunities.  

 X to complete a Parachute Project to develop 
skills to handle problems and conflict without 
resorting to violence.  

 Explore with X his knowledge and 
understanding of victims and reparation.  

 X to develop a plan for making amends.  

 All professionals to promote a sense of 
optimism about the future and encourage X 
future aspirations. 
 

How is it going 

X has worked alongside his Youth Justice Officer for 10 
months now and has not received and further 
convictions. X has successfully completed all of the 
goals on his intervention plan, with excellent 
attendance and engagement. 
 
X participated in weekly Parachute Sessions to:  

 Develop self-awareness and self-control 
 Promote positive social skills 
 Teach pro-social problem-solving skills 
 Increase confidence and self esteem 
 Improve decision making 

 
X contributed to victim awareness raising sessions. 
 
Following intervention X shared 'I feel like I've 
matured'. 
 
Last month X supported by his family took part in the 
Colour Run 2023.    

 
 
 

                     
 

Restorative Justice – Making things right 

 

'I'm proud of my medal', 

'I would do something like that again', 

'It was good to give something back and to 
help others'. 

 
 

Mum: ‘X has tried so hard to be a nicer 
better person, he has changed and grown 
in the last few months. He is caring and 
loving. I’m very proud of him and so is his 
dad. At times, X has felt his whole world 
has ended because of this incident and not 
wanted to move forward but he has made 
changes and tries every day to better 
himself. He puts all his energy into football 
and training and he is looking forward to 
the future. He has been keeping his head 
down at school and hopes to get five 
GCSE’s, he would have been able to 
achieve more had he gone back to 
mainstream. He has applied to college. He 
knows what he did was wrong and 
wouldn’t ever do anything like that again’.    

 

 
The Colour Run 
 
In order to make amends for his offending 
behaviour X agreed to take part in community 
reparation.  
 
We agreed that a charity run would be perfect 
for X as it would be meaningful to him and 
allow him to make a positive contribution.   
 
X and his family worked hard with getting 
sponsorship and donations.  X raised £175 for 
Trinity Hospice. 
 

Page 327



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: Victoria Gent, Director of Children’s Services 

Relevant Cabinet Member  

 

Councillor Kath Benson, Cabinet Member for Young People 
and Aspiration 

Date of Meeting:  11 December 2023 

 

 EXPANSION OF HIGHFURLONG SPECIAL SCHOOL PHASE TWO 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To seek approval to proceed with the further development of The Meadow site at 
Highfurlong School - subject to Planning consent - to accommodate a single-storey 
hydrotherapy centre extension to the previously approved two-storey extension and 
associated facilities to ensure sufficient local provision for children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). 
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  To approve the development, utilising the currently appointed phase 1 contractor (Conlon 
Construction) who have been appointed following a procurement process via the Procure 
NW Framework. 
 

2.2  
 

To approve the budget of £1.99 million for phase two of this scheme. 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A planning application has previously been approved to develop The Meadow on Garstang 
Road West to accommodate a two-storey extension with associated facilities to ensure 
sufficient local provision for children and young people with special educational needs and 
disabilities (SEND).  A further planning application has been made to incorporate the 
provision of a hydrotherapy centre (phase 2) into the development of The Meadow.  
 
Following a tender exercise in early 2023 via the Procure NW Framework, Conlon 
Construction were appointed for the construction of the phase 1 development. Construction 
works commenced on site in July 2023 and are progressing well. Within the tender process 
for phase 1, tendering Contractors were made aware of the potential for a further phase 2 
project subject to funding and approvals. The most cost effective and time efficient 
mechanism for undertaking the phase 2 construction is to instruct these works under the JCT 

Page 329

Agenda Item 5



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Standard Building Contract with Quantities (2016) that Conlon Construction are currently 
completing the phase 1 building under. 
 
Highfurlong Special School reached a cohort of over 110 students in the summer term 2022, 
which is three times the number five years ago.   The growing number of pupils in special 
schools is in part as a result of changes in legislation introduced in 2014, but also due to 
children surviving with more complex medical needs than historically was the case. 
 
Despite additional building works being undertaken during that time to create extra space at 
the school, the capacity of the existing building is now over stretched.  An independent 
school capacity report dated March 2022 found that Highfurlong’s building has a deficit of 
space equivalent to four classrooms when compared against current pupil numbers. The 
school has now saturated its existing footplate and is no longer able to effectively deliver 
complimentary curriculum activities such as design technology, music and life skills, despite 
winning the prestigious School of the Year award in 2021. 
 
The Local Authority has a statutory duty to ensure sufficient suitable places are available for 
all pupils across the town. The proposed expansion at Highfurlong School would help to 
ensure that Blackpool Council can meet the needs of children with complex physical and 
medical disabilities.   
 

3.2 Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 
Council? 
 

No 

3.3 Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1 4 
 
 
 
4.2 

If additional provision is not provided the Council would have to rely on Out of borough SEND 
provision, including associated transport costs, which is both expensive and not always in the 
best interests of children and their families. 
 
The Council could seek to appoint a Contractor separately to undertake the phase 2 project 
following the completion of the phase 1 by Conlon Construction. However this would cause issues 
with the operability of the school and could also prove to be a more expensive method of 
construction.  
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is: “Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing 
resilience”. 
 
 

Page 330



 
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1  Highfurlong Special School benefited from a single storey infill extension in the summer of 
2021, which enabled it to continue to meet the needs of their increasing pupil numbers.  The 
school has used its existing space as flexibly as possible and has now reached saturation point 
of their existing footplate due to the nature of the physical requirements and associated 
equipment of the current cohort. 
 

6.2  Land known as “The Meadow” currently sits unused on the site due to significant level 
differences.  Phase One will see the two-storey extension built, with a covered walkway 
created to link to the existing site via the top floor of the new building. The ground floor of 
the new building will comprise facilities for post-16 students, alongside a new kitchen that 
will serve the whole school (currently facilities are shared with Aspire Academy). There will 
also be a community café at the front of the school designed for post 19 students to gain 
valuable employment skills and increase the commercial viability of the venture through 
improved public access from the main road. The upper floor would comprise classrooms and 
ancillary spaces for secondary aged pupils.  Under the development proposals the existing 
building would house primary pupils. 
 

6.3  Phase two will see the creation of a new single storey fit-for-purpose hydrotherapy suite. The 
hydrotherapy suite will be constructed in a manner that allows for a second storey to be built 
in the future should demand necessitate this.  Now additional funding has been identified, 
both phases could be delivered in tandem in order to benefit from cost efficiencies whilst 
contractors are on site. 
 

6.4  Phase 1 commenced on site in July 2023. Subject to relevant approvals, it is anticipated works 
for phase 2 would commence on site in December 2023 for completion by October 2024. 
 

6.5  Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 
Appendix 5a is not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972. It is considered on balance that the 
public interest would not be served by publishing information at this stage as this 
information would undermine the Council’s position in future negotiations and 
could risk the scheme not being able to proceed. 
 

Yes  
 

7.0  List of Appendices: 
 

7.1  Appendix 5a – Financial considerations (exempt) 
 
 
 

Page 331



8.0  Financial considerations: 
 

8.1  See exempt information at Appendix 5a, to the Executive report. 
 

8.2  
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.3 

Children’s Services has allowed a budget envelope of £4.8 million for phase one of the 
scheme, and costs will be contained within that budget. The scheme is being funded from a 
combination of education capital, including Basic Need, High Needs Provision Capital 
Allocations, and School Condition Allocations.  Alongside other planned capital schemes, 
reliance is being made on known future allocations of Basic Need funding in 2023/24 and 
2024/25, and of High Needs Provision Capital Allocations in 2023/24. 
 
A bid for capital funding to deliver phase 2 of the scheme was submitted as part of the 
Department for Education’s Safety Valve programme and this was successful. The funding for 
phase 2 works comes entirely from the additional £6.2 million that was allocated to complete 
these works and additional works within Blackpool schools. 
 

9.0  Legal considerations: 
 

9.1  
 
 
 
9.2 
 
 
9.3 

Legal negotiations have concluded with Fylde Coast Academy Trust and the leasehold interest 
in the land known as The Meadow has been transferred surrendered from by Fylde Coast 
Academy Trust. 
 
The procurement position has been reviewed to ensure compliance with the Council’s 
procurement process. 
 
The terms of the funding in respect of Phase 2 have been reviewed to ensure compliance 
with the same.  
 

10.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1  Not progressing the proposed expansion would mean the local authority would be unable to 
meet its statutory duty to ensure that sufficient suitable places are available for all pupils 
across the town. This would create further pressure on the High Needs budget, as places 
would need to be secured in more costly independent special schools outside of Blackpool. 
 

11.0  Equalities considerations and the impact of this decision for our children and young people: 
 

11.1  Highfurlong Special School caters for the needs of children with special educational needs 
and disabilities. The expansion scheme will ensure that the needs of more children can be 
appropriately met in local provision, reducing the need for lengthy transport journeys, and 
enabling children to be part of their local community. 
 
 
 

Page 332



12.0  Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1  The scheme at Highfurlong Special School is being developed in line with Blackpool Council’s 
Climate Change Declaration. The scheme will include the provision of air source heat pumps 
in lieu of conventional gas boilers. Provision will also be made for a number of solar panels to 
be installed. The scheme is also required to achieve a BREEAM rating of very good. 
 

13.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1  Statutory public planning consultation is being undertaken. Information on the proposed 
development was shared with parents of pupils at the end of summer term 2022, and school 
employees are being kept updated about progress with the plans.  Community information 
sessions were held during the course of the public consultation period. 
 

14.0  Background papers: 
 

14.1  Planning application 23/0607 is available on Blackpool Council’s website at Simple Search 
(blackpool.gov.uk) 

 
15.0 0 Key decision information: 

 
15.1  Is this a key decision? 

 
Yes 

15.2  If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

23/2023 

15.3  If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

15.4  If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
16.0  Call-in information: 

 
16.1  Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 

exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

16.2  If yes, please give reason: 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 333

https://idoxpa.blackpool.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://idoxpa.blackpool.gov.uk/online-applications/


TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

17.0  Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed: 1 December 2023 Date approved: 
 

      

18.0  Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

18.1   
 
 

19.0  
 
19.1 
 

Summary of Discussion: 
 
 

20.0  Executive decision: 
 

20.1   
 

21.0  Date of Decision:    
 

21.1   
 

22.0  Reason(s) for decision: 
 

22.1   
 

23.0 1 Date Decision published: 
 

23.1   
 

24.0  
 
24.1 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
 
 

25.0  Executive Members in attendance:   
 

25.1   
 

26.0  Call-in:   
 

26.1        
 
 

Page 334



27.0  Notes:   
 

27.1   
 

Page 335



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: Antony Lockley, Director of Strategy and Assistant Chief 
Executive 

Relevant Cabinet Member  

 

Councillor Mark Smith, Cabinet Member for Levelling Up - 
Place 

Date of Meeting:  11 December 2023 

 

CONSTRUCTION OF TWO ADDITIONAL COUNCIL HOMES AT GRANGE 
PARK (PHASE 2 HOUSING SITE), BLACKPOOL. 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

This report outlines the proposal and level of investment required to deliver two additional  
two-bedroom bungalows at Grange Park scheme (Phase Two site). These additional units will 
replace the existing Blackpool Coastal Housing neighbourhood office on Sidford Court, 
Grange Park. The report seeks formal approval for the units to be delivered as an addition to 
the existing build programme (EX34/2021). The report also updates Executive on the 
additional costs incurred by the scheme. 
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  To approve the redevelopment of the former  Blackpool Coastal Housing neighbourhood 
office site on Sidford Court providing two new two-bedroom bungalows  
 

2.2  
 

That the Council bids to Homes England for capital grant to help fund the construction of the 
proposed two units. 
 

2.3  That the existing principal contractor, Tyson Construction, is formally instructed to build the 
additional units under the existing JCT Design and Build contract dated 09 November 2021.  
 

2.4  To approve the additional expenditure to develop the additional bungalows and note the 
revised scheme costs outlined in Appendix 6b financial considerations.  
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 
 

The site identified for the two additional units is currently occupied by a former Blackpool 
Coastal Housing neighbourhood office. The office building is currently being utilised by Tyson 
Construction as a temporary site office and the building will be demolished at the end of the 

Page 339

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

scheme development which would leave a relatively small area of land for alternative use. It 
is not deemed suitable for use as open space due to its small size and location (adjacent to 
housing and Family Hub) making it difficult to maintain, of limited functional use and the 
potential to attract anti-social behaviour. New high-quality open space is incorporated into 
the existing designs for both the Phase 1 and 2 new Grange Park housing.    
 
Demand for bungalows has been clearly demonstrated following the development of the Grange 
Park Phase 1 site. The bungalows on this site highlighted significant interest from the waiting list. 
Blackpool Coastal Housing lettings department have shared their support for the additional units. 
Both units tenure will be affordable rent, ensuring consistency across the scheme. The unit type will 
fully replicate that as provided on Phase 1 being wheelchair accessible and adaptable together with 
inclusion of private garden space and in curtilage car parking. 
 
To ensure value for money, it is recommended that the additional units are built as part of the 
existing construction contract. This provides value for money in respect of site mobilisation and set 
up enabling the additional two units to be completed within the existing scheme delivery 
timeframe (to complete summer 2024).  Development of the site as a standalone project would 
encounter viability and practical delivery issues due to the small size of the site.  
 
To acknowledge the existing scheme cost was approved (EX34) based on the pre-construction 
tender estimate. The revised scheme cost reflects the tender return price (which in turn is in-
line with the current construction market trends) a further uplift for inflation and minor 
design changes, agreed as a variation within delegated limits. It also covers the BCIS 
contractor uplift as a result of bringing forward the start on site of the Phase 2 site. 
Additional costs to-date are within allowable delegated tolerance. 
 

3.2 Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 
Council? 
 

No 

3.3 Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1 4 
 
 
 
 
4.2 

Once the former Housing office building is demolished, there is scope for alternative use as 
open space. However the area is located in a cul-de-sac between existing residential 
properties and the North Family Hub. There are concerns this space may attract anti-social 
behaviour and provide challenges in respect of maintenance regimes.  
 
Alternative development options were also considered including differing mix of unit numbers and 
types. The two unit bungalow option was considered most suitable in meeting identified need, 
providing suitable layout for the size of the site including provision of sufficient car parking and 
garden space and ensuring no overlooking to neighboring uses. These properties also provide an 
accessible and adaptable option meeting current and future needs of tenants, a property type 

Page 340



generally in high demand.  
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is: “Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing 
resilience”. 
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1  The creation of high quality affordable housing for local residents has been a clear priority for 
the Council, and the development of new housing on Grange Park contributes to meeting 
housing need in the town.   
 

6.2  The two additional units proposed are located on land immediately adjacent to the 
previously approved (EX34/2021) Grange Park Council housing Phase 2 development. Phase 2 
site is located to the west of the existing Boundary Primary School, with Gateside Drive 
bounding the site to the north, Chepstow Road to the west and Sidford Court to the south. 
The existing scheme commenced construction with enabling works in September 2021 and is 
due for completion in Summer 2024 to provide a total of 131 new homes. The two additional 
two bedroom bungalows will increase the total number of units overall to 133. 
 

6.3  The two bungalows will be Council homes managed by Blackpool Coastal Housing and rented 
at Affordable Rents (maximum of 80% of market rent). The choice of two bed true bungalows 
has been selected to meet a pressing need for adaptable affordable homes in the area. The 
property layout and specification will exactly replicate that provided in the units on Phase 1.  
 

6.4  In support of the Blackpool Climate Emergency Declaration the Grange Park scheme takes a 
‘test and learn’ approach to renewable technology in new build housing. This is to support 
the Council’s understanding of the impact and implications of the chosen technology in 
reality.  The carbon reduction and energy efficiency measures selected for the properties is 
deemed the most appropriate mix of improvements, balancing capital expenditure, tenant 
running costs alongside maintenance and associated costs. All houses and bungalows 
completed so far on the Phase 1 site have achieved an EPC ‘A’ rating. 
 

6.5  The two additional units will be added to the existing Grange Park housing scheme and 
additional grant funding will be sought to support the viability of the two units. The existing 
131 unit scheme, application of Local Housing Allowance capped rents, additional units and 
scheme additions (see Appendix 6b Items D to F) results in a 35 year payback period. The 
majority of the cost of the development that is not met from grant funding will be funded by 
borrowing through the Council’s Housing Revenue Account, with the costs of loan interest 
and repayment met from rents.  
 

6.6  Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No  
 

Page 341



 
7.0  List of Appendices: 

 
7.1  Appendix 6a: Proposed Scheme Layout 

Appendix 6b: Financial Summary 
 

8.0  Financial considerations: 
 

8.1  The cost of construction of the two additional bungalows is set out in Appendix 2 to the 
Executive Report. It is anticipated that around 25% of the cost will be made available to the 
Council by Homes England through the 2021-2026 Affordable Housing Programme, subject to 
successful funding bid, with the remaining cost funded by borrowing through the Council’s 
Housing Revenue Account, with the costs of loan interest and repayment met from rents. 
 

8.2  
 
 
 
 
 

The new affordable homes will be let at Affordable Rents that are 80% of market rents. This 
will enable the costs of the new homes, when added to the existing 131 unit housing scheme 
to be met from estimated rental income over 35 years and allow us to access grant funding. 
Initial rentals will be set lower than the prevailing Blackpool Local Housing Allowance, and so 
remain genuinely affordable to people on low incomes. 
 

8.3  It is assumed that rents will rise in line with the Consumer Price Index (CPI). The level of 
outstanding debt in the Housing Revenue Account will remain at a reasonable and 
sustainable level. 
 

8.4  An updated scheme cost profile is provided in Appendix 6b. This outlines the additional 
scheme costs to support delivery, approved by officer delegation, including contract/ tender 
requirements, inflation, agreed BCIS uplift to enable the staggered start on site between 
Phase 1 and 2, design changes to provide a three bed bungalow and inclusion of solar panels 
and batteries on all units.  
 

9.0  Legal considerations: 
 

9.1  The land is fully within Council ownership. A Report on Title will be produced prior to any bid 
for funding being submitted to Homes England.  Legal to review the terms of any Homes 
England affordable grant offered to the Council to ensure advice is give with regard to 
compliance with obligations contained within the grant. 
 

9.2  Planning permission will be sought, all Building Regulations will be met and building 
certification secured as required.  
 

9.3  Works will be undertaken under the existing JCT Design and Build contract. 
 

10.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

Page 342



10.1  The risk of grant funding not being available from Homes England is minimal because of 
Government’s commitment to funding new affordable homes, but a bid for funding will be 
made as soon as possible after approval of the additional spend by Executive; the Council is 
experienced in meeting Homes England’s funding and audit requirements.  
 

10.2  Pre-application discussions have taken place with planning to confirm support for the 
principle of new homes on the site and minimise the risk of not getting planning approval for 
the additional bungalows. 
 

10.3  There is always a risk of increased development costs, but this has been minimised by using 
the existing contractor. The scheme has been designed to be sustainable for the long term 
through the use of high quality design and materials and traditional forms of construction. 
 

10.4  The infill site for the additional units has been identified for development, driven by risk 
mitigation. There are concerns the isolated area may attract anti-social behaviour. The area 
may be considered in future for development but this would present issues with creating a 
viable financial appraisal as a stand-alone development. Other concerns are lack of market 
interest. Given the existing contractor is mobilised on the adjacent site presently and 
instructed to build out the approved scheme, this would ensure the Council benefit from a 
reputable contractor with all the necessary connections with involved stakeholders and be 
delivered within the existing contract period.   
 

11.0  Equalities considerations and the impact of this decision for our children and young people: 
 

11.1  The housing type has been chosen to provide the affordable homes that are in most demand 
in the area.  
 

11.2  The new true bungalows have been designed to be accessible to people with limited 
mobility/ those in wheelchairs and to be easily adaptable to support the principles of lifetime 
homes. The new homes will be let using the Council’s latest allocation policy which has been 
subject to an equalities impact assessment. 
 

12.0  Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1  The two proposed bungalows will include 4.8kW solar panels and associated battery storage, 
Mechanical Ventilation Heat Recovery (MVHR) units and building fabric standards to meet 
current Part L of Building Regulations. An EPC ‘A’ rating is expected based on the units 
already delivered and assessed on the Grange Park Phase 1 site.  
 

13.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1  Public consultation on the new larger development was undertaken in April 2021 which 
broadly outlined support for new Council housing. Contact with the immediate neighbours of 
the site will be undertaken prior to submission to planning.  

Page 343



 
 
 

14.0  Background papers: 
 

14.1  None 
 
15.0 0 Key decision information: 

 
15.1  Is this a key decision? 

 
Yes 

15.2  If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

22/2023 

15.3  If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

15.4  If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
16.0  Call-in information: 

 
16.1  Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 

exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

16.2  If yes, please give reason: 
 

  

 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

17.0  Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed: 1 December 2023 Date approved: 
 

      

18.0  Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

18.1   
 
 

19.0  
 
19.1 
 

Summary of Discussion: 
 
 

20.0  Executive decision: 
 

Page 344



20.1   
 

21.0  Date of Decision:    
 

21.1   
 

22.0  Reason(s) for decision: 
 

22.1   
23.0 1 Date Decision published: 

 
23.1   

 
24.0  
 
24.1 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
 
 

25.0  Executive Members in attendance:   
 

25.1   
 

26.0  Call-in:   
 

26.1        
 

27.0  Notes:   
 

27.1   
 

Page 345



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 347

tsplseob_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 6a 



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 6b: Grange Park Housing Development Scheme costs 

November 2023 

Item 
ref. 

Item £ Notes 

A Executive approval (EX34 July 
2021) 

22,181,593 Based on pre-tender Cost Plan Rev D -  May 
2021 
 

B Scheme expenditure to-date 24,207,227 Includes items D, E and F – previously approved 
by senior officer delegation and within 10% of 
approved scheme allowable tolerance.  

Item 
ref. 

Item £ Notes 

C Cost to redevelop the former 
BCH housing office to provide 
2no. additional bungalows 
(adjacent to Phase 2 site) 

529,783 Office currently being used as site office/ 
welfare. 
Proposal for redevelopment to provide 2no. 
semi-detached bungalows (same layout as on 
Phase 1 site, see Appendix 6a) 

D Scheme tender cost and 
inflation (in addition to 
Executive approval) 

1,315,295 This reflects the current construction market 
trends, a further uplift for inflation, minor 
design changes and BCIS contractor uplift of 
3.87% to bring forward SoS of Phase 2 site.  
Original estimate of BCIS uplift if Phase 2 SoS 
was 18 month into the Phase 1 build (as 
originally intended) c. 14% 

E Addition of solar panels and 
battery  

650,960 The supply and installation of solar panels, 
battery packs and ancillary equipment to 101No 
Units in both phases together with an upgrade 
to the two (30No Unit) sheltered blocks to 
supplement property electricity consumption. 

F Detached bungalow re-design 
(to 3 bed unit) 

59,379 A change to the Employer Requirements to 
adapt a 2 bedroom bungalow to a 3 bedroom 
with adapted fixtures and fittings. The overall 
cost of the adaptation £79,879 includes 
Construction costs, OHP, Professional, Planning 
and Building Regulation fees. The cost of the 
fixtures and fittings is £20,500 has been funded 
from another source.   
The adaptation was requested in June 2022 
after works had commenced and therefore was 
not included in the original scheme capital cost 

 Total additional scheme cost   2,555,417 Costs including the two additional bungalows – 
these result in additional scheme cost above 
level of Executive approval (Item A) and officer 
delegation (Items D, E and F (agreed under 
delegated tolerance) 

 Total revised scheme cost – 
incorporating items C, D, E 
and F (as listed above) 
(November 2023) 

24,737,010 Anticipated cost to complete scheme 
incorporating the above elements of £2,555,417 
additional spend. 

 

Page 349



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: EXECUTIVE  

Relevant Officer: Alan Cavill, Director of Communications and Regeneration  

Relevant Cabinet Member:  Councillor Mark Smith, Cabinet Member for Levelling Up- Place 

Date of Meeting  11 December  2023 

 

BLACKPOOL AIRPORT ENTERPRISE ZONE: ANNUAL REVIEW 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

This report sets out for review and approval: 
a) The further progress on the delivery of the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone 

and related activity at Blackpool Airport since the Executive of 5 December 
2022 

b) Outlines activity planned for the next fifteen months to the end of financial 
year (FY) 2024/25; and, 

c) Seeks authority to proceed with planned activities, related investment 
expenditure and required prudential borrowing in relation to:   

 Continued progression with work to undertake Phase 1 - highway and 
utility provision at Eastern Gateway and Airport East.;  

 Advance preparatory work and property acquisition to facilitate delivery of 
phase 2 at Silicon Sands, together with approval in principle to progress 
developments for a technology demonstrator data centre, solar farm and 
battery storage.  

 Confirmation of relevant delegated authorities including the letting of 
larger construction contracts and formal expenditure approvals in respect 
of match funding under the Town Deal.  

 To confirm amended governance arrangements  
 

2.0  Recommendations: 
 

2.1  
 

To note the progress made on the delivery of the Enterprise Zone Masterplan to date. 
 

2.2  To note the higher levels of risk associated with the overall whole life expenditure and 
income forecasts, given the present volatile nature of the economy and uncertainty 
over the long-term format of business rates.  
   

2.3  
 

To note, the total estimated cumulative expenditure from April 2016 to end of March 
2024 of £32.17m and the proposed works to take place. 
 
 

Page 351

Agenda Item 7



2.4 To approve the forecast expenditure budgets set out in exempt Appendix 7a, to the 
end of financial year 2023/24 (£14.85m), 2024/5 (£13.19m) and Town Deal project 
spend in 2025/26 (£8.62m), totalling £54.17m (from the current approval of £44.2m) 
and to note the increased whole life cumulative expenditure estimate of £ 83.69m at 
present values to March 2041. 
 
The £54.17m forecast expenditure referred to above includes: 

a) The increase in the commitment to provide match funding for the Towns 
Fund project from £16.4m approved in December 2022 by an additional 
£2.8m to £19.2m. 

b) The capital costs in relation to the Phase 1 works (Eastern Gateway and 
Area A / Airport East) and shown in Appendix 7d. 

c) The initial capital spend profile in relation to key enabling items in respect 
of Phase 2 (Silicon Sands) including the proposed development of a Tech 
Demonstrator its project methodology and proposed funding model. 

d) Expenditure of up to £200,000 to prepare a planning application and 
undertake due diligence for the development of a solar farm at Blackpool 
Airport.  

 
2.5 To delegate to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of the Council the 

direct contract award to the preferred contractor for the road infrastructure following 
the period of Early Contractor Involvement (ECI) (as set out in detail in exempt 
Appendix 7e). 
 

2.6 To approve the delegation hierarchy and thresholds, to authorise expenditure on 
individual schemes and property acquisitions within the Enterprise Zone and inter-
related airport holdings of Blackpool Airport Properties Ltd (BAPL) as set out in 
exempt Appendix 7g. 
 

2.7 To authorise the Head of Legal Services to enter into the NEC4 construction contract 
for the construction or Eastern Gateway, Common Edge Road and Airport East Access 
highways once approved by the Chief Executive under recommendation 2.5. 
 

2.8 
 

To note the ongoing review of the Airport business strategy and masterplan and its 
role in determining the nature and timing of new operational infrastructure provision 
and that a further report will be presented to the Executive in 2024 to identify 
Enterprise Zone investment in airport infrastructure spend which is not included 
within the funding approval sought in recommendation 2.4. 
 

3.0 Reasons for recommendations: 
 

3.1 Recommendations 2.1 to 2.4 are to record the current actual and future forecast 
expenditure. Whilst the estimated lifetime costs of £83.69m includes proposed  
airport infrastructure expenditure, the current approval sought for £54.17m does not 

Page 352



include airport infrastructure spend or the estimated additional costs of Prudential 
Borrowing set out in Appendix 7c (exempt). 
 
The Enterprise Zone is essentially an enabling project which seeks to provide the 
development sites, highways network and utilities infrastructure to support 
development of commercial property by third party developers and on occasion, by 
the Council acting as developer. It is this third party development, which secures the 
economic diversification, employment and business rates growth that are the 
overarching objectives of the Enterprise Zone.  
 
By its very nature the enabling infrastructure has to be provided in advance of 
securing commercial property development and occupying business – so there is an 
inherent risk that the secondary development objectives are not met or are delayed. 
 
The Delivery Plan provides the best current estimate in respect of costs and income 
potential to offset the enabling costs, and these estimates will vary throughout the 
lifetime of the project. If the enabling infrastructure is not provided for any reason 
then the built development and economic benefits cannot be delivered. 
 
The activity planned within the next 12 months includes: 

a) Construction of the new highways – Eastern Gateway, Airport East and 
Common Edge/School Road reconfiguration. 

b) Demolition of 2 School Road. 
c) Acquisition of a new 2MW substation  
d) Relocation of existing airport infrastructure, primarily VSP and the 

administration offices 
e) Enabling works in respect of a three storey, 30,000 sqft Technology 

Demonstrator. 
f) Identifying development partners in respect of the Technology Demonstrator 

at Silicon Sands.  
g) Ongoing feasibility in respect of an 18MW solar farm, 50MW battery farm and 

district heat network. 
h) Ongoing dialogue with the airport in respect of the Masterplan. 
i) Ongoing marketing and communications – including exhibiting at UKREiiF 2024 

in Leeds. 
 

3.2 Recommendation 2.4 seeks approval to an increase in the forecast match expenditure 
against the original business case which secured the £7.5m Towns Fund grant. 
 
The project was originally anticipated to cost in the order of £18m, and included as 
such within the December 2022 Executive report, with £7.5m being contributed via 
the Blackpool Town Deal and the balance by match funding from the Council.  The 
Town Deal spend has to be completed by March 2026. 
 

Page 353



The last year has been economically and technically challenging with significant 
inflation in the cost of construction materials, this has resulted in delays to the design 
and in negotiating the contracts for the new highways to be built. These delays have 
resulted in a far lower expenditure for financial year 2023/24 than had been 
estimated in the delivery plan approved in December 2022. This expenditure will now 
largely fall in financial year 24/25 and 25/26 which is reflected in the forecasts set out 
in Appendix 7a. The overall costs have increased with the Town Deal funding itself 
remaining constant, anticipated cost increases are reflected in the match fund 
element and the funding regulations require approval to such increases to be formally 
recorded.    
 

3.3 Recommendation 2.4 is to approve the forecast expenditure (set out in exempt 
Appendix 7e) in respect of the new highways at Eastern Gateway and Airport East to 
open up in excess of 10.5 Ha of land for development across two locations, and in 
respect of the costs of remodelling Common Edge Road and School Road Junctions. A 
plan showing the commercial development plots enabled following constructions of 
the Eastern Gateway is included as Appendix 7f. 
 
Approval of this expenditure will permit a construction contract to be let (in 
accordance with recommendation 2.5) and enable construction work and provision of 
utility service diversions and new supplies to commence in January 2024 with a 
projected completion and opening of the highways by Summer 2026.   
 

3.4 Recommendation 2.4 is to approve the forecast expenditure in respect of advance 
enabling works to prepare for the future development of the Silicon Sands on former 
airport operational land, including provision of a 2MW electricity substation and other 
utility infrastructure, site clearance, security fencing and relocation of temporary 
buildings to release initial sites for development. 
 
The Enterprise Zone masterplan approved in 2020, identified phase 2 of the 
Enterprise Zone as the Knowledge Quarter, occupying approximately 50 acres of land 
along the Squires Gate Lane frontage to be released for development by relocation of 
Airport operational facilities. In recognition of the development focus around digital 
industries and data centres this area has now been restyled as ‘Silicon Sands’, to 
better reflect the intended target uses and support  marketing activity a more 
focussed and less generic title. 
 
The recommendation also seeks approval in principle to progress proposals for the 
development, in conjunction with private sector development partners to be 
identified, of a low carbon technology demonstrator data centre of 2MW capacity. 
The envisaged pilot project will deliver a three storey technology demonstrator facility 
of between 16 and 24,000 sq ft. This will accommodate a data centre of initially 2MW 
and potentially up to 4MW capacity, utilising liquid immersion cooling technology. 
 

Page 354



 
The  technology demonstrator project will pave the way for development of further 
data centres within the Enterprise Zone and will, when operational, enable new 
businesses locating within the Enterprise Zone and wider Fylde coast to access the 
high capacity, ultra-low latency compute to support advanced manufacturing, digi-
health, and financial, leisure and service sectors; resulting in significant diversification 
of the local and sub-regional economies, and providing the means to onshore critical 
national data storage. Initial activity will focus on identifying appropriate development 
and operational partners, and securing firm interest in operating proposed Research 
and Development facilities and tech hub business floor space. The proposed 
development, which will be subject  to approval of a full business case which will be 
dependent upon securing up to £6m of grant funding by DHLUC  and identification of 
private sector partners. This is the next step in implementing the recommendations of 
the Innovation Catalyst run in conjunction with Lancaster University and subsequent 
outline business case prepared by the Connected Places Catapult. 
 
The project addresses multiple issues in respect of the Levelling Up ambitions and the 
Lancashire 2050 vision. It will make a significant impact toward achieving net zero 
carbon within the digital economy, demonstrating ability to make savings of up to 
60% in energy consumption against conventional air cooled data processing and 
enabling ongoing research into the decarbonisation of the critical but carbon heavy 
data sector. Its impact will be supported and enhanced by linked projects for the 
development of a solar farm on the south side of the airport and provision of battery 
storage capacity of up to 50MW. 
 

3.5 Recommendation 2.4 is to approve expenditure of up to £200,000 in respect of 
preparing and submitting a planning application for the development of an 18mw 
solar farm at Blackpool Airport. An initial feasibility study has identified that a solar 
farm can be profitably developed on the south side of Blackpool airport. The solar 
farm would support the development of data centres at the Enterprise Zone and 
generate a positive annual cash return whilst also contributing up to an estimated 
50% of the required carbon reduction needed to achieve net zero objectives in the 
council’s climate action plan.  The planning application is likely to take up to a year to 
secure, and will require a number of detailed supporting studies, including 
environmental, ecological and glint and glare studies. The allocated funding would 
also be used to undertake further due diligence feasibility studies and determine the 
most appropriate delivery approach. Work is also continuing to prepare a full business 
case and to determine the most appropriate route to undertake development – 
potentially with private sector partners. The identified locations for the solar farm sit 
within the airport boundary although outside of the designated Enterprise Zone, 
whilst the battery storage location and the associated sub stations would be located 
within the Enterprise Zone. The Enterprise Zone delivery plan reflects some potential 
future income from leasing land for the Solar Farm and has also to-date covered the 
cost of undertaking the initial feasibility study. As securing planning consent is key to 

Page 355



being able to progress the solar farm by whichever delivery route, it is considered 
appropriate that the cost of progressing to planning permission be met from the 
Enterprise Zone budget, until such time as a viable stand-alone project can be 
approved, at which point accrued cost would be transferred.    
 

3.6 Recommendation 2.5 is to delegate to the award of the construction contract for the 
Eastern Gateway and Area A highways, subject to the outcome of final negotiations 
on cost including those of utility diversions and new connections being within the 
budget parameters set out in Appendix 7e (exempt). 
 
It is proposed the direct award will be negotiated with a contractor under the STaR 
Procurement Framework, which the Council has access to and which permits a 
compliant, direct award to be made to the top ranked contractor under the 
framework.  
 
As site investigations and detailed design have been undertaken over the past 12 
months, ECI has enabled the development of the budget, programme and speciation 
of the new highway and associated works. The final budget remains subject to final 
negotiations with the proposed contractor. The delivery plan reflects the present best 
estimate of costs. A final figure will be agreed in principle by the end of December and 
if within budget parameters set out within Appendix 7e (exempt) the proposal is to 
proceed with the direct award under the NEC4 contract.  
 
It is proposed that as part of the direct award, the primary contract would include the 
requirement for the provision of mini-competitions/tenders with regards to works to 
be sub-contracted, including items such as excavations, disposal and surfacings. This 
will allow the Council to review and provide instruction in order to maintain cost 
efficiency and value for money. A direct award and ECI will also provide the Council 
with the ability to maximise the outputs expected from the contract with regards to 
social value. Early engagement will allow for the Council and contractor to agree a 
social value delivery programme with a specific aim of aligning these with the main 
principles of the Enterprise Zone and LEP, primarily local employment and the 
creation of high skilled job opportunities. 
 

3.7 Recommendation 2.6 Is to reconfirm the delegation for approval of expenditure 
within the approved Enterprise Zone delivery plan to the Director of Communications 
and Regeneration.  
 
The Eastern Gateway and Area A project comprises the majority of the Blackpool 
Enterprise Zone phase one delivery budget, it is therefore imperative that cost 
efficiency and program timings/delivery are evaluated at every stage. It is proposed 
that as part of the internal governance, financial approval threshold levels are agreed, 
including those relating to cost variance due to material changes. Officer Non Key 
decisions will be required for all new expenditure commitments, and will allow swift 

Page 356



progression of activity with minimal delays to implementation of works.  As set out in 
Appendix 7g (exempt). 
 

3.8 Recommendation 2.7 authorises the Head of Legal Services to complete a formal 
NEC4 contract for the construction of the Eastern Gateway and Common Edge 
Highways once the contract value has been approved in accordance with 
recommendation 2.8. 
 

3.9  Recommendation 2.8 is to note the airport business review and recovery strategy and 
masterplan in relation on key operational infrastructure will be completed in early 
2024.  This will determine the timing, cost and delivery potential of the noted items 
which will be highlighted in a separate report to Executive, but timing of said spend is 
yet to be determined. 
 
The relocation of the VSP and administration building is included in the current agreed 
delivery plan and within the funding projections for financial year 24/25 as the 
relocation of these facilities will enable the delivery of the proposed technology 
demonstrator. This project is subject to a separate business case. 
 

3.10 Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by 
the Council? 
 

No 

3.11 Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0 Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1 Maintain the existing approval for expenditure of up to £44.20m and seek to contain spend 
by delaying elements of the project, whilst also extending the timeframe for undertaking 
this expenditure by a further year to the end of financial year 24/25. However, this is 
unlikely to be sufficient to complete the whole of the revised Phase 1 and Towns Fund 
works, the funding for which must be completed by March 2026, and may create difficulty 
in committing to some elements of the extended Phase 1 works where these might extend 
beyond financial year 24/25. In particular it would put the ability to secure the full Towns 
Fund grant at risk.     
 

4.2 Approve the full £83.69m required to complete all the revised Phase 1 and Phase 2 works. 
In the light of the ongoing economic turbulence there is a high probability that there will be 
additional delays and fluctuations in demand, as well as new emerging opportunities such 
as the data management sector which will require a more flexible and responsive approach, 
thus it would be inappropriate to make such a large commitment at this stage. 
 

4.3 Limit further activity to provide enabling infrastructure until there is proven demand for 
specific elements. This would not provide the flexibility to respond to often short lead time 
requirements from occupiers, and would significantly reduce the potential of the Enterprise 

Page 357



Zone to generate income to meet the costs of infrastructure, ability to meet its ambitious 
targets of 5,000 new jobs, and the potential to generate more than £2bn Gross Value 
Added for the economy, and make meaningful contribution to securing carbon reduction 
targets. 
 

5.0 Council priority: 
 

5.1 The relevant Council priority is: “The economy: Maximising growth and opportunity 
across Blackpool”. 

 
6.0 Background information  

 
6.1 Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone is a 25 year project at the heart of efforts to grow 

and diversify the regional economy and the strategic objective in the overall Growth 
and Prosperity Programme of Creating Jobs in the Growth Sectors. Its long lifespan 
means that it has to be a flexible project able to identify and adapt quickly to ever 
changing economic influences and opportunities. The Enterprise Zone has been 
successful to-date supporting 2,471 new employment opportunities against a lifetime 
target of 5,000 and presents the unique chance to enable Blackpool to be at the core 
of the North West’s key digital industry sector, provide substantial levels of 
sustainable energy and contribute to securing carbon reduction targets whilst also 
securing a sustainable future for Blackpool Airport.   
 

6.2 Blackpool Airport 
 
The Enterprise Zone team continues to support Blackpool Airport in the development 
of its future strategic action plan and financial planning. The airport’s ability to deliver 
against its action plan is dependent upon the provision of new and replacement 
operational infrastructure via the Enterprise Zone, including provision of a new fuel 
farm, fire station and air traffic control facilities in addition to new and upgraded 
aircraft parking aprons and hangars; funding for which is reflected in the total costs of 
the Delivery plan, alongside projected business rates income rates from new facilities.   
 
Equally, the Enterprise Zone cannot deliver to its full potential without relocating old 
and time expired facilities along the Squires Gate frontage, for the development of 
Silicon Sands. The proposed new Solar farm is also key to delivery of the airports 
forward strategy – helping reduce operational costs and generating rental income 
form the site of the Solar farm. 
 

6.3 Progress since December 2022: 
 

a) The Common Edge Sports Village completed, with the new floodlit rugby 
league pitch being handed over to Parks and Leisure. The new £3m pavilion 
opened on the 30 June 2023 following completion of the Division Lane 

Page 358



Junction improvement works, which had been delayed by a number of 
unforeseen issues. The new grass pitches have completed their second season 
of use – and again hosted a very successful Blackpool Cup youth tournament 
over Easter and May bank holiday weekends, voted the best competition of its 
type in Europe for a second year. The tournament will return to Blackpool in 
2024. 
 

b) The highways improvements works, which involved the reconfiguration of the 
junction of both Division Lane East and West with Common Edge Road 
completed in May 2023. This allowed the formal use of the Sports Pavilion and 
associated facilities. The highways upgrade has been of particular benefit to 
the local residents and highway users in general with access and egress from 
these junctions significantly improving providing better visibility and turning 
provisions.  
 

c) Extensive site investigations have informed the detailed design of the 
highways across a challenging site with large areas of peat and a high water 
table subject to tidal influence. With the design complete early contractor 
involvement has seen progression toward an agreed contract price and 
programme – with the construction contract on an 18 month programme close 
to agreement.  
 

d) Following planning approval for the road in November 2022, all pre-
commencement planning conditions have now been submitted for approval. 
 

e) Statutory undertakers are fully engaged for diversion of existing services and 
provision of new connections, which alone will exceed £3.5m in cost, with 
their activities co-ordinated with the main contractor. The first diversion works 
of trunk telecommunications cables will commence in November 2023 and be 
completed before the Christmas break. 
 

f) A second planning application was submitted to Fylde Council in August 2023 
to secure consent for the realignment of the junction from Amy Johnson Way 
to provide access to the eastern sector of the Airport and enable development 
of new hangar accommodation. A decision on the application is anticipated in 
January. The provision of new hangar accommodation accessed from the new 
private roads will allow the commencement of releasing land on the Squires 
Gate frontage for new development.  The application seeks consent for the re-
alignment of the existing highway, a new estate road, a new business 
premises,  three aircraft hangars of 20,000 sqft each and two ‘Code C’ hangars 
totalling 90,000 sq ft. Initially only the roads, the business facility and two 
northernmost hangars can be constructed. The access road will open up the 
potential for developing land to the west of the ‘J-Max’ hangar for up to three 
Code C hangars capable of accommodating aircraft up to A321 and B737 size. 

Page 359



 
g) Work has also continued with support from consultants WSP, to determine 

power requirements to serve future phases of the Enterprise Zone – with 
specific focus on opportunities to provide sustainable power solutions with a 
combination of onsite Solar PV, battery storage and potential connections to 
offshore wind farms. 
 

h) Phase 1 of the Silicon Sands is progressing, with feasibility studies and concept 
drawings ongoing. This project is being fiscally appraised and delivery method 
discussed. If successful with the funding submission, it is possible development 
of this facility will commence on Q3/4 2024. To enable this development the 
demolition of the former airport fire engineering workshop was completed in 
July 2023. 
 

i) Agreement has been reached with Electricity North West Limited that they will 
provide a 32mw primary substation and wider network reinforcement to 
support data centre related development at Silicon Sands, and of the proposed 
Solar farm. This has allowed several million of costs included within the 
approved 2022 Delivery plan to be removed and has helped mitigate the 
impact of material cost inflation. 
 

j) Dialogue is ongoing with Lancashire County Council in respect of the Enterprise 
Zone within the prism of the proposed Lancashire Devolution Deal. The 
Enterprise Zone has been submitted to Lancashire County Council as a 
‘strategic employment site’. 
 

k) Marketing of Common Edge Phase 1 – Eastern Gateway, has been ongoing 
throughout 2023, and was officially launched at UK REiiFF May 2023. The 
communications strategy has been refreshed  with  a new Blackpool Digital 
marketing brochure produced, which alongside the Connected Places Catapult  
business case has been central to supporting funding bids for the proposed 
technology demonstrator data centre 

 
6.4 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 
The information regarding the commercially confidential cost estimates 
of the schemes in Appendices 7a, 7b, 7c, 7e and 7g is exempt from 
publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972.  
 
 
 
 
 

Yes 

Page 360



7.0 List of Appendices: 
 

 

7.1 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 7a: Blackpool Enterprise Zone Infrastructure Costs Model (Exempt) 
Appendix 7b: Blackpool Enterprise Zone Graphs (Exempt) 
Appendix 7c: Blackpool Enterprise Zone Prudential Borrowing Model (Exempt) 
Appendix 7d: Eastern Gateway Highway- General Arrangement 
Appendix 7e: Eastern Gateway Highway – Budget Costs (Exempt) 
Appendix 7f: Eastern Gateway  - Commercial Development Plots 
Appendix 7g: Proposed Governance Structure (Exempt) 

  
8.0 Financial considerations: 

 
8.1 a) The table below indicates the actual costs and income incurred on the scheme to 

date along with a forecast to 31 March 2023 and for the entirety of the scheme. 
They do not include the costs of prudential borrowing which will be necessary in 
the early stages of the scheme to facilitate development at the Enterprise Zone 

  ACTUALS to   FORECAST to   FORECAST to  TOTAL 
 

  
31 March 
2023  

31 March 
2024  

31 March 
2025 

 SCHEME COST to 
31 March 2041  

  
    

    
   £ M 

 
£ M 

 
£ M  £ M 

 COSTS 17.32 
 

32.17 
 

45.55  83.69 
 INCOME 4.15   10.19   18.87  66.99 
  

b) The financial position of the scheme and its performance will continue to be 
monitored and an annual update provided to Executive. 

c) For clarity the spend approved does not directly result in the income stream 
projected and is predicated on  a minimum of circa £300m of private sector 
investment once the infrastructure and other enabling works have been 
completed. To date it is estimated conservatively that some £50-60m private 
sector investment has been secured in new premises and capital spend on plant 
and machinery.    

d) The financial modelling within the Delivery Plan has deliberately adopted a 
pessimistic approach to risk and there is a realistic optimism that a number of 
factors identified below will result in a significant reduction in the currently 
forecast cash gap. Value engineering will be constantly undertaken to minimise 
costs and identify additional income generation and there will be opportunity to 
defer expenditure on some elements of the present masterplan. However, any 
delays in delivering new buildings within the Enterprise Zone will have a direct 
impact on the total lifetime income that can be generated via business rates 
growth retention so it is imperative that the Council remains committed to the 
continued realisation of these massive benefits for the Blackpool economy and its 
residents.  
 

Page 361



e) Expenditure is broadly separated into two phases – the first, where works are 
underway, encompasses the relocation of the Common Edge Sports facilities and 
the Towns Fund supported Highway works outlined above and some long lead 
advanced works for phase two. The second phase relates to provision of new 
aviation infrastructure to release land for commercial development and the 
development of Silicon Sands which will include provision for data centres and 
sustainable power generation and storage.  

f) Some overarching expenditure relates to both phases of development including 
the costs of the delivery team, consultancy support and the marketing of the 
Enterprise Zone    

g) There has been an increase in the forecast overall project expenditure as a result 
of material costs increases and progression of detailed design. The revised 
Delivery Plan model (Appendix 7a– exempt from publication) estimates a required 
expenditure of £83.69m to complete both Common Edge and airport phases over 
the period to 2041 with the bulk of infrastructure expenditure incurred over the 
next ten years. The estimates are based on current prices with contingency 
allowances made for risk and inflationary pressures on materials costs. Costs are 
based on design costs but, due to the recent economic uncertainty, we have 
maintained a contingency. The cost of prudential borrowing would be additional 
to these estimates. The Towns Fund grant will also generate £7.5m of income in 
this period. 

h) Of particular note, the costs of utilities infrastructure remains high since the 
December 2022 report. As per the Delivery Plan (Appendix 7a exempt from 
publication), we have built in a breakdown of the different utilities costs to 
monitor these as they are confirmed.  

i) It is anticipated that a significant portion of these additional capital costs will be 
recovered from the providers of the solar farm and battery storage, and via the 
higher land values achievable for specialist data use. Out of prudence these 
additional incomes have not yet been built into the financial model, whilst 
contributions are negotiated. 

j) It is difficult to isolate all specific costs for each of the two masterplan 
development phases with many areas of cost overlapping, particularly relating to 
the delivery and marketing activity, consultancy fees and some property 
acquisition and off-site costs including utility reinforcement. As detailed design 
work progresses it becomes a simpler task to break down the provision of 
Enterprise Zone infrastructure costs and analyse this against overall income and 
benefits.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 362



k) Table 2 below  illustrates the variations in the key expenditure components 
between the approved December 2022 delivery plan and the revised forecasts: 

TABLE 2 : COMPARISON OF PHASE 1 EXPENDITURE FORECASTS         

Description Approved Delivery plan 
from December 2020 

Revised forecast to Mar 
2027**** 

Infrastructure £5.73M £0.00 M 

Employment 
Land/Town Deal 
Highway 

£0.00M 
£  27.39 M** 

Knowledge Quarter £0.00M £3.36 M 

Airport £0.00M £15.36 M 

Sports 
Development/Local 
Facilities/Future 
Residential 

£0.00M 

£5.86 M 

Direct Development £4.11M £ 0.00 M 

Consultancy/fees £1.1M £  2.46 M 

EZ Delivery £1.59M £  3.39 M 

Other costs £5.54M £  0.99 M 

Land Acquisition costs £10.55M* £  12.32 M *** 

Contingency 5% £1.1M £ 2.85 M 

GRAND TOTAL COSTS £29.72 M £ 73.92 M 

*Included provision for Squires Gate Industrial Estate purchase  
** Now includes extra costs for Common Edge Highway and also reflects increased cost 
estimates as a result of greater knowledge of ground conditions, design progression and the 
tendered cost of enhanced replacement sporting facilities at Common Edge to satisfy Sport 
England requirements. The timescale has also been extended by 4 years.  
*** includes brought forward acquisition of property for Phase 2 Airport  
****includes airport infrastructure expenditure that is subject to change pending the result 
of ongoing report. 

 
l) Total expenditure on the Enterprise Zone project from April 2016 to end of 

November 2023 stands at £23.34m inclusive of the costs of acquiring Blackpool 
Airport in 2017 with forecast spend to the end of the current financial year at 
£31.78m. This figure is lower than originally forecast for the period to end of 
March 2024 as a result of the expenditure delays outlined above. However, with 
the progression of the road contracts from the end of FY 23/24, expenditure is 
anticipated to move closer to the initial profiles. 

m) A series of graphs at Appendix 7b (exempt from publication) illustrate the current 
expenditure forecast compared to the projected spend envisaged in December 
2022 showing how this has lagged slightly behind forecast. The graphs also 
similarly illustrate the anticipated shift in the forecast receipt of income and the 
years when expenditure exceeds income, there will be a continued requirement 
for Prudential Borrowing. 

n) The December 2022 Delivery Plan estimated a total income generated from 

Page 363



retained business rates growth, land sales and grants of £71.93m. This has 
decreased with the revised draft Delivery Plan now anticipating a total Enterprise 
Zone lifetime income from retained business rates growth, likely land disposals, 
rentals and grant including £7.5m of Towns Fund of some £66.99m. This estimated 
income includes a deduction of 40% to reflect optimism bias reduction of forecast 
income to reflect the probability that income generated from retained business 
rates and land sales/rental will be lower than the full potential or delayed due to: 

 weaker demand 

 delays in delivery and occupation of new premises 

 potential requirements to subsidise the Enterprise Zone rates baseline 
income where this could be impacted by voids, bad debts and successful 
rating appeals 

o) The Optimism Bias income reduction percentage used in December 2022 was set 
at 40% and has been maintained to reflect ongoing economic uncertainty. 

p) A more detailed summary of the forecast expenditure to progress the two EZ 
delivery phases approved in February 2022 (Common Edge and Airport) are 
illustrated in the Table 3 below. The forecast, combined expenditure to progress 
Phases one and two to the end of financial year 2024/2025 is £28.24m  in Table 3 : 

 
TABLE 3  2023/24   2024/25  GRAND TOTALS 

   phase 1    phase 2  Total  phase 1    phase 2  Total  

 Employment 
Land/Town Deal 
Highway  

 £6,185,184         £174,187                        £6,359,371         £8,877,752  £522,428                       £9,400,180    £15,759,551 

Knowledge 
Quarter  

 £0                
-  

 £804,733                      £804,733                
- 

 £0  £225,000                       £225,000 £1,029,733 

Airport £537,242 £1,685,000 £2,222,242 £200,000 £20,000 £220,000 £2,442,242 

Sports 
Development/Lo
cal 
Facilities/Future 
Residential 

£1,496,118 £0 £1,496,118 £10,000 £0 £10,000 £1,506,118 

 Direct 
Development  

 £ 0           £0         £ 0  £0             £0         £0        £0 

 Consultancy / 
Fees  

 £345,683             £20,000                       
-  

£365,683            £266,000            £  20,000                     
-  

£286,000           £651,683    

 EZ Delivery   £603,850            £0                       £603,850            £174,717            £437,942                       
-  

£612,659           £ 1,216,509   

 Other Costs   £237,295         £106,250                      £ 343,545        £45,400         £293,750            £339,150        £682,695 

 Land Acquisition 
Costs  

 £1,571,777         £374,500           £ 1,946,277       £44,000            £1,612,000             £1,656,000          £3,602,277 

 Contingency 
costs   

 £548,857            £158,234           £707,091            £480,893             £156,556             £ 637,449          £1,344,540    

 GRAND TOTAL 
COSTS  

 11,526,007       £3,322,904        £14,848,911         £10,098,763         £3,287,676         £ 13,386,439       £28,235,349 

q) Some project elements included within the above totals will continue to require 
expenditure into financial year 2025/26, particularly the Highways/Towns Fund 
project, and utility provision. A detailed business case will be produced for each 
specific element of project works and expenditure will only be committed beyond 
financial year 2025/26 where there is a clear and compelling case for doing so to 
complete delivery and deliver outputs and outcomes. 
 

 

Page 364



8.2 Retained Assets 
The delivery plan does not take account of the value of retained assets including the 
new Sports Village at Common Edge and Blackpool Airport which will benefit from 
additional infrastructure investment via the Enterprise Zone, as these do not directly 
contribute to the cost of prudential borrowing repayment. A re-valuation of these 
new and improved assets will be required but on historic basis of acquisition cost and 
investment will exceed £11m. 
 

8.3 Prudential Borrowing: 
a) As reported in December 2022, the early income streams generated by the 

Enterprise Zone are likely to be insufficient to meet the costs of investment 
required to provide enabling infrastructure, and it will be necessary to undertake 
prudential borrowing. It has been agreed that Prudential borrowing for the 
Enterprise Zone will be applied at a discounted rate during the development phase 
of the scheme and that this will be on the basis of interest until the end of March 
2025, with capital repayments commencing in the 10th year of the Enterprise 
Zone and being recovered over the following 25 years, which will extend beyond 
the life of the Enterprise Zone. 

b) The Enterprise Zone Model, attached at Appendix 7a (exempt) demonstrates the 
Enterprise Zones ability to repay the Prudential Borrowing incurred over the life of 
the scheme. Included in the model are capital receipts, other incomes, such as 
rents, and business rates which can be used to repay the borrowing.  

c) Whilst there exists the possibility of delaying or accelerating expenditure on 
elements of the enabling infrastructure to match changed circumstances – 
particularly new requirements for employment generating accommodation, there 
are some items where significant upfront expenditure has to be committed to in 
the immediate future to ensure that the Enterprise Zone can respond to 
anticipated future demand. There is every confidence that such up front capital 
expenditure will be recouped from the sought after investment but, out of 
prudence, allowance is not currently made for such income until this is certain. 
Without the commitment to provide the necessary enabling infrastructure there 
would be no prospect of securing this future investment       

d) The current projected capital cost of the Enterprise Zone is £83.69m, excluding the 
cost of prudential borrowing. The full cost of the Enterprise Zone including the 
estimated costs of Prudential Borrowing is £118.75m. The cost of prudential 
borrowing is the amount of interest charged on the borrowing. As interest rates 
change, this total cost is also subject to change and will be kept under yearly 
review with the rest of the costs of the Enterprise Zone. 

e) Currently, the model demonstrates that the Enterprise Zone would have a cash 
shortfall of £20.47m. In other words, there would be £20.47m worth of Prudential 
Borrowing costs, both principle and interest, over the life of the scheme that the 
Enterprise Zone does not recover in the incomes mentioned above and which 
would have to be funded from elsewhere. By today’s prices, referred to in the 
model as NPV, this cost is £16.69m. Changes to the pooled rate may also alter this 

Page 365



figure. 
f) Benefits that do not produce a cash-flow or other direct cash receipt are not 

factored into the NPV model as they could not be used to contribute to the 
repayment of Prudential Borrowing. For example, any residual value of Blackpool 
Airport including planned new investment  and sports facilities has not been 
included as the value within the airport could not be used to repay Prudential 
Borrowing unless it were sold. 

 
8.4 Mitigation of the current forecast gap includes :- 

a) There is currently no residual value attributed within the delivery plan to the 
Airport or other retained land and property investment at the end of the 
Enterprise Zone Project in 2041  

b) Until the full final study of the Solar Farm feasibility has been completed 
limited income / capital value has been attributed to this. 

c) No income has yet been attributed to the proposed Battery Storage facility as 
this remains an unknown. 

d) No income has yet been allowed for contributions to the Energy infrastructure 
from Battery Storage, Solar Farm and off shore wind farm connections, nor in 
respect of reduced operating costs for the airport and Enterprise Zone which 
may enhance land values.    

e) The provision of fully serviced plots at Eastern Gateway and energy and data 
enabled plots at the Airport / Silicon Sands will yield higher incomes than 
presently included within the financial model. 

f) Technical valuation issues in respect of land held by Blackpool Airport 
Properties Ltd have to be resolved which may impact on anticipated gross 
incomes. 

g) The 40% optimum bias reduction in income model should be improved upon 
with strong pipeline demand  

h) Further work is to be undertaken to break down the Enterprise Zone into a 
series of smaller self-contained delivery elements, within the two primary 
phases, to better assess the value and optimum timing of each element to 
maximise benefit. Some expenditure remains overarching such as the revenue 
marketing and delivery team costs which can be flexed to reflect short term 
requirements.   
 

9.0 
 
9.1 

Legal considerations: 
 
Construction and utility provision contracts will need to be entered into subject to 
approval of recommendations. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 366



 
10.0 Risk management considerations: 
  
10.1 The primary areas of risk are associated with cost and income, with many elements 

including the present Energy and cost of living crisis, increased interest rates, residual 
impacts of Brexit, the lasting impacts of Covid-19 on costs and working practices and 
changes to the taxation system out of the control of the Council as accountable body.  
A full project risk register is maintained and reviewed on a monthly basis. 
 
In light of the expected the economic volatility and the difficulty this presents in 
accurately forecasting expenditure and particularly income, performance against the 
Delivery Plan will continue to be closely monitored on a monthly basis by the 
Enterprise Zone Delivery Team and Finance Team and reviewed by the monthly 
Project Board. Full revisions of the Delivery Plan will continue to be reported annually. 
 

10.2 Costs: 
Until elements of the project are designed and contracts are entered into, there is a 
significant risk that costs may increase against initial estimates, we can already see 
this impact in terms of increased estimates for highway costs as additional site 
investigation data and final designs becomes available. Wherever appropriate, 
detailed value engineering exercises will be undertaken to reduce cost without impact 
on quality. All major cost elements within the Delivery Plan contain an appropriate 
level of contingency and there is also a whole scheme contingency allowance 
included.   
 

10.3 Income: 
The impact on income from the cumulative effects of, Ukraine, Energy costs, Brexit, 
Covid-19, and the natural fluctuation in market demand over the long lifespan of a 
project of the complexity and length of the Enterprise Zone, makes it particularly 
difficult to forecast the timing and quantum of income as we move further into the 
future. 
 
Over the financial year  2021/22 and financial year 2022/23, the retained rates growth 
income saw a nominal surplus after having backfilled shortfalls in financial tear 
2020/21 due to COVID. This shortfall was a result of voids and delays in establishing 
rateable values at Squires Gate Industrial Estate, non-payment and default of bad 
debts across the wider estate.  
 
There is also a risk that land values on disposal may not be as great as forecast, as 
construction costs increases outstrip increases in rents and capital values. Similarly 
the delivery of individual buildings may also be delayed against forecast, which will 
reduce the quantum of retained business rates income and land sale receipts. 
 
 

Page 367



 
10.4 Business rates:  

The potential for a future change in the national business rates system also adds 
uncertainty whilst the funding of Enterprise Zones is based on retained rates growth, 
a replacement equivalency formula will need to be negotiated with Government for 
funding and the outcome of such negotiations cannot be guaranteed. At present the 
forecasts for income from retained business rates growth reflect a deduction of 40% 
for optimism bias from potential income, to cover delays and the impact of rates 
appeals, voids and bad debt. 
 

10.5 Planning: 
The Common Edge playing fields were initially within the Blackpool Greenbelt, 
however the approval in February 2023 of the Local Plan Part 2 examination has 
removed this site from the greenbelt and allows the planning consent for Common 
Edge and the Eastern Gateway highways and commercial development to be 
undertaken subject to satisfying all 39 appended planning conditions the local plan 
has completed. The planning application approved by the Council on 11th October 
had to be referred to the Secretary of State for determination and whilst delays until 
2023 were anticipated Secretary of State’ approval was received on the 10th 
November. No guarantee can ever be given that planning consent will be secured in a 
timely fashion for any aspect of development as each application has to be 
independently reviewed on its merits. A large proportion of future development at  
Silicon Sands and for the airport infrastructure relocation sits within the jurisdiction of 
Fylde Council and where this is presently located in the Fylde greenbelt and  very 
special circumstances need to be establish to permit consent to be granted- for 
example in respect of the proposed solar farm.  
 

10.6 Mitigations: 
At present there is a strong pipeline of enquiries which is outstripping supply and at 
the end of the Enterprise Zone term, there will still be significant asset value held by 
the Council, not least the airport and the Common Edge sports facility. Full reviews of 
the Masterplan will be undertaken every five years with interim refreshes when 
appropriate, whilst the Delivery Plan will be monitored annually and adjusted to 
reflect progress, opportunity and the changing environment.   
 

11.0 Equalities considerations and the impact of this decision for our children and young 
people: 
 

11.1 The Enterprise Zone also remains on target to achieve the 5000 new jobs supported which 
will add in the region of a cumulative £2bn Gross Valued Added to the local economy.  This 
represents an average cost per job in the region of £23,750.17 when viewed against the 
currently forecast £118,750,833.75 total cost including Prudential Borrowing costs. 
Nationally job creation costs may now be expected in the region of £20 -30,000 + per head. 
 

Page 368



 
12.0 Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 

 
12.1 Development of the Solar Farm, battery storage, potential windfarm connections and 

district heating networks will all, in conjunction with the low carbon data centres 
make a considerable contribution towards achieving Net Zero and make a significant 
contribution to achieving Blackpool’s Council’s net zero targets following the 
declaration of a climate emergency. All new commercial buildings within the 
Enterprise Zone will be construction to a minimum of BREAAM ‘Very Good’ standard.  
The Eastern Gateway and Silicon Sands design guides will establish clear requirements 
for the provision of bio-diversity net gain, the utilisation of SUDS in all drainage – with 
the Eastern Gateway access road incorporating drainage swales to either side – as 
part of a balanced drainage design which will limit surface water run off to existing 
greenfield run off rates. 
 

13.0 Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1 Consultations have been undertaken with relevant directorates within the Council 
including the Growth and Prosperity Board, Finance, Legal Services and Leisure, 
Blackpool Airport Operations Ltd and operators based at Blackpool Airport.  
Following the further consultation on the Masterplan any significant revisions 
identified will be presented to Executive for final approval. Subsequent approval 
consultation on individual elements of the Enterprise Zone will take place through the 
normal planning application process. 
 

14.0 Background papers: 
 

14.1 Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone: Annual  Review 7th February 2022 (EX9/2022) 
 

15.0 Key decision information: 
 

15.1 Is this a key decision? 
 

Yes 

15.2 If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

19/2023 

15.3 If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

15.4 If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
16.0 Call-in information: 

 
16.1 Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 

exempt from the call-in process?  
 

No 

Page 369



 
16.2 If yes, please give reason: 

 
  

 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

17.0 Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed: 1 December 2023 Date approved: 
 

      

18.0 Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

18.1  
 

19.0 
 
19.1 
 

Summary of Discussion: 
 
 

20.0 Executive decision: 
 

20.1  
 

21.0 Date of Decision:    
 

21.1  
 

22.0 Reason(s) for decision: 
 

22.1 
 

 

23.0 Date Decision published: 
 

23.1  
 

24.0 
 
24.1 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
 
 

25.0 Executive Members in attendance:   
 

25.1 
 

 
 
 

Page 370



 
26.0 Call-in:   

 
26.1       

 
27.0 Notes:   

 
27.1  
 
 
  
 
 

 
 

 

Page 371



 
 
 

Page 372



MH

LP

MH

SUB STATION

WIND BREAK
MOUND

SEP1

SEP2

SEP3

SEP4

SEP5

SEP6

AN1 DB1

DB100

DB102

DB103

DB110

DB111

DB112

DB113

DB114

SEPAN3

G4.81

LP

COL

BR
IC

K 
R

TW

CONC RTW

CONC RTW

BR
IC

K 
RT

WBR
IC

K 
R

TW

COL

CONC RTW

CONC RTW

CONC RTW

CONC RTW

CONC RTW

CONC RTW

CONC RTWI/R

I/R

I/R

I/R

P/R

P/
R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

G0.3ø

SP
CB

G0.4ø

G5.31

WST

G5.20

G0.15ø

G0.15ø
G0.15ø

G0.3ø

G0.3ø

G0.15ø

BT

BT

CL8.38

CL8.34

KO BT
CL8.15

CTV
8.09

LP

BUSH

BUSH

EIC
CL8.57

BUSH

BUSH

BUSH
BUSH

W/M
W/M

W/M

W/M
W/M

WST

BT
CL8.78

COM
CL8.48

WST

RS

RS

BUSH BUSH

BUSH

D.C

FH

WM

WM
WM

MKRGAS MKRGAS

LP
CTV8.27

COMCL8.28

CTV8.18
ICCL8.16

GST IC
CL8.14

G8.07

MHCL8.08

BS

G7.90

KO

BT
CL8.05LP BT

CL8.06

CTV
CTV

8.04 8.02

CBCB
IC
CL8.00

KO

WM

GST

BUSH

BUSH

IC
CL8.54

IC
CL8.56BUSH

BUSH

MHCL8.30

BUSH

BRICK WALL

BRICK WALL

BRICK WALL

BRICK WALL

BRICK WALL

BRICK WALL

W/M

BRICK WALL
BRICK WALL

G8.22

IC
CL8.81

PAL

BW IC
CL8.75

BUSH

IC
CL8.72

BRICK WALL
BRICK WALL

BRICK WALL

LP

G8.37

SP

BT
CL9.14

CTV
8.91

GST

WM

BR
IC

K

ER

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BR
IC

K W
ALL

BR
IC

K W
ALL

BR
IC

K W
ALL

BR
IC

K W
ALL

BUSH

MH
CL9.03

PAL PAL

G
9.02

SP

BUSH

BUSH

SP

BR
IC

K W
ALL

BR
IC

K W
ALL

GP

GP

LP

BT
CL8.91

G8.79

WM

GST

BR
IC

K W
ALL

BR
IC

K W
ALL

BR
IC

K W
ALL

CH/L

SP

SP SP

ICCL9.07

CB

BUSH

I/R
I/R

I/R
I/R

I/R
I/R

I/R
I/R

RS

SNP

IC
CL9.18

BT

BT

CL9.15

CL9.17

ICCL9.16

CTV9.07

RS LP

G8.93

IC
CL9.04

SNP

BTCL9.07

WST

CTV9.00

PTGP

I/R
I/R

PTI/R

I/R

PT

SP

I/R

MHCL9.15ER

DP

IC
CL8.99

RISER

MH
CL9.18

PAL

PAL

BOL BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

SP

GP

GP

LP

G8.80

I/R
I/R

I/R
I/R

I/R
I/R

I/R
I/R

I/R
I/R

I/R
I/R

I/R

MH
CL9.13

IC
CL9.02

MH
CL8.82

G8.79

MH
CL9.03

LP

BS

G8.96

COM
CL9.11

G8.92

PT

MH
CL8.88

G8.87

GSTBTCL9.05

GP

GP

PAL

I/R
I/R

I/R
I/R

I/R
I/R

I/R

I/RI/RI/R

SP
SP

SP

G8.84

RS

G8.93

G9.03

CTV9.00

WST

BT
CL9.15

WST

LP G9.16
BT
CL9.28

WST

PT

WST

PB

PB

RS

SNP

I/R
I/R

I/R
I/R

PT

I/R

FP

I/R

I/R
I/R

FP

I/R

PT

I/R
I/R

FP

I/R

FP

I/R

FH

CB

PT

COM

COM

CL9.34

CL9.24

CB

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

SP

SP

P/R

P/
R

P/R

P/R

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

H
ER

AS
H

ER
AS

H
ER

AS

H
ER

AS

H
ER

AS

H
ER

AS
H

ER
AS

H
ER

AS

H
ER

AS

H
ER

AS
H

ER
AS

H
ER

AS

HE
RA

S

HE
RA

S

HE
RA

S

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

HE
RA

S

H
ER

AS

HE
RA

S

HE
RA

S

HE
RA

S

HE
RA

S

HE
RA

S

GP

GP

W/M

W/M

W/M

W/M

G7.44

MH
MH

CL7.48
CL7.49

G7.48

W/M

W/M

MH
MH

MH

CL8.07

CL8.05

CL8.04

PIPE
OP OP

P/
W

P/W

P/W

P/W

P/W

P/W

P/W

P/W

P/W

P/W

P/
W

IC
CL6.15

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

C
H

/L

CH/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

CH/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L
CH/L

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

C
H

/L
C

H
C

H
C

H
/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

CH/L

CTV8.13

LP

SNP

LP

MHCL8.26

KO

WST

CTV8.04

SNP

WST

WST

FH

LP
BT
CL8.13 D

.C

D
.C

KO

IC
CL7.91

KO

RSSNP

BTCL7.91

IC
CL7.89

SAP

SAP

SAP

IC
CL8.08SAP

SAPSAP
SAP

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W/M
W/M

W/MW/M

KO

CTV
7.88

KO

KO

BT
CL7.89

W/M

W/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W/M

W
/M

W/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

SAP

SAP

IC

IC

CL8.09

CL8.15

COMCL8.08

IC
CL8.09

MH
CL8.12

G8.15

BOL BOL

MH MH
CL8.18 CL8.21

G8.36

BOL
BOL G8.33

WST
BOL

BOL

MH
CL8.24

G8.32

BOLBOL

MHCL8.21

D.C

D.C
D.C

D.C

C
H

/L

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

HE
RA

S

C
/B

PAL
PAL

PAL

LP

WST

WST

H
ER

AS

P/
R

P/
R

P/
R

P/
R

P/
R

P/
R

P/
R

P/
R

P/
R

P/R

P/R

LP

KO

BTCL8.03

LP

CB

CTV8.07

IC
CL8.08

G8.10

G8.01

WM

EIC
CL8.13

MH
CL8.18

HO
ARDING

BT
CL8.13

LP
G7.94

GST

MHCL8.01

MHCL8.08

LP

EIC
CL8.18

LP

IC

IC

IC

CL8.20

CL8.20

CL8.18

CTV
8.14

EICCL8.23

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

IC
CL8.57

BOL

WST

CB
CTV7.97

BT
CL7.98

WST

KO

COLLAPSED BOLLARDS

D.C

D.C

BOL

W/M

W/M

W/M

MG

MG

PT

W
/M

P/R

P/R

LP

LP

W/M

W/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

PT

SP

EICCL5.89

SP

SNP

KO

G6.25

MG

MG

MG

G0.3ø

MG

MG

G0.3ø

BUSH

P/
R

MG

MG

MG

BUSH

BUSH

P/W

P/W
P/W

P/W
P/W

P/W

G0.3ø

G0.3ø

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G0.4ø

MG
MG

MG

G0.4ø

MG

MG

P/W

P/W

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MH

MH

CL6.96

CL6.97

SP

SP

ELB

KO

MHCL6.68

G6.68

BT
CL6.79

C/B

C/B

CONCRETE RTW

BRICK WALL

WST

PAL

G5.42

G0.3ø

W
ALL

P/R

ASSUM
ED FENCE LINE

VALVE

350Ø

MH
CL9.12

SV

IC
CL9.02

IC
CL8.14

PT
MH

PT

PT

PT

PT

PT

PTPT

PT

G0.8 G0.8

MG

MG
MG

G0.5
MG

MG

G1.2

MGG0.4

G0.4
MG

G1.0

G0.8

MG

G0.8

G0.8

G1.0

G0.6

G1.4

MG

MG
MG

MG
MG

DR

DR

DR EAVES

BOL PT
PT

MGG0.6MG
MG

MH
OP
450Ø

BIN
MH

OP
225Ø

OP
375Ø

OP
375Ø

OP
650Ø

OP
650Ø

PT

PT

PT

PT

PT

PT
PT

PT

PT

PT

PT

PT

MGMGMG
MG STUMP

MG
MG

PT

PT

PT

PT

PT

PT

PT

PT

PT

DR WM

DR
IC

TP

PT PT

TP

PTPT
MG

MG

MG

TP

IC

PT
PT

PT PT

PT PT

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG MG

MG

SO2

SO4

SO5 SO6

BENCH

PT
PTPT

G

G

PT

MG

WSV

WSV

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G0.7

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G0.7

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
G1.0

MH

PT

MG

MG

G

G

LP

MH

BOL BOL
DR

MG

BIN ER BIN

MG

MG

G

G MH

G0.1

G

BTG0.1
G0.1

G0.1

MG MG

MG
MG

G

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG MG

MG

MGMG MG

MG

MG MG

MG

MG MG
MG

MG

MG

MG
MG
MG MG

MG

MG
MG MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MGMG

MG
MG

MG

MGMG
MG

MG

MGMGMG

MG

MG MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG
MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MGMG

MG

MG
MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MH

PT

WSTWST
WST

PT
MG

G

G

G

G

G

MD1

MD2

MD3

MD4

MG

FLOODLIGHTFLOODLIGHTFLOODLIGHTFLOODLIGHT

FLOODLIGHT

FLOODLIGHT

FLOODLIGHT

FLOODLIGHT

FLOODLIGHT

FLOODLIGHT

FLOODLIGHT

FLOODLIGHT

FLOODLIGHT

FLOODLIGHT

SP

PT PT

PT
BOL

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG
MGMG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG
MG

MGMG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

OP
300Ø

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

PT
PT

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL
PT

BOL

BOL

BOL

TP

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

PTPT

PTPT

MG

MG

PT

PT

PT

PT

PT PT

MG

MG MG
MG

MG

MG

MG MG

MG

MG

MG

MGMG

MG

MG MG MG MG
MG

MG

MG

MG MG

MG
MG MGMG

MG
MG MG

MG
MG

MG

MG MG

AV

11.26

EAVES

IC

IC

BENCH

SP

AV

B

B B
B B B B

B B

B

B B B B B B

B B
B

BBBBBBBBBB

B B B
B B B B B B B B B

B B B B B B B B
B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

FH

FH FH

FH

G

G

G

G

G
G

G

G

G

G

G

G G

G
G

G

G

G

G

G

GV

GV

IC

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

PP

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

RE

RE

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

RS

ST

ST ST

STST

ST
ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

SV

SV

SV

SV

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TP

TP

TP

TP

TP

TP

TP

TP

TP

WM

WM

WM WM

WM
WMWM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM
WM

CATV

Stay

TH

TH THTH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH
TH

TH

THTH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH

TH TH

TH

FL

EL

EL

EL

EL

EL

EL

EL
EL

EL

EL

EL

EL

EL

EL

EL

EL

EL

EL
EL

EL
EL

EL
EL

EL

RL

RL RL

RL

RL

RL

RL

RL

RL

RL

P

P

P

P
P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

PP

P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

PPP

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

FR

FR

FR

FR

t/wall

10.44

12.90

7.48

9.71

12.19

12.20

9.05

13.90

7.29 7.297.29

14.23

7.26

7.28

7.45

10.60

10.02

11.267.67

8.06

8.09

8.10

10.21

14.72

9.04

7.43

7.36

7.47

7.64

7.62

7.67

7.82

7.05

12.44

12.53

15.05

8.81
12.20

7.65

9.00

7.29

7.88

6.91
5.24

5.19

5.115.17

5.17

5.19

5.16

7.49
5.06

5.05

5.03

14.73

14.20

9.94

10.07

11.10

12.50

13.83

7.66

7.83

7.85

7.42 7.40

7.42

8.99

7.387.37

7.377.36

7.28
7.30

7.18

6.73

AN1

AN3

AN4

SEP46

SEP47

SEP48

SEP49

SEP50

SEP51

SEP52

SEP53

LP
WM

CTV
8.62

LP

BUSH

BUSH

MH
CL8.73

MH
CL8.79

BR
IC

K W
ALL

BUSH

BUSH

BUSH

WM

GST

BT
CL8.78

FH
MH
CL9.06

WSV
WSV

MH
CL9.03

BUSH

BUSH

MH
CL8.57

GP

GP

BUSH

DP
G8.95

G8.96
DP

ER

G8.93
DP

ER

BR
IC

K W
ALL

BR
IC

K W
ALL

G8.95
DP

BUSH

G8.77

CH/L

W/M W/M W/M

W/M

W
/M

ER

MH
CL8.92

CH/L
CH/L

CH/L
CH/L

CH/L

C
H

/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

W
/M

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

CH/L

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

FH BLO
C

K W
ALL

SP

CCTV

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

IC
CL8.73 MH

CL8.62

G8.63

G8.50

PTFH

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

C
H

/L

CH/L

G8.59

G8.62

G8.72

P/R

P/R
P/R

P/R
P/R

P/R
P/R

P/R

P/R

IC
CL8.91WSV

IC
CL8.86

IC
ICCL8.86
CL8.88

IC
CL8.89

SNP

IC
CL8.93

IC

IC

IC
CL8.99

CL8.99

CL9.01

IC
CL8.74

G8.71

MH
CL8.76

GLT

GLT

G8.86

GLT
G8.89

G8.90

GLT

G8.95 GLT

GLT

IC

IC

CL9.35

CL9.34

GLT

GLT

GLT

GLT

GLT

GLT

GLT

SNP

GLT

GLT

MH
CL9.09

I/R

ER

BR
IC

K W
ALL

BR
IC

K W
ALL

SNP

SNP

SNP

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

GLT

GLT

GLT

GLT

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

SNP

SNP

GLT

GLT

GLT

GLT

GLT

SNP

SNP

G8.54

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

G8.55

MH
CL8.57

GLTG8.68

G8.90

GLT

G9.13

ER
MH
CL9.00

ER

DP

DP

DP

DP

CH/L
CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L
CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

P/R
P/R

P/R
P/R

P/R
P/R

P/R
P/R

P/R
P/R

P/R
P/R

P/R
P/R

P/R
P/R

RE

ER

BOL

ER

BOL

ER

BOL

ER

BOL

ER

G8.91
G8.92

ER

MH
CL8.95

IC
CL9.54

PT

IC
CL9.53

PT

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

C
H

/L

LP

C
H

/L

C
H

/L

CH/L

AN1
DB1

DB2

DB3

DB4

DB5

BT

BT

CL8.71

CL8.66

KO

KO SN
P

WST

WST

MH

MH

MH

CL8.58

CL8.42

CL8.38

LP

LP

SN
P

D
.C

D
.C

CTV8.87

LP

LP

EIC
CL8.89 LP

WM

WM

BTCL8.97

LP

WM

CTV
8.99

C
H

/L
C

H
/L

EIC
CL8.71

KO

MHCL8.70

KO

WST

FH

MH MHCL8.96 CL8.93
BTCL9.19

BS

LP

LP

CB
ER

KO

BT
CL9.19

WST

MH

MH

CL9.10

CL9.16

LP

BT
CL9.35

LP

MHCL8.84W/M

W/M

W
/M

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

CH/L

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

W
/M

P/R

P/R

P/R

MH
CL8.21

RT
W

LP

BT
CL9.29LPEICCL9.37

MH

MH

CL9.09

CL9.09

D.C
D.C

BR
IC

K

BTCL8.82

DB111

DB110

H
O

AR
D

IN
G

MHCL8.15

LP

MH

MH

CL8.09

CL8.24

PT
SAP

P/R
P/R

P/R

P/R

P/
R

P/
R

P/R
P/R

P/R

P/R
P/R

P/R
P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R

P/R
P/R P/R

P/R P/R
P/R P/R

P/R
P/R

P/R

PT

SAP

SAP

PT

MHCL8.14
LP

MH

MH

CL8.24

CL8.44

PT
SAP

SAP

PT

PT
SAP

MH
CL8.19

LP

SAP
PT

MHCL8.12

COL

MH
CL8.15

PT
SAP

SAP
PT

PT
SAP

SAP
PT

MHCL8.00

LP

LP

SAP
PT

PT

SAP

MHCL8.06

D
.C

D
.C

D
.C

D
.C

D
.C

D
.C

D
.C

D
.C

MH
CL7.92

MH
CL8.11

PTSAP

SAP
PT

PTSAP

MH
CL8.25

VP

MH
CL8.25

ER

BOL

BOL

W/M

VP

MH

MH
CL8.28

CL8.27

BOLBOL

LP

CB

P/R

P/R P/R

W/M
W/M

W/M

CB

PTMH
CL8.09

W
/M

FH

MH

MH

CL8.07

CL8.10

PTSAP

LP

PT

AN1

AN2

DB101

MH
CL8.87

G8.51

MH
CL8.50

G8.45

BTCL8.59

EICCL8.58

FH

WST

BT
CL8.61G8.50

MHCL8.69

PT

BUSH

COL

BUSH

CTV
8.87

EIC
CL8.94

BT
CL8.95

LP

G8.74

WM

ER

IC
CL8.86

CB

G8.51

A
M

Y JO
HN

SO
N

 W
A

Y

SCHOOL ROAD

COMMON EDGE ROAD

DIVISION LANE

AREA A

AREA F

A
REA

 E

A
REA

 D

AREA H

CLEAR
KEEP

KEEP
CLEAR

BUS
STOP

NO ENTRY

CLEAR
KEEP

CLEAR
KEEP

BUS
STOP

SLO
W

SLOW

SLOW

AREA G

C
O

M
M

O
N

 ED
G

E RO
A

D

A
REA

 C

NOTES – GENERAL:

1) ALL DIMENSIONS ARE STATED IN MILLIMETRES UNLESS
NOTED OTHERWISE.

2) ALL LEVELS ARE STATED IN METRES
3) ALL DIMENSIONS, LEVELS AND CO-ORDINATES ARE

BASED UPON TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY DRAWING NO.
(17A263/001) BY SURVEY OPERATIONS DATED MARCH
2017 & DRAWING NO. (012010/1) BY CHARTER OAKS LTD
DATED JANURARY 2020.

4) DO NOT SCALE. PLEASE REFER ANY QUERIES TO THE
PROJECT MANAGER / SUPERVISOR.

NOTES - GENERAL ARRANGEMENT OVERVIEW

1) PROPOSED DESIGN SHOWN IN "AREA A" AS PER WILDE
DRAWING - BEZ_WCE_XX_A_DR_CH_0101  (P03)

2) PROPOSED DESIGN SHOWN IN "AREA C" AS PER WILDE
DRAWING - BEZ_WCE_XX_CD_DR_CH_0101  (P03)

3) PROPOSED DESIGN SHOWN IN "AREA D" AS PER WILDE
DRAWING - BEZ_WCE_XX_CD_DR_CH_0101  (P03)

4) PROPOSED DESIGN SHOWN IN "AREA E" AS PER WILDE
DRAWING - BEZ_WCE_XX_E_DR_CH_0101  (P09)

5) PROPOSED DESIGN SHOWN IN "AREA F" AS PER WILDE
DRAWING BEZ_WCE_XX_F_DR_CH_0101 (C03)

KEY - GENERAL ARRANGEMENT OVERVIEW

SERIES 0500: DRAINAGE

SWALE - PROPOSED - TBC

SERIES 1100: KERBS, FOOTWAYS AND PAVED AREAS

P.C.C KERBING - PROPOSED

P.C.C EDGING - PROPOSED

SERIES 1200: TRAFFIC SIGNS AND ROAD MARKINGS

ROAD MARKINGS - PROPOSED

SERIES 3000: LANDSCAPING AND ECOLOGY

LANDSCAPE - PROPOSED

CONSTRUCTION SEQUENCING

PHASE 1 AREA H DIVISION LANE WEST

PHASE 2 AREA F COMMON EDGE ROAD/DIVISION
LANE

PHASE 3 AREA C AMY JOHNSON WAY

PHASE 4 AREA D/G EASTERN GATEWAY ROUTE &
CONNECTOR ROADS

PHASE 5 AREA E COMMON EDGE ROAD CORRIDOR

PHASE 6 AREA A/B HANGAR ACCESS

INDICATIVE LIGHTING COLUMN

1.5m
CYCLE
LANE

2m
FOOTWAY6m SWALE

2m
LANDSCAPE

3.5m
CENTRAL RESERVATION

4.3m
SOUTHBOUND CARRIAGEWAY

4.3m
NORTHBOUND CARRIAGEWAY

1.5m
CYCLE
LANE

2m
FOOTWAY

0.5m SEGREGATION 0.5m SEGREGATION

SWALE 600mm WIDE

SURFACE COURSE
BINDER COURSE
SUB-BASE

DRAINAGE PIPE TO SWALE 1:150
NOTE: DRAINAGE COULD CLASH WITH FUTURE SERVICES

SUB-BASE

CAPPING

BASE LAYER

BINDER COURSE

SURFACE COURSE

GULLY POT GULLY POT

1:3

100mm TOPSOIL AND GRASS SEED OVERFILL

200mm X 50mm P.C.C EDGING AND CONCRETE
HAUNCH

1:40 1:40 1:401:40

0.5m VERGE STRIP

6m SWALE
2m

LANDSCAPE

0.5m VERGE STRIP

TIMBER KNEE RAIL

A1

Brindley Lodge,

www.wildecivil.co.uk
Tel : 0161-474-7479
Fax : 0161-474-7492

Stockport, Cheshire.
Adcroft Street,

Consulting Civil & Structural Engineers

Client

SK1 3HS.

Project

Title

ApprovedDrawn                  Scale Date Chkd

Drawing No. Revision

Status Sheet Size

DATEDRNREV CHK APP DESCRIPTION

BLACKPOOL COUNCIL

EZ LINK ROAD

GENERAL ARRANGEMENT
(OVERVIEW)

1:2000 DL 01/12/21 DJL -

BEZ_WCE_XX_X_DR_CH_0003 P08

PRELIMINARY

SPORTS PAVILION NORTH P02 PM CL - 06/12/21
ACCESS ADDED

P03 JK CL DJL 15/12/21 CLIENT COMMENT
P04 JK CL DJL 24/01/22 CLIENT COMMENT
P05 DL CL DJL 21/04/22 AREA E & F FIXED

TYPICAL CROSS SECTION
SCALE - 1:100

P06 DL CL DJL 22/04/22 UPDATED JUNCTION POSITION 
P07 DL CL DJL 19/12/22 UPDATED LAYOUT

P08 JK CL DJL 19/06/23 UPDATED LAYOUT - APPROVED FOR
DETAILED DESIGN

P
age 383

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
RICHARD'S

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Runway Approach Lights

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
Progress House

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
Klassiker House

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
4 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
203

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
Sycamore Trading Estate

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
199

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
Tanks

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
209

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
Football Ground

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
205

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
8.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
Industrial Estate

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
8.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
193a

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
7.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
195

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
Marton Fold

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
197

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
Tanks

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
Keystone House

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
Indemnity House

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
Viscount Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
12 to 13

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
1 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
Pioneer House

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
1 to 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
De Haviland House

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
Lancaster House

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
219

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
Constellation

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
1 to 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
183

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
185

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
191

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
15 to 17

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
282

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
Stand

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
322

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
316

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
318

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
223

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
(PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
280

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
237

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
Rose Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
240

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
233

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
6.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
215

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
211

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
300

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
Trebaron

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
Stand

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
229

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
Football Ground

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
Garden Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
6.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
Rose Mount

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
221

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
6.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
217

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
White House

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
East

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
Nook

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
Nook

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
Beckondale

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
Dew Point

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
Homestead

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
West

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
Fylde Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
The Lowlands

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
6.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
352

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
Lytham Moss

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
362

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
224

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
228

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
232

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
Marton Fold

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
1 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
Werneth House

tsplseob_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 7d 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

22

Lancaster House

1

5.5m

Centre

6.1m

MARTON FOLD

6.7m

Nook

Drain

14

10

3

The

BS

Rose Cottage

26

316
Garden Centre

22
1

Co Const Bdy

Garage

Dew Point

2

Sub

6.4m

14

Drain

Pleasant View

1

Drain

6.1m

8.5m

15 to 17

NookThe

El Sub Sta

Enterprise Court

Tank

Sta

House

Def

Depot

8.2m

1

38

6.1m

5

Beltona TCB

15

6.7m

18

Skyways

9

300

7

East

Business

23
3

6.4m

12 to 13

Campus

280

21

Tank

West

22
9

362

23

Pavilion

El

Pioneer House

1

1 to 6

Piper Court

CO
M

M
O

N EDG
E RO

AD

318

17

7.0m

3

R
H

352

Stables

11

C
O

M
M

O
N

 E
D

G
E 

R
O

A
D

House

4

12

35

Primrose Terrace

12

Seneca

23
7

21
9

RH

36

Rose Mount

Tanks

19

9

SCHOOL ROAD

39

4

2

1 to 15

Pavilion

Trident

Transaction House

14

22
3

Stand

Def

White House

Links Point

Boro Const & UA Bdy

1 to 8

O
A

K
W

O
O

D
 C

LO
SE

Trebaron

8.2m

6

28

33

20

2

11

322

282

Lysander

16

5

Commercial

MH

LP

MH

AM
Y JO

H
N

SO
N

 W
AY

CLEARKEEP

KEEP
CLEAR

BUS
STOP

NO ENTRY

CLEARKEEP

CLEAR
KEEP

BUS
STOP

SLO
W

SLOW

SLOW

15,000 SQFT

Und

7.3m

5.5m

6.1m

6.7m

Drain

Pond

BS

Nursery

Co Const
Bdy

Drain

6.4m

Drain

Drain

6.1m

8.5m

8.5m

Enterprise

Court

Tank

Def

8.2m

6.1m

TCB

6.7m

8.2m

Drain

6.4m

Drain

Tank

Und

8.2m

Pond

M
as

t
(T

el
ec

om
m

un
ic

at
io

n)

Car Park

Piper Court

7.0m

8.2m

R
H

Moss

Edge

Lane

Drain

7.6m

Co Const

Bdy

8.2m

RH

8.2m

8.5m

Boro Const &

UA Bdy

Drain

7.9m

Def

Links Point

Boro Const &UA Bdy

8.2m

25,000 SQFT
20,000 SQFT

30
,0

00
 S

Q
FT

45
,0

00
 S

Q
FT

30,000 SQFT

65,000 SQFT

www.cassidyashton.co.uk

Project

Drawing Title

Client

Date

Rev.Dwg.no.Job no.

Drawn by

Status

Checked by

01244 402 90010 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE   01772 258 356

Scale @ A0

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval.
Do not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Blackpool Council

Blackpool EZ
Employment Zone

Access Link Road
Site Plot Areas - OPT1

MPT - AUG 22

INFORMATION INDICATED

11181 INF. 00 P3

Rev. Description Date
P1 INFORMATION PURPOSES ONLY AUG 22
P2 PLOT LAYOUTS RE-DESIGN HIGHWAY ALTERATIONS 02.05.23
P3 PLOT LAYOUTS RE-DESIGN AMENDS 04.05.23

01
1:1000

EMPLOYMENT ZONE SITE PLOT AREAS

1:1000

0 10 20 30 40 60 80 100m

RESIDENTIAL
PLOT - 12,442 SQ.M

WARD BOUNDARY

LOVE EXPO

MULTIPLY

1,394 SQM

(15,000 SQFT)

01

02

03

04

4A
4B

4C

05

06

07
SUB

SUB

SUB

SUB

SUB

SUB

SUB

2,323 SQM

(25,000 SQFT)

1,858 SQM

(20,000 SQFT)

2,787 SQM

(30,000 SQFT)

4,
18

1 
SQ

M

(4
5,

00
0 

SQ
FT

)

2,
78

7 
SQ

M

(3
0,

00
0 

SQ
FT

)

1,
85

8 
SQ

M

(2
0,

00
0 

SQ
FT

)

1,
85

8 
SQ

M

(2
0,

00
0 

SQ
FT

)

1,
85

8 
SQ

M

(2
0,

00
0 

SQ
FT

)

465 SQM

(5,000 SQFT)

LOCAL FACILITIES
PLOT - 2,061 SQ.M

SPORTS
DEVELOPMENT

ZONE

PROPOSED ACCESS LINK ROAD

CO
M

M
O

N EDG
E RO

AD

ACCESS THROUGH TO
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

ZONE.

A

15,911 SQM

1.59 Hectares

B

C

30,786 SQM

3.07 Hectares

18,214 SQM

1.82 Hectares

PLOT 1 - 0.46 HECT

UNIT - 15,000 SQFT

PLOT 2 - 0.73 HECT

UNIT - 25,000 SQFT

PLOT 3 - 0.62 HECT

UNIT - 20,000 SQFT

PLOT 4 - 1.59 HECT

UNIT - 65,000 SQFT

PLOT 7 - 0.97 HECT

UNIT - 30,000 SQFT

PLOT 6 - 1.18 HECT

UNIT - 45,000 SQFT

PLOT 5 - 0.93 HECT

UNIT - 30,000 SQFT

Line Denotes Open Watercourse to be Retained with 3m Easement.

KEY:

Line Denotes 33KVA Electric Cable to be Retained with 5m Easement.

Line Denotes Diverted ZAYO / LFFN Telecom Trunk Duct.

Line Denotes Water Main to be Retained with 5m Easement.

Line Denotes Individual Plot Boundaries.

Hatch Denotes Future Employment Development Zone.

Hatch Denotes Future Residential Development Zone.

Hatch Denotes Future Local Facilities Development Zone.

Hatch Denotes Landscaping Buffer Zone.

Line Denotes Security Fence Line.

Hatch Denotes Individual Plot Landscaping Zone.

Hatch Denotes 6m Landscaped Drainage Swale & 2m Landscaping Strip
with a Timber Knee High Post Fence to Both Sides of Proposed New
Access Road.

P
age 389

http://www.cassidyashton.co.uk
AutoCAD SHX Text_237
NORTH

tsplseob_3
Typewritten Text
Appe

tsplseob_4
Typewritten Text
Appendix 7f



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: Alan Cavill, Director of Communications and Regeneration 

Relevant Cabinet Member : Councillor Mark Smith, Cabinet Member for Levelling Up – Place  

Date of Meeting: 11  December 2023  

 

BLACKPOOL TOWN DEAL: UPDATE  
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To provide an update on progress with the delivery of the Town Deal Programme.  
 

2.0  Recommendation: 
 

2.1  To note the progress with Blackpool’s Town Deal Programme.  

 
3.0  Reasons for recommendation: 

 
3.1  
 

Following the submission of Blackpool’s Town Investment Plan in 2020 and the subsequent 

offer of Town Deal funding and approved business cases for the agreed 7 schemes 

Government require that the Town Deal Board and the Council, as Accountable Body, 

oversee the Town Deal programme and its progress.   

 
3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 

Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  The development of the Town Investment Plan (TIP) and its respective 7 schemes were 
subject of extensive engagement, review of options and consideration before being agreed. 
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  Both Council priorities are supported namely “The economy: Maximising growth and 
opportunity across Blackpool” and “Communities Creating stronger communities 
and increasing resilience”. 
 
 

Page 397

Agenda Item 8



6.0  Background information 
 

6.1  Town Deal Board and Town Investment Plan  

The £3.6 billion Towns Fund was launched in November 2019 to enable towns to address 
growth constraints through Town Deals. 101 towns were initially invited to bid with the aim, 
“to unleash the full economic potential of 101 places and level up communities throughout 
the country”. The objective of the Towns Fund is to “drive the economic regeneration of 
towns to deliver long-term economic and productivity growth”.  

The Towns Fund provided an opportunity for Blackpool to agree a Town Deal with DHLUC 
through the submission of a Blackpool Town Investment Plan in July 2020 and the 
subsequent successful allocation and Heads of Terms agreed in November 2020 for £40.5 
million of Town Deal funding (£39.5m plus £1m accelerated funding) to support 7 projects 
across the financial years 2020/21 to 2025/26. The Heads of Terms were signed by the Chair 
of the Town Deal Board and the Council’s Chief Executive and subsequently by the Secretary 
of State in January 2021.  

As part of the invitation to the lead Council, a Town Deal Board incorporating public, private 
and community membership and an independent private sector Chair was required to be 
established as an advisory board to the Council.  

The Blackpool Town Deal Board was established in February 2020, chaired by Paul Smith of 
Business in the Community (BITC) until he retired in summer 2023, the Chair having now 
passed to Peter Cole in September 2023 (an independent Chartered Surveyor who already sat 
on the Town Deal Board) and its role has been to: 

 Develop and agree an evidenced-based Town Investment Plan (TIP) 

 Develop a clear programme of interventions 

 Coordinate resources and influence stakeholders 

 Oversee the development of Green Book Business cases within a locally determined 
assurance framework including independent appraisal 
 

The Board is not a legal entity, and its role is advisory to the Council as accountable body.  
With the Town Deal programme in full delivery mode the role of the Town Deal Board  
expanded to also include : 

 Oversee the delivery of the agreed Town Deal programme including spend, outputs, 
outcomes and its subsequent evaluation. 

 Support good communication of the programme and engagement with key 
stakeholders 

 Provide oversight of other regeneration programmes and major projects such as the 
Shared Prosperity Fund, Levelling Up Fund (LUF) and Capital Regeneration Projects 
(CRP) for which the Council is also the accountable body.   

The Town Deal Board has now held 23 meetings with its membership and papers published 
on the Council’s website:  Blackpool town deal agendas and minutes. It is supported in its 
work by the Town Deal Investment Panel (on which Cllr Smith sits) which undertakes a more 
granular review of the detail of the programme. This has held 17 meetings to date.  

Page 398

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Your-Council/Creating-a-better-Blackpool/Blackpool-Town-Deal/Blackpool-Town-Deal-Board-Agendas-and-Minutes.aspx


A monthly Town Deal Project Board oversees the work of the individual Town Deal Project 
Teams and reports through the Programme Monitoring Office (PMO) to the Growth and 
Prosperity Programme Board and thence to the Town Deal Investment Panel (TDIP) and Town 
Deal Board and the Executive. 

6.2  Council Executive Updates   
A detailed update report was provided at the November 2020 Executive meeting when 
approval was given to the signing of the Heads of Terms (HoT) and to:  

“delegate to the Chief Executive the authority, after consultation with the Leader of the 
Council, to agree: 

 the allocation of the resources between the 7 approved schemes, and,  

 the business plans for the projects identified in the Heads of Terms for submission 
to Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government after they have been 
through the preparation and assessment processes outlined in paragraphs 6.3 and 
6.4 in line with the Heads of Terms at Appendix 2a and the Towns Fund Further 
Guidance including seeking agreement of the Town Deal Board. 

for the Executive to be kept informed of progress on the Town Deal” 
Further updates were provided to the March 2021, December 2021 and December 2022 
Executive meetings. 
 

6.3  Business Case Development Process  
In November 2020 the Council Executive and Town Deal Board accepted an offer of £39.5m 
over financial years 2021/22 to 2025/26 for seven projects, with an additional £1m coming 
from accelerated funding in July 2020 to acquire the former Devonshire Road hospital site as 
a proposed location for the replacement Courts building. In line with the grant funding 
requirements, the Council needed to develop business cases and submit Summary 
Documents to the Department for Levelling-Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) by 17 
November 2021. On the 10th December 2021, confirmation was received that 5 projects had 
been approved with the remaining two approved on 2 March 2022. 
 

Project Name Funding Allocation (rounded) 

Multiversity Land Acquisition £9.0m 

Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone  £7.5m 

Blackpool Central Courts Relocation £7m 

Revoe Community Sports Village £6.5m 

The Edge (Renovation of Stanley Buildings) £4.5m 

Illuminations £4.5m 

Blackpool Youth Hub £0.5m  

TOTAL  £39.5m 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 399



6.4 Project and Programme Delivery  

In this delivery phase with all schemes required to provide quarterly claims returns, which are 
overseen by the Council’s Programme Management Office (PMO) and Finance teams and 
signed off by the Council’s Section 151 officer.  

Additionally in depth reporting to Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC) are required. All such reports, have been submitted to time and with no outstanding 
issues reported. All DLUHC returns require Section 151 officer sign off whilst some also 
require Town Deal Chair signature.    

The overall programme has been assigned a 4 (Amber) RAG rating at this time by the PMO 
team.  (See DLUHC RAG rating definitions at Appendix 8a). This is based on :- 

• All required claims and returns to the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) have been submitted on time and no outstanding issues reported   

• All 7 Town Deal schemes are now in progress  

 

RAG Rating Delivery RAG Rating Spend RAG Rating Risks 

4 4 4 

Delivery 
The PMO score remains at 4 (Amber). Two schemes have no notable issues (The Youth Hub / 
‘The Platform’ and Illuminations) and the Courts is running to plan unless HMCTS have decant 
issues. The Enterprise Zone and Multiversity projects are well underway but have faced 
issues causing reasonable delays. Although the original goals remain unchanged, the Revoe 
Community Sports Village and The Edge schemes have experienced significant delays to the 
commencement of activities but it is anticipated that all the schemes will catch up.  

Spend 
The PMO score remains at 4 (Amber). Whilst project activity is well underway on all schemes, 
there is a programme level underspend against the original (and very much out of date) 
September 2021 profile and significant changes to project finance forecasts due to delayed 
delivery or potential scheme cost. However, re-profiling is to be expected for a programme of 
this scale, the position is retrievable, and no resources are at risk. At the end of September, 
programme spend was £9,513,557.97 with the (revised and more realistic) forecast to the 
end of the year being £19,634,424.15. 

Risk 
The PMO score remains at 4 (Amber). The Programme contains projects which have risks that 
are classed as high impact but mitigating actions are in place to ensure the Programme’s 
objectives will still be met. 

Table 1 overleaf outlines the latest forecast spend position, which is both more realistic and 
shows improved performance. Appendix 8b contains project specific updates 

 

Page 400



6.5 Table 1 Current Towns Fund expenditure position and profile at end September 2023  
 

Project 
Approved total 
Town Deal 
funding  

Actual spend 
Jul to Sep 2023 

Total actual 
spend to end 
Sep 2023 

Forecast spend 
Oct to Dec 
2023 

Forecast total 
spend to end 
Dec 2023 

Forecast total 
spend to end 
Mar 2024 

Forecast total 
spend to end 
Mar 2025 

Forecast total 
spend to end 
Mar 2026 

Blackpool 
Airport 
Enterprise 
Zone 

£7,500,000 £573,966.21 £3,891,535.14 £1,523,237.50 £5,414,772.64 £6,945,010.14 £7,370,895.28 £7,500,000 

The Youth Hub 
/ ‘The 
Platform’ 

£500,000 £106,423.98 £253,605.81 £117,046.00 £370,651.81 £500,000.00 £500,000.00 £500,000 

Revoe 
Community 
Sports Village 

£6,545,818 £113,055.00 £688,901.01 £675,150.00 £1,364,051.01 £2,389,810.01 £6,417,169.17 £6,545,818 

The Edge  £4,500,000 £6,429.00 £537,046.12 £0.00 £537,046.12 £1,037,046.12 £4,500,000.00 £4,500,000 

The 
Illuminations  

£4,500,000 £163,226.00 £2,657,347.30 £898,332.00 £3,555,679.30 £3,712,797.30 £4,249,987.30 £4,500,000 

Multiversity 
(Land 
Acquisition) 

£9,000,000 £178,561.00 £1,385,180.80 £339,620.00 £1,724,800.80 £4,910,738.80 £8,960,000.00 £9,000,000 

Blackpool 
Central Courts 
Relocation  

£6,954,182 £9,479.97 £99,941.79 £7,726.87 £107,668.66 £139,021.78 £3,496,219.26 £6,954,182 

Totals:  £39,500,000 £1,151,141.16 £9,513,557.97 £3,561,112.37 
£13,074,670.3
4 

£19,634,424.1
5 

£35,494,270.7
1 

£39,500,000 

 
6.6 Reasons for Variations in Spend profile  

 Meeting original Town Deal business case development and appraisal deadlines, has with 
hindsight led to some delivery timetables being recognised as over ambitious. This has 
been heightened given the volatility in economic circumstances since the programme 
commencement 

 Inflation has had a wide and lasting impact with tendering challenging: some 
procurements have had to be re-tendered due to excessive/non-responses 

 Post Covid-19, the availability of some materials has been adversely affected 

 Some schemes had not commenced as early as expected due to 
o Delayed government approvals (e.g. Multiversity delayed from December to March 

22) 
o The need for further extensive partner discussions (e.g. Revoe Community Sports 

Village with Blackpool FC) 
 

6.7 Towns Fund reporting 

Blackpool Council is the designated accountable body for the delivery of the Towns Fund 
programme with the oversight from the Town Deal Board. The Council must comply with 
DLUHC mandatory financial and monitoring and evaluation (M&E) requirements. Payment of 
grant is dependent upon the receipt of satisfactory interim reports, which often require to be 
signed-off by the Council’s Section 151 Officer. 

To date the DLUHC Assurance and Compliance Team have not identified any issues with 

Page 401



submitted returns or identified adverse concern with programme delivery. Blackpool has 
therefore not been selected for a second line of defence ‘deep dive’ review as yet. 

On the 5th July 2023 DLUHC informed the Council that, in line with its aim to expedite delivery 
of local Growth Funds (including Town Deal and LUF/CRP), it was making a number of key 
process changes which will allow the Council greater flexibility to agree adjustments to 
projects locally without referring to DLUHC for approval.  

In summary, the Council is now able to make changes of up to 30% to originally agreed 
project outcomes and outputs and will also be able to make changes in spend of up to 30% 
between financial years. The Council will still need to inform DLUHC of the changes in 
returns; however, DLUHC reserves the right to review cases on an exceptional basis. 

If we wish to make changes above the 30% threshold, DLUHC has committed to speeding up 
their internal process and targeting the provision of a decision within 20 working days of 
submission of the relevant information.  

This additional flexibility is clearly welcomed and may help the Council with the 
implementation of the programme. 

6.8 Inflation 

All the project managers are conscious of the potential for inflation to affect ability to deliver 
parts of the programme as a result of cost increases so various mitigation measures are being 
considered. Options, however, are limited as several schemes are not yet fully designed or 
are not due to be tendered yet. 

It is known that Government will not increase Towns Fund allocations (and expect the 
original outcomes set out in the business plans to be achieved). The Council are aware that 
some other authorities have been approved to keep all their programme allocation whilst 
dropping one or more of the original constituent projects .  

There are no plans to consider any scheme removal from the Blackpool programme at this 
stage, so mitigations within our programme will, necessarily, be focused on value engineering 
(which has occurred with the Edge project which has been tendered twice) and limited to 
acceptable changes in materials specification or design modifications that do not change the 
project results.  

Beyond this other options that would be addressed, if required, include phasing or sourcing 
additional funds from other sources. These inflationary pressures are compounded by the 
need to consider the Council’s net zero commitment ambitions for projects which may result 
in cost increases. 

The Town Deal Investment Panel monitor any significant variations in the schemes to ensure 
they remained as true to the original objectives as possible whilst working within the 
budgetary constraints. 

 

Page 402



 

6.9 Engagement Activity    

Extensive engagement was undertaken at the Town Investment Plan (TIP) development stage 
as a pre-requisite of the submission. The Town Investment Plan development stage (February 
– July 2020) involved substantial engagement activity undertaken by a dedicated research 
and consultation team within the Council working with local partners from the private and 
voluntary sectors (the Town Deal Engagement Team), supported by independent companies, 
Locality and Commonplace. This activity helped to determine the TIP and its proposed 
projects and a Stakeholder Engagement Plan was created to ensure that the principles were 
maintained into delivery.  This exercise proved extremely popular with over 6,500 individuals 
engaged, generating 2,162 contributions from 1,127 respondents receiving over 1000 
comments.  

A second engagement exercise was launched via the Commonplace website on 21nd 
February, building on the previous thematic engagement with specific details of the projects 
being developed. See https://blackpooltownsfund.commonplace.is/ .  

Under this engagement activity, people were asked specifically to provide their views on the 
seven schemes rather than broad themes.  

Whilst the former exercise gathered comments on a thematic basis, the subsequent work 
presents a specific overview of the discrete projects being developed seeking detailed 
observations and comments from Blackpool residents, visitors and workers. This was part of 
the intended trend for Town Deal engagement activity to become increasingly specific to the 
projects and gather practical input to be used in constructing the business plan, final design 
and future development of the schemes. 

An overview of activity shows that when the site closed, it had received 2,587 visitors, just 
under half the number of the first Commonplace exercise. 399 visitors responded to 
questions, and 350 chose to make detailed comments. 139 of these subsequently signed up 
for further updates on the project. All the findings of the Commonplace exercise were fed 
into the business planning processes.   

An “Engagement week” was held 6th–11th December 2021, where Council Infusion research 
staff, field workers, and staff from the Community Safety team set up a pop-up shop in 
Blackpool Houndshill Shopping Centre. They engaged with residents and visitors about the 
Town Deal projects and the Community Safety survey. 

Across the week over 3,000 interactions took place. From short conversations to filling in a 
survey and some case studies. Around 1,500 promotional leaflets were distributed to 
residents showcasing information on the topics with a link to online surveys. 

With some projects at an early stage there has had to be a period of reflection to determine 
when it is appropriate to undertake further engagement and when. There has been ongoing 
engagement with some projects e.g. Multiversity scheme and a further engagement session 
is due to be held 6th and 7th of December 2023 in Abingdon Street Market. 

Page 403

https://blackpooltownsfund.commonplace.is/


6.9 
 

Management and Governance Arrangements  

The management, governance and delivery of Blackpool’s Town Deal Programme continues 
to require the ongoing oversight provided by the Town Deal Board and its sub group the 
Town Deal Investment Panel. (They also oversee the Shared Prosperity Fund and Levelling Up 
/ Capital Regeneration Projects too).  

As the accountable body, Blackpool Council retain overall responsibility for the delivery of the 
programme with reports to the Executive and decisions being made under the Executive’s 
delegation arrangements. The Council Growth & Prosperity Board and Corporate Leadership 
Team provide ongoing governance oversight.   

An internal Town Deal Project Board (TDPB) continues to sit monthly. The TDPB oversees the 
work of the individual Town Deal Project Teams and reports through the Programme 
Monitoring Office (PMO) to the Growth and Prosperity Programme Board (G&PB) and then to 
the Town Deal Investment Panel (TDIP) and Town Deal Board and ultimately to the Executive.   

Project management and delivery support continues to be provided by the Council in 
conjunction with any partner agencies led by the Programme Management Office (PMO) 
function. A 2% “top slice” of the Town Deal programme (£790,000) has been allocated to 
support programme management staffing and other costs throughout the 4-year programme 
life. 

 
Does the information submitted include any exempt information?                                     No 

 

Page 404



   

7.0  List of Appendices: 
 
Appendix 8a – DLUHC RAG Rating  
Appendix 8b  – Summary of the 7 Town Deal projects and activity to date  

  
8.0  Financial considerations: 

 
8.1 
 
 

Without Towns Fund funding approval most of the schemes would not have been pursued. 
Where any co-funding is required, this has already been determined and agreed as part of 
the preparation of the original business case. 
 

9.0  Legal considerations: 
 

9.1  
 
 
 
 
9.2 

The Council has the power pursuant to section 1 of the Localism Act 2011, and section 111 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 to enter into the non-legally binding heads of terms relating 
to the £39.5 million Town Deal proposed by the Department of Levelling Up Homes and 
Communities. 
 
Regarding the Land Acquisition for Multiversity Project, a Memorandum of Understanding 
between Blackpool and The Fylde College and Blackpool Council is in place (7th May 2022) , 
which outlines the working arrangements and key areas of responsibility to deliver the 
Multiversity. The key principles that are set out in the MOU provide the confidence that both 
parties are fully committed to bringing the project forward in accordance with the agreed 
programme.  
 

The Council are currently working with DWF LLP on the main legal agreement between BBC 

and Blackpool and the Fylde College. Indicative terms have been agreed by Blackpool and the 

Fylde College.  

 

The Blackpool Central Courts Relocation scheme also led to a Memorandum of 
Understanding / Collaboration Agreement being signed in January 2022 between HMCTS and 
Blackpool Council to outline their working arrangements and key areas of responsibility to 
deliver the HMCTS decant and new build development. 
  
Similarly, the Revoe Community Sports Village scheme will require a MoU/Collaboration 
agreement with Blackpool Football Club to clarify the respective roles in taking forward the 
implementation of the project. 
 
The delivery of each of the individual projects requires the need to satisfy conditions 
precedent and Council approvals. Each project needs to rely on the appropriate powers, and 
ensure the completion of the appropriate procedural requirements (e.g. consultation, Public 
Sector Equality Duty, Subsidy Control and procurement compliance) which are part of the 

Page 405



legal documents to be signed as part of the Council’s accountable body assurance role. At the 
time of this report, 6 Service Level Agreements (SLA’s) are fully signed with the Revoe scheme 
outstanding. It is anticipated a Grant Funding Agreement (GFA) and SLA will be required for 
the  Revoe Community Sports Village. The Blackpool Central Courts Relocation will require a 
separate GFA with HMCTS. 

 
10.0  Risk management considerations: 

 
10.1  With all major schemes there are risks, and each scheme has a risk assessment developed 

and allocated to it. A programme level risk register has also been created. 
 

11.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

11.1  There are no equalities issues with the programme outlined. Where any development 
requires new build or redesign e.g. Multiversity or The Edge, full inequalities and accessibility 
requirements will be taken into account at the design stage.  
 
Town Deal required a Public Sector Equalities Duty (PSED) to be provided for each project and 
a programme level PSED submitted in November 2021. This activity was supported by the 
Councils’ Equalities and Diversity Manager and they remain engaged with all projects both 
directly and through the Town Deal Project Board. 
 

12.0  Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1  Clearly, where construction is involved there will be carbon usage issues. Reducing the 
impact of climate change and ensuring sustainability is however being taken into account at 
various design stages of projects. The low carbon and sustainability team within the 
Corporate Strategy and Delivery Department sit on the TDPB and provide input into 
individual project delivery groups. This team has developed a carbon calculator toolkit which 
is at an early stage of implementation, but is anticipated to have a positive impact on scheme 
development.  
  

13.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 
Extensive consultation is ongoing through regular Town Deal Board and Town Deal 
Investment Panel meetings and individual project delivery teams and boards. Please also 
note section 6.9 above. 

   
14.0  Background papers: 

 
14.1  a) Town Deal Heads of Terms report to 16th November 2020 Executive (EX48/2020) 

b) Town Deal report to Executive March 2021(EX16/2021) 

c) Town Deal report to Executive December 2021 (EX63/2021) 

Page 406



d) Town Deal report to Executive December 2022  (EX52/2022) 

e) Town Deal Board papers are available on the Town Deal section of the Council’s website 

Blackpool town deal agendas and minutes. 
 
15.0 0 Key decision information: 

 
15.1  Is this a key decision? 

 
No 

15.2  If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

 

15.3  If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

N/A 

15.4  If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
  
16.0  Call-in information: 

 
16.1  Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 

exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

16.2  If yes, please give reason:                  
  

 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

17.0  Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed:  Date approved: 
 

 

18.0  Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

18.1        
 

19.0  Executive decision: 
 

19.1        
 

20.0  Date of Decision:    
 

20.1        
 

21.0  Reason(s) for decision: 
 

21.1        
 

Page 407

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Your-Council/Creating-a-better-Blackpool/Blackpool-Town-Deal/Blackpool-Town-Deal-Board-Agendas-and-Minutes.aspx


22.0 1 Date Decision published: 
 

22.1        
 

23.0  Executive Members in attendance:   
 

23.1        
 

24.0  Call-in:   
 

24.1        
 

25.0  Notes:   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 408



Appendix 8a : DLUHC RAG RATING 
 

Delivery Score Spend Score Risks Score 
Major issues causing significant delays 

(more than 6 months); processes 

interrupted or not carried out as planned 

(E.g. planning permission not secured); 

or significant changes to project.  Project 

likely to under-deliver on forecast 

outputs. 

5 

A variance of over 50% against 

profiled financial forecast (total 

expenditure) or significant 

changes to project finances 

required (increases or decreases) 

due to poor or delayed delivery.  

5 

Project includes significant 

risks that are both high 

impact and high likelihood.  

Risk responses not yet 

planned. 

5 

Issues arising causing long delays to the 

timetable (3 to 6 months) but no 

significant changes required to overall 

project.  Outputs may still be 

deliverable but challenging. 

4 

A variance of between 30% & 

50% against profiled financial 

forecast (total expenditure).  

Budget changes have been 

required due it issues with 

project delivery. 

4 

Project with significant 

risks that are either high 

impact or high likelihood.  

Risk responses planned but 

not implemented. 

4 

Issues arising causing short delays to 

the timetable (less than 3 months). 

Outputs still deliverable but require re-

scheduling. 

3 

A variance of between 15% & 30% 

against profiled financial 

forecast.  Some budget changes 

have been required. 

3 

Project with some risks 
that have medium impact 
and/or medium likelihood.  
Risk responses planned and 

implemented. 

3 

Minor issues have arisen causing only 

small delays.  Project is on track to 

deliver outputs. 

2 
A variance of between 5% & 15%.  

Small re-profiling changes to 

budget required. 
2 

Project with some risks 

that have medium 

impact but low 

likelihood.  Risk 

responses planned and 

implemented. 

2 

No problems.  Project is on track to 

deliver outputs and keeping to 

schedule. 

1 

A variance of up to 5%. Spend is 

largely on track with any minor 

slippage expected to be picked up 

by the end of next quarter. 

1 

All risks are tolerable with 

low impact and likelihood 

and do not require a 

response. 

1 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 409



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 8b – SUMMARY OF 7 TOWN DEAL PROJECTS PROGRESS  
                     (as at end September 2023) 
 
 

1) BLACKPOOL ILLUMINATIONS REJUVENATION  
 
1.1 Background 
 
The overall aim of the project is to rejuvenate the Blackpool Illuminations as a means to 
attract an increasing number of visitors to the town in the autumn and winter period, and 
extending the traditional Illuminations season by two months until January.  
 
This is being undertaken by designing and creating a number of new centrepiece attractions 
over a five-year period and improving the lighting infrastructure and provision of essential 
equipment needed to deliver the illuminations in an efficient and sustainable manner. This 
project supports the famous Blackpool illuminations through modernisation and innovation. 
This £13.2m scheme, with £4.5m of Town Deal monies is being delivered by Blackpool Council 
as scheme promoter and accountable body with the Blackpool Illuminations Department 
leading on project delivery. 

 

1.2 Financial Position at End September 2023 
 

APPROVED  TOWN DEAL  SPEND  

Total Town Deal Allocation Total spend to end September  2023 

£4,500,000 

 

£2,657,347.00 

 

1.3. RAG Rating 

Rating provided by the project lead according to the definitions in Annex A  

1.4 Key Activities to Date   

 Manufacture of 2 large tableaux completed and installed 

 Manufacture of 3D Spitfires  

 10 additional roadway illuminations featuring iconic images of Blackpool manufactured 
and installed 

 Large scale Hollywood Style Blackpool Sign manufactured and installed 

RAG Rating Delivery RAG Rating Spend RAG Rating Risks 

2 2 3 

Page 411



 Concept design for 2024 completed 

 Works continue in Talbot Road and Talbot Square regarding new infrastructure 

 Location of additional feeds for golden mile infrastructure upgrade identified 

 3 apprentice roles created  

 Location of additional feeds for golden mile and comedy carpet infrastructure installed 

 

Output and Outcome Targets by Scheme end Total to date 

Temporary full-time jobs supported during implementation (4) 2 

Permanent full-time equivalent jobs created (4) 2  

£ spent directly on project delivery (£4,500,000) £2,657,347.00 

£ co-funding spent on project delivery £8,750,000) £5,064,612.00 

£ co-funding committed (private and public, £8,750,000) £5,064,612.00 

No. of artists supported in developing new skills (5) 5 

Facilitate additional visitors over project (1,750,000) 700,000 

New centrepiece illuminated installation features (capital assets, 
12) 

14 

Electrical infrastructure improved by Spring 2023 (3,000m) 2800m 

Recognised artists engaged with (3 per year for 5 years) 4 

Construction employment (7 person-years) 6 
 

1.4 LATEST IMAGES 

Spitfire Island  

Spitfire Island is a spectacular tribute to one of the world’s most iconic aircraft. The 
installation, positioned on Gynn Roundabout, is a collaboration between the Blackpool 
Illuminations team and designer Laurence Llewelyn-Bowen. It features three replica Spitfires 
was unveiled when the Illuminations began on Friday 1/9/23. The replica Spitfires represent 
‘Progress I, II and III’; aircraft paid for by local residents and based at Blackpool Airport during 
World War Two (historical data provided by the Hangar 42 Spitfire Visitor Centre at Blackpool 
Airport) 

The internationally-renowned model kit company Airfix sponsored the new installation and, 
simultaneously, released a complementary, limited-edition scale model Spitfire including the 
correct Blackpool livery on its fuselage. The models are available to purchase, whilst stocks 
last, from Visit Blackpool’s Tourist Information Centre during the Illuminations period 

In another first, the manufacturing process marks the first time 3D printing technology has 
been used to create an Illuminations feature. 

 

 

 

Page 412



Spitfire Nearing Completion 

 

 
 

Spitfire Island in situ. 

 

Page 413



Light around the World Native American tableau 

One of the displays at Blackpool Illuminations by a Native American artist follows last year's 
replacement of a controversial "Wild West" tableaux. The display was accused of reinforcing 
racial stereotypes. 

Canadian Bruce Alfred of the Kwakwakaʼwakw tribe has designed a piece alongside Liverpool-
born Dr Chila Kumari Singh Burman. Mr Alfred, who specialises in Native American art, has 
created "an evocative design featuring hand-drawn images of eagles and Orca whales" This 
was the first display to be designed by a north American artist and one of the first to be 
developed using 3D printing technology.  

The tableau, which incorporates more than 13,000 programmable LED lamps is intended to 
be the first of a new series of tableaux entitled "Light Around The World" that will celebrate 
international cultures. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 414



Ice-cream dream tableau  

The 'Ice-cream dream' – has been designed by Merseyside-born Dr Burman who has 
produced installations for the Tate Gallery and Covent Garden in London, as well as special 
commissions for film companies, including Netflix.  

“Lollies in Love 1” 

 

 

“Lollies in Love 2” 

 
 

Page 415



Golden Mile Road Section  
 

 
 
     Odyssey Feature        

 

Page 416



       New robot arm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lightpool Jellyfish 
 

 
 

 

Page 417



Lightpool Tower Projection 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 418



2) BLACKPOOL AIRPORT ENTERPRISE ZONE  
 
2.1 Background 
 
This project aims to support business and jobs growth within the Blackpool Airport Enterprise 
Zone through the creation of new highways and associated infrastructure that will aid in the 
mitigation of a number of existing barriers to development. Firstly, this project looks to create 
a new entry and exit point for traffic into the Blackpool Airport EZ to the east of the 
designated area, negating the business park’s current status as a cul-de-sac and reducing 
travel times and standing traffic, particularly at peak vehicle flow times. Secondly, its route 
through the east of the EZ will also open up 10.5 hectares of previously inaccessible 
development land for the creation of serviced plots, therefore managing the current lack of 
new development space within the EZ to accommodate businesses looking to locate and 
grow there. This scheme, with £7.5m of Towns Fund monies, is delivered by Blackpool Council 
as scheme promoter and accountable body, with the Council’s Enterprise Zone team leading 
on project delivery 
 
2.2 Financial Position at end September 2023 
  

APPROVED  TOWN DEAL  SPEND  

Total Town Deal Allocation TOTAL SPEND TO END SEPTEMBER  2023 

£7,500,000 
 

£3,891,535.00 
 

 
2.3 RAG Rating 

 
2.4 Key Activity to Date   

 Phase 2 Ground Investigations underway at 80%. 

 Works for Area F (Division lane junction) complete and has been signed off by 
Lancashire County Council 

 Design of area A (Access from Amy Johnson Way onto the airport) complete  

 Design of areas C (Amy Johnson Way) 90% 

 D (Eastern Gateway) 90% 

 E (Common Edge Road corridor) complete 

 Highways Landscape Design – Designer appointed 

 Handover of all Common Edge Sports Facilities complete 

 

RAG Rating Delivery RAG Rating Spend RAG Rating Risks 

4 3 4 

Page 419



2.5 Outputs and Outcomes Achieved to Date  

Targets Total to date 

£ spent directly on project delivery (£7,500,000) £3,891,535.14 

£ co-funding spent on project delivery (£16,401,000, previously 
£10,500,000) 

£662,295.89 

£ co-funding committed (private and public, £16,401,000 
previously £10,500,000) 

£16,401,000.00 

Total length of new cycle ways (0.6km) 110m 

Total length of new pedestrian paths (0.7km) 119m 

Total length of newly built shared use (new outcome) 35m 

Total length of newly built roads (0.6km) 73m 

Total length of pedestrian paths improved (0.3km) 102m 

Total length of resurfaced/improved road (1.8km) 376m 

No. of trees planted (15) 9 

Amount of public realm improved (105,000 m2) 0 

No. of additional enterprises with broadband access =>30mbps 
(min. 12) 

0 

No. of additional residential units with broadband access 
=>30mbps (min 37) 

0 

Land made ready for development (103,000m2) 0 

Construction jobs (120 person-years) 0 

Additional industrial floorspace created (28,000m2) 0 

Business investments (12) 0 

£ private sector investment (42,000,000) 0 

Residential units (42) 0 

Permanent jobs created (600) 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 420



2.6 Latest Images  

Common Edge Sports Facilities 

  

 

 

Page 421



 

Division Lane East/Common Edge Rd 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 422



Division Lane West with the new junction and road leading to the sports village 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 423



3) THE EDGE 
 
3.1 Background 
 
 The aim of the project is to expand the quality and range of flexible managed workspace 
within Blackpool town centre to accommodate the needs of new and growing small 
businesses; complemented by tailored business advice for growth-ambitious small 
businesses. Stanley Buildings was identified as the suitable building within the town centre to 
achieve this aim. Local authority owned and ideally located given its proximity to several 
flagship regeneration projects, local amenities and transport networks.  
 
The Edge is the name given to the proposed expanded managed workspace aiming to knit 
together large parts of the upper floors of the building to create a vibrant business hub 
providing a choice of offices, meeting rooms, co-working and breakout space. Council co-
investment will ensure the renovation of the wider Stanley Buildings, including ground floor 
shopfronts and repurposed adjacent building.  
 
The Edge aims to :- 

a) Create a destination small business hub, enabling innovative and high growth 
businesses to expand; accessing bespoke support on their business growth journey; 

b) Address market failure by meeting unfulfilled demand for affordable serviced office 
space for small businesses within the town centre; 

c) Facilitate the creation of skilled job opportunities in growing business sectors, 
ensuring businesses have key facilities such as full fibre infrastructure, as well as 
business networks and know how on which to thrive; 

d) Strengthen business support provision - ensure it is demand-driven and relevant to 
the needs of growth-oriented Blackpool businesses. 

e) Bring sensitive refurbishment and regeneration to a signature 1930’s locally listed 
building 
 

The project is a £7.2m capital scheme (£4.5m of Town Deal; £2.7m Council co-funding) 
delivered by Blackpool Council as scheme promoter and accountable body. 
 
3.2 Financial Position at End September 2023 

APPROVED  TOWN DEAL  SPEND  

Total Town Deal Allocation TOTAL SPEND TO END SEPTEMBER  2023 

£4,500,000 

 

£537,046.12 

 

 

Page 424



3.3 RAG Rating  

3.4 Key activity to Date  

A second competitive tender ending 25th August 2023 attracted 4 interested parties with 2 
contractors responding fully.  Evaluation and tender clarification interviews took place in 
early September with Blackpool-based F Parkinsons Ltd awarded preferred contractor status. 
Post tender the total project cost still exceeded the original project budget of £6.95m by 17%.  
Further cost reduction measures have been explored with the contractor and additional funds 
have been contributed by the Council.  The revised budget is now £7.25m and this has altered 
the scope of works possible.   
 
The funding gap has now been closed as a consequence of additional savings and a 
contribution from Economic Development, together with a contribution of £50k from the 
Town Centre initiatives project in the Shared Prosperity Fund Programme for which additional 
outputs will be delivered to the SPF programme means that the contract can be awarded and 
the main works can commence from January 2024.  The programme works period is 
approximately a year so should be complete by early 2025. 

3.5 Outputs and Outcomes Achieved to Date 

Targets Total to date 

Temporary full-time jobs supported during implementation 0 

Permanent full-time equivalent jobs created 0 

Permanent full-time equivalent jobs safeguarded 0 

£ spent directly on project delivery £537,046.12 

£ co-funding spent on project delivery (private and public) £0.00 

£ co-funding committed (private and public) £2,278,368.00 

Enterprises receiving non-financial support 0 

Heritage buildings renovated/restored 0 

Non-domestic buildings with green retrofits completed 0 

Amount of office space renovated/improved (m2) 0 

Additional enterprises with broadband access of at least 30mbps 0 

Additional commercial floorspace refurbished and brought into use 
(m2) 

0 

Improved commercial floorspace (m2) 0 

Additional café floorspace converted (m2) 0 

RAG Rating Delivery RAG Rating Spend RAG Rating Risks 

3 3 3 

Page 425



New or improved serviced office units 0 

Support to additional growth start-ups / scale-ups (36 per year) 0 

Additional visitors to business and networking events (1,800 per 
year) 

0 

Businesses using The Edge (150 per year) 0 

Business people using The Edge (250 per year) 0 

% year end office occupancy levels 0 

3.6 LATEST IMAGE 

 

An example of the latest design image included with the revised planning application of May 

2023. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 426



 

4) BLACKPOOL CENTRAL COURTS RELOCATION  
 
4.1 Background  
 
This project aims to support the development of Blackpool Central, a £300m private sector 
investment in Blackpool’s visitor economy, by accelerating site assembly. At present, the 
development of the full site proposed for Blackpool Central is inhibited by the presence of the  
County and Magistrates Courts and a former Police HQ, which occupy a prominent and large 
area within the wider site boundary.  
 
In order to realise its full potential, HMCTS services need to be relocated, and the current 
tired facilities demolished, along with the former Police HQ, with subsequent land treatment 
works being undertaken to leave a cleared and clean site. The investment of £6.95m in this 
project will both support the relocation of HMCTS services from the current site on Chapel 
Street to a new site at Devonshire Road, close to the town centre, and allow for the 
demolition of the existing Courts and former Police HQ buildings, as well as treatment of the 
site. The creation of a major mixed leisure, hospitality and food and beverage development, 
with associated infrastructure, on the Blackpool Central site will be a major driver in 
Blackpool achieving its goal of becoming a year-round visitor destination. If the current Courts 
and former Police HQ site could not be cleared, the development potential of the site would 
be significantly reduced, meaning the development would be constrained and have less of an 
economic impact and a reduced transformative effect on the local area. 
 
4.2 Financial Position at End September 2023 
 

APPROVED  TOWN DEAL  SPEND  

Total Town Deal Allocation TOTAL SPEND TO END SEPTEMBER  2023 

 

£6,954,182 

 

£99,941.79 

 

4.3 RAG Rating 

4.4 KEY ACTIVITY TO DATE  

 In November 2022 the Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities allocated 
£40m to facilitate the building of new magistrates’, civil and family courts’ 

RAG Rating Delivery RAG Rating Spend RAG Rating Risks 

2  1  2  

Page 427



accommodation in Blackpool 

 Consultation has been undertaken relating to the relocation of these facilities from their 
current site on Central Promenade to a 3.7 acre plot on the former hospital site at the 
junction of Devonshire Road and Talbot Road 

o Relocation of the ‘court houses’ will enable the preferred full-scale delivery of the 
£300,000,000.00 Blackpool Central development 

o Full details of the consultation can be viewed at: 
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/02fe49ddb92b463fb724169e31c7ee7e 
Proposed Blackpool Courthouse Scheme (arcgis.com)     

 HMCTS have completed site investigations and various studies of the site (topographical & 
ecological).   

 The new courts buildings will be three-storeys high to comprise the courts, judicial offices, 
custody facilities and secure parking. Subject to planning approval, construction work will 
commence next year 

 Continuing negotiations with HMCTS to secure vacant possession by March 2025 in line 
with the project plan. 

 Planning application now submitted for proposed new courts development on Devonshire 
Road. 

 It is understood, that subject to a positive planning decision construction of the new 
courts would commence on site spring/early summer 2024, with completion around end 
2025.  

 The procurement of a Contractor to undertake the demolition of the existing courts will 
take place during 2024 in a timely manner for commencement on site, as soon as the 
courts vacate the buildings.  

 In the process of undertaking elements of security and health and safety works 
surrounding the existing courts, following a period of anti-social behaviour and vandalism 
activity on the site. 

 The Developer (Nikal Ltd) continue to progress with the Enabling Phase delivery of the 
Blackpool Central development, which involves the delivery of a new multi-storey car 
park. Once constructed and operational this will free up the remaining site for Phase 1 
(Leisure) & Phase 2 (Heritage Quarter). The new MSCP is due for completion early 2024. 
The Developer is currently finishing the base build, following which the Council will be 
undertaking element of ‘Tenant fit-out’ works, which involves the installation of car park 
ticketing equipment, barriers etc.  

4.5 Outputs and Outcomes achieved to date 

Output and Outcome Targets by Scheme end Total to date 

Temporary full-time jobs supported during implementation 1 

Permanent full-time equivalent jobs created 1 

Permanent full-time equivalent jobs safeguarded 0 

£ spent directly on project delivery (Towns Fund) £99,941.79 

Page 428

https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/02fe49ddb92b463fb724169e31c7ee7e
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/02fe49ddb92b463fb724169e31c7ee7e


Public amenities/facilities created 0 

Public amenities/facilities relocated 0 

Sites cleared 0 

Amount of rehabilitated land / Core land readied for 
development (m2) 

0 

4.6  Latest Images 

 Existing Courts & former Police Divisional HQ 

 

 

Proposed New Courthouse and Image (Devonshire Road site) 

 

 

Page 429



 

 

  

3D image (view from junction Talbot Rd / Devonshire Rd) 

 

Page 430



New Multi Storey Car park under construction 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 431



5) MULTIVERSITY 
 
5.1 Background 
 
The overall vision for the project is to bring forward regeneration proposals through the 
creation of a new Multiversity Campus in the heart of Blackpool Town Centre. The 
Multiversity will facilitate the aspirations of Blackpool & the Fylde College (to create a world 
class University learning environment that will be carbon neutral in operation.  
 
The Multiversity will be a unique proposition, providing a cutting-edge response to local, 
regional, and national priorities delivered by the College. Through a high quality, dedicated 
and distinctive technical and professional curriculum, co-created with employers and in 
partnership with Lancaster University, it will support high-level skills growth and individual 
success, now and in the future. With courses focusing on automation, mobility, artificial 
intelligence, data, population ageing and sustainability, the Multiversity will focus on training, 
learning and education opportunities for regional businesses to up-skill their workforces. 
 
The College’s existing University Centre Campus at Park Road in Blackpool is situated away 
from the town centre amenities and rail network and is as such is disconnected from the core 
of the Town.  The College needs to relocate from its current campus to realise its full 
potential in collaboration with Lancaster University. It is not economically viable to repurpose 
the existing campus buildings and there is insufficient site capacity for the additional 
floorspace that is required to achieve the vision of the UCB.  The College is therefore looking 
for a new campus site where it can expand and re-focus its higher education offer to 
incorporate a wider range of higher-level technical qualifications and is seeking to relocate to 
a new site, which is located near to the Talbot Gateway Central Business District on the edge 
of Blackpool Town Centre.  
 
The relocation to a new campus will improve education, skills and learning in Blackpool and 
the wider area and provide a major contribution to the regeneration of Blackpool Town 
Centre.  
 
The overall Multiversity scheme is £65m, the first stage of which involves the purchase of the 
site using £9m Town Deal Funds. The full scheme will be delivered by Blackpool Council and 
the College as scheme promoters and accountable bodies who will work in collaboration to 
deliver the project. A separate £40m submission into the Levelling Up Fund was approved in 
January 2023. The MoU with DLUHC was signed off by both parties on the 21st February and 
a planning application was submitted in November 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 432



5.2 FINANCIAL POSITION AT END SEPTEMBER 2023 

APPROVED  TOWN DEAL  SPEND  

Total Town Deal Allocation TOTAL SPEND TO END SEPTEMBER  2023 

£9,000,000 

 

£1,385,181.00 

 

5.3 RAG Rating  

5.4 Key Activity To Date  

 Assembly of the site upon which the Multiversity will be constructed is continuing 
(Town Deal scheme. Acquisitions have continued to take place via negotiation with 
property owners on a voluntary basis with discussions with owners taking place across 
the site and the complex issues raised being addressed, but this has inevitably led to 
protracted negotiations with several parties and a few will not engage ahead of a CPO 
being made. A significant number of acquisitions have now been made with 10 
(commercial and residential) acquisitions completed and a large number with 
solicitors or in advanced negotiations. Valuations and offers have been sent to most 
properties. 

 At the end of September 2023 site acquisition was slightly behind schedule, but is 
accelerating and this will continue to be the case as preparations for the formal 
making of a potential Compulsory Purchase Order are underway which will allows for 
compression of future acquisition scheduling.  

 The Council Executive resolved to formally make the CPO in October 2023.  

 In the meantime some 20 of the 67 properties have already been acquired by 
negotiation and such negotiations will continue throughout the formality of the CPO 
process. 

 Extensive arrangements have also been put in place to ensure that support for 
residents exists to help them through the process and questions they may have 
(separate to those negotiating the acquistions) through the Infusion Team. 

 In addition, letters are hand delivered to all properties at each stage of the process to 
ensure all are aware of what is happening. 

 
Other activity includes : 

 Full design team procured 

 Planning strategy agreed with local authority planning department 

RAG Rating Delivery RAG Rating Spend RAG Rating Risks 

4  4 4  

Page 433



 Delivery programme developed 

 Governance procedure established 

 Contractor procurement route set-out 

 RIBA Stage 1 delivered by Hawkins Brown 

 RIBA Stage 1 cost plan developed for comment 

 RIBA Stage 2 commenced 
 

5.5 OUTPUTS AND OUTCOMES ACHIEVED TO DATE 

Output and Outcome Targets by Scheme end Total to date 

Temporary full-time jobs supported during implementation 0 

Permanent full-time equivalent jobs created 0 

Permanent full-time equivalent jobs safeguarded 0 

£ spent directly on project delivery £1,385,181.00 

£ construction related GVA impacts £0.00 

5.6 LATEST IMAGES 

Area to be acquired and extent of the Outline Planning Application 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 434



 

Illustrative image accompanying the Outline Planning Application 

 

 

 

George Street /Cookson Street Junction 

Page 435



 

Charles Street 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 436



6) REVOE COMMUNITY SPORTS VILLAGE   
 
6.1 Background 
 
The Revoe Community Sports Village project has been designed to respond to need identified 
in the local community, and to leverage and enable investment within the Blackpool FC 
Bloomfield Road ground and surrounding environment. Without a comprehensive and joined-
up approach to the design and delivery of this project, investment could result in greater 
severance of the existing Revoe community, and undermine the potential to deliver 
community facilities that will benefit local people for years to come.  
 
The overall project aim is to establish a sports village with leisure, education, and residential 
uses using £6.5m Town Deal while leveraging up to £17m of private and other investment.  
 
Bloomfield Road – the home of Blackpool Football Club, whilst an important asset for 
Blackpool, its East Stand is a temporary structure in need of significant investment. More 
widely, there is vacant brownfield land between the Foxhall residential development area and 
Bloomfield Road which has stood undeveloped for a number of years. This area of land is 
fenced off and not open to the community. The hard standing, parking areas and disused land 
do not offer any wider community benefit or facilitate / enable community integration. 
 
The deprivation around the Football Club is material and extensive. Therefore, there is a clear 
need to invest in the area and improve many of the shortcomings and challenges currently 
faced by the local community.  
 
Sports and Playing Pitch Need: The Blackpool FC Community Trust has been working with the 
local community over a sustained period of time to provide support and opportunities for 
football and sports related programmes across a number of age groups. In the current area, 
which includes three local schools, no current facilities exist and chance to engage in such 
activity is very difficult.  
  
6.2 Financial Position at end September 2023 

APPROVED  TOWN DEAL  SPEND  

Total Town Deal Allocation TOTAL SPEND TO END SEPTEMBER  2023 

£6,545,818 

 

£688,901.01 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 437



6.3 RAG RATING  

 

6.4 Key Activity To Date   

 Planning Permission Phase 1 submitted and formally approved on 22 March 2023. 

 Procurement Strategy for contractor appointment completed. 

 Letters mailed out to targeted acquisition properties (27), surveys undertaken and property cost 
estimates have been prepared 

o Detailed negotiations are currently ongoing with other property owners 
o 12 properties have agreed a sale and the acquisitions are waiting to be authorised before 

going through solicitors 
o Henry Street negotiations are being undertaken by Avison Young 

 BFC are progressing options/designs for the East Stand development 

 Further to making a request, the Council received a letter of commitment to the project from the 
owner of Blackpool Football Club on 13/7/23 

 Preparations for potential CPO underway 

6.5 Outputs and Outcomes Achieved to Date  

Output and Outcome Targets by Scheme end Total to date 

Permanent full-time equivalent jobs created (16) 0 

£ spent directly on project delivery (6,545,819) £688,901.00 

£ co-funding spent on project delivery (17,686,682) 0 

£ co-funding committed (17,686,682) 0 

New community/sports centres (3G pitch, 1) 0 

Sites cleared (1) 1 

Amount of rehabilitated land post completion of project (11,808m2) 7,000 

Amount of public realm improved post completion of project (7,332m2) 0 

People engaged in health and wellbeing activities (1,719 per year for 1 year) 0 

New East Stand capacity (3,500) 0 

Car parking spaces (139) 0 

Jobs created ‐ part time employment opportunities (32) 0 

Brownfield land brought into positive use (7,410m2) 0 

Brownfield land brought forward for additional sport infrastructure (6,709m2) 6,709 

 

 

 

RAG Rating Delivery RAG Rating Spend RAG Rating Risks 

3 2 3 

Page 438



6.6 Latest Images 

 

 Cleared Site looking South and North  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cleared site behind the football club North Stand 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 439



 

  

 

Back Henry Street Properties 

 

 

7). THE PLATFORM  
 
7.1 Background 
 
The project purpose is to support young people in the town to access jobs and training and to 
make a fully supported and smooth transition from school or unemployment into a positive 
destination.  
 
The Platform provides a ‘one stop shop’ for young people providing quality advice for young 
jobseekers aged 16-24.  The Platform is a focal point for young people and space for partners to 
collaborate and pilot what works, with a view to refining future service delivery and longer-

Page 440



term investment. The scheme has repurposed what was a vacant town centre unit within 
Bickerstaffe House, to deliver provision. 
 
This project has been very successful as a Community Renewal Funded project from November 
2021 until the end of September 2022. During this period, the project worked with 393 young 
people with 98 accessing work. 127 people had accessed training/support too.   
 
It became a Town Deal funded project from October 1st 2022.  
 
7.2 FINANCIAL POSITION AT END SEPTEMBER 2023  
 

APPROVED  TOWN DEAL  SPEND  

Total Town Deal Allocation TOTAL SPEND TO END SEPTEMBER  2023 

£500,000 

 
£253 605.81 

 
7.3 RAG Rating 

7.4 Key Activity To Date   

 Delivery is on track has continued with a number of outcomes being achieved. These are 
higher than originally expected due to the project being fully established at the start of 
the Town Deal period. 

 Additionally, The Platform has been shortlisted as a finalist for 'The Partnership of the Year 
Award' in this year's ERSA Employability Awards taking place at the ERSA Annual Conference 
on the 30th November 2023.  The ERSA Employability Awards celebrate best practice in the 
employment support sector and demonstrate the hard work and dedication of those 
working to improve the lives of jobseekers, communities and the wider workforce 

 

7.5 Outputs and outcomes Achieved To Date  

Output and Outcome Targets by Scheme end  Total to date 

Permanent full-time equivalent jobs created (5) 5 

Permanent full-time equivalent jobs safeguarded (3) 3 

£ spent directly on project delivery (500,000) £253 605.81 

£ co-funding spent on project delivery (403,000 CRF) £430,170.21 

£ co-funding committed (403,000 CRF) £443,824.00 

RAG Rating Delivery RAG Rating Spend RAG Rating Risks 

1 1 1 

Page 441



Output and Outcome Targets by Scheme end  Total to date 

Number of public amenities/facilities created (1) 1 

Amount of office space renovated/improved (252m2) 252 

Young people receiving support, information, advice & guidance (400) 501 

Young people accessing education, employment & training (140) 279 

Young people into employment (60) 161 

Young people into training (40) 109 

Young people into (FE/HE) education (40) 9 

7.6 Latest Images  

Mind-set course run by The Prince’s Trust 

The image below shows 4 of the 8 attendees to a Mind-set course run by The Prince’s Trust. 
This was their first Mind-Set course ran in the North West since covid. The one week 
programme aims to help participants to explore self-beliefs and strengths, understand and 
change their mind-sets, discover mindfulness and learn how to apply it in their own lives; it also 
teaches the delegates how to manage stress and anxiety, how to set goals and plan for the 
future and encourages the maintenance of a daily ‘gratitude journal’ to help strengthen positive 
habits 

 

External and internal images of The Platform  
 
 

                                 

Page 442



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Skills Construction and Vinci, shows customers from The Platform participating in a Traineeship 
delivered by Skills Construction with practical experience on the DWP Hub site opposite our unit. 

Page 443



 

BFCCT at The Platform Career Event, where 87 young people attended for support on A-Level results 
day  

 

  

 

 

 

B&FC staff supporting applications and providing advice to customers at The Platform Career Event. 

Page 444



 

 

 

Customers attending The Princes Trust Explore programme at The Platform. 

 

Page 445



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: Alan Cavill, Director of Communications and Regeneration  

Relevant Cabinet Member:  
 

Councillor Mark Smith, Cabinet Member for Levelling Up 

Place 

Date of Meeting: 
 

11  December 2023 

 

TOWN CENTRE ACCESS SCHEME : LEVELLING UP FUND 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

This report is to provide an update on the Town Centre Access Scheme (TCAS) which was 
originally submitted as a Levelling Up Round 2 Bid in July 2022, authorised by the Executive in 
April 2022 (EX19/2022), its eventual approval in November 2023 and seeks authorisation for 
the proposed way forward. 
 

2.0  Recommendations: 
 

2.1  To note the grant funding award of £15,385,023m for the scheme under the Levelling Up 
Fund (LUF) grant award and to delegate approval of expenditure to the Director of 

Community and Environmental Services 
 

2.2  
 

To delegate to the Director of Community and Environmental Services any amendments 
that arise out of the validation exercise required by DHLUC (the Department of Levelling Up, 
Homes and Communities) (or any other Government Department eg Department of 
Transport), and any detailed amendments required to the scheme,  and to agree the legal 
structure and contracts to take forward the scheme after consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Levelling Up Place and the Cabinet Member for Community Safety, Street Scene 
and Neighbourhoods 

 
2.3 

 
To authorise the Head of Legal Services to enter into such contracts as are necessary to 
deliver the scheme. 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

The Executive authorised the submission of a bid in Levelling Up Fund Round 2 (LUF 2) 
 for the TCAS scheme as part of a £17,094,470 overall scheme, with a LUF request  
of £15,385,023 and £1,709,447 co-funding from the Council.   
 
Whilst unsuccessful in Levelling Up Fund Round 2 initial announcements in January 2023,  
when the Multiversity scheme was approved and then the Hotel Indigo Post Office 

Page 447

Agenda Item 9



Redevelopment scheme in March 2023, Town Centre Access Scheme was subsequently 
approved as a scheme on 20 November 2023. 
 
The scheme will transform the local highway network, enabling better transport interchange 

and traffic circulation, improving walking, cycling and bus access. 

Roads will be safer for active travel modes and some public realm will be improved, 
supporting wider economic and social good.  
 
The project will accelerate modal shift towards sustainable and active travel modes, reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions, controlling traffic efficiently, cutting congestion and improving air 

quality.  The project will also support the town centre’s economic regeneration (including the 

Levelling Up Fund bid for Multiversity through pedestrianisation and bus prioritisation), 

particularly around the Central Business District benefitting residents, businesses and visitors. 

3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 
Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  The Council could reject the Levelling Up Fund award, although this would mean the scheme 
would simply not proceed.  
 

4.2  Consideration of using the Levelling Up Fund award for alternative projects was considered 
but rejected as the grant award is specific to the Council’s business case submitted under 
Levelling Up. 
 

4.3  To not do anything, and leave the opportunity for the private sector to bring forward. By its 
very nature, the private sector will not bring forward public realm and highways type 
improvement schemes  
 

4.4  Officers strongly recommend that these alternatives be rejected, as it is clear that without 
Blackpool Council intervention and the grant-funding award, the scheme would not proceed 
and therefore the regeneration and wider opportunities will be lost to a generation of 
Blackpool residents. 
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is: “The economy: Maximising growth and opportunity across 
Blackpool”. 
 

Page 448



 
6.0  Background information 

 
6.1  As part of the 2021 Budget the Chancellor announced a broad package of complementary 

UK-wide interventions one of which included the Levelling Up Fund, which was revisited in 
the light of the “Levelling Up White Paper” launched on 2nd February. The White Paper 
articulated how government policy interventions will improve opportunity and boost 
livelihoods across the country as we recover from the pandemic and contains many specific 
references to Blackpool.  
 
Round One of Levelling Up Fund (launched March 2021) noted how it would “invest in local 
infrastructure that has a visible impact on people and their communities and will support 
economic recovery. The Fund is designed to help local areas select genuine local priorities for 
investment by putting local stakeholder support, including the local MP where they want to 
be involved, at the heart. 
 
The first round of Levelling Up Fund was announced at the 2020 Spending Review to support 
communities in realising this vision. Focusing on capital investment in local infrastructure, 
building on and consolidating prior programmes such as the Local Growth Fund and the 
Towns Fund, the first round of Levelling Up Fund supported £1.7 billion of projects in over 
100 local areas across all corners of the UK, delivering over £170 million of funding in 
Scotland, £120 million in Wales, and £49 million in Northern Ireland. 
 
In June 2021, Blackpool submitted a Round 1 bid, which was unfortunately unsuccessful. The 
application was for the maximum of £20m focused on 3 schemes: 

 The Town Centre Access Scheme (TCAS) with a £8.91m Levelling Up Fund request.    

 A grant of £6.93m Levelling Up Fund to private sector developer Ashall for the 
redevelopment of the Abingdon Street Post Office into an Indigo brand hotel, and, 

 The refurbishment of the Winter Gardens on Coronation Street for exhibition 
space with a Levelling Up Fund request of £4.16m.  

 
6.2  The second round of the Fund focused on the same three investment themes as the first 

round, i.e. local transport projects that make a genuine difference to local areas; town centre 
and high street regeneration; and support for maintaining and expanding the UK’s world-
leading portfolio of cultural and heritage assets. The Town Centre Access scheme was 
identified as relevant as the Fund stated it would support the following and the bid was 
submitted in July 2023 : 
 
“Transport investments including (but not limited to) public transport, active travel, bridge 
repairs, bus priority, local road improvements and major structural maintenance, and 
accessibility improvements. Proposals should be for high-impact small, medium and, by 
exception, large local transport schemes to reduce carbon emissions, improve air quality, cut 
congestion, support economic growth, and improve the safety, security and overall experience 
of transport users”. 

Page 449



6.3  DLUHC stated in their letter of 20th November that having “listened to feedback from 
parliamentarians and local government, including in relation to the first two rounds of this 
fund, we decided not to run a new competition. Instead, we have drawn on the impressive 
pool of bids submitted at round two, which we were not able to fund earlier in the year but 
were assessed as high-quality and ready-to-deliver. I am pleased to say that this project was 
one such bid”. 
 
DLUHC recognise that due to the time that has passed since the TCAS application was 
submitted, they will require a short project validation check to ensure the bid will still benefit 
from Government funding and remains a local priority. They will require the Council to 
confirm that the bid has not changed significantly, is still deliverable by March 2026, and still 
represents value for money.  
 
The provisional award of funding is for this specific TCAS project and money cannot be used 
to support activity that is substantially different. They recognised that project adjustments 
may need to be made due to inflationary pressures and will be asking the Council more about 
this, and considering whether any adjustments we wish to make are acceptable, as part of 
the on boarding process. Subject to DLUHC acceptance, they will then draw up the necessary 
documentation and confirm funding. 
 

6.4 The Council will need to enter into legal agreements as outlined below and submit  
quarterly reports to the DLUHC and undertake claims, monitoring and assurance activity.   

 
The project will be monitored internally via quarterly claims by the Project Monitoring Office 
(PMO), who will provide wider assurance activity too and led by the Growth and Prosperity 
Team. 
 
The Highways team within the Community and Environmental Services Directorate will lead 
on scheme delivery.  
 
As the accountable body, Blackpool Council with retain overall responsibility for the delivery 
of the project with reports to the Corporate Leadership Team, Executive and Government as 
required. 

  
6.5 
 
 

Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 
 

No 
 

 
7.0  List of Appendices: 

 
7.1  None 

 
 
 
 

Page 450



8.0  Financial considerations: 
 

8.1  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Without Levelling Up Fund, the scheme would not be pursued. The total scheme cost is 
£17,094,470. 
  
It is intended that this this will be met by a mixture of the income streams detailed below:- 

 £15,385,023 – Levelling Up Fund grant 

 £1,709,447 Council co-funding (a minimum of 10% contribution was required)  

9.0  Legal considerations: 
 

9.1  
 
 

A Memorandum of Understanding will need to be signed between the Council and the  
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities to enable grant to be received. 
Compliance with Public Law and Subsidy Control has been considered. 
 

9.2  The Council has the power under the Localism Act 2011 to do anything an individual can do 
provided that it is not otherwise prohibited from doing so. Compliance with any restrictions 
that the Council is subject to in relation to the proposals outlined in this report will be 
monitored as matters progress. The proposals outlined in this report will be kept under 
review to ensure that they are compliant with the terms of the UK’s Trade and Co-operation 
Agreement (TCA) with the European Union, as well as the other subsidy control obligations to 
which the UK is subject. 
 

9.3  The Head of Legal Services will enter into such contracts as necessary to deliver the Scheme. 
 

10.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1  With all major schemes there are risks, and this scheme will have a risk assessment 
developed and allocated to it 
 

11.0  
 
11.0  

Equalities considerations and the impact of this decision for our children and young people: 
 
There are no anticipated equalities issues with the proposals outlined. Any equalities and 
accessibility requirements will be taken into account at the design stage and in line with 
building control requirements.  
 

12.0  Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1  Reducing the impact of climate change and ensuring sustainability will be taken into account 
as the project needs to evidence how it will work towards the aims of the government “Net 
Zero” policy.  The reduction of congestion in and around the town centre brought by this 
scheme will have a direct positive impact to this agenda. 
 
 

Page 451



13.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1  External: Town Deal Board, Paul Maynard MP and Scott Benton MP,  
  
Internal: Communities and Environmental Services Director, Growth and Prosperity 
Programme Director, Highways, Finance, Corporate Leadership Team, Legal Services. 
 

14.0  Background papers: 
 

14.1  EX23/2021 Levelling Up and Community Renewal Fund : 12th April 2021 
EX37/2021 Levelling  Up Fund Bid  12th July 2021 
EX19/2022 Levelling Up Fund Round 2 : 25th April 2022  
EX33/2022 Levelling Up Fund 5th September 2022 
EX17/2023 Levelling Up Fund Round 2 Multiversity  
                        

15.0 Key decision information: 
 

15.1 Is this a key decision? 
 

No 

15.2 If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

N/A 

15.3 If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

15.4 If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
16.0 Call-in information: 

 
16.1 Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 

exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

16.2 If yes, please give reason: 
 

 
 

 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

17.0 Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed:  Date approved: 
 

      

18.0 Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

18.1  

Page 452



 
19.0 
 
19.1 
 

Summary of Discussion: 
 
 

20.0 Executive decision: 
 

20.1   
 

21.0 Date of Decision:    
 

21.1  
 

22.0 Reason(s) for decision: 
 

22.1  
 

23.0 Date Decision published: 
 

23.1  
 

24.0 
 
24.1  
 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  
 
 

25.0 Executive Members in attendance:   
 

25.1  
 

26.0 Call-in:   
 

26.1       
 

27.0 Notes:   
 

27.1  
 

Page 453



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MONITORING AS AT MONTH 7 2023/24 AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2024/25 - 2026/27
	Appendix 2a M7 2324 Revenue Summary
	Appendix 2b M7 2324 Chief Exec
	Appendix 2c M7 2324 Governance and Partnership Services
	Appendix 2d Ward Budgets 2324 M7
	Appendix 2e M7 2324 Resources
	Appendix 2f M7 2324 Communications and Regeneration
	Appendix 2g M7 2324 Strategic Leisure Assets Directorate
	Appendix 2h M7 2324 G and P
	Appendix 2i M7 2324 Commty andEnvironmental Services (was LOS)
	Appendix 2j M7 2324 Adult Services
	Appendix 2k M7 2324 Childrens Services
	Appendix 2l M7 2324 Public Health
	Appendix 2m M7 2324 Outside Cash Limit
	Appendix 2o M7 2324 Wholly-owned companies
	Appendix 2pM7 2324 Directorate Budget Savings Performance
	Appendix 2q Capital Month 7 2324
	Appendix 2r M7 2324 Cash Flow Summary
	Appendix 2s M7 2324 Balance Sheet

	3 COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2024/2025
	Appendix 3a Council Tax and Business Rates Discretionary Discount Policy MASTER v5.0 DRAFT
	Appendix 3b Blackpool Equality Analysis 2024-25
	Appendix 3c Blackpool S13a Scheme 2024.25 DRAFT

	4 BLACKPOOL YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN
	Appendix 4a Youth Justice Plan
	Appendix 4b Youth Justice Oversight Arrangements
	Appendix 4c Case Study

	5 EXPANSION OF HIGHFURLONG SPECIAL SCHOOL PHASE TWO
	6 CONSTRUCTION OF TWO ADDITIONAL COUNCIL HOMES AT GRANGE PARK (PHASE 2 HOUSING SITE), BLACKPOOL
	Appendix 6a
	Appendix 6b- Grange Park bungalows financial summaryv1

	7 BLACKPOOL AIRPORT ENTERPRISE ZONE: ANNUAL REVIEW
	Appendix 7d - Eastern Gateway Highway - General Arrangement
	Sheets and Views
	001


	Appendix 7f - Eastern Gateway - Employment Development Plots
	Sheets and Views
	INFO_00



	8 BLACKPOOL TOWN DEAL: UPDATE
	Appendix 8a DLUHC Rag Rating
	Appendix 8b Scheme Summaries

	9 TOWN CENTRE ACCESS SCHEME: LEVELLING UP FUND



